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Makrattas.—Connexion with the Ranna of Go-
hud,— Mr. Francis fights a Duel with Mr.
Hastings, and returns to Europe.

BOOK V. ThHE state of the regulations for collecting the re-

CHAP

venue had for some time pressed upon the attention

1775. of the government. The lease of five years, on

which the revenues had been farmed in 1772, was
drawing to a close, and it was necessary to determine
what course should then be pursued. To remedy
evils, which delayed not to make themselves per-
ceived, in the regulations of 1772, 4 considerable
change had been introduced in 1773 : The superin-
tendence of the collectors was aholished: The pro-
vinces {Chittagong and Tipperah remaining under
the original sort of management, that of a chief)
were formed into six grand divisions, Calcutta,
Burdwan, Moorshedabad, Dinagepore, Dacca, and
Patna: In each of these divisions (Calcutta excepted,
for which two members of the council and three su-
perior servants, under the name of a committee of re-
venue, were appointed) a council was formed, consist-
ing of a chief, and four senior servants, to whom
powers were confided, the s4me, in general, with
those formerly enjoyed by the collectors: They ex-
ercised a command over all the officers and affairs of
revenue within the division: The members super-
intended in rotation the civil courts of justice, called
Sudder Adaulut: The councils appointed deputies,
or naihs, to the subordinate districta of the division :
These naibs, who were natives, and called also aumils,
both superintended the work of realizing the revenue,
and held courts of fiscal judicature, called courts of
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Dewannee Adaulut: The decisions of these courts BOOK V.
were subject by appeal to the review of the provincial
courts of Sudder Adaulut; which decided in the last 1775
resort tothe value of 1000 rupees, but under appeal
to the court of Sudder Dewannee Adaulut at Caleutta -
in all cases which exceeded that amount. Even this
scheme was declared to be only intermediate, and
preparatory to an ultimate measure, according to
which, while the local management, except in those
districts which might be let entire to the Zemindars
or responsible farmers, should be performed by a
dewan, or aumil, a committee of revenue, sitting at
the Presidency, should form a grand revenue office,
and superintend the whole collections of the country.!
Such were the alterations adopted in 1773.

At an early period, under the five years’ settlement,
it was perceived, that the farmers of the revenue had
eontracted for more than they were able to pay.
The collections fell short of the engagements even for
the first year; and the farms bhad been let upon a
progressive rent. The Governor-General was now
accused by his colleagues of having deceived his
honourable masters by holding up to their hopes a
revenue which could not be obtained, He defended
himself by a plea which had, it cannot be denied,
considerable weight: It was natural to suppose, that
the natives were acquainted with the value of the
lands, and other sources of the revenue; and that a
regard to their own interests would prevent them
from engaging for more than those sources would
afford. It was contended with no less justice on the
other side, that there was a class of persons who had

' Sixth Report of the Eclect Committes, 1781, Appendix, No. 1.
B2
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BOOK V. nothing to lose; to whom the handling of the re-
CHAP. 3.

1775,

venues, and power over those who paid them, though
for a single year, was an object of desire ; and whom,
as they had no intention to pay what they promised,
the extent of the promise could not restrain.

The failure of exaggerated hopes was not the only
evil whereof the farm by auction was accused. The
Zemindars, through whose agency the revennes of
the district had formerly been realized, and whose
office and authority had generally grown into here-
ditary possessions, comprising both an estate and a
magistracy, or even a species of sovereignty, when
the territory and jurisdiction were large ; were either
thrown out of their possessions; or, from an ambi
tion to hold the situation which had given opulence
and rank fo their families, perbaps for generations,

- they bid for the taxes more than the taxes could

enable them to pay; and reduced themselves by the
bargain to poverty and ruin. When the revenues
were farmed to the Zemindars, these contractors were
induced to turn upon the ryots, and others from
whom their collections were levied, the same rack
which was applied to themselves. When they were -
farmed to the new adventurer, who looked only to a
temporary profit, and who had no interest in the
permanent prosperity of a people with whom he bad
no permanent connexion, every species of exaction to
which no punishment was aftached, or of which the
punishment could by artifice be evaded, was to bim
a fountain of gain.

After several acrimonious debates, the Govemor-
General proposed that the separate opinions of the
Members of the Council, on the most eligible plan



PLAN PROPOSED BY MR. FRANCIS. 5

for levying the taxes of the country, should be sent BOOX ¥-
to the Court of Directors. And on the 28th of
March, 1775, a draught signed by him and Mr. Y%
Barwell was prepared for transmission. The leading
prineiple of this project as; that the several districts
should be farmed on leases for life, or for two joint
lives, allowing a preference to the Zemindar, as often
as his offer was not greatly inferior to that of other
candidates, or the real value of the taxes to be let.
The plan of the other members of the council was
not yet prepared. They contented themselves with
some severe reflections upon the imperfections of the
existing system, an exaggerated representation of
the evils which it was calculated to produce,'and an
expression of the greatest astonishment at the incon-
sistency of the Governor-General, in praising and
defending. that system, while he yet recommended
another, by which it.would be wholly suppressed.

On the 22d of January, 1776, Mr. Francis entered
8 voluminous minute, in which he took occasion to
record at length his opinions respecting the ancient
government of the country, and the means of ensur-
ing its future prosperity. Of the measures which
he recommended, a plan for realizing the revenue
constituted the greatest and most remarkable portion.
Without much concern about the production of proof,
he assumed as a basis two things; first, that the
‘opinion was erroneous, which ascribed to the Sove-
reign the property of the land; and secondly, that

' [ the course of three years more, we think it much to bs appre-
hended, that the continued operstion of this system will have reduced the
country in general to such a state of ruin and decay, &s no future alteration,
will be sufficient to retrieve.” Extract of a Minute from Genera) Claver-
ing, Col, Monson, and Mr. Prancis, March 21, 1775,
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the property in guestion belonged to the Zemindars,
Upon the Zemindars, as. proprietors, he accordingly
proposed that a cerfain land-tax should be levied ;
that it should be fixed once for all ; and held as per-
petual and invariable.

This was the principle and essence of his plan;
and the reasonings’ by which he supported it, were
the common reasonings which prove the beneﬁt of
certainty in levying contributions for the use of the
state. But Mr. Fraucis misapplied a common term.

. By certainty, in matters of taxation, is not meant

security for ever against increase of taxation. - Taxes
may be in the highest degree certain, and yet liable
to be increased at the will of the legislature. For

. certainty it is enough, that under any existing enact-

ment of the legislature, the sum which every man
has to pay should depend upon definite, cognoscible
circamstances. - The window-tax, for example, s a
certain tax; though it.imay be increased or dimi.

nished.not only at the pleasure of the legislature;
but by altering the number of his windows at the
pleasure of the individual who pays it. By the com.
mon reasonings to prove the advantages of certainty
in texes, Mr, Francis, therefore, proved nothing at
all against the power of increasing them, The
sacred duty of keeping taxation in general within the
narrowest possible limits, rests upon equally strong,
but very different grounds.

Into the subordinate arrangements of the scheme,
it belangs not to the present purpose to enter. It is
only necessary to state, that Mr. Francis proposed to
protect the ryots from the arbitrary exactions of the
Zemindars, by prescribed forms of leases, in India
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known by the name of pottahs ; that he condemned BOOK o
the provincial councils, and recommended local —
supervisors, to superintend, for a time, the executive 1776
as well as judicial business of the collections; a
business, which, by the arrangements made with the
Zemindars and the ryots, he trusted would in a great
measure soon perform itself. On opium and salt, of
which the monopoly had generally been disposed of
by contract, he proposed that government should
content itself with a duty; and terminate a large
amount of existing oppressions by giving freedom to
the trade.! ,

That the regulations which had been adopted for
the administration of justice among the natives were
extremely defective, all parties admitted and com-
plained. That robbery and other erimes so greatly
prevailed, was owing, in the opinion of Mr. Francis,
to the reduction of the authority of the Zemindars.
These officers had formerly exercisedsa penal con-
trol, which Mr. Francis maintained was fully judicial;
which had reference, as Mr. Hastings affirmed, to
nothing but police. As a cure for the existing dis-
orders, Mr. Francis recommended the restoration of
their ancient powers to the Zemindars, who, in the
case of robbery and theft, were obliged, under the
ancient government, to- make compensation to the
party wronged ; and in the case of murders and riots,
-were lable to severe mulets at the hand of govern-

1 Report, ut supra, and Appendix, Nos. 14 and 15: see also a publi-
cation entitled Original Minutes of the Governor-General and Council of
Fort William, by Philip Francis, Esq. For the meaning of the terms
Zemindar and Ryot, see i. 271; and for the interest which the Zemindar
‘had in the land, see the considerations adduced on the introduction of the
‘gemindary system during the administration of Lord Gornwallis.
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BOOK V. ment. Mr. Hastings, who judged more wisely what

CHAP

+ O

effects zemindary jurisdiction had produced, or was

1776 Tikely to produce, treated this as a remedy which was

far from adequate to the disease. In conjunction
with Sir Elijah Impey, he formed the draught of a
bill for an act of parliament, on the subject of the
civil judicature of Bengal. It was communicated to
the Council on the 29th of May. In this plan of
the Chief Governor and Chief Judge, it was proposed,
that in each of the seven divisions, into which, in-
eluding Chittagong, the country had been already
distributed, two courts of record should be esta-
blished ; that one should be denominated *The
Court of Provincial Council ;” that it should in each
instance eonsist of a President and three Councillors,
chosen by the Governor-General and Council, among
the senior servants of the Company ; and have sum-
mary jurisdiction in all pecuniary suits which regarded
the Companyp either directly, or through the medium
of any person indebted to them or employed in their
service ; that the other of these courts should be
ealled the Adaulut Dewauny Zillajaut; should ‘con-
sist of one judge, chosen, for his knowledge in the
Janguage and constitutiona of the country, by the
Governor and Council, from among the senior servants
of the Company; and should have jurisdiction in
cases of trespass or damage, rents, debts, and in
general of all pleas real, personal, or mixed, belong-
ing to parties different from those included in the
jurisdiction of the Courts of Provincial Council. In
this draught no provision was made for the criminal
branch of judicature among the natives, which had
been remitted to the nominal government of the
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Nabob, and exercised under the superintendence of BOOE V.
Mohammed Reza Khan.!

Early in November, 1776, Colonel Monson died; 1776
and as there remained in the Council after that event,
only the Governor-General and Mr. Barwell on the
one part, with General Clavering and Mr. Francis on
the other, the casting vote of the Governor-General
turned the balance oo his side, and restored to him
the direction of government.

In the consultation of the 1st of November he had
entered a minute, in which he proposed, as a founda-
tion for new-modelling the plan of collection, that an
investigation should be instituted for ascertaining
the actual state of the sources of revenue, particularly
of that great and principal source, the lands. As
the mode of letting by auction, which had produced
inconvenience, was meant to be discontinued, and the
mode of letting by valuation to be adopted in its
stead, the Governor-General was of opinion, that as
accurate a knowledge as possible of the subject of
valuation ought first to be obtained. He proposed
that this inquiry should be assigned as an exclusive
duty to particular agents; that two covenanted ser-
vants of the Company should be chosen, with an
adequate appointment of native officers; and that -
their business should be to collect the accounts of the
Zemindars, the farmers, and ryots, to obtain such
information as the Provincial Councils could impart;
to depute, when expedient, native officers, into the
districts for the purpose of inquiry; and to arrange

! See Frencis's Minute, u.t supra, and the Draught of Huhngs s Bill;
Report, ut suprs, Appendix, No. 13,



10 HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.

BOOK ¥.and digest the accumulated materials. The use of
this knowledge would be to assess the lands in pro-
1776 portion to their value, and to protect the ryots, by
equitable agreements, or pottahs, imposed upon the
Zemindars. ‘The Governor-General finally proposed,
for the sake as he said of despatch, that all orders
1ssued from the office, in execution of such measures
as had received the sanction of the Board, should be
written in bhis name; and that the control of the

office should be confided to his care.

As every proposal made by the Governor-General
was an object of attack to the opposite side of the
Board, this measure introduced as usual a long train
of debate and altercation. Mr. Francis objected,
1. That the inquiry proposed was altogether useless ;
as a rate of impost, extracting from the lands their
utmost value, would be cruel to the people, and ruin-
ous to the state ; while, under a moderate assessment,
disproportion between the rate and the value was
worthy of little regard; 2. That if an accurate
valuation were useful, ¥ ought to have been obtained
through the Committee of Circuit; by whom the
lands were let at auction, for the professed purpose of
ascertaining their highest value; 3. That the inquiry
would be unavailing, because the Zemindars, farmers,
and ryots would not give true accounts; 4. That if
real accounts were capable of being obtained, they
would be so voluminous, intricate and defective, as
to preclude the possibility of drawing from them any
accurate conclusion; 5. That a valuation of land, if
accurately obtained, is only true for one particular
year, not for any future ome; and 6. That with

regard to the ryots, while the proposed pottahs were
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ill-calculated to afford them protection, the interest BOOK V.
of the Zemindars, if their lands were restored under —.
a moderate and invariable tax, would yield the best 1776
security to the husbandman, from whose exertions
the value of the land arose. A furious minute was .
entered by General Clavering, in which he arraigned
the measure as an attempt to wrest from the Council
“ the ordering, management, and government of the
territorial acquisitions,” and as an illegal usurpation
of the powers that were vested exclusively in the
Board. This accusation was founded upon the pro-
posal about the letters and the control of the office.
And it is remarkable, that, knowing the jealousy with
which any proposal of a new power to himself would
be viewed by the hostile party, and the imputations
to which it would give birth, the Governor-General
should have embarrassed his scheme with a condition,
invidious, and not essential to its execution. That
the objections were frivolous or invalid, it is easy to
perceive. Though the inequalities of some taxes
redress themselves in time, it 1s a mischievous notion
that inequality in the imposing of taxes is not an
evil: Every inequality in the case of a new imposition,
is an act of oppression and injustice: And Hastings
showed that in the case of India, where the land-
holder paid nine-tenths of the produce of the land to
government, inequality might produce the most cruel
" oppression. If the Committee of Circuit had fallen
short of procuring an accurate knowledge of the
sources of the revenue, that could be no reason why
better information should not be obtained, Though
it was acknowledged, that inquiry would be difficult,
and its results defective, it is never to be admitted
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that, where perfect knowledge cannot be obtained,
knowledge, though imperfect, is of no advantage. If
it were allowed, as it was not, that the interest of the
Zemindars would have been guch, upon the plan of
Mr. Francis, as Mr. Francis supposed, it is not true
that men will be governed by their real interests,
where it is certain that they are incapable of under-
standing those interests; where those interests are
distant and speak only to the judgment, while they
are opposed by others that operate immediately upon
the passions and the senses, As the Governor-
General had not proposed that letters from the office
issued in his name should relate to any thing but
services which had received the sanction of the
Council, he insisted that they no more implied an
usurpation of the powers of the Council than the
letters written in his own name, in the discharge of
his function, by any officer who was vested with a
trust. The pernicious purposes to which it was in
vague and general terms affirmed that such a power
might be converted, it i8 not easy to understand.
And the odium which it was attempted to cast upon
the inquiry, by representing it as a preparation for
exacting the utmost possible revenue from the lands,
and dispossessing the Zemindars, Hastings answered,
and sufficiently, by a solemn declaration, that no
such intention was entertained.

By the ascendency, now restored to the Governor-
General, the office was established. Orders were
transmitted to the Provincial Councils; and native
officers, called aumeens, were sent to collect accounts
and to obtain information in the districts. The first
incidents which occurred were complaints against
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those aumeens, for injurious treatment of the inha- BOOK ¥.
bitants; and the opposing party were careful to

place these accusations in the strongest possible 1777
light. " From the aumeens, on the other hand,
accounts arrived of frequent refusal on the part of

the Zemindarry agents, and others, to afford infor-
mation ; or even to show their accounts.

The five-years’ leases expired in April, 1777 ; and
the month of July of that year had arrived before any
plan for the current and future years had yet been
determined. By acknowledgment of all parties, the
country had been so grievously over-taxed, as to have
been altogether unable to carry up its payments to
the level of the taxation. According to the state-
ment of the Accountant-Greneral, dated the 12th of
July, 1777, the remissions upon the five-years’ leases
amounted to 118 lacs 79,576 rupees; and the balances,
of which the greater part were wholly irrecoverable,
amounted to 129 lacs 26,910 rupees. In his minute,
on the office of inquiry, Mr. Barwell expressly de-
clared that the “ impoverished state of the country
loudly pleaded for a reduction of the revenue, as ab~
solutely requisite for its future welfare.”! In the mean
time despatches arrived, by which it was declared,
that the Court of Directors, after considering the
plans, both that of the Governor-General for letting
the lands on leases for lives, and that of Mr. Francis
for establishing a fixed, invariable rent, ~did, for
many weighty reasons, think it not then advisable to

' Mr. Shore (Lord Teignmouth) said in his valoable Minate on the
Bevennes of Bengn), duted Juns, 1769, printed in the Appendix, Na. 1,
% the Pith Repos. i the Committes on India Affairs in 1810, that “ths -
seitlement of [773, before the expiration of the losses, existed, ha be-
Bieved, no where, upon its origioal terma.™
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BOOK V. adopt either of those modes,” but directed that the
__lands should be let for one year on the most advan.
1777.  tageous terms; that the way of auction, however,
should po more be used; that a preference should
always be given to natives resident on the spot ; and
that no European, or the banyan of any European,
should have any share in farming the revenues. On
the 15th of July it was determined that the follow-
ing plan should be adopted for the year; that the
lands should be offered to the old Zemindars on the
rent-roll or assessment of the last year, or upon a
new estimate formed by the provincial Council;
that for such lands as should not in this manner find
a renter, the Provincial Councils should receive
sealed proposals by advertisement; that the salt
farms should be let upon sealed proposals, a pre-
ference being given to the Zemindar or farmer of the
lands on which the salt was made; that security
should not be asked of the Zemindars, but a part of
their lands be sold to discharge their balances. Mr.
Francis objected to the rent-roll of last year as too
high; and Mr. Hastings admitted the justice of the
observation with regard to a part of the lands, where
abatement would be required ; but thought it good,
in the first instance, to try in how many cases the
high rent, for which persons were found to engage,
would be regarded as not more than the taxes would
enable them to pay. Instead of sealed proposals,
which he justly denominated a virtual auction, Mr.
Francis recommended a settlement by the Provincial
Councils. . And be wished the manufacture of salt
to be left to the holder or renter of the lands where
it was made ; the government requiring nothing but
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a duty. With these proposals the Governor-General BOOX V:
signified no disposition to comply; but, after fresh
commands from England, the average of the collecs 1777-
tions of the three preceding years was made the basis
of the new engagements.

In their letter of the 4th of July, 1777, the
Directors made the following severe reflections on
the institution of the office of inquiry, and the sepa<
rate authority which the Governor-General had taken
to himself. * Our surprise and concern were great
on finding by our Governor-General’s minute of 1st
November, 1776, that after more than seven years’
investigation, information i8 still so incomplete, as
to render another innovation, still more extraordinary
than any of the former, absolutely necessary in order
to the formation of a new settlement. In 1769,
supervisors were appointed professedly to investigate
the subject : in 1770, controlling councils of revenue
were instituted : in 1772, the office of Naib Dewan
was abolished, natives were discarded, and a Com-
mittee of Circuit formed, who, we were told, pre-
cisely and distinctly ascertained what was necessary
to be known : and now, in 1777, two junior servants,
with the assistance of a few natives, are employed to -
collect and digest materials, which have already
undergone the collection, inspection, and revision, of
" 80 many of our servants of all denominations.—We
should have hoped, that when you knew our senti-
ments respecting the conduct of our late adminis-
fration, in delegating separate powers to their
President, it would have been sufficient to preveni
us further trouble on such occasions; but, to our
concern, we find, that no sooner was our Council
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BOOK V. reduced, by the death of Colonel Monson, to a

number which rendered the President’s casting vote

1777.  of consequence to him, than he exercised it to invest

himself with an improper degree of power in the

business of the revenue, which he could never have
expected from other authority.™

The same mode of settlement was renewed from
year to year, till 1781 ; when a plan destined for
permanence was adopted and employed.*

When Mr. Hastings was in the deepest depression,
under the ascendency of his opponents, a gentleman,
of the name of Maclean, departed for England, and
was intrusted with a variety of confidential affairs,
as the private agent of the Governor-General. For
the measures adopted against the Rohillas, Hastings
had been censured by the Courts of both Directors
and Proprietors :* and the Court of Directors had

1 Sixth Report, ut supra, Appendix, Noe. 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16. Minutes
of the Governor-General and Council of Fort William, by Philip
Francis, Eeq. .

* Fifth Report of the Commiltee of Indian Affairs, 1612, p. 8.

* This is got correcily stated : the Court of Directors passed resolutions
condemmatory of the principles of the Bohilla War, and they were con-
firmed by s Court of Proprietors, but with & very important amendment,
uamety—that “ the Conrt had the highest opizion of the services and ints-
grity of Warren Hastings, Esq., and ¢ould not sdmit s saspicion of corrupt
motives operating on his conduct, without proof.” Proceedings of »
General Court, 6tk December 1775. The Resolution to address the King
for the Recall of the Governor, arose out of the charges preferred by the
other members of the Comncil against Hastings and Barwell, for having
faken bribes, or exacted suma of money from nstives illicitly. This Keso-
Intion passed the Court of Directors on the Bth of May, 1776, but st s General
Court held on the 17th May, it was voted by 377 to 271, that the Court of
- Directors should reconsider their resolution. In the course of the following
July, after several storwy discussions, the resolution was rescinded, and all
question of Hastings’s removal ceased for the time. MBS. Records. The
account of this transaction, and of that whkich follows, in the text, istaken Fom
the Ninth Repost of the Select Commitiee ; not, a4 it shouid have been, from
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resolved to address the King for his removal. Upon BOOK V.
this severe procedure, a Court of Proprietors was
again convened; a majority of whom appeared 1777
averse to carry the condemnation to so great an
extent; and voted, that the resolution of the Direc-
tors should be reconsidered. The business remained
in suspense for some months, when Mr. Maclean
informed the Court of Directors, that he was em-
powered to tender the resignation of Mr. Hastings.
If he resigned, a mere majority of the Proprietors,
who appeared to be on his side, could restore him to
the service. If he was dismissed, a mere majority
would not be sufficient. In the letters by which
the authority of Mr. Maclean was conveyed, confi-
dential communications upon other subjects were
contained. On this account he represented the
impossibility of his imparting them openly to the
Court ; but proposed, if they would appoint a confi-
dential Committee of Directors, to communicate to
them what was neeessary for their satisfaction. The
Chairman, Deputy-Chairman, and another Director
were pamed. They reported, that they had seen
, Mr. Hastings’s instructions in his own hand-writing ;
and that the authority of Mr. Maclean, for the pro-
posed proceeding, was clear and sufficient. Mr.
Vaosittart, and Mr. Stewart, both in the intimate
friendship and confidence of Mr. Hastings, gave
evidence, that directions, perfectly correspondent to
this written authority, had been given in their pre-

the docaments in the Appendix, which do not in very many instancea

suthorize the statemnents of the Report, infinenced as they evidently are

by a spirit unfriendly to Warren Hastiogs. —W. }
YOL, 1V, c
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BOOE V.gence.! The two Chairmen alone concurred in the

oHaP. 3.

1771.

report. The third Director regarded not the autho-

! The detail of the Report is unfair, and in this instance the Appendix
does not furnish the means of correcting it.  On reference to the original
M$. documents, it is evident that Colonel Macleane’s authority wonld
have satisfied pone but minds ready to catch at any plea for the removal
of an opponent. The Chairman, Deputy Chairman, and Mr. Becher,
report, that baving conferred with Mr. Macleane, they find that from the
purport of Mr. Hagtinge's instructions, contained in s paper in his own
hand-writing, he declares he will not continue in the gorernment of Ben-
gul, unless certain conditions therein specified can be obtained,”” of * which,’
they add, ‘ there is no probability.’ This is s very different thing from a
resignation : no conditions had been discussed ; none had been proposed :
their refusal should necessarily have preceded their consequences, and it
'was not for the Conrt of Directors to act upon their notion of a probable
contingency. Aguin, it was only an intention that was talked of ; and a
mere intention, communicated to s friend, could not by any just reasoning
be converted into an official anncancement of a final determinstion. Even
this intention, however, is not #xplicitly stated, but is gathered from the
* purport’ of the instructions. On the other hand, the Court had before
them Hastings's reiterated intimations that he would mof resign, until the
Court had passed senience upon the disputes beiween him and his adver-

. saries. Letter to the Court, 15th August, 1777. App. No. I13. Macleane's

condnct in this business it is not easy to comprehend. The Seloct Com-
mittee, in their usual spirit, find that motive for it which is assigned in the
text, but there were no proceedings in contemplation st the time of his
application to the Court, and it would have been quite exrly enoungh to have
had recourse to the manceuvre for which credit is given him, when the
recall of his principal had been again proposed. It seems not impossible,
however, that be was inflaenced by vicws of his own. He had come
bome as the onanthorized agent of the Nabob of Arcot, and in ¥eb. 1778,
addresaed the Court, explaining his reasons for having resigned their service
for that object. His account is not very explicit, but it i¢ clear that he
eonsidered himself sggrieved by the Governor and Council of Bengal, snd
had some important points to carry with the Court, declaring that * he is,
and must continne 1o be, & great sufferer, unless the Court should be
pleased to take his case into consideration, and grant him relief.” This is
dated the 13th February, 1776,  On the 10th of October in the mme year,
be writes to the Court 10 amnounce his being suthorized 1o proffes
Hastings’s resignation z8 sbove mentioned. During the whole interval,
he had not relinquished his claims upon the Coart; for not untill the 31st of
March in the next year, does he break with them finally. The whole of his
proceedings displey an ivtriguing spirit, which wus very likely to have
made him outstrip his instroctioss, in the hope of concilisting the raling
party of the Court. MSS. Records: also Nimth Report, 356.—W,
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rity as sufficiently proved. The Directors proceéded BOOK .
upon the report: the resignation was formally
accepted : and % successor to Mr. Hastings was 1977
Lhosen. Mr. Wheler was named ; presented fo the
King for his approbation; and accepted. General
Clavering, as senior Member of the Council, was
empowered to occupy the chair till Mr., Wheler
should arrive. And on the 19th of June, 1777,
intelligence of these proceedings was received in
Bengal. ' ,

A scene of confusion, well calculated to produce
the most fatal consequences, ensued. Mr. Hastings,
who now possessed the power of the Council, refused
to acknowledge the authority of his agent; and de-
clared his resolution not to resign. General Claver~
ing claimed the attributes of supremacy; and
summoned the Members of Council to assemble
under his auspices. Mr. Barwell attended upon the
summons of the one, and Mr. Francis upon that of
the other; and two parties, each claiming the
supreme authority, were now seen in action one
against the other. An.appeal to arms appeared, in
these circumstances, the only medium of decision;
and Mr. Hastings showed his resolution to stand the
result. The other party, it is probable, felt their
influence inferior to his. At any rate they declined
the desperate extremity of a civil war; and finally
offered to abide the award of the Supreme Court.
The judges decided that Mr. Hastings had not
. vacated his office. 'This transaction was afterwards
made the subject of a charge against him by those
who moved for his impeachment; but he accused
the Directors of rashness and injustice, in taking

c 2
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such important steps upon evidence which he af-
firmed would have been held, in a court of justice,
insufficient to maintain s decisiod for the trans-
ference of an article of property of the smallest
amount.!

The power recovered by the Governor-General, and
thus strenuously retained, was exhibited in other
triumphs, of slender importance. One of the first
mortifications to which he had been subjected upon
the arnval of the hostile councillors, was the recall
of his agent Mr. Middleton, from the office of resi-
dent with the Nabob of Oude. It wasnow his time
10 retort the humiliation ; and on the 2d of December
1776, he moved in Council, “ that Mr. Bristow
should be recalled from the court of the Nabob of
Oude, and that Mr. Middleton be restored to the
office of resident.” So far from imputing any blame
to Mr. Bristow, the Governor-General acknowledged
that he had commanded his esteem. As the ground
of his proceeding, he stated, that Mr. Middleton had
been removed from his office without allegation of
fault; that he bad a greater.confidence in Mr. Mid-
dleton than in Mr. Bristow, and as the respon-
sibility was laid upen him, it was but just that his
agents should be chosen by himself. The measure
was vehemently opposed by General Clavering and
Mr. Francis; the usual violence of altercation ensued ;
Mr. Middleton was appointed, and Mr. Bristow
recalled.

The part taken by Mr. Joseph Fowke in bringing

' Ninth Report, Select Committee, 1763, snd Appendix, Nos. 107, 108,
103, 112, 313, 114, 115; Bee also the Charges, No. 9, and the Answer of

Mr. Hastings.
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forward the facts, whence imputations had been BOOE V.
drawn upon the Governor-General himself, had ex-
cited a resentment, which, having formerly appeared 1777
only in bitter and contemptuous expressions, was now
made manifest in acts. The son of that gentleman,
Mr, Francis Fowke, had, on the 16th of August,
1775, been appointed by the Council, against the
voice of the Governor-General, to proceed on a
species of embassy to the new dependant of the
Company, the Raja of Benares. On the same day
- on which the Governor-General moved for the recall
of Mr Bristow, he moved for that of Mr. Francis
Fowke, which also, after strong opposition, was
carried by his own casting vote. Mr. Fowke was
recalled, and his commission annulled, on the express
declaration, that * the purposes thereof had been ac-
complished.” On the 22d of the same month, a .
letter of the Governor-General and Council was
written to the Court of Directors, in which the recall
of Mr Fowke was reported, and in which it was
stated that the commission with which he bad been
invested was annulled, because the purposes for
which it had been created were * fully accomplished;”
On the very day after the date of this despatch, the
Governor-General moved in Council, and whatever
he moved was sure of acceptance, that a civil servant
of the Company, with an assistant, should be ap.
pointed to reside at Benares!

Upon both of these transactions, the Du'ectors pro-
nounced condemnation, In their general letter to
Bengal, of the 4th of July, 1777, they say, “ Upon
the most careful perusal of your procedlings of the
2d of December, 1776, relative to the recall of Mr.
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BOOK V' Brigtow from the court of the Nabob of Oude, and

CHaP. 3.

1777.

the appointment of Mr. Nathaniel Middleton to that
station, we must declare our strongest disapprobation
of the whole of that transaction. And therefore
direct, that Mr. Bristow do forthwith return to his
station of resident at Oude, from which he has been
s0 improperly removed.” And in their letter of the
30th of January, 1778, « You inform us,” they said,
“in your secret letter of December, 17786, that the
purposes for which Mr. Francis Fowke was appoint-
ed to proceed to Benares, being fully accomplished,
you had annulled his commission, and ordered him to
the Presidency. But it appears by your letter of the
6th of January, 1777, that in less than twenty days
you thought proper to appoint Mr. Thomas Graham
to reside at Benares, and Mr. Daniel Octavius Bar-
‘well to be his assistant. If it were possible to sup-
pose that a saving to the Company had been your
motive for annulling Mr. Fowke’s commission, we
should have approved your proceedings. But when
we find two persons appointed immediately after-
wards, with two salaries, to execute an office which
had been filled with reputation by Mr. Fowke alone,
we must be of opinion that Mr. Fowke was removed
without just cause; and therefore direct that Mr.
Francis Fowke be immediately reinstated in his
office of resident and post-master at Benares.”

On the 20th of July, 1778, the commands of the
Coaurt of Directors, with regard to Mr. Fowke, came
under the deliberation of the Governor and Council,
when Mr. Hastings moved that the execution of these
commands should be suspended. A compliance with

them, he said, “ would be adequate ” (meaning equi-
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valent) “to his own resignation of the service, BOOK V.
because it would inflict such a wound on his authority, ——
as it could not survive.” He also alleged that in. 1778
telligence might daily be expected from England of
resolutions which would-decide upon his situation in -
the service ; and, notwithstanding the opposition of
one-half of the Council, he decided, by his casting.
vote, that Mr. Fowke, in spite of the command of
the Directors, should not be replaced.

On the 27th of May, 1779, the Court of Directors
write, “* We have read with astonishment your formal
resolution to suspend the execution of our orders
relative to Mr. Francis Fowke. Your proceedings at
large are now before us. We shall take such mea-
sures as appear necessary for preserving the authority
of the Court of Directors, and for preventing such
instances of direct and wilful discbedience in our
servants in time to come. At present we repeat the
commands eontained in the sizty-seventh paragraph
of our letter of the 30th January, 1778, and direct
that they be carried into immediate execution.”?

The place rendered vacant in the Council, by the
death of Colonel Monson, had been supplied, by the

-appointment of Wheler, who commonly voted with
Francis; but as General Clavering died in the end
of the mouth of August, 1777, the decisions of the
Council were still, by his own casting vote, at the
command of the Governor-General.

Another of the transactions, which, during the
ascendency of his opponents,had most deeply offended
the Governor-General, was the subversion of his

[
' The original documents respecting these transactions may be found in

the Appendix to the Fifth Report of Lhe Select Commitles, 1781 ; and in
the Miuutes of Evidence on the Trial of Mr. Hastings.
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regulations respecting the government and house-
hold of the Nabob. As this, however, had obtained
the sanction of the Court of Directors; and the
appointment of Mohammed Reza Khan in particular
had met with their specific approbation, some colour
for reversing these measures was very much to be
desired. The period, at which the Nabob would
come of age, was approaching. In the secret con-
sultations on the 23rd of July, 1778, the Governor-
General desired that a letter from the Nabob
Mubarek-al-Dowla should be read. In this letter the
Nabob stated, that he had now, by the favour of
God, arrived at that stage of life, his twentieth year,
when the laws of his country assigned to him the
management of his own affairs; he complained of the
severity with which he had been treated by Moham-
med Reza Khan; and prayed that he might be
relieved from this state of degrading tutelage, and
allowed to assume the administration of his own
government and affairs.

Mr. Wheler and Mr. Francis maintained, that it
was not competent for the delegated government of
India to subvert aregulation of so much importance,
which had been directly confirmed by the Court of
Directors; and that the requisition of the Nabob
should be transmitted to England for the determina-
tion of the superior power. Mr. Hastings and Mr. -
Barwell insisted that justice admitted of no delay.
It is remarkable, how these contending parties in
India could reverse their pleas, as often as their
interests required that different aspects of the same
circumstances should be held up to view. In 1775,
when the party in opposition to the Governor-
General meant to alter the regulations which he
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had formed, they represented it as their object ¢ to BOOK V.
recover the country government from the state of
feebleness and insignificance, to which it was Mr, 1778~
Hastings’s avowed policy to reduce it.” The Governor-
General, in opposition to these pretences, declared,
that * all the arts of policy cannot conceal the power
by which these provinces are ruled; nor can all the
arts of sophistry avail to transfer the responsibility
of them to the Nabob, when it is as visible as the
light of the sun, that they ong“"ate from our own
government ; that the.Nabob is & mere pageant,
without the shadow of authonty, and even his most
consequential agents receive their appointment from
the recommendation of the company, and the express
nomination of their servants.”! Notwithstanding
these recorded sentiments, the Governor-General
could now declare; ‘“The Nabob’s demands are
grounded on positive rights, which will not admit of
discussion, -He hes an incontestable right to the
management of his own household. He has an in-
contestable right to the Nizamut ; it is bis by inberi-
tance; the dependants.of the Nizamut Adaulut, and
of the Fouzdary, have been repeatedly declared by
the Company, and by this government, to appertain
to the Nizamut. For these reasons I am of opinion,
that the requisitions contained in the Nabob’s letter
ought to be complied with.”* In the eagerness of
his passions, the Governor-General, by asserting the
incontestable right of the Nabob to all the powers of
the Nizamut, transferred a great part of the govern-
ment, Under the Mogul constitution, the govern-

t Minuta of the Governor-General d the 7th Dec. 1775, Fifth Report,
ut supra, p 24, and App. No. 6.

* Secret consultations, 5th March, 1778. Flfth Beport, p. 29, App.
No. 8.(N.)
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BOOK ¥.ment of the provinces consisted of two parts; the

- 1778,

Dewannee, or collection of the revenues, and the
administration of the principal branches of the civil
department of justice; and the Nizamut, or the
military branch of the government, with the superin-
tendence of the criminal department of judicature:
and of these the Dewannee was subordinate to the
Nizamut. In this exalted capacity, it was never
meant to recognise the Nabol; and the language
exhibits a useful specimen of the sort of arguments,
to serve a purpose, which vague and imperfect notions
of Indian policy have enabled those who were in-
terested always to employ.! Letters were also

' At the time when Nuncomar accused Mr. Hastings, an indictment
for 8 conspiracy was brought against him, Boy Radschurn, and others,
Boy Radachurn was the Vakeel of the Bengal Nabob, and claimed the
privilege of an ambassador. To bring him under the power of the Court,
it was thought Decessary to prove that his master was in no respect s
Prince. For this purpose Mr. Hastings made an afldavit, that he and bis
ecuncil, in 1772, had appointed Munny Begum, and ail her sabordinates ;
that they had appointed courts of law, botk cirvil and criminel, by their
own authority, and without consniting the Nabob ; that “the civil courts
were made solely dependent on the Presidency st Calcutia; and that the
said criminal courts were put under the inspection snd control of the Com-
pany’s servants, althongh ostensibly nnder the name of the Nazim; snd
that the revenues were exciusively iu the hands of the Compezy.” The
inference was, that not a particle of sovereign power belonged to the
Nabob. Affidavits to the same purpose were made by Mr. George Vansitiart
sod Mr, Lane. Upoa this and other svidence the judges formed their
decision; that the Nabob was not & sovereign in auy sense, Doy his
Vakeel an ambassador. The words of some of them sre remarkable. The
Chief Justior sid, that if the Nabob was a Prisce, * the exercise of their
power must be an wswpation in the Indis Compsny;** but this be
affirmed was not the case, for the Nabob’s treaty with the Company * was
& smrender, by him, of sll power inte their hands.” Afier s long argo-
meat (o show that there was in the Nabob nothing but s “ shadow of
majesty,” ke concludes; “ I sbould not have thought that I had done my
duty, if | had not given s full and determinate opinion upon this question.
I shonld have been sorry if 1 had left it doubifol, whether the emply
mame of 3 Nabob conld be thrust between o delinquent snd the Jaws.”
The language of Mr. Justice Le Maistre was stronger sill. ~ Wih
regard to this phantom,” said ke, “this man of siaw, Mobarek al Dowla,
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brought from the Nabob, which the known wish of ngff V.
the Governor-General could not fail to obtain, request- -

it is an insult on the understanding of the Court, to have made & question -
of his sovereignty.” “ By the treaty which hes been read,” said Mr. Justice
Hyde, it appeara that Mobareck nl Dowla deprives himself of the great
ensign of sovereignty—the right {0 protect his own subjects, He declares
that shall be done by the Company.” When this opinion was received,
Mr. Francie moved st the Bonard, that as it would preclude them from the
use of the Nabob’s name in their transactions with foreign states, the
Directors might be requested, *if it should be determined by them that
the Subah’s government was annihilated, to instrnct the Board in whet
form the government of the provinces shonld be administered for-ihe
fature.”” Mr. Hestings objected to the motion, as the declaration of the
judges told nothing but what, he said, was known, and acted upon, before.
They had used the Nabob's name, it was true; in deference to the com-
mands of the Directors; *but I donot,” said he,  remember any instance,
and I hope none will be found, of our having been so disingenuons as to
disclaim our own power, or to affirm that the Nabob was the real sovereign
of these provinces.” He next proceeds to condemn the fiction of the
Nabob’s government. * In effect,” he says, “I do mot hesitate to say,
that I look npon this state of indecision to have been productive of al} the
embarrasamente which we have experienced with the foreign settlements
««=1s.+a It has been productive of great inconveniences ; it has prevented
us from acting with vigour in our disputes with the Dutch and French,,....
Instead of regretting, with Mr, Francis, the occasion which deprives us of
#0 useless and horifol a disguise, I should rather rejoice were it really the
caso, and consider it as & crisia which freed the eonstitution of our govern-
ment from ope of it grestest defects, And if the commands of our
honourable employers, which are expected by the ships of the season,
ehall leave us uninstructed on this subject, which has been so pointedly
reforved to them in the letters of the late administration, I now deciare
that 1 shal} constzus the omiseion, as & tacit and discretional reference of
the subject to the judgment end determination of this Board ; and will
propose that we do siand forth, in the name of the Company, as the actual
government of these provinces; and assume the exercise of it, in every
instance, without any concealment or participation.” Minuntes of Bridence
on the Trial of Mr. Hastings, p. 1071—1079. When all these facts are
known, the vehement xeal which Mr. Hastings, becanse it now suited kLis
purposs, displayed for the fictitious anthority of the Nabob, has a name
which every reader will supply.~M. The right of the Nebob to eontsol
his own housebold, was quite compatible with the absenss of politioal
powar, and as long as his sadministration of the Nizamnt was permitted, he
had a right Lo appoint his officors ; the point in dispute involves no ques-
tion of political power, but of individual patronage. It was & very nune-
cessary exervise of control to withhold from & man of twenty, all voios in
the nominstion of kis servants and dependants.—W,
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Book v.ing that his step-mother Munny Begum, of whom he
c=%-3 had formerly complained, “should take on herself

1778,

the management of the Nizamut, without the inter-
ference of any person whatsoever.”! Mohammed
Reza Khan was accordingly removed ; Munny Begum
was replaced in her ancient office : subordinate to
her, Gourdass was re-instated in that of comptroller of
the household; and a person called Sudder-al-Hok
was appointed to the superintendence of the judicial

‘department. To these several offices, which were all

included in the trust of Mohammed Reza Khan,
salaries were appropriated amounting to 18,000
rupees beyond what he had received. The incapa-
city of Munny Begum, when compared with Mo-
hammed Reza, could admit of no dispute; and the
pernicious influence of the eunuchs who governed
her delayed not to give Hastings uneasiness. On
the 10th of October of the same year (1778), he was
obliged to write to the Nabob, “ That the affairs
both of the Phouzdary and Adaulut were in the
greatest confusion imaginable, and that daily rob-
beries and murders were perpetrated throughout the
country ;—that his dependants and people, actuated
[ ]

t Of the mode in which sach = letter wea procured, nobody who
knows the relative situation of the parties eap enterisin & doubt. The
judges of the supreme court, upos & letter of the same Nabob, in July,
1775, ananimously gave the following opinion: “ The Nabob's sge, his
situation is such, that theye is po man, cither in Englsnd or India, will
believe he wonid be induced to write such 8 letter, was it not diciated to
him by the sgents of those who rule this setilement: or unless he wae
perfectly convineed it wonld be agreeable to and coincide with their semti-
ments. We always bave, and always shall copsider, a letter of business
from that Nabob, the same ss a letier from the Goversor-Gemeral and
Couscil.” Minutes of Evidence on the trial, p. 1079, and Appendix, p.
547, According to this rule, the ketter on which Mr. Hastings laid his
superstracture was & letter from himeclf to kiself
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by selfish and avaricious views, had by their inter- BOOK V.
ference so impeded the business of justice, as to
throw the whole country into a state of confusion.” 1778
Meanwhile the report of this transaction was re-

ceived in England; and the Court' of Directors, in
their letter of the 4th of February, transmit their
sentiments upon it in the following terms: “ We by
no means approve your late proceedings on the ap-
plication of the Nabob Mubarek ul Dowla for the
removal of the Naib Subahdar. In regard to the
Nabob’s desire to take charge of his own affairs, we
find it declared by one of your own members, and
not contradicted, that the Nahob is, in his -own
person, utterly incapable of executing any of those
offices which were deemed of essential importance to
the welfare of the country., The Nabob’s letters
leave us no doubt of the true design of this extraor-
dinary business being, to bring forward Munny
Begum, and again to invest her with improper power
and influence, notwithstanding our former declara-
tion, that so great a part of the Nabob’s allowance
had been embezzled, or misapplied under her super-
intendence. You have requested the inexperienced
young man, to permit all the present judges and
officers of the Nizamut and Phousdary Adauluts, or
courts of criminal justice, and also all the Phousdars
or officers appointed to guard the peace of the
country, to continue in office until Ae the Nabob shall
have formed a plan for a new arrangement of those
offices: and it is with equal surprise and concern,
that we observe this request introduced, and the
‘Nabob's ostensible rights so solemnly asserted at
this period by our Governor-Genersl; because, on a
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has not scrupled to declare it as visible as the light
of the sun, that the Nabob is a mere pageant, and
without even the shadow of authority. No circum-
stance has happened, since that declaration was
made, to render the Nabob more independent, nor
to give him any additional degree of power or
consequence; you must therefore have been well
apprized that your late concessions to Mubarek-ul-
dowla were unnecessary, and as such unwarrantable.
As we deem it for the welfare of the country, that
the office of Naib Subahdar be for the present
continued, and that this high office should be filled
by a person of wiedom, experience, and approved
fidelity to the Company; and as we have no reason
to alter our opinion of Mohammed Reza Khan, we
positively direct, that you forthwith signify to the
Nabob Mubarek-al.-dowla our pleasure, that Moham-
med Reza Khan be immediately restored to the office
of Naib Subahdar.!

! Fiih Beport, ut saprs, p. 24—32, and App. Ne. 6; also the chargen
sgainst Mr. Hastings, No. 17, with Mr. Hastings’s answer; see also the
Evidence both for the Prosecution and Defence in Minutes of Evidence,
Iltsu‘pn.f——ll.

No comment is made vpom the incomsistency of the Comrt in their
insisting on the continasnce in office of Mobammed Beza Khan, s person
whom they had formerly sccused of corruption, and sesiteaced o imprison-
ment. In all these conflicting orders and opinious, the real state of
things should be kept in view. The majority of the Conrt of Directors were
friendly to the ¢ppouents of Hastings. The majority of the Court of
Propriciors weve bis friends. In reliance on their sapport the govesnar
held bis post snd his purposes, in defiance of what he pot anfoundedly
regarded as the party-spiria of the Directors ; but their opposition, and that
of his council, forced him to devise srpuments and sasign motives intended
to meet the exigency of the moment, snd therefore, sometimes as much af
variznce with themeelves as were the arguments of those by whoo be was
20 vebhemiently and invariably opposed.——W.
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The state of the relations between the Cbmpa.ny’s B?ﬁf_ 3"

government and the Mahratta powers: had for some ©

time pressed with considerable weight upon the at-
tention of the Council. The treaty which had been
concluded by Colonel Upton, commonly distin-
guished by the title of the treaty of Poorunder, had
left the minds of the governing party at Poonah, and
those of the Bombay Presidency, in a state of mutifzte
jealousy and dissatisfaction. - The occupation of
Salsette, and the other concessions which had been
extorted, but above all the countenance and protec-
tion still afforded to Ragoba, rankled in the minds of
the Poonah ministry; while the Bombay rulers,
condemned and frustrated by the Supreme Council,
but encouraged by the approbation of the Court of
Directors, stood upon the watch for any plausible
opportunity of evading or infringing the freaty.
Colonel Upton, though he remained at Poonah till
the commencement of the year 1777, departed before
any, of the material stipulations had been carried into
effect. JFutty Sing, as by the freaty it had been
rendered his interest, disavowed his right to alienate
in favour of the Company any portion of the Guica~
war dommmns, and the Poonah Council made use
of the favour shown to Ragoba, as a pretext for de-
laying or evading the concessions they had made.

A new feature was soon added to these disputes,
by the arrival of a French ship in one of the
Mahratta ports, and the reception given at Poonah
to some gentlemen whom she landed, as on a
mission from the king of France. This circumstance
strongly excited the English jealousy and fears.
The cbject at which the French were supposed to

1778.
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and the acquisition of a sea-port on the coast of
Malabar. These advantages would enable them, it
was apprehended, to sustain a competition with the
English in matters of trade, and to annoy them
seriously in a period of war. The asseverations of
the Mahratta government, that nothing was in view
prejudicial to the interests of the Company, gave
little satisfaction. Colonel Upton, whose partiality
was engaged to the treaty which he bad concluded,
and the party whom he served, accused the Bombay
Presidency, and answered for the sincerity and pa-
cific designs of the Mahrattas. Mr. Hastings leaned
to the suspicious side; bis oppoments urged the
propriety of yielding contentment to the Mahrattas,
especially by the abandonment of Ragoba. The
probability of a rupture between France 3nd Eng-
land was already contemplated in India; and, as it
was to be expected that the French-would aim at
the recovery of their influence in India, so Mr.
Hastinds, at least, thought that the westarn coast

was the place where they had the best prospect of
success; and the support of the Mahrattas was the
means most likely to be adopted for the accomplish-
ment of their ends.

The progress of inquiry respecting the agent from
France discovered, that his name was St. Lubin; that
he was a mere adventurer, who had opened to the
French Minister of Marine a project, supported by
exaggerated and false representations, for acquiring
an influence in the Mahratta councils, and an esta-
blishment in the Mahratta country; and that he had
been intrusted with a sort of clandestine commission,
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as an experiment, for ascertaining if any footing or BOOK V.
advantage might be gained. The Presidency of
Bombay represented to the Supreme Council, that 7%
St. Lubin received the most alarming countenance
from the Poonah ministers; that nothing could be
more dangerous to the Company, than a combined
attack from the Mahrattas and French: And they
urged the policy of anticipating the designs of their
enemies, by espousing the cause of Ragoba; and
putting an end to the power of men, who waited only
till their schemes were ripe for execution, to begin
an attack upon the Company. The Bombay Presi-
dency were more emboldened in their importunity,
by a letter from the Court of Directors, containing
their observations on the conduct of the Supreme
Council in taking the negotiation with the Mahrattas
out of the hands of the Bombay government, and on
the treaty which the Supreme Council had concluded
with the Poonah rulers. * We approved,” said the
Directors, “ under every circumstance, of keeping all
territories and possessions ceded to the Company by
Ragoba, and gave directions to the Presidencies of
Bengal and Fort St. George to adopt such measures
as might be necessary for their preservation and de-
fence. But we are extremely concerned to find, from
the terms of the treaty concluded by Colonel Upton
at Poonah, that so great a saerifice has been improvi-
dently made; and especially, that the important
cession of Bassein to the Company by Ragoba, has
been rendered of no effect. We cannot but disap-
prove of the mode of interference of the Governor-
General and Council, by sending an ambassador to
Poonah without first consulting you, and of their
YOL, IV. )
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BOOK V- determination to disavow and invalidate the treaty
formerly entered into by an agent from your Presi-
178 dency, and solemnly ratified under the seal of the
Company. Weare convinced that Bassein, which is
8o great an object with us, might have been obtained
if they had authorized you to treat either with Ra-
goba, or with the ministers at Poonah; reserving the
final approval and ratification of the treaty to them-
selves. This is the precise line we wish to have
drawn ; and which we have directed our Governors-
General and Council in future to pursue. We are of
opinion, that an alliance originally with Ragoba would
have been more for the honour and advantage of the
Company, and more likely to be lasting, than that
concluded at Poonah. His pretensions to the supreme
authority appear to us better founded than those of
his competitors; and therefore, if the conditions of
the treaty of Poonah have not been strictly fulfilled
on the part of the Mahrattas, and if, from any circum-
stance, our Governor-General and Council shall deem
it expedient, we have no objection to an alliance with
Ragoba, on the terms agreed upon between him and
youw”

While these circumstances were under the consi-
deration of the Supreme Council at Calcutta, intelli-
gence arrived, that the rivalship of Siccaram Baboo
and Nana Furnavese had produced a division in the
Council at Poonah ; that a part of the ministers,
with Siccaram Baboo at their head, had resolved to
declare for Ragoba; that they had applied for the
assistance of the English to place in his hands the
powers of government; and that the Presidency of

- Bombay had resolved to co-operate with them in his
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favour. This subject produced the usual train of BOOKY.
debate and contention in the Supreme Council; where
Mr. Francis and Mr, Wheler condemned the resolu- 177%
tion of the President and Council of Bombay, first,
as illegal, because not taken with the approbation of
the supreme authority; next, as unjust, by infringing
the treaty; and fipally, i impolitie, byincurring the dan-
gersand burdens of war: The Governor-General and
Mr. Barwell approved it, as authorized by the sud-
denness and greatness of the emergency, and the de-
elared sentiments of the Court of Directors; as not
unjust, since the principal party with whom the
treaty was formed now applied for the interference
of the Company; and as not impolitic, because it
anticipated the evil designs of a hostile party, and
gave to the Company an accession of territorial re-
venue, while it promised them a permanent influence
in the. Mahratta councils. It was resolved, in conse-
quence, that a supply of money and a reinforcement
of troops should be sent to the Presidency of Bombay.
The Governor-General proposed that a force should
be assembled at Calpee, and should march by the
most practicable route to Bombay. This also gave
rise to a warm debate, both on the policy of the plan,
and the danger of sending a detachment of the
Company’s army to traverse India through the domi-
nions of princes, whose disposition had not been pre-
viously ascertained. It was finally determined, that
the force should consist of six battalions of Sepoys,
one company of native artillery, and a corps of
cavalry; that it should be commanded by Colonel
Leslie; and anticipate, by its expedition, the obstruc-
tion of the rains. That commander was instructed
D2
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which the rulers were friendly; to obtain, where pos-
sible, the consent of the princes or chiefs, through
whose territories he might have occasion to pass;
but even when refused, to pursue his march; to be
careful in preventing injury to the country or inhabi-
tants ; to allow his course to be retarded by the pur-
suit of no extraneous object; and to consider himself
under the command of the Bombay Presidency from
the commencement of his march. That Presidency
were at the same time instructed to use their utmost
endeavours to defeat the machinations of the French;
to insist upon the execution of the treaty ; to take
advantage of every change of circumstances for ob-
taining beneficial concessions to the Company ; and,
if they observed any violation of the treaty, or any

.refusal to fulfil its terms, to form a new alliance with

Ragoba, and concert with him the best expedients
for retrieving his affairs.

In the mean time another change had taken place
in the fluctuating administration at Poonah. The
party of Siccaram Baboo had prevailed over that of
Nana Furnavese without the co-operation of Ragoba;
and it was immediately apprehended at Bombay, that
they would no longer desire to admit as an associate,
a party who would supersede themselves. The argu-
ments, urged, upon this change, by Mr. Francis and
Mr, Wheler, did not succeed in stopping the march
of the troops; because the umnsettled state of the
government of Poonah, and the machinations of the
French, rendered it highly expedient, in the opinion

of the Governor-General, that the Presidency of

Bombay should be furnished with sufficient power,
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both to guard against dangerous, and to take advan- BOOK Y.
tage of fgvourable, circumstances and events. s

The detachment experienced some slight obstrue- 1778
tion at the commencement of its march, from some
of the petty Mahratta chiefs ; upon which, as indi-
cating danger if it proceeded any further, Mr. ¥rancis
renewed his importunities for its recall. Mr. Hast-
ings opposed his arguments, on the ground, thatafter
a few days’ march the troops would arrive in Bundel-
cund, which was independent of the Mahrattas;
would thence pass into the territories of the Raja of
Berar, in which they would be received with friend-
ship; that, on quitting the territories of the Raja,
more than two-thirds of the march would be com-
pleted ; that the consent of the Peshwa had been
obtained ; and that the Mahratta chiefs, whatever
their inclinations, were too much engaged in watch.
ing the designs of one another, to be able-to oppose
the detachment. -

Various were the orders by which its movements
were affected. The Presidency at Bombay, having
taken up hopes that the presiding party at Poonah
would favour the views of the English, and dismiss
the agents of the French, wrote a first letter to the
detachment, . requiring them to halt, and wait &ill .
subsequent directions; and presently thereafter
another letter, desiring them to prosecute the march,
In the mean time intelligence had reached Calcuita,
that war was declared between the English and the
French. Upon this, instructions were despatched to
Colonel Leslie by- the supreme Council, not to
advance, till further orders, beyond the limits of
Berar.
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BOOK V. According to the Governor-General, the Company
had nothing to dread from the efforts of the French,

1778. gt either Calcutta or Madras: it was the western
coast on which, both from the weakness of Bombay,
and the inclinations of the Mahratta government,
those enemies of the English had any prospect of
success; and where it most behoved the servants of
the Company to provide against their attempts. He
recommended a connexion with some of the leading
powers of the country; pointed out the Raja of
Berar as the prince with whom it was most desirable
to combine; and mentioned two services by which
the co-operation of that Prince might be emsured.
One of these services was to assist him in the re-
covery of the dominions which had been wrested from
him by Nizam Al The other was to support him
in a pretension to the Mahratta Rajaship. The
legitimate, but impotent King of the Mahrattas, had
recently died in his captivity at Sattarah, without
leaving issue: and the Raja of Berar, as a braoch
of the house of Sivajee, might urge a claim to the
succession. In pursuance of these objects, an em-
bassy to the court of Berar was voted by the
majority, and despatched. In the mean time another
revolution had ensued in the government at Poonah.
The party of Siccaram Baboo was again overthrown;
and that of Nana Furnavese exalted by the powerful
co-operation of Madajee Sindia. The party of
Nana still appeared to favour the French. The
defeated party, now led by a chief named Moraba, as
the age of Siccaram Baboo in a great measure dis-
qualified him for business, were eager to combine
with the English in raising Ragoba; and the Presi-
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«dency of Bombay had no lack of inclination toBOOK §.

second their designs. A resolution to this effect was
passed on the 21st of July; 1778; but it wasnot till 177*
the beginning of November, that any step was taken
for its execution. The activity of the Presidency
had been repressed by news of the confinement of the
leading members of the party at Poonah, from whom
they expected assistance, and by instructions from
the Supreme Council not to pursue any measures
which might interfere with the object of the em-
bassy to Moodajee Bonsla, the Regent of Berar.
Early, however, in November, a plan of operations
was concerted; a treaty was concluded with Ragoba;
a loan to a considerable amount was advanced to
him ; and, upon intelligence that the ruling party
at Poonah had penetrated their designs, and were
making preparations to defeat them, it was deter-
mined to gend forward one division of the army im-
mediately, and the rest with all possible despatch.

The force which was sent upon this enterprise
amounted in all to nearly 4500 men. A comumittee,
consisting of Colonel Egerton, Mr. Carnac, 8 mem-
ber of the Select Committee, and Mr. Mostyn, for-
merly agent of the Presidency at Poonah, were
appointed a Committee for superintending the expe-
dition, and settling the government at Poonah. The
army set out about the beginning of December;
on the 23d completed the ascent of the mountains,
and arrived at Condola. The enemy now, for the
first time, appeared. From the head of the Ghaut,
or pass, which they secured by a fortified post, the
English, on the 4th of January, began their march
toward Poonah, with a stock of provisions for twenty-
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five days. They were opposed by a body of troops,
who retired as they advanced, but cut off their
supplies, and seized every opportunity to harass and
impede them. They were not joined, as they had
encouraged themselves to expect, by any chief of
importance, or numbers to any considerable amount.
And it was in vain, as they were informed by Ra-
goba, to hope, that his friends and adherents would
declare themselves, till the English, by some impor-
tant operations and success, held out to them a pro-
spect of safety. The army continued to advance till

~the 9th of January, when, at the distance of about

sixteen miles from Poonah, and eighteen from the
summit of the pass, they found an army assembled
to oppose them, The Committee,' to whom, by a
strange policy, the command of a military expedition
was consigned, began to despair; and, on learning
from the commissary in chief, that only eighteen
days’ provisions were in store, and from the officer
commanding the forces, that he could not protect
the baggage, without a body of horse, they made up
their minds to aretreat. It commenced on the night
of the 11th. But secrecy had not been preserved ;
and they were attacked by the enemy before day-

' Mr. Moslyn was soon taken ill and retamned to Bombay, where he
died On sriviog at Tallyganm, Colonel Egerton was obliged to relin-
quish the command to Colonel Cockbnrm, but continoed to act a4 &
Member of the Committee. In either capacily he may be considered as
principally answerable for the failure of the expedition. After crossing
the Ghaut, the movements of the army were so alow, that it bad advaneed
bot eight miles in eleven days, without apy excuse for sich deliberate pro-
cedure: and when it became & question what was to be dome, Colonel
Cockburn expressed 30 doubt of making good his march te Poons, and
cther well-informed officers were of opinion, that &i least they shonld
maintaig their ground whilst the negotistions were carried on.  Hustory
of Mahrattas, ii. 366.—W.
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break ; when they lost a part of their baggage, and BOOK ¥.
above three hundred men. It was not until four
o'clock in the afternoon that the enemy desisted from 1779
the pursuit, when the English had effected their
retreat as far a8 Wargaum. Hope now deserted not
only the Committee, but the Commander of the
troops ; who declared it impossible to carry back the
army to Bombay.! An embassy was sent to the
Mahratta camp to try upon what terms they could
have leave to return. The surrender of Ragoba was
demanded ag a preliminary article. That unfortunate
chief was so impressed with the danger of waiting
another attack, that he had declared his intention of
surrendering himself to Sindia, and had been in
correspondence with that chieftain for several days;
the Committee were less scrupulous therefore, in bar-
tering his safety for their own, When this com-
pliance was announced, and the English expected a
corresponding facility on the part of the Mahrattas,
the leaders of that people informed them, that the
surrender of Ragoba was a matter of the utmost in-
difference ; that the treaty, which had been concluded
with Colonel Upton, had been shamefully violated ;
the territory of the Mahrattas invaded; and that
unless a new treaty were formed upon the spot, the
army must remain where it was, and abide the con-
sequences. The declaration of the Committee, that
they possessed not powers to conclude a treaty, was
disregarded. The commanding officer declared, that

* Captain Hurtley, who had distingnished himself in command of the rear
guard during the retreat, proposed a plan by which ik might be ensured.
The commanding officer, however, despaired of its accomplishment. Hist.
of Mabrattas, ii. 375.—W, ‘



42

BOOK ¥,
CHAP. 3.

1779.

HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.

the attempt to force a retreat could lead to nothing
but the total destruction of the army. It was, there.
fore, agreed to submit to such conditions as the
Mabhrattas might impose; and a treaty was signed,
by which all the acquisitions were relinquished,
which had been made in those parts by the Englich,
since the treaty with Madhoo Rao in 1756 ; Baroach
was given up to Sindia;' Ragoba placed in his
hands; the detachment from Bengal was ordered to
return ; and two Englishmen of distinction were left
as hostages for the due fulfilment of the terms.

No approbation could be more complete than that
which was bestowed by the court of Directors on the
object of this expedition. In a letter from the Com-
mittee of Secrecy, dated the 31st of August, 1778,
‘““ The necessity,” they say “ of counteracting the
views of the French at Poonah appears to us so very
striking, that we not only direct you to frustrate their
designs of obtaining a grant of the port of Choul, but
also to oppose by force of arms, if necessary, their
forming a settlement at that or any other place which
may render them dangerous neighbours to Bombay.
As the restoration of Ragoba to the Peshwaship is a
measure upon which we are determined ; and as the
evasions of the Mahratta chiefs respecting the treaty
of Poonah justify any departure therefrom on our
part, we, therefore, direct, that if, on the receipt of
thig letter, you shall be able to obtain assistance from

1 It waa the policy of the Commities to sppeal to Bindia, which, s
plans of policy : be nevertheless gviled kimself of the opportunity to take
every sdvantage of the English, as far as was consistent with the control
he wished to preserve over Nana Purnavees. Mahratta History, ii. 377.—~W.
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the friends of Ragoba, and with such assistance find B00% V.
yourselves in force sufficient to effect his restoration
without dangerously weakening your garrison, you 1779
forthwith undertake the same.” In proportion to
the satisfaction which would have been expressed
- upon a fortunate termination of this enterprise, was
the displeasure manifested upon its failure. ¢ The
first object which strikes us,” say the Directors, * is
the slow progress of the army. This we deem an
irreparable injury to the service; and in this respect
the conduct of the Commander-m-Chlef appears ex-
tremely defective. The consequence was obvious ;
the enemy had full opportunity to collect their
strength ; the friends of Ragoba, instead of being
encouraged, by the spirited exertion of our force, to
join his standard, must, as we conceive, have been
deterred from declaring in his favour, by the languor
of our military proceedings.” They condemn the
first resolution to retreat, when « the army was so far
advanced, the troops full of spirits and intrepidity,
and eighteen days’ provisions in store.” And the
utmost measure of their indignation and resentment
is poured on the humiliating submission which was
at last preferred to the resolution. of a daring, though
hazardous retreat; preferred, on the pretext that the
troops would not again resist the enemy, though they
had behaved with the utmost intrepidity on the for-
mer attack; and though Captain Hartley declared
that_he could depend upon his men, urged every
argument in favour of resolute measures, and even
formed and presented to the commanding officera
disposition for conducting the retreat. The two
military officers who had shared in the conduct of the
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expedition, the Directors dismissed from their ser-
vice; and the only remaining member of the Field
Committee, who had been selected from the civil
branch of the service, for one bhad died during the
march, they degraded from his office, as a member of
the Council and Select Committee of Bombay.

The detachment which was proceeding from Ben-
gal had wastéd much time on its march. Having

"advanced as far as Chatterpore, a principal city of

Bundelcund, early in June, it halted till the middle
of August. During this season, when the rains, ac-
cording to Colonel Leslie, interrupted ; according to
the Governor General, favoured the march ; the com-
mander of the troops engaged himself in negotiations
and transactions with the local chiefs; measures
severely condemned by his superiors, and very open
to the suspicion of selfish and dishonourable motives.
The President and Council of Bombay, on the re-
ceipt of intelligence of a rupture with France, had
earnestly exhorted him by letter to accelerate his
motions. They renewed their solicitations on the
21st of July, when they came to the resolution of
supporting Ragoba. And they urged the delay of
this detachment, and the uncertainty of its arrival,
as a reason for having undertaken the"expedition to
Poonah, without waiting for that addition of strength
which its union and co-operation would have be-
stowed. Dissatisfied with the long inactivity of the
detachment at Chatterpore, the Supreme Council
wrotz to the commanding officer on the 3lst of
August, desiring him to explain the reasons of his _
conduct, and to pursue the march. He had put
himself in motion about the middle of the month,
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and was at Rajegur on the 17th, where a party of BOOK V.
Mahrattas disputed the passage of the river Kane.
On the 17th of September he despatched a letter to 1779
the Supreme Council from Rajegur, where he still
remained, stating, that the retardation-of the de-
tachment had been occasioned by the weather; that
he had concluded friendly engagements with Gomén
Sing, and Komén Sing, two rajas of Bundeleund ; _
and had received satisfactory assurances from Moo-
dajee Bonsla, the Regent of Berar, to whom the pro-
position of an embassy from the English rulers ap-
peared to have yielded peculiar gratification.!

The person? who had been chosen to conduct this
embassy, died upon the journey, before he reached
the capital of Berar. After some fluctuation of
opinion, it was determined not to continue the
negotiation by appointing a successor; but rather
to wait in expectation of some advances from the
Regent.

The party of Mr. Francis now urgently pressed
for a distinct declaration of the design with which
the detachment on its way to the western Presidency,

! The sentiments of the Court of Direciors were unfavourable to this
attempied alliance. In their lstter of the 1dth of May, 1779, to the
Governor-Generul and Council, they say, “ The undertaking appenrs to
us contrary 0 the Company's former pelicy, to our engagements with
Bagoba and Nizam Ali, and doubtful respecting any reasonable prospect
of advantage.” And in another letter dated on the 27th of the same
month, to the President and Belect Commities of Bombay, they sy,
“ We eamnestly hope, that upon your negotiation and treaty with Ragobs
being communicated to our Governor-General and Council, they would
concur with you in giving foll effect thereto, and degist from entering into
suy new coonexions which may set aside, or counteract, your recent
sagreements with Ragoba.”” Bixth Report, Committee of Secrecy, 1781,
p. BL

t My. Elliot ;~~he died on the 12tk September.—W.
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only a complication, they affirmed, but 8 contrariety
of objects ; the alliance for raising Moodajee Bonsla
to the throne.of Sivajee, being inconsistent with the
scheme for establishing Ragoba in the office of
Peshwa. The Governor-General, without any defi-
nite explanation, alleged that the re-instatement of
Ragoba, had never been pursued as an end, but
only as a means ; that his hopes and expectations
were placed on Moodajee; that the detachment,
whether its services should be required for the resto-
ration of Ragoba, or in prosecution of engagements
with Mocodajee, or in opposing the French, ought
equally to continue its march. The opposite party
once more urged in vain their reasons for its recall.
But all parties agreed in condemning Colonel Leslie

. for the delay which he had incurred, and the engage-

ments which he had formed ; in pronouncing him
unfit to be any longer intrusted with the command
which he held; and in transmitting orders that he
should resign it to Colonel Goddard, the officer next
in command. Leslie, however, survived not {0 re-
ceive the intelligence of his disgrace ; nor to produce,
it ought to be remembered, what he might have urged
in vindication of his conduct. He was an officer of
experience and reputation. It is known, that he
held a high language, that he complained of the
Governor-General, to whom, by his special directions,
he had communicated a private journal of hig trans-
actions,and to whom he had trusted for the explanation
of his proceedings. But no inference can safely be
founded on the allegation that the Governor-General,
who had previously defended his conduct, was
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informed of the deadly nature of his disease, and the BOOK ¥.
hopelessness of his recovery, at the time when he
condemned him and voted for his recall ‘ 1779.

By the death of Leslie, the command devolved on
Colonel Goddard on the 3d of October. On the 22d
he wrote a private letter to the Governor-General,
informing him of the progress which the detachment
bad made towards the Nerbudda, or the boundary of
Berar. At the same time with the letter from
Colonel Goddard, arrived despatches from Moodajee,
expressing his lamentation upon the death of the late
ambassador, and his hopes that such an event would
" not frustrate the plan of friendship which it had been
the object of that embassy to establish. Upon the
receipt of these letters the Governor-Geeneral moved,
that the negotiation with Moodajee Bonsla should
be resumed; and that powers to treat with him
should be communicated to Colonel Goddard. The
opposite party contended, that an alliance with the
Regent of Berar would be equivalent to a declaration
of war against Nizam Ali, and involve the Camatic
in misfortune ; that neither did Colonel Goddard
possess the qualifications of a negotiator, nor did the
duties of his command enable him to devote his mind
to the business which a negotiator was required to
perform ; and that the Presidency of Bombay, under
whose orders the detachment had been placed, might
take measures in favour of Ragoba, with which the
instructions which might be given in regard to Moo-
dajee would not be reconcilable.

On the 7th of December, after intelligence had
arrived of the second revolution at Poonah, which
the Governor-General regarded as defeating the
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BOOK V. original design upon which the assistance of the
detachment had been sent to Bombay, he proposed
1779.  that it should no longer act under the orders of that
Presidency, lest the designs of those rulers should
defeat the negotiation with Moodajee, intrusted to
Colonel Goddard. While this proposition was under
debate, a despatch was received from the resident at
Poonah, stating his expectation of being immediately
recalled, as the Select Committee at Bombay had
determined to proceed against the governing party
at Poonah. After this intelligence, the proposition
of the Governor-General, for retaining the detach.
ment of Colonal Goddard under the immediate
authonty of the Supreme Council, received the sanc-
tion of the Board In the mean time Moodajee
Bonsla, for whose alliance so much anxiety was
- expressed, bad written an evasive letter to Colonel
Goddard, dated the 23d of November ; manifesting
pretty clearly a wish to embroil himself as little as
possible either with the English or with the Poonah
confederacy. Goddard crossed the Nerbuddah on
the Ist of December; and sent an agent to Nagpore,
to ascertain how far he might depend upen Moo-
dajee. In conclusion, he inferred, that no engage-
ment could be formed between that chieftain and the
English; but that a friendly conduct might be ex-
pected toward the detachment, while it remained in
his dominions. ,

By this time the army of Bombay was on its
march to Poonah. Buat though Colonel Goddard
had transmitted regular intelligence of his movementa
to Bombay, he had received no communications from
that quarter; and remained in total ignorance of
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their designs, except from some intimations com- BOOK V.
munjcated by “Moodajee, that an expedition against
Poonah was in preparation. Uncertain as was the. 1779-
ground upon which he had to proceed, be had cope
to the determination, that the balance of probabili-
ties .required his proceeding to Poonah; when he
- received despatches from the Council at Bombay,
unfolding what they had done, and what they were
intending to do; and pressing it upon him to march
to Poonah, with the smallest possible delay. To
the question why the Presidency at Bombay had not
saoner made Colonel Goddard acquainted with the
design of the expedition, and taken the precautionary
steps for securing co-operation between his detach-
ment and their own, the answer must be, either that
they exercised not the degree of reflection necessary
for that moderate display of wisdom; or that, they
wished to have to themselves the glory of setting up
a Mahratta government ; or that, to avoid the expense
of the detachment, they wished it not to arrive.
Moodajee, who was afraid to embroil himself with
the Poonah government, if he gave a passage to the
troops of Goddard, and with the English government
if he refused it, was very earnest with him to wait
till he received satisfactory letters from Calcutta.
But, notwithstanding his solicitations, Goddard, on
the 16th of January, began his march from the
banks of the Nerbudda.

He took the great road to Boorhanpoor and
Poonah, and arrived at Charwah on the 22d, where
he received intelligence that the army from Bombay
had advanced as far as the Bora ghaut, a place ﬁﬁy
miles distant from Poonah.

YOL. IV. E
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3&25 g - On the 24th, he received a letter dated the 11th,

from the Field Committee, who conducted the Bom-
1779.  bay expedition, representing, that in consequence of ,

an alteration which had taken place in the state of
affairs, it was not expedient he should advance ; that
he should either proceed to Surat, if he found him-
self ina conditon to make his way in spite of the
Mahratta horse, by whom his march would be an-
noyed ; or remain in the territories of the Raja of
Berar, till further instructions. This letter placed
him in a state of perfect uncertainty, whether the
Bombay army had sustained a disaster which cut off
their hopes, or had so flattering a prospect of success,
that all additional force was accounted unnecessary.
On the next day a letter arrived from the Council at
Bombay, apparently written without a knowledge of
the circumstances which dictated the letter of the
Field Committee, and urging him to proceed. Under
the perplexity which this lack of information, and
discrepancy of injunctions, inspired, he resolved to
proceed to Boorhanpoor, in hopes of ohtaining intel-
ligence, and arrived at that ancient capital on
the 30th.’

There, on the 2d of February, he received another
letter from the Field Committee, dated on the 19th
of January, more mysterious than any which had yet
arrived. It shortly cautioped him against obeying
the order in their letter of the 16th, which on better
consideration they deemed themselves incompetent
to give. Goddard could il conjecture the meaning
of this warning, as he had not received the letter of
the 16th; but he believed that it indicated evil
rather than good; and saw well the dangers which
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surrounded him in the heart of thie Mahratta country, BOOK ¥.
if any serious disaster, which might produce a change
in the mind of Moodajee himself, had befallen the 1779
army from Bombay. He waited at Boorhanpoor till
the Sth, in hopes of receiving more certain informa-
tion, when he was made acquainted with the nature
of the disaster pretty exactly by Moodajee, He re-
golved to retreat to Surat, and marched on the 6th,
On the 9th a vakeel arrived from the Poonah govern-
ment, bearing the letter written by the Field Com-
mittee on the 16th of January. It was the letter in
which, under the dictation of the Mahrattas, they had -
commanded his immediate return to Bengal. This
injunction it was the business of the vakeel to en-
force. But Goddard replied, that he was marching
to Bombay in obedience to the orders of the Supreme
Council; and with the most friendly intentions
toward the Mahratta state. The march was con-
ducted with great expedition. Thé troops were
kept in such exact discipline, that the people having
nothing to fear remained in their houses, and sup-
plied the army by sale with many conveniences for
the march. They arrived at Surat on the 30th; a
distance of nearly three hundred miles, in nineteen
days.!

In consequence of these events,,it was resolved at

! It is worthy of remark, that Gasce ad din Kban, formerly Virir of
the empire, and grandson of fhe great Nizam-al-Mulk, was at this time
found at Burst, in the dieguise of a pilgrim, and confined, till the Suprome
Counoil, being consulted, disapproved of all acts of violence, but forbade
his appearing within the territories of the Company. - See the Letter from
Governor-General t0 Directors, dated 14th January, 1780, Sixth Report
to the Secret Committes, Appendix, No. 246.—M. [t is still more worlhy
of remark, that by the expedition of their march, the detachmant avmded
a body of 20,000 horme sent from Poonak to intercept them.—W. .

E 2
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the Supreme Board, to vest Colonel Goddard with
full powers for treating with the Poonal: suvernment ;
to disavow the convention concluded with the Bombay
commitfee; but to express a desire for accommodation
on the basis of the treaty of Poorunder, if the
Mahrattas, on their part, would afford encourage-
ment by relinquishing all claims founded on that
convention, and by a promise of forming no
connexion, either commercial or political, with the
French. If they should reject these proposals,
Colonel Goddard, whom the Supreme Council now
promoted to the rank of general, was empowered to
renew the war, and if possible to form connections
with the head of the Guicawar family, and the
government of Berar.

Goddard had commenced his correspondence with
the Poonah ministry, when Ragoba made his escape,
and repaired to Surat, where be received an asylum.
Discordance prevailed among the Mahratta chiefs,
and much uncertainty hung over their proceedings.
Dissension broke out between Nana and Sindia, by
whose united power Siccaram and Moraba had been
subdued. With profession of a desire for peace,
they kept aloof from definite terms ; reports were re-
ceived of their preparations for war; and negotiation
lingered till the 2Qth of October, when Goddard sent
his declaration, that if a satisfactory answer fo bis
proposals was not returned, in fifteen days, he should
consider the delay as a declaration of war. A reply
arrived on the 28th. Without the surrender of Ra-
goba, and the restoration of Salsette, it was declared
that the Mahratta powers would make no agree-
ment. The General upon this broke off the nego-
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‘tiation, and repaired to Bombay, to concert with that BOOK ¥.
Council the plan of hostilities.

The President and Council of Bombay had 1780
received, with considerable indignation, the intelli-
gence of the power, independent of themselves, with
which General Goddard had been invested at the
Superior Board. They regarded it as an encroach-
ment upon the rights conveyed to them, both by the
act of parliament, and the commands of the Di-
rectors ; and they had declared that they' would
sustain no responsibility for any of hisacts. At first
they alleged the great exhaustion of their resources,
as a reason against taking any considerable part in
the war; but when the General held up, as the
first object of his operations, the acquisition, on
which they had long fixed their affections, of a
territorial revenue adequate to all the demands of the
Presidency, they agreed to supply as great a portion
of their troops, as the security of Bombay would
allow; and furnished him with powers and instruc-
tions to treat with Futty Sing Guicawar, whose
assistance, as placing a friendly country in the rear,
it was of the greatest importance to obtain. With
regard to Ragoba it was proposed to feed him with
such hopes, as should ensure the advantage of his
name; but to engage themselves as short a way as
possible for a share in the advantages of the under-
taking, to the success of which it was so little in his
power to contribute. ) _

On the 2d of Jaouary, 1780, General Goddard
had crossed the Tapti, with a view both to stimulate
the good inclinations of Futty Sing, and to reduce
‘the fortress of Dubhoy. On the 19th the army ap-
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peared before the place. On the next day it was
evacuated by the enemy, when the whole district,
yielding by estimate a revenue of two lacs of rupees,
was taken possession of in the name of the Company.
On the 26th, Futty Sing was at last, with some
difficulty, brought to trust so far in the power of the
Company, as to accede to the terms proposed; and
it was agreed that the Guzerat country should be
divided between the Company and himself, the Com-
pany obtaining that proportion which had formerly
accrued to the Mahrattas; and the remainder being
rendered independent of the Poonah government,
and freed from every exterior claim. Being joined
by the cavalry of this chief, the General marched
towards Ahmedabad, the capital of the province, be-
fore which he arrived on the 10th of February, and

- in five days carried it by storm, with inconsiderable

loss. The united armies of Sindia and Holkar,
amounting to 40,000 men, were in the mean time
advancing towards Surat. The English General, by
rapid marches, arrived in the neighbourhood of their
encampment, near Brodera, on the 8th of March,
and intended to attack them in the night; but was
prevented by a letter from one of the gentlemen, left
as hostages with 8india, signifying that professions
were made by the Mahratta chiefs of a desire to
establish amity with the English government. Of
this desire, Sindia afforded a favourable indication
the following day, by sending back the hostages, and
along with them a vakeel, or commissioner, who
acknowledged the hatred borne by his master to
Nana Furnavese, and his desire of a separate arrange-
ment with the English. Upon further explanation
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it appeared, that he was anxious to get into his BOOK V.
bands Ragoba and his son, as an instrument for ,
aggrandizing himself in the Mahratta state; a pro- 1780
position to which General Goddard would by no
means accede, Sindia, at the same time, was
offering terms to Govind Row, the. brother and
opponent of Futty Sing, and had actually received
him in his camp. Not convinced of his sincerity,
and suspecting his .design to waste the season, till
the commencement of the rains, when he would return
home to the business of his government, and to his
intrigues, Geeneral Goddard was desirous of forcing
him to a battle, which he constantly avoided, by
retreating, as the English army advanced. To deféat
this stratagem, the General, on the 3d of April,
marched silently from his camp, about two o'clock
in the morning, with four battalions of Sepoy
grenadiers, four companies. of European infantry, and
twelve pieces of field artillery. The distance was
about seven miles to the camp of the enemy, which-
he entered at dawn. He reached the very centre of
the encampment before he was perceived. The,
enemy were thrown into their usual confusion ; .and,
though some troops were collected, and made a show
.of resistance, they soon abandoned their camp, and
occupied a neighbouring ground. The English made
no delay in proceeding to charge them, when the
Mahrattas dispersed, and left them masters, not only
of the field, but of the country in which it was
contained. A detachment from Bombay took pos-
session also of Parsek, Bellapore, Panwel, and
. Callian, and extended the territory of the Presidency
along the coast and towards the passes of the hills in
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BOOK V. the way to Poonah. On the 6th of April the

CHaF. 3.

1780.

General was joined by six companies of European
-infantry, and a company of artillery, which had
been sent to his assistance from Madras; and about
the same time five companies of Sepoys arrived for
him at Surat. As the rainy season had now com-
menced, Sindia and Holkar withdrew into their
owp countries; and the General, after sending back
the Bombay detachment, put his troops into canton-
ments, and prepared for the succeeding campaign,
Sir Eyre Coote, who had been appointed to suc-
ceed General Clavering, bothas Commander-in-Chief,
and as a member of the Supreme Council, had
artived at Calcutta in the beginning of April, 1779 ;
and without showing an unvarying deference to the
opinions of the Governor-General, commonly sup-
ported his measures. KEarly in November of that
year, in consequence of an application from the Raja
of Gohud, commonly known by the name of the

*Rana, a Hindu chieftain or prince, who governed a

hilly district of considerable extent, lying on the

_Jumna, between the territories of Sindia and the

Nabob of Oude; the Governor-General proposed a
treaty, by which the Rana might be empowered to
call for the assistance of the English against the
Mahrattas, of whom he stood in constant danger,
and should agree to assist the English with his
forces, when they should undertake any enterpnse
against the contiguous powers. The Governor-
General, who contemplated the continuance of the
war with the Mahrattas, proposed this alliance, both
as a barrier against an invasion, in that direction, .
.of the territory of the Company or their allies; and
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- ¢
‘as an advantage for invading the territory of the BOOK v.

Mzhrattas, and operating a diversion in favour of the .~ -3,
enterprises which might be undertaken on the side. 1780
of Bombay. The measure was opposed by the
. opposite side of the Board, both on the ordinary and
general ground of the importance of abstaining from
war, and also in consideration of the weakness of the
Rana, who had few troops, and not revenue to pay
even them; whose aid, in consequence, would be of
little avail, and his protection a serious burden. 'In
the objections of the opposing party the General
concurred ; and even transmitted his protest against
the terms of the connezion. But, as he was absent,
the casting vote of -the Governor-General gave his
opinion the superiority, and the treaty was formed.
In the mean time intelligence arrived by a letter
from General Coote, dated the 20th of November,
of an invasion of the territory of the Rana, by a
bédy of Mahrattas, whom his want of resources made
it impossible for him to resist. Instructions were
dispatched to afford him such assistance as the exi-
gency of the case might require, and the state of
the English forces permit. A detachment of
the company’s army had been prepared in that
quarter, under the command of Captain Popham, for
the purpose of augmenting the forees of Goddard ;
but from the consideration, partly that they could
not arrive in time on the Bombay coast, partly that
they might contribute to the success of his operations
by an attack upon the part which was nearest of the
Mahratta frontier, they had not been commanded to
proceed; and in the beginning of Febrary, 1780,
they were sent to the assistance of the Rana of
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BOOK V. Gohud. Captain Popham found means in this’

service of distinguishing his enterprise and talents.
With a small force, and little assistance from the
Rana, he expelled the Mahrattas from Gohud;
crossed the Sind, into their own territory; laid
siege to the fortress of Lahir, the capital of the
district of Cuchwagar; and having effected an im-
perfect breach, which the want of heavy cannon
enabled him not to complete, be, on the 21st of April,
successfully assaulted and took possession of the fort.

It had, however, been importunately urged, both
by Coote and Goddard, and was acknowledged by
the Governor-General, that the force employed on
the Mahratta frontier under Captain Popham, was far
from adequate to any such important operations as
could materially affect the result of the war. After
some fluctuations of plans, and great debate and
opposition at the Superior Board, in which Mr.
Francis in particular vehemently opposed the exten-
sion of military efforts, it was determined that a
detachment of three battalions, stationed at Cawnpore,
under Major Camac, with a battalion of light infan-
try, under Captain Browne, should threaten or invade
the territories of Sindia and Holkar. In the mean
time Captain Popham, with the true spirit of mili-
tary ardour, after securing with great activity the
conquest of the district of Cuchwagar, turned his
attention to the celebrated fortress of Guahor, situated
within the territory of the Rana of Gohud, but
wrested from his father, and now garrisoned by the
Mahrattas. This fortress was situated on the sum-

" mit, three coss in extent, of a stupendous rock,

scarped almost entirely round, and defended by a
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thousand men. By the princes of Hindustan it had BOOK .y
always been rega.rded as impregnable. Apd Sir Eyre
Coote himself, in his letter to the Supreme Council, 1780.
dated the 21st of April, had pronounced if ¢ totally
repugnant to his military ideas, and even absolute
madness,” to attack it with so feeble a detachment,
and without & covering army to keep off the Mah-
rattas in the field, and preserve the line of commu-
nication. Captain Popham moved to the village of
Ripore, about five coss distant from Gualior, and
employed his spies in continually searching if a spot
fit for escalading could be found, After many and
dangerous experiments, they at last brought him
advice that one part only afforded any appearance of
practicability. At this place the height of the scarp
was about sixteen feet, from.the scarp to the wall
was a steep ascent of about forty yards, and the wall
itself, was thirty feet high, T took the resolution,”
says Ceptain Popham, immediately. The object
was glorious ; and I made a disposition to prevent, as
much as in my power, the chance of tarnishing the
honour of the attempt, by the loss we might sustain
in case of & repulse,” At break of day, on the 3d
of August, the van of the storming party arrived at
the foot of the rock. Wooden ladders were applied
to the scarp, and the troops ascended to the foot of
the wall. The spies climbed up, and fixed the rope
ladders, when the Sepoys mounted with amazing
activity. The guards assembled within, but were
quickly repulsed by the fire of the assailants, The
detachment entered with rapidity, and pushed on to
the main body’of the place. In the mean time the
grealer part of the garrison escaped by another quar-
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BOOK V. ter, and left the English masters of one of the greatest

and most celebrated strong-holds in that quarter of

1780-  the globe. This brilliant achievement, for which

Captain Popham was rewarded with the rank of
Major, struck the Mahrattas with so much conster-
nation, that they abandoned the circumjacent country,
and conveyed the alarm to Sindia in his capital.!
The opposition which was made by Francis to
these proceedings for pushing the war on the Jumna,
brought to a crisis the animosities which the struggle
between him and the Governor-General had so long
maintained. On the 20th of July, 1780, Mr. Hast.
ings, in answering a minute of Mr. Francis, declared,
“1 do not trust to his promise of candour, convinced
that he is incapable of it. I judge of his public
conduct, by my experience of his private, which 1
have found to be devoid of truth and honour.” The
ground of these severe expressions, the Governor-
General stated to be a solemn agreement formed
between him and Mr. Francis, which Mr. Francis
had broken. Of this transaction the following appear
to have been the material circumstances. When the
parliamentary appointment, during five years, of the
Governor-General and Council, expired in 1778, the
expectation of a change in the Indian administration

' For the transactions relative to the Mahratts war the materials are
found im the Sixth Beport of the Committee of Becrecy in 1781, snd the
vast mass of documents printed in its Appendix; the twenticth aricle
of the Puarliamentary Charges against Hastings, and his answer; the
Papers printed for the use of the House of Commons on the Impeachment ;
and the Minaies of Evidence on the Trial of Mr. Hastiags. The publica-
tions of the day, which on this, and other parts of the history of Mr.
Hastings’ Administration, bave been consulied, some with more, some
with less, advantage, are far W00 sumeIOus 1) Denlion.
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was suspended, by the re-appointment, upon the BOOK V.
motion of the king’s chief minister, of Mr, Hastings,
for a single year. Upon the arrival of this intel- -1780.
ligence in India, an attempt was made by some
mutual friends of Mr. Hastings and Mr. Francis, to
deliver the government, at a period of difficulty and
danger, from the effects of their discordance. . Both
parties acknowledged the demand which the present
exigency presented for a vigourous and united admi-
nistration ; and both professed a desire to make any
sacrifice of personal feelings, and personal interests,
for the attainment of so important an object. On
the part of Mr. Francis it was stipulated that Mo-
hammed Reza Khan, Mr. Bristow, and Mr. Fowke,
should be reinstated in conformity to the Company’s
orders; and, on the part of Mr. Hastings, that the
Mabhratta war, the responsibility of which Mr. Francis
had disclaimed, and thrown. personally on the Gover-
nor-General, should be conducted in conformity with
his conceptions and plans. It was this part of the
agreement which Mr, Hastings accused his opponent
of violating ; and of depriving him, by a treacherous
promise of co-operation, which induced Mr, Barwell
to depart for Europe, of that authority which the
vote of Mr. Barwell ensured. Mr. Francis, on the
other hand, solemnly declared, that he *never was
party to the engagement stated by Mr. Hastings,
or had a thought of being bound byit.” His agree-
ment with regard to the Mahratta war he explained
as extending only to the operations then commenced
on the Malabar coast, but not to fresh operations on
another part of the Mahratta dominions. Mr. Hast- -
ings produced a paper, containing the following
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BOOK V. words: Mr. Francis will not oppose any measures
— which the Governor-General shall recommend for
1760.  the prosecution of the war in which we are supposed
to be engaged with the Mahrattas, or for the general
support of the present political system of his govern-
ment.” To the terms of this agreement, presented

to Mr. Francis in writing, he affirmed that Mr.
Francis gave his full and deliberate consent. The
reply of Mr. Francis was in the following words :

“ In one of our conversations in February last, Mr.
Hastings desired me to read a paper of memorandums
among which I presume this article was inserted. 1
returned it to him the moment I had read it, with 2
declaration that I did not agree to it, or hold myself
bound by the contents of it, or to that effect.” Mr.
Francis added some reasonings, *drawn from the
patural presumptions of the ecase. But these
reasonings and presumptions had little tendency to
strengthen the evidence of his personal assertion—
the ground, between him and his antagonist, on
which this question seems finally to rest.’ With the
utmost earnestness Mr. Hastings repeated the affir-
mation of the terms on which Mr. Francis declared
bis assent; and at this point the verbal controversy
between them closed. Soon after, a duel ensued
between Mr. Hastings and Mr. Francis, in which

* It is = sirong corroboration of Hastings's belief in such & promise
having been received from Frazcis, that he suffered (if he conid kave pre-
vented it) Barwell’s leaving Indis. That event he knew would leave him
ir & mmority ; and nothing bat the expectation that Prancis would wave
his opposition, in cousideration of the concession made (o kim, eonld have
reconciled Hastings to the loss of his friend. The decision of the qnestion
therefore turmné wpou the circumsiances under whick Barwell quitted
Bengal —W. .
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tile latter was wounded; and on the 9th of December BET: 3‘1 -
that gentleman quitted India, and .returned to
Europe.! . 1780,

CHAPTER 1IV.

In the Carnatic, Relations between the English and
Nabob— Plenipotentiary, with independent Pow-
ers from the king—English courted by Hyder
Al and the Mahrattas, and in Danger from
both.—Nabob and Plenipotentiary desire Alliance
with the Mahrattas.— Presidency adhere to Neu-
trality.— Relations with the King of Tanjore.—
After Hesitation, War is made upon him.— War
upon the Marawars.~—A second War upon Tan-
jore.—Condemned by the Directors.— Pigot sent
out to restore the Raja—Opposition in the Ma-
dras Council—Pigot imprisoned.—Sentiments and
Measures adopted in England.— Committee of
Circuit.— Suspended by Governor Rumbold, who
summons the Zemindars to Madras. — Transac-
tions with Nizam Al respecting Guntoor.— Cen-
sured by the Supreme Council—Governor’ Rum-

" bold, and other Members of the Government,
condemned and punished by the Court of Directors.

WriLethe prineipal station of the Company’s power

! Sixth Report of the Committes of Sacrecy, 1781, p. 98, and Appendix,
No. 266, also Filth Report of the Select Committee, 1781, p. 14, 18, U,
Memvirs of the lats War in Asis, i 301, &e.
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BOOK ¥.in India was giving birth to so many important trans-

actions, their Presidency on the Coromandel coast

1780 was not barten of incidents entitled to a great share
of our regard.

The relation, in which the Company professed to
stand to the country, was different in the Carnatic, and
in Bengal. Bythe avowed possession of the dewannee,
they entered in Bengal to the direct discharge of
the principal functions of internal government. In
the Carnatic, during the contest with the French,
they had held up Mohammed Ali; upon the termi-
nation of it, they had acknowledged him, as the
undoubted sovereign of the country. He was estab-
lished, therefore, in the possession of both branches
of power, both that of Nazim, or the military power,
and that of Dewan, or the financial power; and the
Company held the station of dependents, possessing
their privileges through his sufferance, and owing
obedience to his throne. They possessed a district
of land surrounding Madras, which had been granted .
in 1750, and in 1762 was confirmed, by the Nahob
of the Carnatic or Arcot, in recompense of the
services rendered by the Company to him and his
family. This was a sort of estate in land, under
what is called 2 jaghire tenure, enabling the owner
to draw the revenue, which would otherwise accrue
to government; and to exercise all those powers
which in India were usually connected with the
power of raising the taxes. This Presidency also

and that independent of their Nabob, the
maritime district, known under the title of the four
Northern Circars, which they had obtained by grant
from the Mogul in 1765, and enjoyed under an agree-
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ment of peshcush, entered into the succeeding year, Bﬂ?ﬁ:i_f-
with the Nizam or Subahdar. .
Partly from <haracteristic imbecility, partly from 0.

the state of the country, not only exhausted, but
disorganised by the preceding struggle, the Nabob
remained altogether unequal to the protection of the
dominions, of which he was now the declared sove-
reign. Instead of trusting to the insignificant
rabble of an army which he would employ, the
Presidency beheld the necessity of providing by a
British force for the security of the province. Feor

this reason, and also for the sake of that absolute
power® which they desired to maintain, the English

were under the necessity of urging, and, if need
were, constraining, the Nabob, to transfer to them the
military defence of the country, and to allow out of

his revenues a sum proportional to the expense.

The Nabob having transferred the military power

! The resolution of maintaining this absclute power is thus ciearly ex-
preseed in the letter of the Court of Directors, to the Presidency of
Madras, dated 24th December, 1765. ‘ The Nabob has hitherto desired,
a1 least acquissced with seeming approbation, that garrisons of our troops
ghould be placed in his forta: it is not improbable that after & time he may
wizh to have his protectors removed. Should such an event happen, it
may require some address to avoid giving him disguet, and at the same time
s degres of firmness to persist in your present plan; but persist you must;
for wo establish it as a fundamental point, that the Company’s influence
and real powoer in the province cannot be any way so effectunlly maintained,
88 by keeping the principal forts in our bands.” See First Report of the
Committee of Secrecy, 1781, Appendix, No. 23.—* By being in posscesion
of most of his strong places, the troops being officered by the Company,
and the garrisons perfoctly under their orders, the Company have it in
their power to give law to the Caroatic. 'Without the concurrence of the
Preaidency ke can do nothing; they ere arbiters of peace and war; and
aven if one of his own tributaries refuse the pescush, the payment of which
they had guaranteed, without them he cannot call them to an account.™
Lotter from Sir John Lindsay, to the President and Council of Madras,
2208 June, 1771; Rous’s Appendix, p. 368.

YOL, 1IV. F
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BOOK V. of the country, was placed in absolute dependence

upon the Company; they being able to do what they

1770.  pleased, he to do nothing but what they permitted.
In a short time it was perceived, that his revenue
was by ne means equal to the demands which were
made upon it. The country was oppressed by the
severity of his exactions, and instead’ of being re-
paired, after the tedious sufferings of war, it was
scourged by all the evils of a government at once
insatiable and neglectful. When his revenues failed,
he had recourse to loans. Money was advanced to
him, at exorbitant interest, frequently by English-
men, and the servants of the Company. He gene-
rally paid them by a species of assignments, called
in India Zuncaus, which entitled the holders of
them to the revenue of some portion of the terri-
1 tory, and to draw it immediately from the collectors.
While his embarassments were by these means
increased, the exactors were encouraged fo greater
severities.

In this situation the Nabob and the Presidency
were both dissatisfied, and both uneasy. Finding
his power annihilated, and his revenues absorbed,
after feasting his imagination with the prospect of
the unlimited indulgences of an Eastern prince, he
regarded the conduct of the Presidency as the highest
injustice. The gentlemen entrusted at once with
the care of their own fortunes and the interests of
the Company, for both of which they imagined that
the revenues of the Carnatic would copiously and de-
lightfully provide, were chagrined to find them in-
adequate even fo the exigencies of the government ;
and accused the Nabob, either of concealing the
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amount of the sums which he obtained, or of impair- B20K ¥.
ing the produce of the country by the vices of his
government. 1770.

Upon the termination of the disputes in London,
toward the end of the year 1769, between the Mi- .
nisters of the Crown and the East India Company,
respecting the supervisors, and respecting the power
of the King’s naval officer to negotiate and to form
arrangements with the Indian powers;' a marine
force, consisting of some frigates of war, was com=
missioned, under the command of Sir Johr Lindsay,
to proceed to the East Indies: “to give countenance
and protection to the Company’s settlements and
affairs.” In conformity with the terms to which the
Company had yielded, they vested Sir John Lindsay
with a commission to take the command of all their
vessels of war in the Indian seas: and also, on their
behalf, “to treat and settle matters in the Persian
Gulph.” ‘

So far, there was mutual understanding, clearness,
and concert. But in addition to this, Sir John
Lindsay was appointed, by commission under the
great seal, his Majesty’s Minister Plenipotentiary,
with powers to negotiate and conclude arrangements,
with the Indian Sovereigns in general. This mea-~
sure was not only contrary to what the Company had
claimed as their right, against which the Minister
appeared to have ceased, for the time, to contend ;
but it was a measure taken without their knowledge:
and Sir John Lindsay appeared, in India, claiming
the field for the exercise of his powers, before they

¢ See the acconnt of these disputes, suprs, vol. iii. book iv. chap. ix.
F2



68

BOGK V.

cHaP. 4,

1770,

HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA,

or their servants had the smallest intimation that any
such powers were in existence.

If there was a danger which must stike every
considerate mind, in sending two independent au-
thorities, to act and clash together in the delicate and
troubled scene of Indian affairs, a danger inevitable,
even if the circumstances had been arranged between
the Ministers and the Company with the greatest
barmony and the greatest wisdom; all the principles
of mischief were paturally multiplied, and each
strengthened to the utmost, by the present stroke of
ministerial politics.

The ground upon which this disputed and impru-
dent exercise of power appears to have been placed,
was the eleventh article of the treaty of Paris, con-
cluded in 1763. With a view to maintain peace in
‘India, and to close the disputes between the English
and the French, who, according to their own pro-
fessions, appeared to have nothing else in view but to
determine who was the just and rightful Nabob of
the Carnatic, who the just and rightful Subahdar of
the Deccan; it was there decided and agreed, that
the two nations should acknowledge Mohammed
Al as the one, and Salabut Jung as the other. It
occurred to the ingenuity of practical statesmen, that
the King of Great Britain, having become party to an
article of a treaty, had a right, without asking leave
of the Company, to look after the execution of that
article; and hence to send a deputy duly qualified
for that purpose. If this conferred a right of be-
stowing upon Sir John Lindsay the powers of an
ambassador;’ it also conferred the right of avoiding
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altercation with the East' India Company, by taking BOOK ¥.
the step without their knowlege.” '

The power of looking after the due execution of 1770
the eleventh article of the treaty of Paris was not a
trifling power.

It included in the first place, the power of taking
a part in all the disputes between the Nabob and the
Company’s servants; as Mohammed Ali was in that
article placed upon the footing of an ally to the King
of Great Britain, and hence entitled to all that pro-
tection which is due to an ally. The servants of the
Company had been at some pains to keep from the
knowledge of the Nabob the full import of the new
relation in which he was placed to the British throne;
as calculated most imprudently to inflame that spirit
of ambition and love of independence, with which it
was so difficult already to deal, and with the gratifi-
cation of which the existence in the Carnatic, either
of his power or of that of the Company, was altoge-
ther incompatible. The band of Englishmen, and
others, who surrounded the Nabob, for the purpose
of preying upon him, wished of course to see all
power in his hands, that they might prey the more
sbundantly. They filled every place with their
outcries against every restraint which was placed
upon him: and in particular had endeavoured, and
with great success, to disseminate an opinion in
England, that he was an oppressed and ill-treated

.V It was impossible to prevent the measure from becoming known to the

Company, end very improbable that they wounld not resist it : altercation
waa delsyed, therefore not svoided; and it wenld have better bacome the
ministers to have apprised the Company at once of their determination to
send out an agent of the crown.—W.
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prince, while the servants of the Company were his
plunderers and tyrants.

Nor was this,alL. As the grand intent of the
eleventh article of the treaty of Paris was to preserve
peace between the English and other powers of India,
and as there is nothing in the relations of one state
to another which the care of peace may not be said to
embrace, the whole international policy of the British
government in India was, by the new ministerial ex-

ppedient, deposited in the hands of the King's Minister

Plenipotentiary.
On the 26th of July, 1770, Sir John Lindsay, after
having remained some months at Bombay, arrived

at Madras; and at once surprised and alarmed the

servants of the Company hy the declaration of his
powers. In one of their first communications with

Sir John, they say, “ When you now inform us, you

are invested with great and separate powers, and
when we consider that those powers, in their opera-
tion, may ‘greatly affect the rights of the Company,
we cannot but be very much alarmed.”’ To their
employers, the Court of Directors, they expound
themselves more fully. “Te give you a clear repre-
sentation of the dangerous embarrassments through
which we have been struggling, since the arrival of
his Majesty’s powers in this country, is a task far
beyond our abilities. They grow daily more and
more oppressive to us; and we must sink under the
burthen, unless his Majesty, from a just representa-
tion of their effect, will be graciously pleased to recall
powers, which, in dividing the national interest, will
mdl_.:t: o 8ir Jokn Lindsay, dated 1otk Avguet, 1770, Hou's Ap-
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inevitably destroy its prosperity in India. Such is BOOK ¥

the danger; and yet we are repeatedly told, that it

is to support that interest, by giving, the sanction of w70,

his Majesty’s name to our measures, that these powers

were granted, and for that alone to be exerted. It

has always been our opinion, that with your autho-

rity, we had that of our Sovereign, and of our nation,

delegated to us. If this opinion be forfeited, your

servants can neither act with spirit nor success: for

under the control of a superior commission, they dare

not, they cannot exert the powers with which they
“alone are entrusted. ‘Their weakness and disgrace

become consplcuous and they are held in densxon

by your enemies.*

The first of the requisitions which Sir J ohn Lind-
say made upon the President and Council was to
appear in his train, when be went in state to deliver
to the Nabob his Majesty’s letter and presents.
They conceived, that, as the servants of the Company
had heretofore been the medium through which all
eommunications to the princes of India had been
made, and they had been considered in India the
immediate representatives of the British momarch,
and the highest instrument of his government, they
could not appear in the train of Sir John Lindsay
without degradation in the eyes of the natives, and a
forfeiture of the dignity and influence of the Company
which, as they had no instructions upon the subject,
they . did not think themselves at Liberty to resign.
With the assignment of these reasons, they respect-

' Letter to the Court of Directors, dated July 20th, 1771, Rous’s Ap-
pendix, p. 400.
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BOOK V. fully signified to Sir John Lindsay the inability under
which they found themselves to comply with his re-
1770.  quest. This brought on an interchange of letters,
which soon degenerated into bitterness and animosity

on both sides.!

Among the reasons which the President and Coun-
cil assigned for declining-to appear in the train of
Sir John Lindsay, they had stated, that any suspicion,
disseminated in the country, of the annihilation or
diminution of the Company’s power ~ might, at this
crisis particularly, prove fatal to the existence of the
Company, and the interests of the nation in India:
because they were on the brink of a war with the
most formidable power in India, which it would re-
quire all their efforts to avoid, while they feared that

- all their efforts would be insufficient.”®* This appre-
- hension was a good deal exaggerated, to serve the
present purpose; and the exaggeration yielded an
advantage to Sir John Lindsay, of which he imme-
diately availed himself. He was very sorry, he said,
to find them on the brink of a dreadful war, which
was all ‘but inevitable: He pressed upon them the
consideration of the importance of peace to a com-
mercial hody: And as he was sent out to watch over
the execution of the eleventh article, of which peace

' Roos's Appendix, p. 245—253.—In the commencoment of the cor-
vespondence, the tone of Sir J. Lindssy was that of affronting condescension ;
it 200n became that of contemptucus mrcasm. The Governmest of Madras
were evidently slurmed, and trested him with nnnesssry deference. 7Their
more prodent comme would have been to have refrained from ail discoasion
with him, wmil they had received instroctions from England; as they
could not be expecied to recognize powers utterly incompatible with those
which the Court of Direetors had apprised them, had been conferred upon
the commander of the king's shipe in Indis and his Majesty’s representative
in the Gulph of Persia only.—W. * Id. p. 248
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was the main object, he begged they would lay before BOOK V.
bim such documents and explanations, as * would
make him acquainted with the real state of the Com- 177¢
pany’s affairs.”! He also informed them, that he was
“ commanded by his Majesty to apply to them fora
full and succinet account of all their transactions with
the Nabob. of Arcot since the late treaty of Paris;
and inquire with the utmost care into the causes of
the late war with the Subah of the Deckan and
‘Hyder Ali, and the reasons ofits unfortunate conse-
guences.”* To this point the reply of the President
and Council was in the following terms : Duplicates
of our records, and very minute and circumstantial
details of all our transactions, have already been trans-
mitted to the Court of Direciors of the East India
Company, our constituents. We have heard, that
when an inquiry at home into the state of the Com.
pony’s affairs was thought necessary, it was signified
by his ‘Majesty’s minisiry to the Court of Directors,
that they would be called upon by parliament to pro-
duce their records; that they were accordingly called
upon by parliament, and did produce thern. This, we
believe, was a constitutional course; but we have
never heard that the Company's papers and records
were demanded by, or surrendered fo, the ministry
alone; for that we believe would be unconstitutional.
The Company hold their rights by act of parliament,
their papers and their records are their rights; we
are entrusted with them bere; we are under oath of
fidelity, and under covenants not to part with them ;
nevertheless all conditions are subservient to the

' Rous’s Appendix, p. 250. ‘ * Thid. p. 253.
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BOOK V. ]aws, and when we shall be called upon in a legal and

GHAP. 4.

1770,

constitutional way, we shall readily and cheerfully
submit ourselves, our lives, and fortunes, to the laws
of our country. To break our oath and our cove-
nants would be to break those l]aws. DBut we hold
them pacred and inestimable, for they secure the
rights and liberties of the people.”*

Corresponding to the jealousy and dislike with
which Sir John Lindsay was received by the Presi-
dent and Council, were the cordiality and pleasure
with which he was received by the Nabob and those
who surrounded him. To the Nabob he explained,
that he was come to recognize him as a fellow
sovereign with the King of Great Britain, and to
afford him the protection of that great King against
all his enemies. The Nabob, who had a keen

‘Oriental eye for the detection of personal feelings,

was not long a stranger to the sentiments with which
his Majesty’s Minister Plenipotentiary, and the
Company’s President and Council, regarded each
other. He described the President and Council as
his greatest enemies ; for they withdrew the greater
part of his revenue and power. Sir John, who was
already prejudiced, -and ignorant of the scene in
which he was appointed to act, fell at once into all
the views of the Nahob, and the crowd by whom he
was beset. The Nabob laid out his complaints, and
8ir John listened with a credulous ear. The Nabob
described the policy which had been pursued with
respect to the native powers, by the servants of the
Company ; and easily made it assume an appearance

! Rous's Appendix, p. 257.
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which gave it to the eye of Sir John a character of BOOK V.
folly, or corruption, or both. He drew the line of
policy which at the present moment it would have 1770
gratified bis own wishes to get the Company to
pursue; and he painted it in such engaging eolours, .
that Sir John Lindsay believed it to be recommended
equally by the sense of justice, and the dictates of
wisdom. The King’s Commissioner, measuring his
own consequence by that of the master whom he
served, and treating the Company and their servants
as not worthy of much regard, on the score either of
wisdom or of virtue, widened the difference between
the partnership sovereigns of the Carnatic. The
royal functionary assumed the character of protector
of the Nabob; and appeared to interpose the royal
authority, between an ally of the crown, and the
oppression of the Company. The contempt which
the Nabob saw bestowed upon the authority to
which he had been accustomed to bend, and the
dignity to which he appeared to be exalted as an ally
of the British King, augmented his opinion of the
injustice under which he appeared to himself to
groan; and the letters of the Commissioner to the
ministers in England were filled with accounts of the
oppression exercised by the insolent and rapacious
servants of a counting-house, over an independent
and sovereign prince. The feeble discernment which
bas generally scanned the proceedings of the East
India Company, and which has often lavished upon
them applause where their conduct has been neither
virtuous nor wise, has almost uniformly arraigned
thepn for nof accomplishing impossibilities, and
uniting contrary effects ; for not rendering themselves
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BOOK ¥.powerful and independent, without trenching upon
the power and independence of princes, who would
1770. - guffer their power and independence, only in propor-
tion as they were deprived of those attributes them-
selves. Beside this fundamental consideration, it
* was not to be disputed, that, left to himaself,
Mohammed Ali could not maintain his possession of
the province for even a few years; and that nothing
but the power of the English could prevent it from
falling a prey to the neighbouring powers, or even
to its own disorganization. Though it is not disputed
that the rapacity of individuals, who preyed upon the
Nabob, may have added to the disorder of his affairs;
it is true that the poverty of the Camatic, and the
wretched administration of the Nabob, enabled it
not to fulfil the golden hopes of the English, or even

to provide for its own necessities.!

When the President and Council described them-
selves as on the brink of a war, the circumstances
to which they alluded were these. In the second
article of the treaty, which was eoncluded with
Hyder Ali, in 1769, it was agreed: ~ That in case
either of the contracting parties shall be attacked,
they shall, from their respective countries, mutually
assist each other to drive the enemy out: ” and the
party in aid of whom the troops were employed, was
to afford them maintenance at a rate which was
mutually determined. This was a condition so
highly esteemed by Hyder, that all hopes of an
accommodation with him, on any other terms, were,
at the time of the treaty, regarded as vain.

' Bee Bouws's Appendix, No. 17, passim.
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Within a few weeks Hyder endeavoured to per-BOOK v.

suade the English of the great advantage which he -
and they would derive, from uniting Janojee Bonsla -
with them, in a triple league. He also informed
them of his intention to recover from Madhoo Row,
the Peshwa, certain possessions ‘which that invader
had wrested from him two years before; and requested
that they would send him a certain number of troops,
no matter how small, merely to show to the world'
the friendship which now happily subsisted between’
the English and him. The Presidency, pointing out

in what manner this, to which the treaty did not bind

them, would be an act of unmerited hostility

against the Mahrattas, declined complmnce with his-

request.

Early in 1770, the Mahrattas mvaded his country;
and again he solicited assistance, if it were but a few
troops, for the sake of the manifestation oa' account
of which he had requested them before. If a more
substantial aid was afforded, he professed his readi-
ness to pay three lacs of rupees. It was not very
easy for the English now to find a pretext. They
evaded, procrastinated, and -withheld, rather than
refused eompliance with his desire,

The Mahrattas reduced Hyder to great difficulties,
nay dangers; and seemed resolved to annex his
dominions to their spreading conquests. During
this period of his distress, in which he was obliged
to sbandon the open country, and to depend upon
his forts, he endeavoured to persuade the English

GHAF. 4.

1770.

that their own interest was deeply concerned in com-

bining with him against the Mahrattas, who would
touch upon their frontier, and present them a formi-
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dable neighbourhood, if the barrier which he inter.
posed were broken down,

The Mahrattas, too, very earnestly pressed for the
assistance of the English. They had, indeed, by
weight of superior numbers, driven Hyder from the
open country ;»but the protection of bis strong holds
enabled him still to hold out, and they saw the time
rapidly approaching, when the exhausted state of
the country would compel them to retire for want of
the means to support their army. The skill, there-
fore, which emabled the English to subdue the
strongest places with a rapidity which to them
appeared like magie, rather than natural means, they
regarded as a most desirable acquisition. To attain
this object, they endeavoured to work upon the fears
of the Nabob; and in their communication with

- him, threatened to invade the Carnatic, unless the

English complied with their desires.

The difficulties on the part of the President and
Council were uncommonly great. They state their
view of them in their consultations, on the 30th of
April, 1770. Their assistance would enable the
Mahrattas indeed to prevail over Hyder, but of all
events that was, probably, the most alarming; the
Mahrattas would in that case immediately adjoin
the Carnatic, with such an accumulated power, as
would enable them to conquer it whenever they
pleased ; and what, when they had power to con-
quer, the Mahrattas would please, nobody acquainted
with India entertained any doubt: If they assisted
Hyder ; that was immediate war with the Mahrattas,
accompanied with all ite burdens and dangers: It
was not clear, that both united could prevail over



VIEWS OF THE NABOB OF THE COMMISSIONER. 79

the Mahrattas ; and if they did, the power of Hyder BOOK V.
would bring along with it a large share of the dangers
to which they would be exposed from the Mahrattas, 177°-
if sovereigns of Mysore: If they stood neuter, and
thereby offended both parties; either Hyder or the
Mahrattas, most probably the latter, would prevail ;
and in that case the victor, whoever he was, would
wreak his vengeance on the rylers of the Carnatie.
Amid these difficulties they conceived it their wisest
policy after all to remain neuter; to gain time; and
take up arms, only when the extremity eould no
longer be shunned. '

The views and wishes of the Nabob were exceed-
ingly different. He was bent upon forming an
alliance with the Mahrattas. In the first place, he
had a personal antipathy to Hyder Ali, which in a
mind like his was capable of weighing down more
respectable motives, and made him express -extreme
reluctance to join or see the English concur in any
thing favourable to Hyder. In the next place, the
Mahrattas were successful in working upon the
short-sighted ambition of the Nabob, with the pro-
mise of splendid gifts of territory, which, if they had
the power of giving, they would also have the power
of resuming at pleasure. But in the third place, he
expected, according to the opinion of the President
and Council, to place the English government, by
means of the alliance with the Mahrattas, in a state
of dependance upon himself; and that was what
he valued above all other things. “Once engaged
in the war,” said they, *“ we are at the Nabob’s
mercy, for we have no certain means of our ewn.
Enter, we are told, into an engagement with the
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BOOK v. Mahrattas; engage to assist them in the conquest of

CHAP, 4,

1770.

the Mysore country, and they will cede to the Nabob
the Ghauts, and all the countries dependant on
Mysore on this side the Ghauts. If we enter into
such a measure, utterly repugnant to every order and
every idea that has been suggested to us by our
employers, we cannot see any end to the conse-
quences, but utter rujn; we must thenceforth follow
the schemes of the Mahrattas and the Nabob,
wheresoever they shall please to drag us, be it to
place the Nabob on the musnud of the Deccan, or to
subjugate the whole peninsula.”

Sir John Lindsay adopted completely the views of
the Nabob, with regard to the Mahratta alliarce : nor
was there any reproach, or exhortation, or threat,
which he spared, to entice or to drive the Presidency
into that measure. )

- The ministry, it would appear, became in some
degree alarmed at the accounts which they received
of the contentions which prevailed between the
King’s Minister Plenipotentiary, and the servants of
the Company in India; and they thought of an expe-
dient; which was, to change the person, and leave
the authority. Sir John Lindsay was recalled, and
Sir Robert Harland, with an addition to the marine
force, was sent to exercise the same powers in hisstead.

Sir Robert arrived at Madras on the 2nd of Sep-
tember, 1771. Sir Robert took up the same ideas,
and the same passions exactly, which had guided
the mind of Sir John Lindeay; and the only differ-
ence was, that he was rather more intemperate
than his predecessor; and of consequence created
rather more animosity in his opponents.



VIEWS OF THE COMMISSIONER.

81

The progress of the Mahrattas had become &till BOOK .

caar. 4.

more alarmmg In the month of November; they

were in the possession of the whole of Mysore, ex- 1771

cepting the principal forts. They bad advanced to
the borders of the Carnatic: and some straggling
parties had made plundermg incursions. They openly
threatened invasion ; “and it was expected that about
the beginning of January, when the crops would be
ready, they would enter the country. The Nabob
was, or'affected to be, in the utmost alarm ; and Sir
Robert Harland urged the Presidency to accept the;
terms of the Mahrattas, who bid high for assistance
on the one hand, and threatened fire and sword on
the other. 1In this trying situation the Presidency
vent the most bitter complaints, at being left by the
Court of Directors, totally without instructions.?
Nevertheless, “although we have not yet,” say they,
“had any answer from our eonstituents, to" the
repeated representations of the embarrassments ‘we
labour under for want of their clear and precise in-
structions with respect to our conduct in the present
critical situation of affairs; yet it is evident from the
whole gpirit of their orders for some years past, that
they look upon the growing power of the Mahrattas
with jealousy and apprehension.” From this; from

t 41 is with infinite eoncern the Committee observe that, motwith-
- standing their repeated and earnest representations to ths Court of Direc-
tors, of the very critical situation of affairs with respect to the Mahrattas
and Hyder Ally, which were so fully and clearly expiained in order to
onable them to give us their sentiments and orders with respect to the
conduct they would wish us to gbaerve in o imporwant and interesting a
matter, wa still find ourselves not only without onders, but without the
least intimation of their opinion Gherson.” Belect Consultations, 29th
November, 1771 ; First Report, Committee of Sec:ecy in 1781, Appendix,
No. 31

VOL. 1V, G
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BOOK .- an adoption of the same sentiments ; from a regard
to the treaty with Hyder, which rather required them
1771 to assist than allowed them to join in destroying that
sovereign, and from a regard to the opinion of the
other Presidencies, they determined not to comply
with the exhortations or commands of Sir Robert.
They would have thought it advisable on the other
hand to support Hyder as a barrier against the
Mahrattas, had not the opposition of the Nabob,
supported as he was by the minister of the King,
placed it, for want of resources, out of their power.
They determined, therefore, to remain neutral ; and
only to collect a body of troops in some central posi-
tion, where they might best protect the country in
case of an attack, and distress the enemy by cutting

off their supplies. ,

The Mahrattas, notwithstanding their threats, bad
not, it would appear, any serious intention of invad-
ing the Carnatic; for in the month of January, 1772,
the Nabob and Sir Robert, finding the Presidency
inflexible against their project of alliance, found the
means of prevailing dpon them to promise a cessation
of hostilities till the pleasure of the British King
should be known.! The Mahrattas were afraid of
provoking the English to join Hyder Ali; and they
began now to feel their situation abundantly uneasy.
The activity and capacity of that great leader were
still able to give them incessant annoyance ; and the
couniry was so excessively ravaged and exhausted,
that the means of subsisting an army could no longer
be found. They became, therefore, desirous of an ac-

* That they gave money and pvellrpeiy..wmw' from a lettes
in Rous's Appendiz, p. 952
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commodation; and in the beginning of July consented BOOX W.
to a peace, for which, however, they made Hyder
pay very dearly, both in territorial and pecuniary, 771
sacrifices.!

If a judgment may be formed from this instance, .
the chance for good government in India, if the
ministers of the ecrown were to become, and the East
India Company cease fo be its organ, would underge
an unfavourable change. The course into which the
ministers of the crown would have plunged the nation
bears upon it every mark of ignorance and folly; that
which was pursued by the East India Company and
their servants is eminently characterized by prudence
and firmness.

Amid the pecuniary wants of the Nabob and the -
Presidency, both had often locked with a covetous
eye to the supposed riches of the King of Tanjore.
They considered the natural fertility of his country,
and its general exemption from the ravages of the
war which had desolated the rest of the pravince ;
but they did not consider that the temporizing policy
by which he had laboured to save himself, from the
resentment of all parties, had often cost him consi-
derable sums; that the wars which raged around
and perpetually threatened himself, had imposed upon
him the maintenance of an army, as great as he
could possibly support; that the country which he
governed, though fertile, was small ; that the ex-
pense of a court aims to be as grand in a small, as an
extensive country ; that the expense of protecting a

! Bee First Report, ut supra, p. 28, and appendix, Nos, 20, 21, 22, 23 ;
snd the Papers published by the Directors in Rous's Appendix, Noa. 17,
and 28. - .

G2
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small country is comparatively heavy ; that hardly
any government has ever yet been so good, as not to
expend as much as it could possibly drain from its
subjects ; and that the government of Tanjore was a
true specimen of the ignorance and rudeness of the
Hindus.

In the war with Hyder, the Raja of Tanjore had
not only contributed less, both in troops and treasure,
to the maintenance of the war than was expected of
him, but was known to have held a correspondence
with Hyder; and if he did not afford, at any rate
promised assistance. Without making any allowance
for the current policy of the feeble princes in India,
who aim at contributing as little as possible to the

. wars of the greater powers, from which they see not

that they have any thing to gain, and by professions
of friendship for both parties, to avert the dangers of
their resentment, the Company and the Nabob were
sufficiently disposed to have treated the Raja asa
faithless ally. In the treaty, however, which they
concluded with Hyder in 1769, they insisted upon
including the Mahratta chieftain Morari Rao, whose
territories would have formed a convenient conquest
for Hyder; and he refused to accept the condition
unless the Raja of Tanjore was admitted to the

.same protection. . That the Raja might not appear

to owe his safety to the interposition of Hyder,
the English pretended to regard him as their
partisan, and included him in the treaty as their own
aily.

In their letter to the Select Committee at Fort
St. George, dated 17th March, 1769, the Court of
Directors said, “ It appears most unreasonable to us
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that -the Raja of Tanjore should hold possession of BOOK ¥.
the most fruitful part of the country, which can alone
supply our armies with subsistence, and not contri- -1771-
bute to the defence of the Carnatic. We. observe
the Nabob makes very earnest representations to you
on this subject, wherein he takes notice that the
Zemindars of the Carnatic have been supported, and
their countries preserved to them by the operations of
our forces employed in his cause; and that nothing
was more notorious, than that three former princes
of the Carnatic had received -from the Tanjore
Raja seventy, eighty, nay even one hundred lacs
of rupees at a time.. We therefore enjoin you to give
the Nabob such support in his pretensions as may be
effectual; and if the Raja refuses to contribute a
just proportion to the expense of the war, you are
then to pursue such measures as the Nabob may
think consistent with the justice and dignity of his
government. Whatever sums may, in consequence
of the above orders, be obtained from the Baja of
Tanjore, we expect shall be applied to the discharge
of the Nahob's debt to the Company; and if more
than sufficient for that purpose, to the discharge of
his debts to individuals.”?

Upon this injunction of the Court of Directors,
the Select Committee deliberated on the 13th of Sep-
tember, 1769. <« With regard,” they say, * to the
demand recommended to be made on the King of
Tanjore, our situation at this time is such, for want
of money, that, if there were no other obstacles, that
alone would put it utterly out of our power to un-

' Official Papers in Rous’s Appeadix, p. 525, 526.
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dertake an expedition against him. The treaty of
1762 being before the Hon. Court ; considering also,
on-the other hand, the late conduct of the King of
Tanjore, we certainly should not postpone an un-
dertaking so warmly recommended, if it were in our
power now to attempt it consistently with good po-

_ licy and the safety of the Carnatic. But as the case

is, were the difficulty of money out of the question,
it would become a point of serious consideration,
whether an attempt upon Tanjore might not again
involve us in & war with Hyder Ally, as the Raja
is expressly included in the treaty lately made with
Hyder Ally Khan. However unreasonable it may
be, that he should enjoy the benefits derived from the
government of the Carnatic, without contributing bis
proportion of its expense; and however impolitic,
and contrary fo the natural rights of government, to
suffer such a power to yemain independent in the
heart of the province, we must submit to necessity,
and the circumstances of the times. He bas indeed
lately made some objections by his letters to the pay-
ment of his annual peshcush, alleging in excuse the
great expense of the troops eent to join our army;
although, as the Nabob informs us, it be contrary to
the custom of the country for tributary princes to
make any demands for the charges of troops furnished
to the power to whom they are tributary, while em-
ployed within the districts dependent on such power.
Should he persist in requiring an abatement in the
pesheush due on account of his late charges, it might
furnish ws with a just pretext to accuse him of a
breach of his engagements, and to take our measures
accordingly when our situation will admit ofit. But
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as the case now is with us; under difficulties to pro- 1"00525 z-
vide the money necessary éven for our current ex-
penses ; doubtful of the intentions of the Mahrattas; 1771
suspicious of the designs of the Subah: and appre-
hensive of the King of Tanjore’s ealling upon Hyder
for aid, and thus raising a fresh flame, the Committee
are clearly of opinion, that at this juncture the un~
dertaking would be impolitic and unwarrantable.”*

The Raja had urged, that, instead of having any
money, the late expenses, which was the fact, had
involved him deeply in debt; and he prayed, if a
remission could not be granted, at any rate for a delay
in the payment of the exacted tribute ; an indulgence
to which the expense incurred by . him in sending
troops to assistin the wars of the Nahob afforded,
he thought, a reasonable claim.’

Early in the month of February, 1771, the Pre.
sidency received intelligence that the Raja of Tanjore
was setting out upon an expedition against one of
his neighbours the Polygar of Sanputty, one of the
Marawars.” On the 14th of February, the President
wrote to the Raja, that as Marawar belonged to the
Nabob, as a dependency of the Carnatic, it was
contrary to the treaty between the Raja and him, to
make war upon that eountry, and that, as the English
were guarantees of that treaty, it was their duty to
request he would relinquish his design.*

* Papers, ut suprs, p. 631. ? Ib. p. b63, 564.

* 3 There was no such person as the Polyger of Sanpuity. The author
hes mistaken apparently the title of the Polygar of Bamnad for the name of
his provinse. ‘The word occurs in the proceedings of the Madras Govern-
ment Satputty, and is correctly used, as the * The Raja of Tanjore sent &
furce against the Satputtys’ country,” * Tonderaweo is ready to assist tho
Satputty,” &c. The proper title is Setn-pati chief of the * Setu™ or

bridge, the rocks extending from the continent to Ramiseram.—W.
4 Papers, ut supra, p. 574.
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The Raja represented that Hanamantagoody was
a district of country which did belong to the King
of Tanjore, and was actually in his possession at the
time of the conclusion of the treaty of 1762; that it
had been unjustly seized by the Marawar chief, while
the armies of Tanjore were engaged in the service of
the Nabob; that the King of Tanjore, at the time
when the Nabob was setting out upon his expedition
to Madura, had represented the necessity of wresting
back this territory from the Marawar, but the Nabob
professed to have undertaken the expedition against
Madura only upon the strength of the assistance
which he expected from his dependants, and there-
fore requested execution of his design might be
delayed, till that expedition was accomplished ; that
he had represented the necessity of recovering the
territory in question to the President himself, who
had offered no objections. * For these reasons,” said
he, “ I was in hopes to this day, that the Nabob
and your honour would give strict orders to Marawar
to restore our country. I alse wrote to my vackeel
on that head. But you and the Nabob did not get
the country restored to me. Besides which, when
the elephants relating to my present from Nega-
patnam were coming, Nalcooty,' pretending that
the vessel was driven on shore by a storm in his
seaports, seized the said elephants, and detained
them ; concerning which I sent him word, as well
as to your honour; but he did not return them to
me. If 1 suifer Marawar to take possession of my
country, Nalcooty to seize my elephants, and Tondi-

' The Liule Marawas.
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man to injure my country, it will be a very great BOOK V.
dishonour to me among my people, to see such com- ____
pulsions used by the Polygars. You are a protector -1%1.
of my government: Notwithstanding, you have not
settled even a single affair belonging to me: If I
stay quiet, I shall greatly hurt my dignity : Where-
fore, I marched myself. If you now advise me fo
desist, what answer can I give? In the treaty,dt
was not forbidden to clear the country possessed by
Marawar, or to undertake any expedition against the
Polygars, who may use compulsions. _Since it is so,
it cannot be deemed contrary to the treaty.”*

The Presidency urged that, whatever was .the
truth with regard to the facts set. forward by the
Raja, he knew that they were disputed by the
Nabob ; and for that reason was guilty, because he
had taken upon himself to be judge and executioner
in his own cause, when he ought to have reserved the
decision to the English government. In his defence
the Raja observed; “ You was pleased to write,
that if I desist in my present expedition, you will
then settle the affairs in a reasonable manner. I
continued fo speak to you for this long time concern-
- ing this affair, but you have not settled it. Not-
withstanding, if you now write that I did not acquaint
you before I began it, what answer can I make to
it? 1 did not undertake to do any thing contrary
to the hereditary custom observed.”

The Nahob called upon the Presidency, with
aunusual force and boldness of importunity, to make
war upon the Raja; as the honour of his government

' Papezs, ut supra, p. 608, 614. * Ibid. p, 645, and 609.
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was concerned in chastising a refractory dependant ;
and the honour of the Company’s government was

- concerned in supporting a faithful ally. Sir Jobn

Lindsay vehemently urged the same conclusions, not
without reproaches, that the Presidency were betray-
ing the Nabob, and violating their duty, by even
deferring the assistance which he required.!

On both hands the Presidency were assailed by
the greatest difficulties. There was imminent danger
that the views of Sir John Lindsay, who was the
creature of the ministry, would prevail at home ; and
that the Council, should they refuse to join with the
Nabob, would be condemned, punished, and dis-
graced. They were restrained, on the other hand,
by the consideration of the want of money, of the
improbability of receiving sufficient funds from the
Nabob, of the danger, while the troops were engaged
in a distant quarter, of an attack upon the Circars
by the Nizam, and of a war with the Mahrattas, with
whom the King of Tanjore was allied, and who
already bung over the Carnatic with alarming
menaces. They believed that, beside the Nabob's
old passion for the conquest of Tanjore, he was at
present stimulated by the desire of that part of the
Mysore country which lay on the Camatie side of
the passes ; and which he had been promised by the
Mahrattas, as the price of the assistance which they
wished to receive; that he now despaired of being
able to persuade the English to give that assistance ;
but expected, if he could inveigle them into a war
with the King of Tanjore, that they would then be

' Papers, ul supra, p. 579. 253.
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glad to form an alliance with the Mahrattas, in order 209K V-
to escape the calamity of their arms. In these cir-
cumstances the Governor and Council bitterly eom- 177}
plained, that they were left by their honourable
masters, with instructions and orders which mightbe
construed all manner of ways; and that, whatever
course they took, they were sure of condemnation if
they failed; could expect approbation, only as a con-
sequence of success.! They resolved to collect as
much of the army and of military stores at Trn-
chinopoly, as could be done without appearing to pre-
pare for war; and to abstain from hostilities unless
unavoidably involved in them.

Inquiring into the supposed dependence of the
Marawar country, the Presidency found, that both
Tanjore and Trichinopely had alternately made use
of their power to set up and put down the chiefs of
Marawar. But in conclusion, * it appears,” they
said, * to us, that the only right over them is power,
and that constitutionally they are independent of
both ; though Trichinopoly, since it has been added
to the government of the Carnatic, having been more
powerful than Tanjore, hath probably received more
submission from them.” Between states in India,
¢ power,” they remark generally, «is the only arbi-
trator of right; established usage or titles cannot
exempt one state from a dependence on another,
when superior force prevails; neither can they enforce
dependence where power is wanting.”?

' 8ee these considarations balsnced, and this zevere esondemnation,
pasaed upon their employers, Papers, ut suprs, p. 662, 663, 668, 679.

* Ib. p. 682, 662*. According to this account, there is no constitution
in Indis but the law of the strongest. The fact is important; and has
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These reasonings and conclusions, with regard to
Tanjore, bear date in the records of the Presidency
from the beginning of February to the end of March.
On the 12th of June, when Trichinopoly was suf-
ficiently supplied with stores for defence, and the
question was to be determined whether more should
be sent, the Nabob dissuaded any further prepara-
tions; alleging that the Mahrattas would never give
the necessary respite for undertaking an exhibition
against Tanjore, and that to him every article of
expense, however small, was an object of importance.
Upon this, the Presidency express themselves in the
following terms: “ When we consider the earnest
and repeated solicitations urged by the Nabob to
engage us in an expedition against Tanjore ; when
we consider the taunts and reflections cast on us by

ofien (¥ should not mmch err if I said always) been mistaken by the inac-
curate minds, which hitherto have plated Indian affairs.—M. This
can scarcely be called the coustitutjon of Indis, although it was the
political condition of the country, ing out of the anarchy comnse-
quent upon the Mohammedan invapion, particularly in the Bouth of India.
The operations of the Moguls in (e Dekhin, although they broke to pieces
the consistency of both the MolAmmedan and Hindu principalities, sub-
i ify in their place, snd furnished sn opporto-
nity and example o adventorers of all classes 10 scramble for power, somi-
hilating all right except that of the sword: when the fact is remembered,
therefore, its history shonid mot be forgoiten: the circumstances under
which it was true, show it to have been an accident, not s principle. In
the present instance nothing conld be weaker than the claims of the
Nawab upou Tanjore, except those of Trichinopoli and Tanjore upon
Maraws. Durning the vigour of the Pandyan kingdom of Madura, Eamnad
and Marawa were subject {0 it, but upon its subversion the chief of
Eamnad became independent. FPamily dissensions divided the country
iuto separute principalities, which were occasionally terrified into the
payment of tribate to the Rajas of Madurs and Tanjore, buz whick were
never really subject o either. Neither could the Raja of Tanjpore be com-
sidered as st suy time the subject of the Nawab of the Camatic, although
occasional precedents existed for the levy of 3 peashaunh from kis fears.
—W.
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Sir John Lindsay for refusing to comply with ‘the 3021‘1(4‘.'
Nabob’s requisition of proceeding immediately
against Tanjore at a time When we were unpre- M7k
pared; when we consider that our apprehensions
from the Mahrattas are not near so great, since most
of the grain is now . collected in the different forts,
which. would render it difficult for an army of
Mahrattas to subsist; all these circumstances con-
sidered, it appears strange that the Nabob ‘should
so suddenly alter his opinion, and should now
decline entering on the expedition, which he 'so
lately and so earnestly urged us to undertake.” They
conjectured, that, as his grand motive for urging the
expedition at first, was to force them into an alliance
with the Mahrattas, so now, despairing of that
event, he wished not to give the Mahrattas a pretext
for overrunning his dominions.'

On the 24th of July, the Committee resolved,
first, that an expedition against the Raja would, in
itself, be advisable, but being contrary to' the inecli-
nations of the Nahob ought not to be undertaken ;
secondly, that negotiation should be used instead of
war, and that the negotiation, in which the Nabob
wished the English not to appear,” should be left to
be conducted by that ostensible prince.”

No sooner was conference attempted than the Raja
declared, that he had already  referred all differ-
ences between him and the Nabob to the Company,
and that he wished the Company would mediate
between them ; that he was ready and willing to
settle terms of accommodation under the guarantee

' Papers, ut supra, p. 684, 685. * Ibid. p. 696.
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BOOK V. of the English, on whose faith and promise he would

rely ; but that he would never trust the Nabob with-

171- out the security of the English, as he well knew the

Nabob’s intentions were to accommodate matters for

the present, but that he had had intentions whenever
opportunity should offer in future.”?

On the 29th of July, the demands-of the Nabob
were presented fo the Raja’s vakeel at Madras; but
as he required fifteen or twenty days to receive the
instructions of his master, and as the distance of
Madras would aid the Raja in spinning out the time
till the commencement of the rains, the Nabob pro-
posed to send his twosons to Trichinopoly ; the eldest,
Omdut ul Omrah, to conduct the negotiations; and
the younger, Mader ul Mulk, to manage the supply
of the army; while the negotiation, he thought,
should be supported, by the show of inevitable war,
if the Raja declined implicit submission.®

Now was required a decision on the question, what,
if the war should issue in a conquest, was to be done
with Tanjore. The Presidency knew, that the grand
cause of the reluctance which the Nabob had latterly
shown to the war, was a fear lest the Company
should conquer Tanjore for themselves; and, that
there was no accommodation, how unfavourable
soever, which he would not make with the Raja,
rather than incur the hazard of.so bateful a result.
The Nabob offered to give to the Company ten lacs
of pagodas, if, after conquering, they delivered Tan-
jore, in full dominion, o him. The Presidency
wished to reserve the question to the proper autho-

' Papems, ut supra, p. 717. : * Ibid. 718, 7.
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rities in England, but the Nabob would not consent. B20% ¥-
The Presidency imagined, that as they had now con-

vinced the Raja of the hostile designs both of them- 7!
selvesand the Nabob, it was highly dangerous to leave

him possessed of power, which he would have an
interest in lending to the ¥rench, or any other
enemy ; and as they could not proceed to war, except

with the consent of the Nabob,"it was therefore best

to comply with his terms.! .

Early in September, the young Nabob, (such was
the name by which the English generally spoke of
Omdut ul Omrah) who had repaired to Trichinopoly,
to conduct thenegotiation, reported to Geeneral Smith,
the commander of the English troops, that nothing
but eompulsion would bring the Raja to the sub- .
mission required. The army was ready to march
on the 12th of September; but the department of
supplying the army had been infrusted wholly to the
Nabob’s second son ; and it was found upon inquiry
that there was not rice in the camp for the consump-
tion of a single day.’

The greatest exertions were made by the general
to enable the srmy to move; and on the 16th it
arrived before Vellum, a fortress of considerable
strength, and one of the great bulwarks of Tanjore,
The battery, having been constructed firstin a wrong
place, was not ready till the morning of the 20th;
and the breach could not have been made practicable
till about three o’clock the next afternoon,but towards
evening the garrison stole out of the fort.’

V Papers, ut supra, p. 726—731
* Goheral Smith's Letter, ibid. 742.
¥ Papers, ut suprs, p. 744—750.
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- On the 23d the army again marched, and encamped
before Tanjore. They broke ground late on the
evening of the 29th, and by that time began to be
distressed for want of provisions. On the 1st of
October, the enemy made a strong sally, which
threatened to have considerable effects ; but Major
Vaughan, the officer against whose post it was
directed, acted with firmness and judgment, and the
attack was repelled without much loss. The opera-
tions proceeded but slowly. The 27th of October
had arrived, when the engineers reported that the
breach would be practicable the next morning. On
that day the young Nabob signed a peace with the
Raja, and hostilities ceased.!

The Raja engaged to pay eight lacs of rupees for
arrears of peshcush; 30,50,000 for the expense of
the expedition; to restore whatever he had taken
from the Marawars ; and to aid with his troops inall
the wars of the Nabob. Vellum was the principal
difficulty. It was finally agreed, that it should be
restored to the Raja, but demolished if the Nahob
chose.

Before this event, a dispute had arisen about the
plunder. Omdut ul Omrah was informed, that, by
the usage of war, the plunder of all places, taken by
storm, belonged to the captors. Omdut ul Omrah,
mnwilling to lose the plunder of Tanjore, offered a
sum of money m Lieu of it to the troops. His offer
was not satisfactory; and a disagreeable and acri-
monious correspondence had taken place. By con-
cluding a peace, before the reduction of the fort, any

' Papers, ut supra, p. 755--790,
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allowance to the army was a matter of gratuity, not BOOK ¥.
of right.!

The Presidency were struck, as they-say, with 1774~
“ alarm,” when, expecting every hour to hear of the
fall of Tanjore, they were accosted with the news of
the conclusion of a peace. They expressed the
greatest dissatisfaction with the terms, which ought,
in their opinion, to have been nothing less than the
surrender of the fort at discretion. The terms were
not only inadequate, but no security, they said, was
provided for the execution of them such as they were.
On this account they held it necessary to keep them-
selves prepared as for immediate war. Orders were
gent out to give up Vellum without further instrue-
tions. The expectation was entertained, that the
Raja would not be exact to a day in the delivery of
the money and jewels he had agreed to resign. This
happened. The want of punctuality was pronounced
8 breach of the treaty; the guns had mnot yet been
drawn out of the batteries; and the troops were
under the walls of Tanjore: the fort of Vellum, and
the districts of Coiladdy and Elangad, weredemanded:
a renewal of hostilities was threatened as the only
alternative : the helpless Raja could do nothing but
comply.?

In averting from themselves the effects of this dis-
approbation, the General stated, that he commu-
nicated to Omdut ul Omrah the progress of the
siege, and the great probability of success; that he
had no control over the negotiation, and was bound
by his- instructions to desist from hostilities the

! Papers, ut suprs, p. 827, * Ihid, p. 930, 931.
VYOL. 1V. H
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Omdut ul Omrah affirmed, that he took not & step
without consulting the General; that the troops
were under the greatest apprehension on account of
the rains which had begun; that when the breach
was partly made, he stated the terms to which the
Raja bhad yielded, declaring that he would not
accept them, if the fall of the place were assured ;
that the General replied, he could.not say he would
take the place, but he would endeavour to take it ;
that being asked his opinion, whether the Raja
would give such terms as he now offered, if the
siege were unsuccessful, the General said, “ My
opinion is, that in that case he will give you
nothing, but if he does he i3 a great fool;” that
when asked if he would guarantee equivalent terms

' in case the enterprise miscarried, he repelled the

proposal ; that when peace was then held up to his
view, as what in that case appeared the most politic
choice, he replied, “ It was well; it was at the Nabob's
option.”™!

Before all things were settled with Tanjore, the
Nabob made application for the Company’s forces to
reduce the two Marawar Polygars. The Governor
and Council, in their letter upon this to the Court of
Directors, make the following pertinent remarks; “It
is well worthy of observation that Marawar and
Nalcooty are the two Polygars whom the Raja of Tan-
jore attacked in the beginning of the year, asserting
their dependence on his government; while the
Nabob claimed the right of protecting them, as tri-

' Papers, ut supra, p. 803, 657,
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butaries to the government of Trichinopoly. It was BOOK ¥.
in this cause that the late Plenipotentiary® took the

field of controversy; asserted the Nabob’s pretensions 177t
to us, who did not deny them;. exaggerated the out-

rage of the Raja of Tanjore in taking arms against .
them: and extolled their obedience and submission

to the Nabob’s government: and he will say, he com-
pelled us to vindicate the Nabob’s dignity. What
honours are due to the minister's zeal for his friend's
cause! mark now the reasoning of that friend: the

Raja humbled ; Marawar and Nalcooty, from obe-

dient dependants, become immediately dangerous and
ungovernable delinquents; and there can be no safety

to the Nabob’s government unless they are re-
duced.”*

Notwithstanding the contradiction which the Pre-
sidency thus remarked in the pretexts of the Nahob,
they consented, without any difficulty in this case, to
undertake the expedition. The season of the rains
of necessity delayed their operations; but in the
mean time inquiries were made ; terms were settled
with the Nabob; and the army was kept ready at
~ Trichinopoly, the nearest of the stations to the place
of attack. ,

The Nabob imputed no other crime to the Mara-
wars, except their not sending troops to the late war
upon Tanjore, and not paying the money which he
exacted of them. And the Presidency acknowledged
that he had no right over them whatsoever, but that
right of oppression, which is claimed by the strong
man over the weak. The reason for concurring with

' Bir John Lindaay.
* Tanjore papers, ut suprs, p. 1082.
H 2
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the Nabob in his desire to attack them, was, that
the Nabob, by his ill-usage, had made them his
enemies. They concurred, they said, “not to gratify
the Nabob's revenge on those Polygars; but because,
if they were not originally and naturally, he has

.made them his enemies; and therefore it is necessary

they should be reduced. It is necessary; or it is
good. policy they should. .We do not say it is alto-
gether just, for justice and good policy are not often
related.”?

The objects, however, of the Nabob and of the
Company were somewhat different. The ardent pas-
sion of the Nabob was to destroy every creature who
bore any rule in the country, and place the whole
under his own immediate authority. The intention
of the Company was by no means to proceed to * the
total extirpation of the Polygars; but only to reduce
them to such a state of dependence, by seizing their
forts and strong-holds, as might prevent their being
troublesome in future.”*

The Nabob’s application for reduction of the Mara-
wars was made at the beginning of November, 1771 ;
at the beginning of December, when the concurrence
and. views of the Presidency were understood, he
recommended, if not a dereliction, at any rate a sus-
pension of the design, for fear of the Mahrattas; and
at the beginning of March, 1772, he renewed bis
application for undertaking the expedition. On the
12th of May, a force consisting of 120 artillery-men,
400 European infantry, three battalions of sepoys,
six battering cannon, a body of the Nabob’s cavalry,

' Tanjofe papers, ot supea, p. 959, combined with p. 1085, par. 54.
* foid. p. 1081
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and two of his battalions of sepoys, marched from BOOK V.
Trichinopoly, accompanied by Omdut ul *Omrah,
who was deputed by his father to conduct all ope- 1772
rations, not military, connected with the expedition.
They arrived, having met with. no :opposition, at .
Ramnadaporam, the capital of the greater Mavawar,_
on the 28th. The batteries were opened in the
morning of the 2d of April, and a practicable breach
was effected before the evening. This time a bargain
had been made with the Nabob, that he should not
forestall the wishes of his allies, by the precipitate
-conclusion ofa peace. ‘Terms were, however, offered
both by Omdut ul Omrah and the General, which,
notwithstanding their inadequate means of resistance,
the people of the Polygar refused. The fort was
assaulted the same evening, and carried with the loss
of only one European and two sepoys killed. The
Polygar, & minor.of only twelve years of age, with
his mother, and the Dewan, were taken in the place;
and soon reduced to a situation which extorted the
compassion of Englishmen. The Nabob bargained
for the plunder by a sum of money to the troops.!

- The Nabob’s troops, before the 15th of June, were
put in possession of all the forts in great Marawar;

and on the 16th, the army began its march toward
~ the other principality of that name. The Polygar
had betaken himself to a strong-hold, named Kala-
Koil, or Carracoil, surrounded by thick woods, which
they approached on the momning of the23d. An
English officer, with a detachment of the army, was
sent to approach by a road on the opposite side, with

' Papers, ut suprs; p. 10811083, and 998.
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BOOK ¥-a hope, ‘either of drawing off some of the enemy’s
attention, or of finding an opportunity to enter by
1772 gurprise. Inthe mean time submissive offers arrived
from the Polygar. To guard against any stratagem
to amuse, the advance of the troops was not inter-
rupted till the morning of the 25th, when Omdut ul
Omrah gave the General notice that peace was con-
cluded, and requested that orders might be sent to
stop the detachment. The orders, it seems, were
intrusted to the Polygar’s vakeels; the Polygar’s va-
keels, it is said, used not the requisite diligence; at
any rate the sending of the orders was unhappily if
not criminally mismanaged; the detachment ad-
vanced ; found the Polygar reposing upon the security
of the treaty, and totally off his guard ; with scarcely
any resistance it entered the place, and the Polygar
wag killed while endeavouring to escape at one of the
gates. The Nabob, here too, gave a sum of money
in redemption of the plunder. And these sums
became the subject of immediate animosities and
disputes, among the parties by whom pretensions to
a share of them were advanced.!

The settlement of the territory was rendered difhi-
cult, by excess of misgovernment. The people of
the country, who had facilitated the conquest by re-
maining at their ploughs, and who expected equal
indulgence under one despot as another, were turned
out of their lands, and took arms all over the country.
« I must represent to you,” said the English officer,
who was left to support Omdnt ul Omrah, (these are
the words of a letter addressed to the Council,)

¢ Papers, ut suprs, pp. 30631085, 1006, 1037.
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“ that ‘the settling this country in the manner ex- BOOK ¥-
pected by the Nabob, requires extremities of a shock-
ing nature. "When we are marching, we find all 7%
over the country most villages abandoned by the men,
there remaining in them only women and children,
who, likely if the Nabob persists in this undertaking,
must, with other poor innocents, become a sacrifice
to this conquest : For, if any of our baggage remain
behind, it is usually taken; our parties and strag-
glers are attacked. This is done by the inhabitants
of some village or other. Those villages being
pointed out t*me, I cannot pass the outrage without
punishment ; and not finding the objects on which
my vengeance should fall, I can only determine it by
reprisals; which will oblige me to plunder and burn
those villages; kill every man in them; and take
prisoners the- women and children. Those are
actions which the nature of this war will require:
For, having no enemy to encounter, it is only by
severe examples of that kind, that we may expect
to terminate it, so a8 to answer the end proposed.”?
Complaining, that they were left without any spe-
cific instructions by the Court of Directors, that they
were commanded generally to support the Nabob
in all his pretensions, that they were blamgd as not
having given him a sufficient support, that they were
bullied by the Plenipotentiaries to support him more
than they could believe was either expedient or safe,
the Governor and Council alleged that they were led
on by that friend and ally from one step to another,
without knowing where to stop, and without being

' Papers, ut supra; p. 1068.
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able to make those reservations in favour of the Com-
pany which the interests of the Company appeared
to require: In this manner had Tanjore been him-
bled and fleeced: In this manner the two Marawars
had been conquered, and delivered up as a dominion
to the Nabob. It must be allowed, that except fora
little time when he first demanded the attack on
Tanjore, the Presidency had shown themselves abun-
dantly forward to second, or rather to excite the
Nabob’s ardour for conquest of the minor states.
The Nabob had only one scruple, the fear of their
conquering for themselves. The declerations how-
ever, of the Presidency, of the Directors, and the
King’s minister plenipotentiary, the interpretations
of the treaty of Paris, and especially the recent ex-
ample in the surrender of the Marawars, raised up a
hope in his Highness that the time was at last
arrived when the long-desired possession of Tanjore
might be fully acquired.
In a conference with the President about the
“middle of June, 1773, the Nabob brought complaint,
that there was now due from Tanjore about ten lacs
of rupees, that the Raja had applied to the Mah-
rattas and to Hyder for a body of troops, and had
encouraged the Colleries to ravage part of the Car-
patic territory : and intimated his intention of sub-
duing him; all which he desired the President to
consider of!
After a few days, at another conference, *“ the
Nabob expressed his earnest desire that the expedi-
tion should be undertaken ; spoke much ofhis friend-.

' T"apers, ut supra, p. 1107.
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ship to the Company; and to show his regard for BOOK ¥.
them was willing, in case of success, to give them —
ten lacs of pagodas.™ 2773,

As the question immediately occurred, what, in
case the expedition was undertaken, was to be ex-
pected from, or done with, their neighbours, Hyder,
and the Mahrattas; a curious change appeared in
the sentiments of the Nabob. A friendship, he said,
must be established between him and Hyder; for
notwithstanding all that he had done to procure for
the Mahrattas the benefit of English assistance, * yet
he found they were not fair and open towards him at
Poonah ;* and that whether he reduced Tanjore or
did not reduce it, they would still come against him
when it suited their affairs; that by God’s blessing,
however, if he .and Hyder were joined, they would,
with the assistance of the English, keep the Mah-
rattas effectually on the other side of the Kistnah.”?

On the 22d of June, the question underwent deli-
beration in the Select Committee. As to the com-
plaint about the moneys unpaid, the Committee pass
it over as a matter of slight importance. And asto
the other complaint, that the Raja was looking to
the neighbouring powers for support against the
Nabob, of which they had before them no satisfactory
proof, they were constrained to confess, that, if it were
true, he would not be toblame.  That the Nabob,”

-

! President's Report to the Sclect Committes, Papers, ut suprs, p. 1108..

% His pot getting them the assistance from the English, he represented
s the cause of their wanl of friendship, since they believed (of course he
had told them) that ““ he had got the entire control of the whole English
nativn, and gould make them do as be pleased.” Ibid.

? Ihid, :
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BOOK - they say, “ has constantly had in view the design of

conquering Tanjore, will not admit of a doubt. We

1778. are firmly persuaded, that his chief motive for con~ -

cluding peace with the Raja, at a time when our

troops were upon the point of getting possession of

the place, arose from his jealousy lest the Company

purposed at a convenient opportunity to take the

country from him. By that expedition, however,

he obtained what he earnestly wished for, namely,

the removal of that restraint which he thought

himself under, by the Company’s guarantee of
1762.”

The Committee next record a solemn declaration,
that the treaty, which was then concluded, left the
Raja at the mercy of the Nabob, and bound, by a
sense of self-preservation, to seek for protection
against him in every quarter. * We then expressed
our firm opinion, that the peace, concluded without
the intervention of the Company, would not be con-
sidered by the Raja as any security to him; and that
he would avail himself of the first opportunity of
freeing himeelf from Ahis apprehensions of the Nabob.
The intelligence communicated to us by the Nabob
of the Raja’s application to the Mahrattas and Hyder
Ali for assistance, is, in some measure, confirmed by
the advices transmitted to us by Mr. Mostyn from
Poonah:' Neither is the conduct of the Raja, in this

' The suthor of the Defence of Lord Pigot (Introd. p. 63) seys, that
by the Nabob, people were employed to personate the Raja's vakeels at
Poonah : that letiers were fabricated ; and all sorts of artifice employed
to mislead the Company’s servants. The Presidescy e ofiea complain-
ing that the Nabob’s letters of imtelligence siste always & set of facts
exactly calculated to WMMMBM,'MM Nabob
is at that moment driving.
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instance, to be wondered at. The apprehensions he
before had, have been increased by the publication of
the Nabob’s intention of reducing him ; which has
gained credit all over the country. He knows that,
in our present situation, we cannot interfere in the
disputes between him and the Nabob; that the
Nabob did not even allow his vakeel to visit the
late President. Under these circumstances, it is not
surprising, that the Raja should endeavour to streng-
then himself, by every means in his power, to enable
him to withstand any attempts of the Nabob against
hjm-"l

That the Presidency had reason to pass over in
silence, or at least with neglect, the complaints of the
Nabob, respecting the payment of the Raja’s debt,
sufficiently appears from the statement of the facts.
Of fifty lacs, exacted as the compensation for peace,
twelve lacs and a half were paid down. By mort-
gaging jewels and land, to the Dutch at Negapatnam,
and the Danes at Tranquebar, he had contrived to
pay the remainder, together with eight lacs for the
peshcush of two years, leavmg a balance of only ten
lacs upon the whole.?

Notwithstanding the absence of criminality on the
part of the Raja, the Presidency resolved that they
ought to destroy him. It is evident,” they say,
« that in the present system,® it is dangerous to have
guch & power in the heart of the province: for, as

v Papers, ut supra, p. 1117,

* Spe the Letter from the Dutch to the Nabob (Ibid. 1273); Defence
of Lor¢ Pigot, lntrod. 64.

* By present system, they mean the ordem from England to support the
Nabob, as sbsolute sovereign, in all his pretonsions; which held their
hands from interfering to protect the Raja.
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the Honourable Court have been repeatedly advised,
unless the Company can engage the Raja to their
interest, by a firm promise of support in all his just
rights, we look upon it as certain, that, should any
troubles arise in the Carnatic, whether from the
French or a country enemy, and present a favourable
opportunity of freeing himself from his apprehen-
sions of the Nabob, he would take part against bim,
and at such a time might be a dangerous enemy in
the south, The propriety and expediency, therefore,
of embracing the present opportunity of reducing
him entirely, before such an event takes place, are
evident.™

Never, I suppose, was the resolution taken to
make war upon a lawful sovereign, with the view of
“ reducing him entirely,” that is, stripping him of
his dominions, and either putting him and bis family
to death, or making them prisoners for life, upon a
more. accommodating principle. 'We have done the
Raja great injury: We have no intention to do him
right. This constitutes a full and sufficient reason
for going on to his destruction. Such is the doctrine;
the practical improvement is obvious. Do you wish
a good reason for effecting any body's destruction ?
First do him an injury sufficiently great, and then if
you destroy him, you have, in the law of self-defence,
an ample justification ! !

In the opinion of the Presidency no danger
attended the operations required for the destruction
of the Raja. As to Hyder, he had too much
business on his hands, and knew his own interest too

t Papers, ut supra, p. 1117.
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well, to make the English just now his enemies on BOOK V.
account of the Raja. With regard to the Mahrattas,
they were sure to invade the Carnatic, whenever 1#73.
they could expect to do so with any success; and
that would happen neither sooner nor later on account
of the reduction of Tanjore.! '

The next point to consider was, the conditions
upon which the Nabob should be accommeodated with
the destruction of the Raja, and the transfer of -his
dominions. The first condition was, that the Nabob
should advance cash, or good bills, sufficient for the
expense of the expedition. . The second was, that all
sorts of necessaries, excepting militagy stores, should
be amply provided by the Nabob, The third was,
that instead of paying for 7,000 sepoys, he should
henceforth pay for 10,000. The condition, which
the Presidency endeavoured before the first war to
obtain, but which they afterwards gave up, that of
reserving the disposal of Tanjore to the Court of
Directors ; and the maxim laid down by the Direc.
tors, and recognised by the Presidency, in the case
of the Marawars, viz, that it was for the interest of
the Company to leave the minor chiefs in the Carnatic
totally defenceless, as likely to aid the Nabob in those.
schemes of independence which he incessantly
cherished ; were on this occasion totally neglected.

The Nabob, in these cases, was accustomed to
press his project eagerly, as long as he found the
Presidency reluctant or undetermined; as soon as
he found them engaged, and warm in the project, to
maaifest something of indifference or aversion. So

' Papers, ul supm, p. 1117.
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BOOK ¥.it happened, on the present occasion. The Nahob,
after several conferences, told the President, ¢ he
1773. would not be too pressing upon the expedition’s being
undertaken, without it suited the Company's affairs.”
The Presidency, however, were in a very different
disposition ; they were determined, and impatient, to

begin the operations immediately.!

The Nabob, without much difficulty, accepted the
conditions, on which the Presidency were eager to
make for him the conquest of Tanjore; and it was
agreed, that no peace should be concluded with the
Raja, unless it should be found to be absolutely
impossible to gffect his destruction. The general
was furnished with his instructions on the 5th of
July. The Nabob bargained with the troops, by a
sum of money, for the plunder of Tanjore, if the
place should be taken by storm. And on the 3rd
of August the army marcbed from Trichinopoly.

They encamped, after a skirmish, within a short
distance of Tanjore, on the 6th of August. On the
13th the following letter was received from the
Raja.  “ The friendship and support offered by

¥ Papers, ut supra, p. 1122, 1125. Thero is secret history in mary of
the proceedings of the Company’s servants which it is not possible to
bring forward with such evidence as history sdmita, and which, except in
& very generel manner, it is not within the province of history to trace.
Ench articles of evidence ss present themselves may be submitied for
eonsideration. The Author of the History and Management of the East
Indis Company, than whom no man was betier scqnainted with the secrets
of Madras, and who, though he isa prejudiced and nafair, is not & menda-
civus writer, says, (p. 219) that t(he erime of the Haia was his sendivg to
borrow mosey of the Dutch; and bad he pursued the plan of borrowing
at Madras, “ with more constancy, asd 1o s much larger extent, the Grzar
Forxs at Madras wight bave had xn intevest in overbooking, for some
time longer, his designs. Buot Tulisji, though mot more faithless, was
lew prodent than his father Pretaops Siag who had alwnys an expert
sgent at Madrap to Begotiate & losn, when be wished to obtain & favons.”



EXPEDITION AGAINST TAKJORE. 11T

the English to this country is a matter of universal BOOK ¥.
celebration and report among all the Mahratta and
Rajapoot nations, as well as others. We have 373
quietly submitted to the hard terms imposed on us

by the Nabob; and have given him all that, by these
means, he required. Some deficiency bappened in

the revenues of the mortgaged lands; for the pay-
ment of the sums so deficient, as well as the last
year’s peshcush (though the latter was not yet become

due) I borrowed of the Soucars ; and having engaged

with them also for an additional sum, to discharge
what was due to the young Nabob and other lesser
accounts, I took bills for the whole amount, and sent

them to the Nabob; who, having protested my bills,"

' This transaction is explained, in the following mannner, by the Anthor
of the * Defence of Lord Pigot.” (lntrod. p. 64.) It happened that
ane Comers, a dubash of the virtaous Mr. Benfield, wsa at Tanjore, when
the Nabob thrvatened a second viait. This Comers, servant of Mr.
Beafield, was employed in lending money on mortgages. To him the
Rajs addressed hisself; through him, he mortgaged to Mr. Benfleld some
districts, which had been formerly mortgaged to the Nabob; and obtained
from Comera bills on his master, Mr. Benfield, payable at Madras, for the
twelve lacks which by the treaty of 1771 were still to be paid. But it was
not the intention of the Nabob to receive this last instalment. His confi-
dence in the servants of the Company was increased. And he now
determined at al! events to get possession of Tanjore. He therefore sent
for the dubash, and by proper application, prevaited on him to deny that he
gave the draughts: by proper applications he raised unexpected scraples
in the breast of the delicate Mr. Benfield. Thongh he now avows that he
has morigages to & congiderabls amount in the Tanjore country; et then,
in » more enlightened moment, he discovered that it was his duty, as &
servant obedient to the orders of the Company, to reject any proposal of
lending money on mortgages. He does not indeed deny that the bills were
drawn on him: he allows them to have been drawn, and actually seat to
the Nabob: so far he contradicts his agent. But he seems pot to know who
it was that drew them, His own servani, Comera, dwindles, in his
mccount, into an undescribable creature without a name ; & black man to
the southward, witk whom the virtuous Mr. Benfield had indesd some
mercantile concerns. In this statement, the facts of the drawing of the
bills, aud of their not being accepted by Mr. Benfield, aro established.
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has set on foot an expedition against me. Consider-
ing that no deviation of conduct can by any means
be laid to my charge, and that I have fulfilled my
engagements in respect of the payments I agreed to,
I am confident you can never consent to this measure..
Some offence should surely be proved upon me,
before an expedition be undertaken against me;
without any show of equity, to wage an unjust war
against me, is not consistent with reason. This
charitable country is the support of multitudes of
people ; if you, Sir, will preserve it from destruction,
you will be the most great, glorious, and honoured of
mankind. I am full of confidence, that you will
neither do injustice yourself, nor listen to the tale of
the oppressor. I only desire a continuance of that
support which this country has formerly experienced,
from the English, and you will reap the fame so
good an action deserves.”!

Ground was broken before Tanjore, late on the
evening of the 20th of August; and a party was
advanced to a commanding spot within 500 yards of
the walls. On the 23rd, the engineers had run their
parallels to the destined extent, but had not time to.
erect a redoubt which was intended to secure their
left. On the morning of the 24th the enemy sallied
in a considerable party, and attacked the trenches
with musketry. They retired upon the brisk

For the remaining points we have only the anihority of the writer, snd tha.
mode of gaining a delicate point at Madras; the writer, it is 10 be remem.-
bered, o partisan; but the mode of guining points s Madras, Boiorious,
habitual, and altogeiher concordant with the assertion.

! Papers, stsupra, p- 1177.  The tone of the Raja’s letter is indispatable ;
hmmmmmde-Mumumm
valusble, aw those of the Nabob.
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advance of the grenadiers, but not without some loss BOOK ¥.
to the English assailants. On the 27th, in the
morning, the batteries were opened. About the 773
same time the Presidency received from Mr. Mostyn,
at Poonah, a letter, to say, that a dispute between
the Peshwa’s government, and that of Berar, afforded
present occupation to the Mahrattas, and removed
the danger of interruption to the expedition against
Tanjore. The approaches were made, and the
breaching-batteries opened, early in the morning of
the 14th of September. On the 16th 7 passage, of
twelve feet wide was completed across the wet ditch
which surrounded the walls, and the breach was so
considerable, that the enemy expected the assault by
" day-light the next morning, when 20,000 fighting-
men were prepared to defend the breach. This hour
being permitted to pass, they expected no further
attempt till the evening; but when the sun was in
the meridian, and intensely hot, and the garrison
had mostly retired to obtain a little refreshment and
repose, the English troops were drawn out, without
noise, to the assault. - The success of the stratagem
was complete. The troops entered with scarcely
any resistance, or any loss. And the Raja and his
family were taken prisoners in the fort.

The Dutch had received theseaport town of Nagore
and its dependencies, in assignment for the money

! Papers, ot supre, p. 1197,—1218. In giving an account, the next day,
of the capture of the place, the English General writes to the Presidency;
“ The situation of the Raja is truly pitiable, and likewise Monajee’s (the
Generalissimo) ; I do therefore hope, ns the place has fallen by the English
erms, that the Honourabls Board .will exert their influence with his
Highness, that those prisonerm may be troated agrecable to the rank they
once held in this country.” 1bid. p. 1218. .

VOL. 1V, 1
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BOOK ¥. which they had lent to the Raja of Tanjore, It was ~
_ the wish, neither of the English, nor of the Nabob,
1773.  that they should enjoy the advantage of retaining
these possessions. The first pretence made use of
was, that assistance had been lent to the Raja against
the late expedition. Before the troops withdrew
from Tanjore, a letter was written by the Nabob to
the Presidency, recording the complaint, and
demanding assistance to punmish the offenders. It
was also necessary to send information of the charge
to the Dutch. They utterly denied the facts ; and
as there appears to have been nothing to prove them,
the charge was permitted to drop. Another resource
remained. The Dutch had purchased Nagore. Upon
this the Presidency gravely and solemnly declare:
“ As the Raja of Tanjore held his lands of the
Nabob in fee, he could not, agreeable to. the feudal
system, which prevails all over India, alienate any
part of this country to any other power, without the
consent of his liege lord, the ruler of the Carnatic
Payen Ghaut.”' Upon this foundation, they felt
no scruple in joining with the Nabob to make war
upon the Dutch. Yet it is abundantly certain, that
such an idea as that of “ land held in fee” could
hardly enter into the mind of a native Indian, even
in the way of imagination and conception., Sucha
thing as a feudal system or a liege lord, never had a
moment’s existence in India, nor was ever supposed
to have, except by a few pedantie, and half-lettered

! Conwplation of the Governor and Council, Zard Sept., 1773; Pupers,
wt sopra, p. !%.—‘—ll. This part of the argument seems to have been
mﬁ,ﬁe ministerial representative 8ir Robert Harland. ~ Prpers,
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Englishmen, who knew little more of the fendal BOOX V.
system than the name, If this doctrine were true,
the English had originally no just fitle, either to 177%
Calcutta or Madras. When they obtained the. one
from the Subahdar of Bengal, he was the vassal of
the Mogul; when they obtained the other from the
Nabob of the Carnatic, he was the vassal of Nizam
al Mulk, the Subahdar of the Deccan. Besides, the
Presidency themselves had only two years. before
declared that no such thing as fendality existed in
India; that the only right of one state over another
was power; that the stronger uniformly exacted
tribute of the weaker; but that legal dependence
there was certainly none.) The troops advanced.
The Dutch made a solemn protest against the
injustice ; but they were not in a condition to make
effectual resistance; and they prudently retired.
The Nabob complained of the cold-heartedness and
supineness of his English friends, because they would
not support him in attacking the ancient possessions
of the Dutch. At length it was arranged, that the
Dutch should be re-imbursed by the Nabob the
money which they had advanced to the Raja; and
that they should give up to the Nabob the lands
and jewels which they had received in payment or in
pledge.?

' 'When the former war with Tanjore was projected,
the Nabob, though he would not consent that the
English should garrison Tanjore, if taken, yet pro-
posed that he himself should place in it a ghrrison of
EKuropeans. This time he would not consent to even

' Yide supra, p. 91.
* Papors ut suprs, p. 1226, 1273, 1276, 1281, 1290, 1333, 1361.
I2
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so much, but insisted upon it, that Tanjore should
be garrisoned with his own troops.! The Presidency
so far attended to humanity, and the suggestion of
their own general, as to express their wishes to the
Nabob for humane treatment of the Raja and his
family. But they were satisfied with very slight
evidence of the gratification of those desires. The
wretched Raja and his mother addressed a letter,
each of them, to the Nabob; telling him that they
were remarkably well treated. These letters were
shown to the Presidency, and the Presidency tell the
Directors, * We have much satisfaction to learn, by
letters from the Raja and his mother to the Nabob,
communicated to us, that they are treated with much
attention and humanity in their confinement.”* The
Nabob could never be at a loss, upon such admirable
terms as these, for a proof of any thing which he
could possibly desire.

Intelligence of the dethronement of the Raja, and
of the transfer of his dominions to the Nabob, was
not delayed by the Company’s servants. It was re-
ceived in London, with all the documents and details,
on the 26th of March, 1774. Three weeks elapsed
before the departure of the last ships of the season ;
but the Directors made no remarks upon the revo-
lution in Tanjore. Upon so great a change eflected
in the state of their dominions, without advice or
authority, the sovereign body, as if they had no
opinion to express, that is, were incapable for the

moment 'of executing the functions of government,

maintained absolute silence. In the course of the

! Ibid. p. 1236. ! Ibid. p. 13036,
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gummer various despatches arrived, describing the BOOK ¥.
subsequent measures to which the transfer of the .
Tanjore kingdom had given rise. No observations 1724
were elicited from the Court of Directors.! During

the winter of 1774, and more than two months of
1775, the same silence was observed ; and, if ac-
quiescence might be taken for approbation, the.
actors in Irdia had reason to congratulate them-
selves upon a favourable construction of their con-

duct. )

' An explanation in offered of the non-interpoeition of the Court in
the Tract published nuder their authority, “The Restoration of the King
of Tanjove considered,” in reply to the * Statement of Facts,”” and which
contains the view of the case derived from the documents repeatedly
referred to. It is admitted that the situation of affairs in England lessened
the attention of tha Directors to political concerns in India. 1n 1769
occurred the necessity of the remeswal of their engagements with the
Guvernment of Great Britain, in the midst of great pecunisry difficulties.
In 1771 it becams necessary Lo reduce the rate of dividend, and the court
was engaged in ascertaining the cause of the distress, and investigating
the conduct of those to whom it was imputed. New regulations were the
perpetual subject of discussion by General Courts and Committees of
Proprietors. ‘The succeeding winter produced otherinquiries. Two Com-
mittees of the House of Commons sat at the same time, and their proceed-
ings gave full employment to the attention of the Court. In June 1773,
the Constitution and Government of the Company, both in England and
in Bengal, were greatly altered, and the considerations consequent wpon
the change were numercus and important, so that the instructions to the
gentlemen appointed by parliament, were not delivered to them before
March 1774. In that month arrived the newa of the second expedition and
capture of Tanjore, but the consultations required to explain the measures
of the Council were not recoived till Angust, when the Court lost no time
in preparing papers necessary for an attentive investigation. Silence, there-
fore, was not observed through the winter of 1774, for those papers were
submitted to His Majesty's Ministers in January 1775, On the 27tk of
March the intended paragraphs of & letter to Madras were laid before the
Sacretary of State, returned with his concurrence on the 7th of April, and
nigned on the 12tk of the same month. Althongh, therefore, the efficiency
of the system to conduct at the same period, great interesta both in England
and in Jodie may be called in question; yet there is no resson whatever
to inainuste that the Court of Directors disregarded or acquiesced ip the
transactions in Tanjore.—W.
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BOOK ¥.  The secret history at that time of the East India

House, that is, the history of the interests of the

1775.  individuals by whom it was governed, even if it could

be given upon such evidence as history confides in,

which secret history seldom can be, would not, on the

present occasion, be of any importance. The only

point which deserves our attention is, the general re.

sult; that the East India Company is a governing

body so constituted, no matter by what secret agency

in the minds of individuals, as to be incapable of

giving, or capable of withholding to give, for nearly

twelve months, an opinion on one of the most

important transactions to which their authority and
power could be applied.

There was no little division, at that time, in the
councils of the East India House. Early in the year
1775, the question was agitated of a successor to the
Governor of Fort St. George. The Court of Direc-
tors, by a small majority, declared for Mr. Rumbold.
A Court of Proprietors, called soon after to deli-
berate upon the subject, reversed their decision, by a
small majority, and made choice of Lord Pigot.

This ancient Governor had returned to England
about the end of the year 1763; and had been suc-
cessively raised to the dignities of a baronet, and of
an Irish peer.! By the weight of his fortune, by his
connexion with individuals, and the reputation of his
services, he enjoyed a great influence in the Com-
pany; and, after a residence of twelve years in
England, discovered an inclination, or a wish, to

* He had gooe out & writer to Madras in 1736, and swcceeded Mr.
Banuders a8 Governorin 1754, m which appointment be contizoed until the
end of 1763.—W.
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resume the burden of the Presidentship at Madras,
and to rival the glory of Clive, by introducing the same
reforms under the Presidency of Madras, as that
illustrious Governor had introduced in Bengal. The
decision in the Court of Proprietors gave the ascen-
dency to his party in the Court of Directors, and the
gratification of his ambition was no longer delayed.

Respecting the revelution in Tanjore there was no
indecision in the mind of Pigot; and no sooner was
the ascendency of his party determined, than it also
disappeared in the East India House. The treaty
of 1762, which gave the Raja security for his throne,
was the act, and a favourite act, of Governor Pigot.
The subversion of it became the subject of severe
condemnation in the Company’s Courts. There was
in the transaction, it is not to be doubted, enough to
interest the feelings of any man who looked upon it
with partial, or even impartial eyes; and to account
for the zeal of Lord Pigot upon the most honourable
motives, That his favourite dubash Moodoo Kistna,
with whom he maintained a correspondence in
England, had rented lands to a great extent from
the Tanjore Raja; that he was offended with the
Nabob, who, after appointing him his agent in
England, had failed in those remittances which made
the place of agent desirable; and that an auction
between two princes for the favour of the powerful
servants of the Company promised a golden harvest
to the relatives and connexions of the Directors,
were allegations thrown out by the enemies of the
new resolutions;' allegations which, if they had

' Hist. and Management of the E. L C. chap. wiii.
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general surmise, and even general presumptions in
their favour, were unsupported by particular facts.!
On the 12th of April, the very day on which the
Court of Proprietors met to choose new Directors,
the Court of Directors proceeded at last to declare
their decision on the business of Tanjore, and to pre-
scribe the rules of future operation.’ '
Notwithstanding their ambiguous language, and
still more ambiguous conduct, they declared that
they had been perfectly uniform in two things; in
commanding that no addition should be made to
the possessions either of themselves or the Nabob;
and in condemning the policy of placing Tanjore
under the dominion of that ruler; “ more especially,”
they add, « as they on the spot were of opinion, that,

‘on account of oppressions exercised by the Nabob in

his own dominions, and of his inveterate hatred to
the King of Tanjore, the Tanjoreans would submit
o any power whatever, rather than to the Nabob.”
First they condemn, though after solemn thanks
formerly given to the Governor who had carried it
on, the war of 1771 ; declaring that though it would
have been right to call the Raja to account for
arrears of tribute, and to interpose between him and
the Marawars, it was wholly unjustifiable to make
war upon him when he offered to submit to the
arbitration of the Company ; and still more “ on

' Why then should these allegations be recorded? There was quite
enough in the natore of the sccmarences o warrant their condemation upon
disinterested principles.—W.

* As mentioned in & preceding mote upon the anthority of the official
DasTRiive, the despatch contaising the decision of W Court had been finaily
prepared on the 27th Marchk The decision did not therelore ¢ome in
with the new Directors.—W.
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any account or pretence, or under any circumstances, 800K ¥-
to put the Nabob in possession of that Kingdom.” ! woeeoe
They complain, upon this subject, of their servants, 77> .
as sending them disingenuously incomplete infor-
mation, and then taking their measures without
authority.?

With regard to the second expedition, that in 1773,
intended for the complete destruction of the Raja,
they declare that it was founded upom pretences
which were totally false; 1. as the Raja was not
proved to have committed any offence; and, 2. as
the destruction of him, instead of adding to the se-
curity of the Company, had only increased its dangers.
They decree, therefore, that Mr. Wynch, their Presi-
dent, shall be removed from his office; that the
members of their council shall be severely repri-
manded ; and, “unless their zeal for the interest of
their employers shall manifest a proper sense of
their lenity, that they shall certainly experience
more rigorous marks of their resentment.”®

After this retrospect of the past, the Directors im-
mediately pen their regulations for the guidance of
the future. Theyregarded two subjects; 1st, the res-
toration of the Raja of Tanjore; and 2dly, the manage-
ment of the Company’s own possessions, on the coast
of Coromandel; that is, the Northern Circars, and
the jaghire lands in the neighbourhood of Madras.
“ We are convinced,” said the Directors, addressing
the Council of Madras, ‘ that success must, in a
great measure, depend upon the wisdom of your

! General Letter to Fort 8t. George, 12th April, 1775; papers, ut supra,
p. 1db.

* Ibid. p. 146—149. 3 Ibid, p. 150, 151.
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, the integrity and firmness of your conduct,
and in no small degree, upon the seasonable exertion
of those peculiar abilities for which your Right
Honourable President is so justly and eminently
distinguished.”

With regard to the King of Tanjore, the Presidency
were first to provide security, by a proper guard, for
the persons of him and his family; and next, but
under certain conditions, to restore him to his domi-
nions, as they existed in 1762. The conditions were,
that he should receive a garrison of the Company’s
troops into the fort of Tanjore ; assign lands for their
maintenance; pay to the Nabob the peshcush of
1762; assist him with such troops alone as the Presi-
dency shall join in requiring; form no treaty with
foreign powers, except in concurrence with the English
rulers; and neither directly nor indirectly furnish any
assistance to their enemies.

For the better management of the Company’s pos-
sessions, the Council were directed, “ when affairs
respecting Tanjore shall have been accommodated and
finally adjusted,” to form a committee, consisting of
five members of the Council, who should make the
circuit of the Northern Circars, and collect informa-
tion of all those circumstances in the state of the
country which government is chiefly interested in
knowing; and after this information should be
gained, to take the proper steps for letting the lands
during a term of years, on principles similar to those
on which the lands had been let in Bengal. Respect-
ing the jaghire, which the Nabob hitherto had rented
under the allegation, that the appearance, presented
to the people of the country, of the exemption of any
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part of his dominions from his immediate jurisdiction, BOOK V.
would be injurious to his authority ; the Directors
declared their dissatisfaction with the present arrange- 1775-
ment, their determination to take the lands under
their own control, unless the Nabob should submit
to their conditions ; and they directed their servants
in the mean time to let them to him, only from year
to year.!

Lord Pigot resumed the office of Governor of Fort
St. George on the 11th of December, 1775. ¢ Upon
my arrival,” says his Lordship, <1 found a general
reform was necessary in the settlement, to preserve
the Company from ruin.”* A * general reform” has
many enemies; and those, for the most part, very
powerful ones. The injunctions of the Directors.
were to proceed immediately to the restoration of the
. Raja of Tanjore. It was, however, agreed that the
communication should be made with all delicacy to
the Nabob, to whom it was known that it would he
unpleasing in the highest possible degree. There
was no expedient to which Oriental artifice could
have recourse, which the Nabob left untried to ward
off the blow. He endeavoured to make it appear
that he had an undoubted right to the possession of
Tanjore; he magnified the merit of his services and
attachment to the Company; he enlarged upon the
disaffection of the Raja; he claimed the support
which the letter of the King of England, brought by
Sir John Lindsay, had promised him; he deprecated
the policy adopted by the Company, of doing onething

! Geperal Letter to Fort 8t. George, 18th April, 1775; pupers, ut suprs,
P- 153—159.
* Lord Pigot's Nairative, &c.; Defance of Lord Pigot, p. 83.
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BOOK V.by their servants in India, and the very reverse by
their Directors in England, and declared that he was
1776 unable to understand them in this double capacity.
He tried the tone of humility, he tried that of au-
dacity. He sought to affect their sympathy by re-
minding them of the many Englishmen to whom he
was indebted, and whom, if stripped of Tanjore, he
would be less able to pay : and of that confidence in
their honour with which he had placed his residence,
and that of his family, under the guns of Fort St.
George. - He offered to place an English garrison in
the fort of Tanjore; and only entreated, that the
country might not be taken out of his hands, till the

Company, who had proceeded upon partial informa
tion should decide upon what he had to suggest.

- The Council availed themselves of his offer to
admit an English garrison into the fort of Tanjore ;
because it enabled them at once to set the Raja at
liberty, and guard his person. But they showed the
Nabob that the commands of the Directors were pe-
remptory in regard to the time of the restoration, and
left them no liberty to grant the delay for which he
applied. It seems to have been the expectation of
the principal military officer belonging to the Pre-
sidency, Sir Robert Fletcher, that he should be the
person by whom the immediate business of restoring

- the Raja should be performed. But when the Pre-
sident signified his intention of proceeding for that
purpese to Tanjore in person, the Council voted
unanimously, that the business should be placed in
his hands; and as the crop was on the ground, and
the harvest approaching, that no time should be lost
in giving possession of the country to the Raja.




THE BAJA OF TANJORE RESTORED.

Sir Robert Fletcher, however, though he bad
joined in the vote for sending the President, proposed
another for sending along with him two other mem-
bers, under express and particular instructions of the
Board ; declaring that without this condition he
would not have assented to the vote in favour of the
President; that the Board were not justified in the
delegation of undefined and unlimited powers, except
in a case of extreme necessity : and that, if this mea-
sure were drawn into a precedent, the effect would
be, to serve the corrupt interests of individuals at the
expense of the public. 'The proposal was rejected by
a majority of the Council; but the President took
with him by choice two members of the Council, and
one of them a person who bhad voted for the depu-
tation.

Lord Pigot set out on the 30th of Mareh, and ar-
rived at Tanjore on the 8th of April. On the 11th
the restoration of the Raja was proclaimed. Io-
stead of employing the troops of the Company to.do
nothing more than garrison the fort of Tanjore, the
president got the Raja to request that they might
be employed for the protection of the whole country.

And instead of assigning revenue barely to defray their.

expenses, to save the trouble and dispute which
accounts are apt to produce, he offered to give a neat
sum to cover all expenses; namely, four lacs of pa-
godas & year. On the 5th of May, Lord Pigot re-
turned to Madras, and having laid before the Council
a copious diary of his proceedings, with all the docu=
ments which belonged to them, received a vote of
approbation, which, with regard to the general mea~
SUTes, Was Unanimous,
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BOOK V. Mr. Paul Benfield was a servant of the Company
in the civil department, and as yet in one of the
1778.  Jowest situations. He had betaken himself to more
lucrative functions, than the duties of his office; and
had become not only a favourite of the Nabob, but
the principal agent, in what was at that time one of
the first concerns in the settlement, the lending of
money.

It appears that Mr. Benfield gave to Lord Pigot a
general intimation of certain interests which he held
in Tanjore, before the departure of that Lord for the
restoration of the Raja, and received from bim a
general disavowal of any intention to injure his
rights. Immediately after the restoration of the
Raja was proclaimed, a letter from Mr. Benfield was
delivered to Lord Pigot at Tanjore, in which he
stated, that for money lent to the Nabob he had
asgignments upon the revenues of Tanjore, to the
amount of 405,000 pagodas, equal to 162,000 ;
and for money lent to individuals in Tanjore, assign-
ments upon the present crop to the amount of
180,000 pagodas, equal to 72,000 ; making toge-
ther the immense sum of 234,000l lent by a junior
servant of the Company, with a salary of a few
hundred pounds a-year, and who was conspicuous,
among other things, for keeping the finest carriages
and horses at Madras. -

Lord Pigot replied, that, in a case like this, he
could do nothing more than lay the circumstances
before the Board. Mr. Benfield expressed dissatis-
faction that the powers of government were not
immediately exerted to procure him all that he
desired; and he wrote to the Council, expressing
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his confidence that they would afford him * assist- 8005 v
ance to recover his property, while the nght
Honourable President, under their commission, 1776
remained in suthority over those countries.” Certain
Members of the Board were for proceeding imme-
diately to consider the claims of Mr. Benfield. The
majority, however, decided, that the consideration
should be postponed till Lord Pigot’s return.

A few days after the return of Lord Pigot to the
Board, the application of Mr. Benfield was appointed
for the subject of deliberation. Mr. Benfield was
called upon for particulars and vouchers; but vouchers
Mr. Benfield was unable to produce. The trans-
actions, he said, were registered in the books of the
Cutcherry ; and the Nahob would acknowledge them.
As for the books of the Cutcherry, they were never
produced; and as for the acknowledgment of the
Nabob, there were two questions; one whether the
assignments of the Nahob, if the debts were real,
gave any right to the revenues of Tanjore, now
restored to the Raja; another, whether the whole,
demand and scknowledgment, .taken together, were
not a collusion between the Nabob and Benfield ;
a studied fraud upon the Company and the Raja.
For the debts, said to be due from individuals,
which, in the specification, had dwindled down to
30,000 pagodas, there was nothing to give but the
word of Mr. Benfield himself, After due consider-
ation a majority of the Board eame to the following
decision: “ That the Raja of Tanjore, being put in
full possession and management of his country by
the Company’s express orders, it is the opinion of the
Board that it is not in their power to comply with
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BOOK V. Mr. Benfield’s request in any respect, those claims

CHAP. 4,

1776.

on individuals, which bear the appearance of having
no connexion with government, not being sufficiently
explained to enable the Board to form an opinion
thereon, and the assignments of the Nabob not
being admissible.”

This resolution was passed on the 29th of May.
On the 3d of June Mr. Brooke, one of the majority
who had thrown out the claims of Mr. Benfield,
entered a minute, in which he stated, that supposing
Mr. Benfield to have demanded the assistance of the
Council, he had voted against him; if he had then,
as now, understood that he only requested their
assistance, he would have voted for bim; he, there~
fore, moved, that the Board should reconsider their
vote on the claims of Mr. Benfield; and gave his
opinion, that the crop on the ground, at the time of
the restoration of the Raja, was by the Company
meant to belong the Nabob. The vote for recon-
sideration was supported by the majority. On the
13th of June, the subject being resumed, a motion
was made by Lord Pigot, that the vote of the 29th of
May should be confirmed; it was negatived by a
majority of seven to five. On the following day
Lord Pigot was proceeding to move that ** all the
claims of Mr. Benfield were private and not public
concerns,” when a member of the Council claimed a
right to priority. The claim of the member was™
founded upon the notice which he had given the
preceding day of his intention to put certain motions.
The claim of Lord Pigot was founded upon the
custom of the Presidency, corroborated by con-
venience, that the President should possess the
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initiation of business. _The claims were put to the BOOX'V.
vote, when the question was decided in favour of the
member; and he moved, that the crop sown during 1776
the time of the Nahob’s possession be declared the
Nabob’s property, his assignments on it, therefore,
good; and that the Raja should be instructed to
respect and to restore, if they had been disturbed,
the pledges in corn which were held by Mr. Benfield.
When all this was voted, the question of the
President, whether the claims of Mr. Benfield were
private or public, was. finally considered. The
majority thought them; * so far as they regard
Mr. Benfield, private claims; so far as they regard
the Nabob's assignments to Mr. Benfield, public.”
- The following point was agitated next. On the
28th of June, the President opened a proposal for
establishing a factory at Tanjore. - A motion to this
effect was rejected by the majority on the Sth of
July. As he could not obtain a factory, the Pre-
sident supposed that a resident would be useful. He
moved that Mr. Russel, a member of the Council,
. and a closely connected friend of his own, should be
appointed resident at Tanjore, and this was carried
‘without much opposition. .
Velore was the principal military station in the
Carnatic, as a frontier fortress, in the line of invasion
both to Hyder and the Mahrattas ; it was therefore
provided with the greatest number of troops, and
regularly, as the post of honour, assigned to the
officer second in command.. Colonel Stuart, the
officer second in command, thought proper to con-
sider Tanjore, where a small rumber only of troops
were required, as at this time the military station of
 VOL. IV, K
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principal importance in the province; he therefore
claimed it as his right, and that claim the majority
sustained.

Though liberty had been. restored to the Raja,
and his rights proclaimed, much was yet to be done
to put the administration of the country fully in his
hands. The struggle between the President and the
majority in the Council now was, whether Colonel
Stuart, who would manage the business agreeably to
the views of the majority, or Mr. Russel, who would
manage it agreeably to the views of the President,
should have the opportunity of placing the adminis-
tration in the hands of the Raja.

Mr, Russel was one of the gentlemen named by
the Court of Directors to form one of the Committee
of Circuit to explore the Cirears ; and this Committee
was directed to proceed upon its mission, as soon as
the fina] settlement of affairs in Tanjore should be
effected. The majority laid hold of this circumstance ;
and voted, as well for theimmediate departure of the
Committee to the northern Circars, as that of Colonel
Stuart to his command in Tanjore. The President
imsisted, that neither was there any necessity for
precipitating the departure of the Committee, nor
was the business of Tanjore settled ; that the Raja,
who believed that the interests which had dethroned
him were now triumphant, and those which restored
him overthrown, was in a state of apprehension
bordering upon despair. He proposed that, for the
termination of this unfortunate struggle, two members
of the Board, who were stationed at the out-gettle-
ments, and were not involved in the disputes, should
be summoned to sttend. This proposition was



CONTEST BETWEEN THE COUNCIL AND GOVERNOX. 131

rejected. The President offered to be satisfied, if BOOK e
Mr. Russel was allowed to go to Tanjore for only a
few days, to preserve the appearance of consistency in 1776
the proceedings of the Council, and to quiet the
alarms of the Raja. This too was rejected.

Hitherto the proceedings of both parties, whatever
name they may deserve in point of wisdom or virtue,
were regular in point of form. Only one alternative
now remained for Lord Pigot; the majority was
either to be obeyed, or their authority was to be
resisted. Lord Pigot resolved to resist, and the
raethod which he pursued was as follows:

He assumed that the President was an integrant
part of the Council ; that it was not competent to
perform ‘any acts of government without him; and
that he had a right to withhold his concurrence from
any propositions which the majority might urge.
This was pretty nearly the same doctrine which had
suggested itself to Mr. Hastings in Bengal ; but the
practical application was somewhat different.

On the 19th of August, it was moved that a copy
of instructions for Colonel Stuart, prepared by the
tommanding officer, should be taken into considera-
tion. The President declared that he would not put
the question. The obstruction presented a question
of importance ; snd the majority resolved to adjourn.
The following day the Council assembled, and the
same motion was made. The President declared
that he would not allow the question to be agitated
at the Board. The majority, pevertheless, approved
of the instructions, and prepared the draught of a
letter to the officer at Tanjore, directing him to
deliver over the command of the garrison to Colonel

K 2
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BOOR V.Stuart. The President declared that he would sign
~——— neither ; affirmed that without his signature they
1776.  could have no authority, and warned his opponents to
desist. The minds of the majority were yet embar-
rassed, and they adjourned the Council for two days.
On the 22d of August, the day on which they first
assembled, the majority produced a minute, in which
they deny that the concurrence of the President is
necessary to constitute an act of government; affirm
that the vote of the majority constitutes an act of
government; and that it tends to subvert the con-
stitution, for the President to refuse either to put a
question, or to carry into execution the decisions of
the majority. The President proposed, that questions
of so much importance should be left to the decision
of their honourable masters:; and that here, till their
pleasure should be known, both parties should allow
the matter to rest.

This, too, was not agreeable to the wishes of the
majority. They came to a resolution, that, as the
President would not sign the instructions to Colonel
Stuart, and the letter to the officer at Tanjore, a
letter should be written to the Secretary, directing
him to sign them in the name of the Council, and
transmit them as authoritative instruments of govern-
ment to the parties addressed.

The letter was written, and approved by all the
gentlemen of the majority. They began to sign it
in order, and two of them had already written their
names, when Lord Pigot took, or snatched it out of
the hand of the man who held it. He then took a
paper out of his pocket, and said he had a charge to
present ‘against two members of the Board, and
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named the two who had just signed the letter which BOOK ¥-
he had snatched.! The accusation was, that by sign-
ing orders to the Secretery to give instructions to 77
Colonel Stuart, they had been guilty of an act, sub-
versive of the authority of goverriment, and tending
to introduce anarchy, By the standing orders of the
Company, any member of the Council, against whom
a charge was preferred, was not allowed to deliberate
or vote on any of the questions relating to the charge.
When the two accused members were excluded, the
President had a majority by his own casting vote. It
was therefore voted to suspend the members in
question, and then the President had a permanent
majority. After the vote of suspension, the Council
adjourned to the following day, which was the 23d.
The gentlemen of the, former majority forbore to
attend ; but they sent by a public notary a protest,
in which, beside denouncing the principal act of the
following day, they, as the majority of the Board,
declare themselves the governing bedy, and claim
the obedience of the settlement. This protest was
sent by the same agency to the commanders of his
Majesty's troops, and to all persons holding any
authority at Madras. In consequence of what he
deemed so great an outrage, Lord Pigot summoned
the Council again to meet at four o’clock, when they
passed a vote, suspending the whole of the members

' It would appear from this account that Lord Pigot had come prepared
with the charge, in anticipation of what would happen; but a perticular
narrative of the transaction, written by Mr. Floyer, one of the majority, to
Mr. Orme, mentions, that whilst the lettar was being written the President
retired from the Council to his ¢wn apartment, and aftor a short interval

returned. It was in thia interval that he prepared his cln.rge Orme
Papers, No. 171.—W, .
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who had signed the protest, and ordered Sir Robert
Fletcher, the commanding officer, to be put under
arrest, and tried by a court martial.

The opponents were not behind in violence. They
speedily assembled, declared themselves 2 Council
vested with all the powers of government, and
resolved to arrest the person of Lord Pigot, and
confer the command of the army, Six Robert Fletcher
being ill, on Colonel Stuart.! The task of perform-
ing the arrest of Lord Pigot was devolved on the
Colonel, who, by acquiescence, had accepted from
him the command of the army. The greater part of
the next day, the 24th, the Colonel passed in com-
pany, or in business, with his Lordship ; breakfasted
with him as well as dined ; and having accepted an
invitation to sup at his house, and made his arrange-
ments to arrest him by the way, was in the carriage
of Lord Pigot along with him, when it was surrounded
and stopped by the troops.

As the point, for which all this confusion was
created, was the extremely minute one, whether Mr.
Russel should or should not go for a few days to
Tanjore, it is not easy to believe, that something
of importance did not remain. at the bottom,
which it was not the interest of the parties to
disclose. One thing is certain, that the parties, and

' In examining aflerwards the conduct of the parties, » question wes
raised about the time of this resolution to arrest Lord Pigot. It appeared
to have been taken, before the violence of Lond Pigot, in suspending the
whole of the majority, and ordering the arrest of Sir Bobert Fletcher.
Bot the affidavits of the parties, who were prosecuted in England for the
imprisoument of Lord Figot, and which afidavits were not contradicted,

mmmmaw,mmmmamm
the source of the evror; and thzt 8 o"clock, and Bot 3 p. m. was the time

at which the resolution of the majority was taken.



LORD PIGOT ARRESTED. 135

they had the best means of information, cast the most BOOK v. -
odious imputations upon one ancther, and charged —

the most corrupt and dishonourable motives.? They 777-
were accused of desiring to have an opportunity of
enriching themselves, the one party by sharing in

the revenues of the Raja, the other by sharing in

those of the Nabob.® The party who espoused the

L ]

' The real character of the conteat it is not difficult to comprehend. It
Iay between the Raja of Tanjore and the Nawab, the latter never relin-
quishing his pretensions to the supremscy over the former, or his desire to
get possesaion of the Revennes of Tanjore, the former maintaining his
claim to independence. Compelled by the orders of the Court to abstain
from the open assertion of his pretensions, the Nawab did all that he conld
10 embarrass the procesdings of those intrusted with powers favourable to
the canse of the Raja, and he found & strong party to adopt his sentiments
with even more violence than himself, Ob the other hand Lord Pigot and
hist adherents were equally intemperate in their support of the Raja; and,
not content with effecting hin restoration, treated the Nabob with indignity,
threatening to remove him to Arcot, or place a guard upon his palace, and
interdicting all communication between him and his friends in the service
of the Company. These feelings of parlisanship were no doubt exncer-
bated by interested motives : many of the Nawab’a supporlers and friends
were his creditors to & very large amount, to that of nearly s million and a
bLalf sterling, snd they could not be expected to view with indifference the
loas of the revenues of Tanjore, wpon which they had calculated for s
considerabls proportion of their security; that a few of them had corrupt
inducements in advoeating the Nawab's cause is very possible; and itis
difficult to believe that Lord Pigot’s personal visit to Tanjore, or the
struggle for the office of Besident at that Court, was free from all wish to
benefit by substantial proofs of the Raja’s gratitude, Jn proportion as the
dispute continued it included & greater number of peruons, until it compre-
hended most of the settlement of Madras; and the parties principally
engaged in il were urged to exiremitics by the passions of their adherents
as well as their own. That ths insubordinate members of the Council
intended the desth of Lord Pigot was sn sbeurd sccusation, which,
although resting on the verdict of a Coroner’s inquest in Madras, was
wholly untenable and unproven. The catastrophe, however, contributed,
with the orders of the Court, to terrify all parties into temperance, &s at
an early period after the receipt of these orders the Committee report that
digsousion had ceased. Genersl Letter from Madms, 5th Peb. 1777—W.

® Admiral Pigot declared, in the House of Commons, that his brothes
had been offered ten lacks of pagodas, and afterwards fifleen, a bribe,
amounting to about 600,0004. of Epglish money, anly to defer, and that
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BOOK JV.views of the Nabob secem to have been afraid, after
the extremities on ‘which they had ventured, to carry
1777 their own resolutions into effect. They had voted
that the crop which was on the ground at the time
of the restoration belonged to the Nabob, and ought
to follow the assignments he had made; yet the Raja
was not disturbed in the possession of it ;' and the
debts, real or fictitious, to Benfield, remained at the
end of their administration still undischarged.’

They proceeded to the further violence of suspend-
ing all those members of the Council, who had voted
with the President; but it does not appear that any
harshness attended his confinement, or that he was
not indulged with every freedom, consistent with the
means necessary to prevent his resuming his place in

‘the government.

When intelligence was brought to England of the
violent act of the Council of Madras, it excited among
the members of the Company, and still more in the
nation at large, both surprise and indignation. In
the Court of Directors, the party who defended, or
at any rate attempted to apologize for the authors of
the late revolution, were nearly equal to the party
by whom they were condemned. But in a Court of
Proprietors held on the 26th of March, 1777, a re-

for a short and specified time, the reinstatement of the Rajs. See Par-
lismentary History, for the 16¢h of April, 1779, and Dodsley’'s Acnual
! The claim was not abandoned, bowever, and in the beginning of 1777
avort of compromise was effected with the Raja, who alihough he refused
bldm-idgmhnndm&hmm»depﬂhm
Company’s Treasary 4 iacks of Pagodss, 160,000, to awsit the Conrt’s
disposal. Only ome fourth of this was realized at & date considersbly
subsequent to the agreement. M S. BEecords —W.
- * Sec their afidavit, Howell's Btate Triak, xxi. 1236,
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solution’ was passed by a majority of 382 to 140, in BOOK V.
which it was recommended to the Court of Directors
to take the most effectual measures for restoring Lord - 1777-
Pigot to the full exercise of his authority, and for
inquiring into the conduct of the principal actors in
his imprisonment. In consequence of this proceeding
it was, on the 11th of April, carried by a casting
vote, in the Court of Directors, that Lord Pigot and
his friends should be restored to the situations from
which they bad been improperly removed ; that seven
members of the Council, including the Commander
in Chief, who were declared to have subverted the
government by a military force, should be suspended
from the service, and not restored without the imme-
diate act of the Directors. But a vote of censure
wag at the same time passed on Lord Pigot, whose
conduct in several instances was pronounced worthy
of blame. The means were not yet exhausted of
defeating this turn of affairs. Not only were impe-
diments accumulated, and placed in the way; but a
fresh set of revolutions were brought forward, im-
porting the recall of both parties, as the only mode of
accomplishing that fundamental investigation which
the importance of the occasionrequired. These pro-
positions, in favour of which the ministers were sup-
posed to have exerted all their influence, were voted
by a majority of 414 to 317, in a General Court on
the 9th of May. The attention of Parliament was
also attracted. Governor Johnstone, who was dis-
tinguished for the part which he had taken in dis-
cussions relative to Indian affairs, moved, on the 224
of the same month, a series of resolutions, highly
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approving the conduct of Pigot, and the measures
which had been pursued for his restoration, while
they condemned the proceedings of his enemies, and
the motion for his recall. Almost all the questions
of the Englich policy, relating to the affairs of the
Carnatic, underwent discussion in a long and ani-
mated debate; which was closed by a vote of no
more, notwithstanding ministerial influence, than
ninety to sixty-seven, against the resolutions.

After these proccedings, a commission was pre-
pared under the Company’s seal, bearing date the
10th of June, 1777, by which Lord Pigot was re-
stored fo his office; but he was at the same time
directed, within one week after the despatch of the
first ship, which, subsequent to the date of his res-
toration, should proceed from Madras, to deliver over
the government to his successor; and either by that
ship, or the first that should follow, to take his
passage to England. The members of the Council
who had concurred in displacing Lord Pigot were re-
called; and the military officers, who had been chiefly
instrumental in executing the arrest and confine-
ment, were ordered to be tried by courts martial on
the spot. Till inquiry should be made into the conduct
of both parties in the recent scenes, when it would be
seen which of the actors might deserve, and which
might not deserve to be removed from the ' service,
the Directors thought proper to form a temporary
government ; in which Sir Thomas Rumbold, after
the departure of Lord Pigot, was to succeed to the
chair; John Whitehill to be second in council ; and
Major General Hector Munro, Commander of the



PEOCEEDINGS AGAINST THE AUTHORS OF THE ARREST, 139

Forces, to be third, without the power of any further BoOK ¥.
advancement. :
Before these orders were received. in India, Lord 1777
Pigot had passed beyond the reach of honour or
disgrace. His constitution, worn out by age, and
the operation of a hostile climate, sunk under the in-
activity of his situation, and the painful feelings
which preyed upon his mind, after a confinement of
sgmewhat more than eight months, Mr. Whitehill
reached Madras on the 31st of August, 1777, and
being the senior in council, acted as President and
Governor till the 8th of February following, when
Sir Thomas Rumbold arrived.®

' Nothing was ever made of the inguiry. In October, 1788, the Go-
vernment of Madras informed the Court that they found insuperable
difficulties in obtaining information on which dependence conld be placed.
An advertissment had been published inviting persons to depose om oath -
what they knew of the corruption of the parties; none had come forward.
Application to the Raje and the Nawab was considered inexpedient, as
they were not likely to state any thing to the discredit of their friends.
Trial of the officers by Court Martial was held to be illegal, as Bo military
offence had been committed; they had all acted under the orders of the
superior suthorities. The chief civil servents concerned in the affair
returned to England and remasined there, the others crept back agnin into
the service. Colonel Stuart afterwards commanded the army, and the
military were employed at the siege of Pondicherry. Amidst the public
events that soon onsued, all miner irregularities were forgotien.—~W.

® Becond Report of the Committes of Secrecy, 1781 ; and Parliamen-
tary History, 1777, 1779, 1780; Btate of Facts relative to Tanjore, printed
for Cadell, 1777 ; Tanjore Papers, printed for Cadell, 1777; Lord Pigot's
Narrative, with Notes of Mr. Dalrymple, &c.; Defence of Lord Pigot,
drawn up by Mr, Lind ; Case of the President and Council, fairly stated,
&o. Almon, 1777; Proceedings agninst George Stratton and others (in
Howell’s Biate Trials, vol. xxi.); Hist. and Mansgement of the East Indis
Company; Considerstions on the Conquest uf Tanjore, and the Restora-
tion of the Haja. The iwo last, both by the agents of the Nabob, were
published by Cadoll, in 1777. Geauine Memoirs of Asiaticus, in o series
of letters to & friond, during five years’ residence in different parts of Indis,
three of which were spent in the aervice of the Nabob of Arcot. By
Philip Donner Stanhope, Bag., p. 123-—142,
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Once more the subject was taken up by the
House of Commons. On the 16th of April, 1779,
Admiral Pigot, the brother of the deceased Governor,
began the discussion with a history of the transac-
tions which had led to the deposition of Lord Pigot,
and with the heaviest charges against the actors in
that scene: After which he moved a series of resolu-
tions, affirming the principal facts; affirming also
that orders had been given to hold courts-martial for
the trial of the principal military officers engaged in
the crime, and directing an address to his Majesty
for the prosecution, by the Attorney-General, of four
of the members of the Council, who had returned to
England. The resolutions gave rise to considerable
debate ; but were finally adopted. Proceedings in
the courts of law were immediately commenced ;
and on the 20th of December, the four members
were tried for a misdemeanour, before a special jury ;
and found guilty. When brought up for judgment,
a fine of 1000/, was imposed upon each. To men
of their fortunes, this was a punishment hardly to
be felt: Such is the difference, in the minds of
English judges, between the crime of deposing the
head of a government abroad, and that of writing a
censure upon one of the instruments of government
at home."

When the northern circars were first delivered into
the hands of the Company, it was judged expedient
to govern the country for a time in the manver which
was already established. The Circars of Raja-
mundry, Ellore, and Condapilly, were consigned,

] Pl-rlilm,!ihtuy,nl,n; Howell's State Trials, vol. xxi.
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under a lease of three years, to: a native, named BOOK V.
Hussun Ali Khan, who bad previously governed
them, under the Nizam, with the state and authority 1777
of a viceroy. 'The remaining Circar of Cicacole was
placed under a similar administration, but in the
hands of a separate deputy.

A change was introduced in 1760. Adminis-
tration by the agency of natives was discontinued;
and the Circars were placed under the charge of
Provincial Chiefs and Councils, a title and form
which at that period the commercial factories were
made to assume. Under the Chief and Council,
formerly the Factory, of Masulipatam, were placed
the districts of Condapilly, Rajamundry, and Ellore,
The Chief and Council of Vizagapatam received in
charge the southern parts of Cicacole; and at
Ganjam, where the factory had been discontinued, a
new establishment was made of a chief and council
for those affairs of the country which could be most
conveniently ruled from that as a centre. To these
provincial boards, the financial, judicial, and, in -
ghort, the whole civil and political administration of
the country, was consigned.

The disappointment in their expectations of pecu-
niary supply from the northern circars, as from their
other dominions, and the sense which they enter-
tained of the defects of the existing administration,
had recommended to the Court of Directors the
formation of the Committee of Circuit. This Com-
mittee were directed, by personal inspection, and
inquiry upon the spot, to ascertain with all possible
exactness, the produce, the population, and manu-
factures of the country; the extent and sources of
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the vevenue; the mode and expense of its eollection;
the state of the administration of justice; how far
the financial and judicial regulations which had been
mtrodured in Bengal were applicable in the Circars;
what was the econdition of the forts;: and the eircum-
stances of the Zemindars o Rajas; what the ouli-
tary force of each; the expenses both of his army
and household ; and the means which he possessed
of defraying thems. The Directors declared it to be
their ntention to let the lands, after the expiration
of the present lemses, for a term of years, as in
Bengal; not, however, to deprive the hereditary

" Zemindars of their neome; but leave them an

eptiom, either to take the kands which had belonged
te them, under an equitable valuation, or te retire
upon a pension. They avowed, at the same time,
the design of taking the military power into their
ewn hands, and of preventimg the Zemindars from
mamtaiming those bodies of troops, with which
they were perpetually enabled to endanger the peace
and security of the state.

Within a few days after the deposition of Lord
FPigot, the new Governor and Council drew up the
mstructions of the Committee, and sent them to the
discharge of their dnties. They had made some pro-
gress m thewr inquiries ; when Sir Thomas Bambolkl
took the reins of government at Madrag, in February,
18t

In Council, on the 24th of March, the Governor
represented, that on aceouns of the diminution in the
mumber of members, it was now inconvenient, if not
' Fifth Bepomt of the Committes of the House of Commons, 161,
Sexond Repert, Commutton of Servery, 1781  App. Na. 153.
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impossible, to spare a sufficient number ‘from the BOOK V.
Council to form the Commitiee ; that the Committee -
was attended with very great expense; that all the 1778
ends which were proposed to be served by it might
be still more effectually accomplished if the Zemin-
dars were sent for, the desired information obtained
from the Zemindars, and the jummabundy, or sche-
dule of rent, settled with them at the seat of govern-
ment; that by this expedient the Zemindars would
be made to feel more distinctly their dependence
upon the government, both for punishment and pro-
tection ; that intrigues, and the pursuit of private, at
the expense of public interests, which might be ex-
pected in the Circars, would be prevented at Madras;
and that an indefinite amount of time would be saved.
For these reasons be moved, that the Committee of
Circuit should be suspended, and that in future the
annual rent of the districts should be settled at the
Presidency, to which the Zemindars should, for that
purpose,be ordered to repair. The Council acquiesced
in his reasons, and without further dehberatmn the
measure was decreed.

: Assoon as this intelligence reached the Zemmdm,
they were thrown into the greatest comsternation.
It was expressly urged by the provincial councils on
the spot, that the Zemindars were in general poor,
and hardly able to support their families with any
appearance of dignity; that many of them were
altogether unable to defray the expense of a distant
journey, and of a residence for any considerable time
at the seat of government; that the greater part of
them were in debt, and in arrears to the Company ;
that they must borrow money, to enable them to
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BOOK V.undertake the journey, and still further incapacitate
themselves for fulfilling their engagements ; that their
178 ghsence would greatly augment the confusions of the
country, obstructing both the collection of the re-
venue, and the preparation of theé investment; and
that some of them laboured under the weight of so
many years, and so many bodily infirmities, as to
render the journey wholly impracticable.’
The President and Council persevered in their
-original design ; and a considerable number of the
Zemindars were brought to Madras. Of the circum-
stances which followed, it ia pecessary that a few
should be pointed out. Ineverycasethe Governoralone
negotiated with the Zemindars, and regulated their
payments ; in no case did he lay the grounds of his
treaty before the Council ; in every case the Council,
without inquiry, acquiesced in his decrees. Of all
the Zemindars in the Northern Circars, the most im-
portant was Vizeram Raz, the Raja of Vizanagaram,
whose territorv had the extent of a considerable
kingdom, and whose power had hitherto held the
Company in awe. The character of the Raja was
voluptuousness and sloth ; but along with this he was
mild and equitable. Sitteram Réz, his brother, was

. ¥ Of thixty-one Zemindars summoned t0 Madraa, thirteen did mot cbey
the summons, por was their presence enforced. On those who came no
great hardship was inflicted, and the sccounts of the alarm and distress
which the order crested are no doubt much exagremated, ss the aarange-
ment withdrew, in some degiee, the Zemindars from the inflnence of the
provineial authoritien, and deprived thems of the valusble Nuzrum, or
presents which they admitted they were in the practice of receiving. The
exnctions 8t the Fregidency were probably wore moderaie than those in
the provinces. The seitlements made with them were not waTessomable
mor injndicions. Mirntes of Bridence in the case of Sir J. Rombold, p.
208, et seq.—W.
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a man who possessed in a high degree the talents BOOE V.
and vices of a Hindu. He was subtle, patient, full
of application, intriguing, deceitful, stuck at mo 7%
atrocity in the pursuit of his ends, and was stained
with the infamy of numerous erimes. Sitteram Raz
had so encroached upon the facility and weakness
of his brother as to have transferred to himself the
principal power in the province. The yoke, how-
ever, which he had placed upon the neck of the Raja
was galling, and sustained with great uneasiness.
Jaggernaut Riz, a connexion of the family, united
by marriage with the Raja, who had superintended
the details of government, as Dewan, or financial
minister, and was universally respected as a man of
understanding and virtue, had been recently deprived
of his office, through the machinations of Sitteram
Riz! The points which required adjustment between
Vizeram Réz and the Company had suggested a
use, or afforded a pretext, for. calling him to.the
Presidency before Sir Thomas Rumbeld. arrived.
Against this order he remonstrated, on the ground
of his poverty, and of the detriment to his affairs
which absence would induce. He offered to settle
with the Council at Vizagapatam for any reasonable
tribute or rent; and complained of his brother
Sitteram Raz, whom he described as engaged in

' The charasters given of both thess persons aro unwarratted by the
evidence or correspondence adduced. Sitaram’s atrocity and Jagannath's
virtue are both gratnitous. ‘They were both men of ability, and equally so
of intrigue, they were both competitors for the control of Vizeram, and
the management of the Zemindari, and both equally unscrupulous in taking
advantage of every favourable opportunity to provide for their own
interests. 1f any preferetioe might be claimed for either, it seems to have
been dos o Bitaram.—W.

YOL. IV. L
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machinations for his ruin, Sitteram had obeyed the
very first summons to repair to Madras, and had
negotiated successfully for the farm of one principal
division of the lands. He carried another point of
still greater importance ; which was to receive from
the Presidency the appointment of Dewan to the
Raja. To this regulation the Raja manifested
the greatest aversion. The President addressed him
in the following words ; * We are convinced that it
is a measure which your own welfare and the
interest of the Company render indispensably ne-
cessary. But should you continue obstinately to
withstand the pressing instances that have re-
peatedly been made to you by the Board, con-
junctively as well as separately, we shall be under
the necessity of taking such resolutions as will in all

'probability be extremely painful to you, but which,

being once passed, can never be recalled.” To this
Vizeram Raz made the following answer: I “ shall
consider myself henceforward as divested of all power
and consequence whatever, secing that the Board
urge me to do that which is contrary to my fixed
determination, and that the result of it is to be the
losing of my country.” The reason which was urged
by the President for this arbitrary proceeding was,
the necessity of having a man of abilities to preserve
the order of the country, and ensure the revenues.
The Court of Directors, however, say, in their ge-
neral letter to the Presidency of Madras, dated the
10th of January, 1781, “ Our surprise and concern
were great, on observing the very injurious treatment
which the ancient Raja of Vizianagaram received’
at the Presidency; when, deaf to his representations
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and entreaties, you, in the most arbitrary and un-Bfn‘:f G

warrantable manner, appointed his ambitious and
intriguing brother, Sitteram Raz, Dewan of the
Circar, and thereby put him in possession of the re-
venues of his elder brother, who had just informed
you that he sought his ruin : For however necessary
it might be to adopt measures for securing payment
of the Company’s tribute, no circumstance, except
actual and avowed resistance of the Company’s au-
thority, could warrant such treatment of the Raja."?
And in one of the resolutions which was moved in the
House of Commons by Mr. Dundas, afterwards
Lord Melville, on the 25th of April, 1782, it was
declared, “ That the Governor and majority of the
Council of Fort St. George did by menaces and
barsh treatment, compel Vizeram Raz, the Raja of
Visianagrum, to employ Sitteram Raz as the Dewan
or Manager of his Zemindary, in the room of Jag-
gernaut, a man of probity and good character; that
the compulsive menaces made use of towards the
Raja, and the gross ill-treatment which he received
at the Presidency, were humiliating, unjust, and eruel
in themselves, and highly derogatory to the interests
of the East India Company, and to the honour
of the British nation.”

Nor was this the only particular in which the
Presidency and Council contributed to promote the
interest and gratify the ambition of Sitteram Raz,
They not only prevailed upon the Raja to be recon-
ciled to his brother; they confirmed his adoption of
that brother's son; and * agreed,” say the Secret

1778.

! Beoond Report, Committea of Secrecy, 1781 ; Appendix, No. 153.
L2
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Committee of the House of Commons, * that all
under-leases should for the future be made in the
adopted Raja’s name; that his name should be used
in all acts of government; and that Sitteram Raz
his father, who was in reality to enjoy the power,
should be accepted of by the Board as a security for
this young man.™

In the opinion of the Directors, even this was not
all. They accused the Presidency of underselling
the lands by a corrupt connivance with Sitteram Raz.
« The report,” they said, * of the Committee of Cir-
cuit, and the positive evidence of Sitteram Raz, war-
rant us in asserting that more than double the amount
of the tribute for which you have agreed, might and
ought to have been obtained for the Company. We
are in possession,” they add, “ of one fact, which, so
far as it extends, seems to convey an idea, that the
Zemindars have been abused, and their money mis-
applied at the Presidency.”*

The Directors alluded to the following fact; that
Mr. Redhead, private secretary to Sir Thomas Rum-
bold, the Governor, had actually received from
Sitteram Raz a bond for one lae of rupees, on con-

' S8econd Report, Commiittee of Seerecy, 1781 ; p. 16.—M. As Vizeram
was childless, bis adoption of his sephew was in strict conformity to Hindu
law; the Council of Madras conld not choose but concoxr ta it.  That the
reconcilistion between ihe brothers, however exforced, was pernmaent,
and productive of good effects, was satisfaciorily shown by its resuits.
It was effected in July, 1778 The Chief of Vizagapatam, Mr. Cassmajor
from June, 1780 to March, 1762, deposes, thst during (hat period the
brothers lived in perfect harmony, Bilaram being dewan ; that the revennes
eoliected at all if the brothers had been ot varisnce. Whatever, therefore,
the indocemsents may have beem, this transsction did not deserve the
cenmure cast wpon it W,

? See Letter of 10tk of Jaumary, 1751, quoted above.
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dition of his services in procuring for the donor the BOOK Y.
dewanship of the Zemindary, a reconciliation with
his brother, a confirmation of his son’s adoption, the 8.
Zemindary of Ancapilly, and the -fort of Vizinaga-
ram; advantages, the whole of which, Sitteram Réiz
obtained; and corruption, of which though made
known to the President and Council by the proceed-
ings of a court of justice, they afforded to the Court
of Directors no information,’

Another fact was; that to the same Mr. Redhead,
as appeared by a codicil to his will, Ameer ul Omra,
son of the Nabob, had an order from his father to
pay a lac of rupees.

Another fact was; that two lacs and one thousand
rupees had been transmitted to Sitteram Raz, while
at Madras; of which money, though he was greatly
in arrear, no part was paid to the Company.

It further appeared; that according to one of the
checks devised by the Company upon the corruption
of their servants, if Sir Thomas Rumbold pos-
sessed in India -any money on loan, or merchandise
on hand, at the time of entering upon his office, he
was by his covenant bound, before he proceeded to
recover the money, or.dispose of the goods, to deliver
to the’ Board & particular account of such property
upon oath: that upon an accurate examination of
the records of the Council during the whole of Sir
Thomas Rumbold’s administration, no proceedings
to that effect could be found: that Sir Thomas
Rumbold, nevertheless, had remitted to Kurope,

* Third Report, Committee of Secrecy, 1781, p. 13, 14 Twelith Re-
solution of Mr, Dundas, moved in the House of Commons, 25th April,
1783.
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BOOK ¥.Dbetween the 8th of February, the day of his arrival
— at Madras, and the beginning of August in the same
1778.  year, the sum of 45,0001, and, during the two subse-
quent years, a further sum of 119,0001., the whole
amounting to 164,000L although the annual amount
of his salary and emoluments did not exceed
20,000L
Sir Thomas opposed the evidence of corruption
which these transactions imported, by asserting, that
he had property in India at the time of his return,
sufficient to account for the remittances which he
afterwards made. The evidence which he produced
consisted in certain papers and books of account,
which exhibited upon the face of them sums to a
great amount. And one of the witnesses, examined
before the Secret Committee of the House of Com.
'mons, stated his having heard in conversation from
Sir Thomas Rumbeold, that he had in Bengal, at the
fime of his last arrival in India, about 90,0001.; part
in Company’s cash; part in bonds, and mortgages at
interest, on some of which three or four years’ inte-
rest was due.!

f Second Report, wt sapra, p. 21, 22.—M. These particalars sre loosely
and inaccurstely stated. It was proved by the evidence snd .accousts
of Mr. Priee, Sir T. Rumbold’s Attorney in Bengal, that st the time
whea Sir Thomas qnitted Bengal im 1772, the propaty belouging
to him was 9,921 rupees, exclosive of interest, valned st 111,0000
snd bearing interest at from 8 to 10 per cent. which balance was
handed over o other atiorneys in (he beginming of 1773, st which time
the amount of iuterest raised the sam fo 121,000i There was also
other property al the same dste in Bengpal. The evidence ms o
what becaune of this som in the intervil between 1773 and 1777
defective: but it is proved that mo addition to Sir Thomas Rambold’s
feriane had been made i England betwees that time and 1769, and theve-
fore it is inferred Bo remittances had boea effected.  That sewme peoperty
bad been left in Bengal is alsc proved by accomnt, but it may be observed
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The lands or taxes in the circars were let, some for BOOK V.
ten years, some for five,! The jaghire about Madras
was re-let to the Nabob, not for one, but for three 1778
years. And in no case was any salisfactory inquiry
performed. '

The Directors, complammg that their orders, and
the interests of the Company, had been equally dis-
regarded, and that while the dignity and feelings
of the Zemindars were violated, the rights of the im-
mediate cultivators were left without protection;
pronounced upon the whole of these proceedings their
strongest condemnation.

In the agreements formed with the Subahdar, or
Nizam, respecting the five northern cirears, in 1776
and 1768, it was arranged, that Guntoor, which was
one of them, should be granted in jaghire to Bazalut
Jung, his brother; to be enjoyed by that Prince -
during his life, or so long as the Subahdar should be
gatisfied with his conduct ;* and upon expiration of the
interest of Bazalut Jung, to revert to the Company.
About the latter end of the year 1774, the Governor
and Council were informed by letters from the chief
of Masulipatam, that a body ‘of French troops, under

that in March, 1778, the halanoce of his acconnt current with his agents is
but 1,12,000 rupeea; to this is to be added obout three lacks paid on
sccount of monies Jent, making & total of something more than 40,000% It
is also in evidenice that he received as enlary 49,0004 There still remains
& considerable sum to be accounted for, to explain the large amount of his
remitiances to England. Minutes of Evidence, 518, et seq.—W.

' Thoy were let for ve years. The only case in which a lease of ten
years was granted wes to Sitaram RAg, for the Haveli or demesne lands,
and, this waas granted by the Madras Government soms time prior to Sir
Thomas Bumbold's arrival.—W,

* Not o5 long aa the Subshdar shonld be satisfied, but until he broke
friendship with the Company. Seo the ireaty in Minutes of Evidence, p.
2—w,
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BOOK ¥. the command of M. Lally, were retained in the service
— of Bazalut Jung, and received reinforcements and
1778 gtores by the port of Mootapilly. The mention of &
French force in the service of a native prince was
sure to kindle the jealousy of the English. The
Presidency of Madras held the affair of sufficient im-
portance to communicate with the Supreme Council
of Bengal on the propriety of using measures to pro-
cure the removal of the French from the territories
of Bazalut Jung: and recéivéd the authority of that
Board, not only to insist with Bazalut Jung upon
their immediate dismissal; but to prepare a body of
troops far marching to his frontiers, and to threaten
him, that * they would take possession of his country,
and negotiate with the Nizam, even by an entire
renunciation of the revenues, for the cession of it to
'the Company.” It was deemed advisable to treat
with the Nizam, as principal in the treaty of 1768,
and a party to every agreement between the Company
and Bazalut Jung: and they desired his co-operation
for compelling his brother, either first to dismiss the
Europeans from his service, and trust to the English
the defence of Guntoor, which was their own: or,
secondly to let that Circar to them at a rent determined
by amicable valuation. The Nizam replied in friendly
terms; declaring that he had sent a person of dis-
tinction to procure the removal of the French from
the service of his brother ; and that “ every article of
the treaty should remain fixed to a hair's breadth”
From the date of these transactions, which extended
to the beginning of the year 1776, though several
representations had been received of the continuance
of the French in the territory of Bazalut Jung, po
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ulterior measures were adopted by the Board until BOOK ¥.
the 10th of July, 1778, when the President and ———
Select Committee entered a minute, expressinga con- 1778
viction of danger from the presence, in such a situa~

tion, of such a body of men.. A mnegotiation, through

the medium of the Nabob, without the intervention

of the Nizam, was commenced with Bazalut Jung.

That prince was now alarmed with the prospect pre-
sented by the probable designs of Hyder Ali, and well
disposed to quiet his apprehensions by the benefit of
English protection. On the 30th of November, the
President presented to the Board a proposal, tendered,

by Bazalut Jung,in which that Prince agreed to cede

the Guntoor district for a certain annual payment, to
dismiss the French from his service, and to accept the
engagement of the English to afford him troops for

the defence of his country. On the 27th of January
1779, when the treaty was concluded with Bazalut
Jung, it was thought expedient to send to the court

of the Nizam a resident ; who should ascertain as far

as possible the views of that Prince, and his con-
nexions with the Indian powers or the French; oh-

viate any unfavourable impressions which he might

have received; and transect any business to which

the relations of the two states might give birth. And

on the 19th of April a force, under General Harpur,

was ordered to proceed to the protection of the ter-
ritory of Bazalut Jung.

In the contest with the Mahrattas, in which, at
the Presidencies of Bengal and Bombay, the English
were engaged, the Nizam had expressed a desire to
remain neutral, though he had frankly declared his
hatred of Ragoba, and his connexion by treaty with



154 . HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.

B‘;‘L‘Z Pundit Purdann, the infant Peshwa, that is, with the
prevailing party of the Poona council; and though
1778 an alliance with the Berar government had been at-
tempted by the Supreme Council, on the condition of
recovering for that government some countries which
had been wrested from it by the Subahdar of the
Deccan. When Mr. Hollond, who was sent as resi-
dent by the Presidency of Madras, arnved at Hyder-
abad, the capital of the Nizam, on the 6th of April,
he was received with every mark of respect, and with
the strongest assurances of a desire to cultivate the
friendship of the English. But when, at his audience,
the resident proceeded to explain the transactions,
which, without the participation of the Nizam, had
taken place between the Company and his brother,
the painful emotions of bis Highness were visble; he
read over the articles of the treaty of 1768; affirmed
that it was violated by the conduct of the Presidency ;
disavowed the right of the English to interfere in the
concerns of his family; declared that, if the treaty
was to be regarded, the troops which, without his
leave, were about to march into the country, possessed
by Bazalut Jung, a dependant of the Subah, ought
to be stopped ; if the treaty was not to be regarded,
he should be constrained to oppose them. To the
apology urged by Mr. Hollond, that the probability
of an immediate attack by Hyder Ali left not suffi-
cient time for consulting him, the Nizam replied that
Hyder had no immediate intention to molest his
brother, but was meditating a speedy attack upon
the Carnatic, to be conducted, like the former in-
vasion of that province, by plundering and burning,
while he avouled a battle. The Nizam was jealous
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of the presence of a British force with 'Bazalut Jung, BOOK ¥.
who, with such assistance, he doubted not would

soon aspire at independence. The French troops 177%
he had taken into his own service immediately after

they were dismissed by his brother; but he assured

the British resident that he had adopted this ex-
pedient solely to prevent them from passing into the
service of Hyder or the Mahrattas; and described

them as of little value, the wreck of the army of
Bussy, augmented by persons of all nations. This

was a contingency, which, in their eagerness fo see

the French discharged by Bazalut Jung, the Presi-
dency had somewhat overloocked. It was no doubt

true, as they alleged, that had the Nizam consulted

the friendship of the Englich, he would have ordered

the French troops to the coast, whence with other
prisoners they might have been sent on their passage

to Europe.

In the Select Committee, on the 5th of June, it
was proposed by the Governor, and agreed, that the
Peshcush or tribute, of five lacks of rupees, which
the Company were bound by their treaty to pay, in
compromise, for possession of the Northern Circars,
the Nizam should be solicited to remit. The
payment of it had already been suspended for two
years, partly on the pretence that the French troops
were not dismissed, partly on account of the ex-
hausted state of their finances. When this proposal
was announced by Mr. Hollond to the Nizam,
he became highly agitated; and declared his con-
viction that the English no longer meant to observe

the treaty, for which reason he also must prepare
for war.
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Mr. Hollond, who had received instructions to
communicate with the Supreme Council, conveyed
intelligence of these transactions to Bengal, by
sending, on the 3rd of September, copies of the
Jetters which had passed betweem him and the
Presidency of Madras. On the 25th of October, the
subject was taken into consideration at Calcutta,
when the proceedings of the Madras Presidency, in
forming a treaty with Bazalut Jung, without the
interposition of his immediate sovereign, the Com-
pany’s ally, and in withholding the payment, and
proposing the abolition of the peshcush, underwent
the most severe condemnation, as tending to impeach
the character of the English for justice and faith,
and to raise them up a formidable enemy, when they
were already exposed to unusual difficulties and
dangers. It was agreed, that the case demanded the
interference of the Superior Board ; and a letter was
written on the 1st of November, 1779, to assure the
Nizam that the intentions of the English govemn-
ment were truly pacific, notwithstanding the inter-
pretation which he put upon the proceedings of the
Council at Madras. Mr. Hollond was directed
to suspend his negotiations till he should receive
further instructions from his own Presidency.
Letters were also written to that Presidency, ac-
quainting them, in terms studiously inoffensive and
mild, with the aberrations which it appeared to the
Supreme Council that they had made from the line
of propriety and prudence. The Nizam declared the
highest satisfaction with the friendly assurances
which the Supreme Council had expressed. But
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their interference excited the highest indignation and BO9K V.
resentment in the Council of Madras. On the 30th
of December a minute was entered by Sir Thomas 7%
Rumbold, the President, in which be treats the
censure which had been passed on their conduct as
undeserved, and its language unbecoming; denies
the right of the Supreme Council thus to interfere in
the transactions of another Presidency,and argues that
their controlling power extended to the conclusion
alone of a treaty, not to the intermediate negotiation;
he turns the attack upon the Bengal Presidency,
enters into a severe investigation of the policy and
conduct of the Mahratta war, which in every part-
cular be condemns : this it was which had alienated
the mind of the Subahdar, not the regulation with
his brother, or the proposed remission of the pesh-
cush ; the retention of a peshcush offended not the
conscience of the Bengal Presidency, when them-
selves were the gainers, the unforfunate emperor
of India the sufferer, and when it was a peshcush
stipulated and secured by treaty for the most im-
portant grants. In terms of nearly the same import
the letter was touched in which the Presidency of
Madras returned an answer to that of Bengal, and
along with which fhey transmitted the minute of -
their President.

The Presidency of Madras had not only taken
Guntoor on lease from Bazalut Jung, they had also
transferred it, on a lease of ten years, to the Nabob
of Arcot, though well aware how little the Directors
were pleased with his mode of exaction, either in
their jaghire, or in his own dominions.

The measure of their offences, in the eyes of the
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» BOOK ¥.T)irectors, was now sufficiently full. In their letter

CHAP, 4.

1774,

of the 10th of January, 1781, after passing the
severest censure upon the abolition of the Committee
of Circuit, and the proceedings with the Zemindars
of the four Northern Circars, on the treaty with
Bazalut Jung, the transactions with the Nizam, and
the lease of Guntoor to the Nabob, they dismiss
from therr service Sir Thomas Rumbeld, President,
John Hill and Peter Perring, Esquires, Members of
their Council of Fort St. George; deprive of their
seat in council Mr. Smith and Mr. Johpsor; and
express their strongest displeasure agzinst the com-
mander of their forces Sir Hector Munro.!

! These trsnsactions ase minutely detailed in the 8econd and Third
Reports of the Committes of Secrecy, 1781 ; in the Appendixes to which the
official documents are to be found. —M. The suthor does not appear io
have been in possession of the Mimutes of the Evidences which was
produced in justification of the Bill of Pains and Penalties introduced by
Mr. Dundas.—W.
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CHAPTER V.

War with the French.— Pondicherry taken.— War
with Hyder Ali— Presidency unprepared.— Colonel
Baillie's Detachment cut off —Supreme Council
suspend the Governor of Fort St. George, and send
Sir Eyre Coote to Madras.— Hyder takes Arcot,
and overruns the greater part of the country—
Lord Macartney, Governor of Fort St. George.—
Negapatnam and Trincomalee taken from the
Dutch.—Treaty between the Nabob of Arcot and
Supreme Council—Assignment of the Nabob’s
Revenues.— Tellicherry invested.— Great Arma-
ments sent from both Emgland and France.—
Disaster of Colonel Brathwaite’s Detachment in
Tanjore.—Madras reduced to a State of Famine.
—Death of Hyder Ali.— Tippoo withdraws the
Mysorean Army from the Carnatic.—Operations
and Fate' of General Matthews on the Coast of
Malabar.—Siege of Mangalore..~The General at
Madras, refusing to obey the Civil Authority, is
arrested and sent to Europe—French and English
suspend Rostilities in consequence of Intelligence of
the Peace in FEurope. — Operations of Colonel
Fullarton in Coimbetore.—Peace with Tippoo.—
Behaviour of Supreme Council to Presidency of
Madras.

BOOK. V.
WaR with the French, instead of being, as formerly, ' >

the most alarming to the English of all sources of 19,
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danger in India, now held a very inferior station
among the great objects which occupied their atten-
tion. In the beginning of July, 1778, intelligence
was received in Bengal, which, though somewhat
premature, was acted upon as certain, that war had
commenced between England and France. Without
waiting for a formal notification of this event, which
might be only delayed till the French had made
themselves strong, it was resolved by a stroke,
decisive in their present defenceless situation, to
take possession of the whole of the French settle-
ments in India. With regard to minor places the
attempt was easy; and Chandernagore, with the
factories at Masulipatam and Carical, surrendered
without resistance; Pondicherry was the object of
importance, and it was resolved to lose no time in
taking measures for its reduction. Instructions
were sent to Madras, and reached it with unusual
expedition. Major-General Sir Hector Munro, who
commanded- the Madras army, took post on an
elevated ground, called the Red Hills, distant about
a league from Pondicherry, on the 8th of August,
and on the 9th summoned the place to surrender,
But his preparations were still so backward, that it
was the 21st of August before he took possession of
the bound-hedge, within cannon-shot of the town,
and ground was not broken till the 6th of September.
It was broken in two places, with a view to carry
on attacks upon both sides of the town at once.

_ The British squadron, consisting of one ship of
sixty guns, one of twenty-eight, one of twenty, a
sloop of war, and an East Indiaman, sailed from
Madras, toward the end of July, under the command
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of Sir Edward Vernon, with a view to block up 300k V.
Pondicherry by sea. This squadron reached the —
scene of action about the time when Sir Hector '
Munro encamped on the Red Hills and summoned
the fort. The French squadron, under M. Tron-
jolly, consisting of one ship of sixty-four guns, one
of thirty-six, one of thirty-two, and two East India-
men armed for war, sailed immediately, and prepared
for action. The two squadrons met and engaged on
the 10th of August. The battle raged with great
fury for the space of seventy-four minutes, when the
three minor ships of the French sqmadron quitted the
action, and in fifteen minutes after were followed by
the rest. The English ships, which, as usually
happened in engagements with the French, had
suffered chiefly in their rigging, were unable to
pursue the French, which had suffered chiefly in
their hulls. The French squadron reached Pondi-
cherry the same night. Sailing badly, and opposed
by the winds and the current, it was the 20th before
the English recovered their station. Karly on the
morning of the 21st the French squadron was per-
ceived under easy sail, standing out of Pondicherry

“road. During the day the alternate failure and
opposition of the winds prevented the squadrons from
closing ; and towards night the English commander
stood in for Pondicherry road, and cast anchor,
expecting that the enemy, to whom it was an object
of so much importance to keep open the commu-
nication of Pondicherry by sea, would proceed in the
same direction, and commence the action on the
following morning. M. Tronjolly availed himself of
the night.. His squadron was out of sight before

VOL. IV. M
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the morning, and was mo more heard of upon the
eoast,

Y8 The garrison of Pondicherry was eommanded by

M. Bellecombe, a man whom this abandonment was
not sufficent to dismay. Notwithstanding the total
destruction which the works of Pondicherry had
sustarned in the former war, its fortifications had
been restored with great diligence, and it was
defended by a garrison who availed themselves of all
Ms advantages. The English opened their batteries
en the 18th of September, with the fire of twenty-
eight cannon and twenty-seven mortars, and carried
en their approaches with unremitting vigour; but
the vigilance, aetivity, and enterprise of the garmison,
compelled them to eaution, and, together with the
rains, which fell in torrents, retarded their operations.
Towanls the middle of October, having pushed a
gallery on the south side into the ditch of the fort,
having made a breach in ome of the bastions,
destroyed the faces of the two that were adjacent,
and prepared a bridge of boats for passing the
ditch; having also destroyed the face of the bastion
on the opposite side of the town, and constructed a
float for passing the ditch, they resolved to make the
sssault in three places at once, on the south side, on
the nurth side, and towards the sea, where the enemy
had rur out s stockade into the water. All the
marines, and 200 seamen, were landed from the
ships. On the day first appointed for the assault, so
much rain unexpectedly fell, as to swell the water
in the ditch, blow up the gallery on the southern
side, and damage the boats belonging to the bridge.
The loss was diligently and speedily repaired. But
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M. Bellecombe, who had aceomplished all that an BOOE ¥.
able governor could perform, fo retard the fall of the
place, resolved not to throw away the lives of the 78
gallant men who had seconded his endeavours, and
the day before the intended assault proposed a
capitulation. The English, by the generosity of
_their terms, and the Liberality of their whole pro-
cedure, showed their high sense of the honour and
gallantry of the enemy whom they had subdued.
The garrison were allowed to march out with all the
honours of war; and, at the request of M. Belle-
combe, the regiment of Pondicherry was compl:-
mented with its colours. After a delay of some
months the fortifications were destroyed.

The French now retained in India nothing but
Mahé, a small fort and settlement on the coast of
Malabar. On the 27th of November, the question
of its reduction was agitated in the Council, when
the pride of driving the French entirely out of India
enhanced the apparent advantage of the conquest.
The difficulties were not inconsiderable: the march
of the troops over land, from one side of India to the
other, was long and hazardous: the disposition of
the native chiefs, through the territory of whom it
would be necessary to pass, was not in all cases
ascertained to be friendly : the comstitution of Euro-
peans would be apt to fail, under the difficulties of
the march: there was not shipping sufficient to con-
vey the expedition by sea: it was at the same time
apprehended that Hyder Ali would view the enter-
prise with jealousy and dissatisfaction, and not re-
garded as impossible that he would directly oppose
it. The importance, however, of having no such

‘ M2
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BOOR V. talents as those of Frenchmen to cope with in India,

CHAP. 5.

1779.

and of not leaving to them a place to which either
troops or stores could be sent, though both Hyder
and the Mahrattas hed very convenient places with
which they would have gladly accommodated them,

‘appeared of sufficient magnitude to induce the

Presidency to brave all dangers in undertaking an
expedition against Mahé. Towards the end of
December, it was planned, that the European portion
of the expedition should be conveyed by sea; that
the Sepoys should march over land ; that they should
rendezvous at Anjengo, and Colonel Brathwaite
receive the command. On the 4th of February
intelligence was received at Madras, of the disaster
sustained by the army of Bombay, on its march to

‘Poona. The danger to which this event might

expose the expedition, now on its way to Mahé,
underwent deliberation in the Council; but, the
confession of weakness, which would be implied in
the recall of the troops,-and the supposed importance
of accomplishing the object in view, decided the
question in favour of perseverance. Intelligence of
the resolution of Hyder to resent the attack produced
a hesitation;' and the importance was discussed of
gaining the friendship of that powerful chief by
renouncing the enterprise; but after a short suspen-
sion, the design was resumed, and Colonel Brath-
waite was instructed to anficipate resistance by
velocity of completion. The expedition encountered

' A formal cowmunication wae made by his Vakeel to the Madras Go-
vernment that be would oppose kn attack opon Mahé, or would retaliate by
sending troops intc the Carnatic. First Report Committee of Secueey, p-
n—-w,
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far less difficulty than there was reason to expect: BOOK ¥.
no opposition was made to the march: the fleet and

the troops arrived safely at the place of rendezvous: 177
and Mahé, which was strongly situated, but totally
destitute of supplies, surrendered on the 19th of
March before a cannon was fired. It was occupied

by the English till the 29th of November, when,
Colonel Brathwaite’s detachment being ordered to

Surat to reinforce General Goddard, the fort was

blown up.!

Before Colonel Brathwaite was enabled to com-
ply with his orders, and embark for Surat, bLe
received a requisition from the chief and factory
at Tellicherry for the assistance of the whole de-
tachment. That settlement had drawn upon itself
the resentment of Hyder by protecting a Nair
chief who had incwrred his displeasure. By the
influence of Hyder, a pumber of the surrounding
chiefs were incited to attack the settlement, which
was closely pressed, at the time of the evacuation
of Mahé. Not conceiving that he could be justi-
fied in leaving Tellicherry in its perilous situation,
Colonel Brathwaite moved with his detachment to
its support. In consequence of the detention of
those troops, the Council at Madras resolved to send
another detachment to the assistance of Goddard,
which were embarked in the months of January
and February, 1780.% ' '

Tn 1774, the divisions among the Mahratta chiefs
afforded to Hyder an opportunity, which he dexter-

' Pirst and Second Reports of the Committee of Secrecy; also the
Annual Register for 1779 and 1782.
* First Report, ul supra, p. 56.
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ously and vigorously improved, of turning the tide
in his affairs. He recovered speedily the territory
which he had lost. He diligently employed the
interval of repose which succeeded, in restoring
order to his country, improving his revenues, aug-
menting the pumber and improving the discipline of
his troops. His power soon appeared to be rapidly
on the increase ; and afforded alarm to the English,
who, by their evasion of the treaty of 1769, were
conscious of the hatred they bad inspired, and were
now jealous of a connexion between him and the
French. He continued to extend his dominions,
and increase his power, with little interruption, till
the latter end of the year 1777, when the Mah-
rattags and Nizam Ali combined to chastise him.
The Mahrattas, under Hurry Pundit and Purseram,

' penetrated into the Balaghit country, with an army

of 50,000 men ; but upon the approach of Hyder,
who hastened to oppose them, they retreated into
the district of Adoni, where they came to an engage-
ment on the 5th of January, 1778, and sustained a
defeat.

Though Hyder was deeply exasperated against
the Presidency of Madras for their continned evasion
of treaty, and refusal of assistance, he was induced by
the state of affairs to make a fresh proposal in 1778.
Harassed, by the hostilities of the Poonabh govern-
ment, he had been well pleased to support a pre-
tender in the person of Ragoba: the English were
now involved not only in disputes with the Poonah
ministers, but actual operations for the reinstatement
of that ejected chief; and in the beginning of July,
1778, Hyder, through his resident at Madras, made
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a new overture towards an alliance with the English, BOOK V-
offering his assistance to establish Roganaut Rao in
the office of Peshwa ; and requiring only a supply of 1750
arms and military stores for which he would pay,

and a body of troops whose expenses he would
defray. The opinion of the Presidency appears to

bave been, that such an arrangement might be
useful, more particularly to prevent the formation of

a connexion between Hyder and the French: they

even acknowledged their belief, that had not the
treaty of 1769 been evaded, Hyder never would have
sought other allies than themselves, The Supreme
Council, to whom reference was made, approved in
general of an alliance with Hyder; but being at that

time gealous to form a connexion with the Raja of
Berar, they directed a modification of the terms in
regard to Ragoba, whose cause, they said, was
supported, not as an end, but a means now deemed
subordinate to the successful issue of the negotiation

with Moodajee.

A friendly intercourse subsisted between Hyder
and the French. He had been supplied by them
with arms and military stores. A number of adven-
turers of that nation commanded and disciplined his
troops; and they were united by a commeon hatred of
the English power. A desire to save appearances,
however, constrained Hyder to congratulate the
English upon the reduction of Pondicherry; but,
anticipating the design of attacking Mahé he
gave early intimation of the resentment with which
be would regard any such aftempt. Mahé was -
situated in the territory of a petty prince on the
western coast, who with the other petty princes, his
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neighbours, were rendered tributary to Hyder, and
ranked among his dependants. The merchants of
various ‘nations, it was declared by Hyder, had
settlements, and performed traffic in his dominions;
and all of them, as if they were subjects of his own,
he would resolutely defend. To soften his animosity
and prevent a rupture, which the dread of his power,
and, ahove all, his apprehended union with the
French, clothed in considerable terrors, there was
sent to his presence, in January 1779, a person,
who, though empowered to declare the resolution of
attacking Mahé, should assure Hyder of the desire
which the Presidency felt to study his inclinations,
and to cultivate his friendship. The messenger was
received with but little respect, and the invasion of
the Carnatic was threatened as the retaliation for
interfering with Mahé.! At that particular moment,
Hyder was engaged in the conquests of Gooti, of

! Some confusion has here been made, probably between the written and
personsl communications that took place between the two governory. In
Jannary, 1779 no person was sent to Hyder. A letter waa sddressed to
him by the President, proposing to send & Resident to his court, and
annomncing the intention of attacking Mahé. No Resident was sent.
8ometbing later in the year 8ir Thomas Bamboid, withon! commusicating
with the Committee, engaged the celebrated Missionary, Bchwartz, to go
privately to Hyder, and ascertain his real sentiments, the Governor di-
trusting the representation of them from Hyder's own Vakeel, or from the
officers of the Nabob. Schwarix set off on bis mimion in July, 1779,
arrived st Seringapatam in Augusi, was trested by Hyder with kindness, and
made the bearer of a letier from him to the government, which be delivered
some time in October, a8 on the 23rd of that month the proceeding was frwt
commupicated te the Commitiee. In Febrmary, 1780, a second mimion
was sent to Hyder in the persom of Mr. Gray, renewing offen of alliance
with the Eoglish, which were disdainfully rejected. Both the mimions
farpished sufficient evidence of the disposition xnd porposes of Hyder.
First Report of Belrct Comumtitiee, 25. Wilks's Somhk of Iadia, ii. 242.
Life of Schwanz, i 341.—W,
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Carnaul, and Cudapah; the former belonging to the BOOK V-
Mabratta chieftain Morari Rao, the two last to their
respective Nabobs, dependants of the Subahdar, and %
thence was hindered from taking effectual measures
to defeat the expedition against Mahé. But the
Presidency were now convinced of his decided aver-
sion; and were informed of his intention to make
peace with the Mahrattas, for enabling him the
more completely to-carry into execution his designs
against the English. Their thoughts were called to
the necessity of preparation; and they saw nothing
but dangers and difficulties in their path, The
Nabob, as he informed them, and as they knew well
without his .information, was destitute of money:
and as destitute of troops, on whom, either for
numbers or quality, any reliance could be placed.
Their own treasury was impoverished ; and if the
cavalry of Hyder should enter the country, neither
could the revenues be collected, nor provisions be
procured. More alive than they to the sense of
danger, the Nahob urged the necessity of making
peace with ‘Hyder, by stopping the expedition to
Mahé; or, on the other hand, of making terms with
the Mahrattas and the Subahdar. So far from at-
tempting to conciliate either Hyder or the Subahdar,
the Presidency formed with Bazalut Jung- the ar-
rangement which has been already described, re-
" specting the Guntoor Circar and military assistance,
and which, in the highest degree, alarmed and exas-_
perated both. The detachment which under Colonel
Harpur was sent to the assistance of Bazalut Jung,
attempted to proceed to Adoni, through a part of
Cudapah, which Hyder had lately subdued. His
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BOOE V. troops barricaded the passes; and the detachment,
afraid of being surrounded, was obliged to march
1780. back and wait for subsequent orders. Hyder not
only assured Bazalut Jung, by writing, that he would
not permit the English, whom he described as the
most faithless and usurping of all mankind, to esta-
blish themselves in a place so contiguous to his coun-
try, and so important as Guntoor; but in the month
of November he sent a body of troops into the terri-
tory of that Prince, took possession of the open coun-
try, and joined with Nizam Ali his brother in threat-
ening him with instant ruin, unless he broke off all
correspondence with the English. In this emer-
gency Bazalut Jung was constrained to forbid the
march of the English detachment; and to request
the restoration of Guntoor, as the only means of
pacifying his brother and Hyder, and averting his
fate. The question respecting the Circar came
under deliberation of the Council on the 30th of
December, when the decree was passed that it
should not be restored. Though its importance was
considerable, because situated as it was between the
territories of the Nabob, or, more properly speaking,
of the English, in the Carnpatic, and the four
Northern Circars, it completed the communication
between their northern and southern possessions,
and, by placing in their hands the port of Mootapilly,
deprived Nizam Al of all connexion with the sea,
reduced him to the condition of a merely inland
power, and in particular closed the chamel by which
French supplies could easily reach him; yet the
embarrassments created in the Council, by the bargain
they bad concluded with the Nabob, for a ten years’
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lease of that Circar contributed not less, it would BOOK ¥.
appear, than all other inducements, to the resolution -
which they formed. 1780.

Under the apprehensions which the resentmentand
preparations of Hyder inspired, the Presidency, at
the end of October, had presented to the Supreme
Council the prospect of a rupture with that chieftain,
the dangerous magnitude. of his power, and, their
want of resources ; had pressed upon them the neces-
ity of forming a peace with the Mahrattas, as in
that event Hyder would be restrained by his fears;
they had also written in similar terms to Geeneral God-
dard at Bombay. Soon after, when they were in-
formed of the probability that hostilities would be
renewed with the Mahrattas, they reiterated the
statement of their apprehensions ; and concluded
that, destitute as they were of resources for all active
operations, they could only collect their troops as
much as possible, and wait to see what the resolutions
of the Supreme Board would enable them to under-
take.

Before the end of November, the Nabob, whose
intelligence respecting the proceedings of the Indian
powers was in general uncommonly good, informed
the Goovernor, that a treaty had been formed, between
Hyder and the Mahrattas, to which Nizam Al had
acceded, for a system of combined hostilities against
the English. Though in his answer to the Nabob
the Governor appeared to discredit the intelligence,
it was not long before he was satisfied of its truth ;
and, in theletter, which, on the 31st of December, the
Select Committee addressed to the Supreme Board,
they represented the treaty between Hyder and the
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Mahrattas, as an undoubted fact. Still they were
not so much impressed with a sense of imminent
danger, as to be deterred from sending a body of
froops to the assistance of Goddard, in lieu of those
which were detained at Tellicherry ; being in daily
expectation of a regiment from Europe; conceiving
themselves sufficiently strong to cover the principal
garrisons ; and deeming it vain, without cavalry, to
attempt to protect the open country against the in.
vasion of a vast body of horse: In the month of
January, 1780, the President wrote to the Court of
Directors, that, notwithstanding the alarms in which
they had been held by the hostile appearances of
Hyder and the Nizam, and notwithstanding the pro-
vocation which the support of Ragoba had given both
to the Mahrattas and the Nizam, there was still a
prospect of tranquillity ; and in the following month,
he repeated, in still stronger terms, a similar as-
surance.! Till the month of June, no measures were

! The President in the early part of 1780 was 8ir Thomas Bumbold ; he
quitted Madras on the scere of ill health in April, and with anlicipations,
which afier the information he had received, and after the strong provoca-
tion to hostilities of which he had been the snthor, were unaccountably
delusive. His farewell minate begins, * It affords me a particular satis-
faction that the whole of the Camatic and the Company’s northern pos-
sessions are ai present undisturbed, and in perfect tranquillity notwith-
standing the unsettled state of affairs with respeet to the Mahratias, snd
the conzexions occcasioned by the march of the Bengal troups scros the
country to Burat. However well iuclined Hyder Ali may be to give
distarbance, neither he sor the Nizam have s yet thought proper to pus
any of their threats into execulion; and from the arrival of the fleet with
the king’s troops, I think there is the grestest prospect that this part of
India will resunin quiet, especially if the Government here esutiousty avoid
taking any measures that may be likely to bring em troubles. Minutes of
Evidence, p. 500. And this, sfler he had excited Hyder's resentment by
the occupation of Guntoor, the violation of bis territory by the uupermitted
march through it of Colonel Harpur’ldetadmmdlbeaytmd
Makeé in defiance of his menaces.—W.
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pursued which had a reference to the war; and even ngf 57-
then it was only commanded that Colonel Harpur's .
detachment, which had been transferred to the com- 1780
mand of Colonel Baillie, should cross the Kistna, to
be more in readiness, *“in case of any disturbance in
the Carnatic.” On the 19th of June intelligence was
received from the officer at Velore, that Hyder had
begun his march from Seringapatam, and that a
great army was already collected at Bangalore. Om
the 28th of the same month, the Select Committee
of Fort St. George declared, by letter to the Supreme
Board, that Hyder had received from the French
islands a great quantity "of military stores; that his
army, which he had been rapidly increasing for two
years past, was now equipped for immediate service ;
that a part of it was already advanced to the borders
of the Carnatic; and that intelligence had been re-
ceived of his being actually employed in clearing the
road to one of the principal passes.

While the affairs of the Presidency were approach-
ing to their present situation, & division had existed
not only in the Council, but in the Select Committee
itself. The President however and the General had
combined ; and they retained a majority in both.
In contemplation of the resentment of Hyder, and
the progress of his power, the party, the views of
which were apt to discord with those of the leading
members of the government, had strongly urged upon
them, at various times, the necessity of making pre-
parations against the invasion with which they were
threatened by Hyder, and of which they had received
intimation from various quarters. If the resources
of the Nabob and the Presidency combined were un-
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BOOK ¥.equal to the maintenance of an army sufficient for
the protection of the open country, it behoved them at
178.  Jeast to assemble the troops; which, scattered ai they
werein petty garrisons over a great extent of country,
could not, in case of an emergencybe collected with-
out a lapse of time; and of which the junction would
become hazardous, and perhaps impracticable, if the
country were pervaded by Hyder's horse. The ma-
jority, indeed, had expressed their opinion of the ne-
cessity of having the troops collected in a body, and
ready to act, previously to invasion. But they had
not yet become persuaded that the danger was suffi-
ciently imminent to render it necessary that prepara-

tion should begin.!

On the 21st of July information was brought from
the commander at Amboor, that Hyder and his two
sons, with the principal part of his army, had come
through the pass, and that his artillery was drawn
up in the road to Changama. This intelligence,
though it was confirmed from several quarters, was
treated with slight regard by the party in power:

' On the 19th June two of the Belect Committee, Messrs. Johnson and
Bmith, esnbmitted 3 minute, uiging the imminence of the danger, sad the
necessity of active preparation, and a similar mirnte was presented op the
17th July. On both occasions Mr. Whitehill and Six Hector Munro,
foruiing, by the casting vote of the former as Prevident, the nmjority, moved
that the apprehensions exprested in these mimmies were gromndiess, snd
that theve was 8o Janger of ad immediste invasion, Feur days afler the
latter vocasion Hydexr was ia the Carnatic. The kistory of British Indis
aflords no similar instance of such ntier want of foresight or sach imbe-
cility of parpose, See Minutes of Evidenes, p. 509; sod First Report, p.
25. Even then says the Report of the Belect Commitiee, the advice that
Hyder Ali had invaded the Carmatic with a powerfal apmy was treated
byﬂepwphhmwﬁhwadm It was not till
Conjeveram, not fifly miles from the eapital, was pirndared by the enenry,
erwmunhwdn%q-wmamdmm
tiom.—W.
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and on the 23rd, when Lord Macleod represented-to BOOK V.
the Governor, “ That perhaps the report of Hyder's
invasion might be true, and that be thought at all 176%
events they ought to take measures to oppose him;
the Governor ansgered, What can we do? We
have no money. But added, We mean however, to
assemble an army, and you are to command it.”!
The next day brought undoubted intelligence, that
Porto Novo, on the coast, and Conjeveram, not fifty
miles from the capital had been plundered by the
enemy,

The army, with which Hyder had arrived, was
not less than 100,000 strong: Of his infantry, 20,000
were formed into regular battalions, and mostly com-
manded by Europeans : His cavalry amounted to
30,000, of which 2,000 were Abyssinian borse, and
constantly attended upon his person; 10,000 were
Carnatic cavalry, well disciplined, of which one half
had belonged to the Nabob, and after having been
trained by English officers, had either deserted or
been disbanded for want of ability to pay them : He
had 100 pieces of cannon managed by Europeans,
and natives, who had been trained by the English for
the Nabob: And Monsieur Lally, who had left the
service of the Subahdar for that of Hyder, was pre-
sent with his corps of Frenchmen or other Europeans,
to the amount of about 400 men ; and had a princi-

pal share in planning and conducting the operations
of the army.

' Lord Macleod was the commanding officer of the Ecropean regi-
ment which had lately arrived. Seo the extract of his Letter to the
Bocretary of State, quoted in the First Report of the Secret Committee,
P 44 and 31



176 HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.

BOOK V.  The arrival of Hyder, and the rapidity with which
__his cavalry overran the country, and spread ruin
1780. and desolation in a circle of many miles round
Madras, filled the Carnatic immediately with terror
and dismay. The people fled from the open country
to the woods, and the mountains; their houses were
set on fire; the fielda were left uncultivated, or the
crops destroyed: Alarm succeeded alarm: Intel-
ligence poured in from all quarters, that one place
after another was assailed ; till every part.of the
Carnatic frontier appeared to be entered, and
even the northern Circars exposed to a similar

fate.

On the 24th of July, the Select Committee as-
sembled in deliberation. The object of greatest
urgency was, to call the troops together, and form

~ an army in the field. The European regiment at
~ Poonamallee, that of Velore, the battalion of Euro-
peans, and the four battalions of sepoys cantoned at
Pondicherry, the battalion of sepoys, and the grena-
diers of the European battalion at Madras, the batta.
lion at Trichinopoly, and the artillery at the mount,
received orders to be in readiness to march. Ahsent
officers were summoned to join their corps; and all
things necessary for an army in the field were
ordered to be immediately prepared: Letters were
sent to the other Presidencies and settlements: The
Governor-General and Council were importuned for
money ; and informed, that, if the Presidency were
asgured of pecuniary means, and not embarrassed by
their ignorance of the state of affairs between the
Bengal government and the Mahrattas, they would
produce an attack on the possessions of Hyder on the
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western coast, by assistance sent to the detachment BOOK V.
at Telhcherry, and the co-operation of his Majesty's -
fleet. 0.
~ Colonel Baillie, who commanded the, detachment
in Guntoor, consisting of about 150 Europeans, in-
fantry and artillery, and upwards of 2000 sepoys,
was instructed to operate a diversion, by attacking
Cudapah, or some of the other possessions of Hyder.
This step was vehemently opposed in council by the
antagonizing party; as sure, they said, to fail in de~
taching from his principal object any part of the
attention or forces of Hyder; and sure to enfeeble
their defence at home, by the absence of so im-
portant a part of their forces, which ought to be
directed to march without a moment’s delay by the
safest route to Madras. As an additional reason for
persisting in their original orders, the Governor and
his majority alleged their doubts of being able to
procure provisions for a greater number of troops
than the marching orders already embraced. But
on the 31st of July, when a letter was received from
Colonel Baillie, representing the difficulties he expe-
rienced in finding subsistence for his troops, or in
detaining the bullocks absolutely necessary for his
march, they altered their instructions, and directed
bim to proceed towards the Presidency, taking such
a route as mght offer a chance of intercepting some
of the enemy’s convoys.

By the majority, in which both the Governor and
the General were comprised, it was: resolved, that
the troopa should assemble, and the army should be
formed at a place near Conjeveram; where they
would be nearer to the stores.of provisions. laid up

YOL. 1V. X '
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by the Nabob in the forts, and prepared to yield a
readier support to the garrisons which the enemy
might assault. To constitute the majority of the
Governor, it so happened, that the voice of the
General was requisite ; and if he departed to take
the command of the army, that majority would be
lost. On the ground that his councils at the Presi-
dency were of more importance at this moment, than
his presence with the army, it was moved and voted
that he should not depart; and that the command of
the army should be intrusted to Lord Macleod
When the plan of operations, however, and in parti-
cular that part of it which consisted in assembling
the army at Conjeveram, was communicated to that
officer, he represented the danger with which, now
that the country was invaded, the separate detach-
ments would march to a place so distant and ex-
posed; preferred the security of forming a junction in
the neighbourhood of Madras, and of not taking the
field till an army should be assembled sufficient at
least to cope with the principal bodies of the enemy’s
horse ; and declared his aversion to adopt a respon-
gibility in the execution of plans of which his judg-
ment did not approve. These observations appear to
have piqued the Genersl, who insisted npon the
advantage of assembling close to the scene of action,
for the purpose of protecting the forts ; and instead
of acknowledging the difficulty of uniting the forces
near Conjeveram, he ventured to pledge himself to
the Committee for carrying that measure into effect.
Upon this, it became a matter of necessity, that he
should leave his seat in the Select Committee ; but
to preserve its majority to the party to which he
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belonged, & new expedient was devised. On the BOOK ¥
allegation, that his plans had no chance of support, —
and that his reputation, neither as an officernora YV
man was safe, if the managing power were to pass

into the bands of the opposite party, it was, previous

to his departure, proposed, and what was thus pro-
posed, the majority which he helped to constitute

had pre-ordained to decree, that a person, whom he
named, should be appointed as an acting member of

the Committee till his return. It naturally fol-
lowed, that such proceedings shonld be severely
criticized by the opposite party; and one member of

the Council excited so much resentment by the
esperity of his remarks, that the majority, first
replied to him with gréater intemperance than that
which they condemned ; then suspended him from

his seat at the Board ; and lastly the General wrote

him a challenge. .. .

On the 2d of August, wlu.le preparations were
making, and the army was not yet assembled, a pro-
ject was adopted for sending a strong detachment
toward the passes, with a view to intercept the
enemy’s convoys. Colonel Cosby was the officer
chosen to command the expedition ; and a force was
provided for him, out of the troops stationed at
Trichinopely and Tanjore, strengthened by two re-
giments of the Nabob’s cavalry from Tinivelly
which joined the detachment at Trichinopoly on the
27th of  August. Several causes of retardation
operated on the expedition; but the grand impe~
diment arose from the disaffection of the inhabitants.
The sort of partnership sovereignty, which the

N2
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BOOK V. Nahob and the Company had established in the Car-

CHAP. .

1780.

natic, had hitherto been extremely oppressive to the
people, and had completely succeeded in alienating
their minds. Though Hyder was carrying devastation
over the country, he was less detested as a destroyer,
than hailed as a deliverer. While Colonel Cosby found
himself in the greatest distress for intelligence, which
by no exertion he was able to procure; every motion
of his own was promptly communicated to Hyder by
the people of the country :' He was disappointed and
betrayed even by the district officers of the Nabob :
As he advanced, his march became so much infested
by parties of the enemy’s horse, that all hope of any
successful operation against the convoys was wholly
cut off; and the danger which surrounded the de-
tachment made it necessary to think of nothing but
,the means of re-uniting it with the army. A total
want of intelligence reduced Colonel Cosby to mere
conjecture in choosing his route ; and he fcll in with
the army by accident, as it was retreating befure
Hyder, on the 12th of September near Chingliput.
Not only every day brought fresh intelligence of
the conquest and devastation effected by Hyder;
Madras itself, on the 10th of August, was thrown into

! Captain Cosby, in his official letter, dated Gingee, 5th Seplember,
1790, mays, “ There s no doubt but that Hyder has, by some means,
greatly sttached the inhabitants to him, insomoch that my hircarrabe
(spica) tefl me, the news of my marching from Thisgar was communicated
from village to village afl the way to Trinomallee, from wheate expresscs
were sent to Hyder; sad in sy march yesterdsy from Tricaloor, the
couniry being exiremely woody, the line was several times fired wpon by
matchdock fellows cotlected together, | suppose, from different villages,
by Hyder's Argmidam Some of them, till my spproach, were iswaing
orders six miles from this. - First Report, ut supm, Appendiz, No. 3. -
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alarm. A party of the enemy’s horsé committed BOOK V.

5.
ravages as near as St. Thomas's Mount; and the o ..
inhabitants of the open town began to take flight. 1780.

On the 14th of August, the General was obliged
to report, that the place of rendezvous, which he had
persisted in recommending, was unfit; the want of
bullocks to carry provisions rendering the march
impracticable. On his ‘recommendation, it was
therefore agreed, that the troops should meet at St.
Thomas’s Mount ; and there wait till eight days’ pro-
visions, and bullocks to carry it, could be procured.

Colonel Brathwaite, after sending away from
Pondicherry all the French officers capable of ser-
vice, and taking an oath of fidelity from the prin-
cipal Frenchmen that remained, commenced his
march. He arrived at Carangoly on the 12th of
August; and found it garrisoned by only a petty
ofticer of the Nabob and twenty sepoys. Tyey
would have surrendered it, he was well assured, on
the very first summons ; and had it not by a singular
oversight, as it commanded the only road by which

"Brathwaite could proceed, been wueglected by the
enemy, who had a large body of horse in its neigh--
bourbood, the most serious consequences might have
ensued. The country through which he passed after
leaving Carangoly would have rendered it so difficult
for him to escape, if attacked by the enemy, that he
formed a very contemptible opinion either of Hyder's
military skill or his means of offence, when he'allowed.
80 favourable an opportunity to be lost. On the 18th,
after a hazardous and fatiguing march, Colonel Brath-
waite arrived at Chingliput, when he received orders.
to join the army at the Mount..
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BOOK V. - After various speculations and reports respecting
the plan of hostilities which Hyder would pursue,
1780 uncertainty was st last removed, by his marching
towards Arcot, and taking ground before it on the
21st of August. The danger of that place excited
no little interest and alarm. It was mnot only the
capital of the province, but contained the principal
portion of the very defective stores which the Nabob
had provided; and afforded to Hyder & situation,
highly convenient, both for the accommodation of his
troops, and for spreading his operations over the
province. From every quarter alarming intelligence
arrived. The troops of Hyder were expected in the
circar of Guntoor, which had neither forts nor sol-
diers sufficient to oppose them, and where the Zemin-
dars were disaffected to the Company and in cor-
'respondence with the enemy: An army of Mahrattas
from Berar had marched into Cuttack, and brought
into imminent danger the defenceless state of the
northern circars. A body of Hyder's troops bad
united with the Nairs, and baving driven the Com-
pany’s troops from the Island of Durampatnam,’
threatened Tellicherry, with all the British posses-
sions on the coast of Malabar, The enemy had
appeared on the frontier of Madura, and the admiral
of the fleet communicated to the President and Select
Committee intelligence which he had received from
Europe, and on which he relied, that a French naval
and military force might soon be expected in India.
‘While pressed by dangers thus extraordinary both
in number and degree, the Presidency found their
treasury empty; they had endeavoured to borrow
money upon the Company’s bonds with little efect,
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the loans ‘of the Nabob bearing a better interest ; 330K V-
they made urgent applications to the Nabob for,
pecuniary and other supplies, and received from him. 1750,
a deplorable picture of his own poverty and neces-
sities, of the wretched and unproductive eondition of
the whole country, and the oppressive load of his
debts, principally, he said, produced, by the money
which he had expended and lost in the conquest of
Tanjore: To a similar application made to the Raja

" of Tanjore, the Raja replied, with a truth not liable
to dispute, that from the total exhaustion of his
country by the recent conquest, and by the oppres-
sive administration of the Nabob for several years,
he was wholly incapable of furnishing any consider-
able supplies. By desertion for. want of pay, or
disbanding for want of ability to pay, the Nabob's
army was greatly reduced. Even that reduced army
was mutinous from the length of its arrears, and a
source of apprehension rather than of hope.

On the 25th of August, the General left the Presi-
dency, and joined the army which was encamped
at St. Thomas’s Mount, Of cavalry, there was. one,
regiment, belonging to the Nabob, but commanded
by English officers, and it refused to march unless
it received its arrears. The men were deprived of
their ammunition and arms; and about fifty-six of
them only consented to sexve. The rest of the army
consisted of the King's 73rd regiment, one battalion
of the Company’s European troops, with the grena-
diers of another, five battalions of sepoys, a com-
pany of marksmen, two troops of cavalry, and a large
train of artillery, amounting, officers included, to
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l’c‘;‘z}: 5209. With the utmost difficulty as much rice had
= been provided as would serve the troops for eight
1780, days; the sepoys were obliged to be loaded with
four days’ supply; and the utmost efforte barely.
sufficed to procure bullocks to carry the remainder.
The General, notwithstanding, insisted npon loading
his march with a number of heavy cannen; of which,
as he had no fortifications to attack, the use did not
appear to be very remarkable. On the 26th, the
army left the Mount, and, after 8 march of four days,
reached the camp near Conjeveram, During the two
last days, the rain had fallen with great violence,
had broken the roads, and rendered the march,
especially with heavy artillery, slow and fatiguing.
The enemy’s cavalry had pressed upon them in great
numbers, and wounded and taken some of the men.
‘The agent of the Nabob, who accompanied the army,
and on whom the General depended to procure both
provisions and intelligence, informed him, that he
bad no power for procuring either the one or the
other; and.his only remaining resource was in the
paddy in the fields about Conjeveram.

It had been concerted, that the detachment of
Colonel Baillie should reach Conjeveram on the day
after the arrival of General Munro and the army.?
But on the 31st, a letter from Baillie gave informa-
tion that he had been stopped about five miles north
from Trepassore by a emall river which the rains had

! 1481 European infantry, 294 artilery, M-qnyl,ﬂuny-twoﬁeld-
pieces, four heavy cannon, and five mortars,

* The junclion might bave been eflocied at Madras withoul diffienity or
danger on the 254k or 26th ; and it is clesr that the main army shonld st
have advanced until the junction bad been effected. Wilks, il 267.—W.
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swelled. On the same day;it was reported by some.
deserters that Hyder had left Arcot, was crossing
_the river Palar, and ‘marching with his whole army
toward Conjeveram. - On the 3rd of September, the
same day on which Baillie crossed the river by which
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he had been impeded, the enemy encamped at five

miles’ distance in front of the army near Conjeveram.
The continuance of the rains, and the.necessity of
collecting the rice in the fields, and beating it for
themselves out of the husk, greatly incommoded and
harassed the troops. On the 6th, the enemy moved
his eamp to the north-east ; upon which the English
advanced to a high ground about two miles upou
the road towards Ballee and Trepassore, having the
enemy at a distance of about two ‘miles upon their

left. While this movement was performing, Hyder

had sent forward his son Tippoo Saib with a largé
body of the flower of his army to cut off the English
detachment with Colonel ‘Baillie, who had now
- advanced to Perambaucum, distant from the maiw
army about fifteen miles. Baillie made a disposition
to resist a prodigious superiority: of force; sustained
a severe conflict of several hours ; and at last repelled
the assailants. By a letter on the Bth, be informed
Muuro, that upon a review after the battle he found
the movement, requisite for joining him, beyond the
powers of his detachment; and intimatéd the neces-
gity, that the General should push forward with the
main body of the army. The General now found
himself pressed by dangers, to whatever quarter he
turned. All his provisions consisted in a small
quantity of paddy which he had been able to collect
in a pagoda. If he moved, the enemy would occupy
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his ground, and cut him off from the means of sub-
sistence. With the concurrence of his principal
officers, he adopted an expedient, of which the dan~
ger was scarcely, perhaps, less formidable; that of
still further dividing his little army, by sending 8
strong detachment, which, joining Baillie, might
enable him to proceed. About nine o’elock in the
evening of the 8th, Colonel Fletcher marched with
the flank companies of the 73rd regiment, two com-
panies of European grenadiers, one company of
sepoy marksmen, and ten companies of sepoy grena-
diers. The field-pieces, which the General proposed
to send with the detachment, Colonel Fletcher de-
clined, as calculated to impede his march. Themen
left even their knapsacks, and marched with only two
days’ provisions. Being joined by this detachment,
Baillie was instructed to move in the evening of the
9th, and march the whole of the night. On that
night the tents of the main army were struck, and
the men lay on their arms. About 12 o'clock some
cannon and musketry were heard; but they pre.
sently ceased, and all was still. A little before day-
break, a heavy firing of cannon and miusketry was
heard at a distance. 1t was soon perceived that the
enemy’s army bad moved: The General gave orders
to march by the right in the direction of the firing.
After proceeding about four miles, he ordered guns
to be fired, as a signal of his approach; aud aftera
mile and a half, he repeated the signal. A great
smoke was suddenly perceived, and the firing ceased.
Supposing that Baillie had repulsed the enemy, the
General led the army back into the road, in hopes
to meet him. After marching about two miles, he



PROCEEDINGS OF GENERAL MUNRO. 187 '

met 8 wounded sepoy, who. had escaped from the BOOK V.
fight, and told him that Colonel Baillie was entirely _.
defeated. The General eoncluded that the safety of 1780.
the army depended upon its returning to Conjeveram;
where it arrived about six in the evening, and where
the arrival of more wounded sepoys. confirmed the
report of the disaster.

While the English general was placed in so com-
plete an ignorance of the proceedings of the enemy,
Hyder had intelligence of every transaction of the
English camp: he was correctly informed of the
route of Colonel Fletcher, the number and quality of
his troops, the time of their march, and even the cir-
cumstance of leaving their cannon behind, He sent
8 strong detachment to intercept them. But the
sagacity of Fletcher suggesting suspicion of his
guides, he altered his route,, and, by cover of night,
evaded the danger. The junction of the two detach-
ments, after the defeat by Baillie, of so large a portion
of the enemy a few days before, struck alarm into
the Mysorean camp. Even the European officers in
the service of Hyder regarded the junction as a
masterly stroke of generalship, intended for the
immediate attack of his army both in front and rear.
Lally himself repaired to Hyder, and entreated him
to save his army from destruction by a timely retreat.
The resolution of Hyder was shaken, till two of his
spies arriving, assured him, not only that the English
army at Conjeveram was not in motion, but that it
was making no preparation to that effect. To his
European officers this intelligence appeared so per-
fectly incredible, that they concluded the spies to be
gold, and entreated Hyder not to incur his ruin by
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confiding in their report. Hyder immediately formed
his plan. A difficult part of the road was enfiladed
with concealed cannon; and large bodies of the best
part of his infantry were placed in ambush on either
side; a cloud of irregular cavalry were employed to
engage the attention of the English main army in
the direction of Conjeveram, while Hyder, with the
main body of his army, lay to watch the attack.
Colonel Fletcher joined with his detachment at
balf-an-hour after six in the morning of the 9th.
They reposed during the day; and after the parade

"in the evening, Colonel Baillie gave orders to be in

readiness to march. Between eight and nine o’clock,
the men moved off toward the left, by way of Sub-
deverim. The enemy began immediately to discharge
their rockets ; but, from the vigilance of the flanking
parties, did little execution. A little after ten
o'clock several guns opened on the rear. The
detachment countermarched, and formed in line with
the front toward Perambauvcum. The enemy keeping
up an incessant, though not very destructive fire,
and ‘discovering no inclination fo advance, Colonel
Baillie ordered his men to face to the right, and
march into an avenue, which they had passed a few
minutes before. The enemy’s cannon began to do
great execution; when Baillie detached a captain,
with five companies of Sepoys, to storm their guns.
Though a water<ourse, which happened at that
time o be unfordable, prevented this detachment
from performing the service on which they were
commanded, the intelligence of their march, which
was immediately communicated to the enemy, threw
their eamp into alarm; their guns were heard drawing



OPERATIONS OF BYDER. 189

off towards the English front, and their noise and BOOK X.
irregular firing resembled those of .an army under a ,
sudden and dangerous attack. A strong conviction 178
of the necessity of preserving every portion of the
little army, with which the mighty host of the enemy
was to be withetood, suggested, in all: probability,
both to Colonel Baillie and to the General, a caution
which otherwise they would not. have.observed.
For what other reason Colonel. Baillie forbore: to
try the effect of an attack during the apparent con-
fusion of the enemy; or, for what reason, unless. a
hope of being supported by the General with an
attack on the opposite side, he did not,. when the
firing ceased, endeavour to proceed, but remained in
his pogition till morning, it is not. easy to . divine.
During the night, Tippoo, who had commanded only
a detachment of the army in the preceding attack,
bad an opportunity of drawing his cannon to a
strong post on the road, by which the English were
obliged to pass; and of sending to his father advice,
on which he immediately. acted, of the advantage of
supporting the attack with the whole of his army.
At five o'clock in the morning Colonel Baillie's
detachment began to advance. A few minutes after
six, two guns opened on their rear; and large
bodies of borse appeared .on. their flanks. . Four
guns, which began to.do .considerable execution on
their flanks, were successfully .stormed; and the
Pagoda of . Conjeveram,.the object of their. hopes,
and the termination of their perils and labour, began
to appear; when they were informed that the whole
‘host of Hyder was approaching. * Very well,” said
.Baillie, * we shall.be prepared..to. receive .them,.’
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BOOK V.'And presently after, upwards of sixty pieces of
cannon, with an immense quantity of rockets, began
V/®. 1o play upon this little army. Great confusion was
produced among the numerous followers of the camp,
who were driven in upon the line; and Hyder's
numerous cavalry, supported by his regular infantry,
and his Enropean corps, bore upon every point of
attack. Nothing ever exceeded the steadiness and
determination with which this handful of men
sustained the fury of their enemies. No effort could
break their order; while Sepoys, as well as Euro-
peans, repeatedly presenfed and recovered arms, with
as much coolness and regularity, as if they had been
exhibiting on a parade. Every attack of the enemy
was repulsed with vast slaughter. Their courage
began to abate; and even Hyder himself was per-
plexed. A movement executed by-Colonel Baillie
to the right, apparently with a view to attack the
enemy’s guns, increased the terrors of Hyder; and
he consulted Lally on the propriety of a retreat;
Lally replied, that as the main army of the English
was probably advancing upon his rear, no expedient
remained but to break through the detachment
When the heroic bravery of this little band presented
8o fair 3 prospect of bafiling the host of their assail-
ants, two of their tambrils blew up; which not only
made a large opening in both lines, but at once
‘deprived them of ammunition, and overturned and
disabled their guns. Their fire was now in a great
measure silenced, and their lines were no longer
entire; yet s0 great was the awe which they inspired,
that the enemy durst not immediately close. From
bhalf after seven, when the tumbrils blew up, they
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remained exposed to the fire of the camnon and BOOK ¥
rockets, losing great numbers of officers and men,
till nine o’clock, when Hyder, with his whole army, 1780.
came round the right flank: The cavalry charged
in separate columns, while bodies of infantry, inter-
spersed between them, poured in volleys of musketry
with dreadful effect. After the sepoys were almost
all destroyed, Colonel Baillie, though severely
wounded, rallied the Europeans who survived.
Forming 8 square, and gaining a little eminence,
without ammunition, and almost all wounded, the
officers fighting with their swords, and the men with
their bayonets, they resisted and repelled thirteen
attacks, many of the men when desperately wounded
disdaining to receive quarter, and raising themselves
from the ground to receive the enemy on their
bayonets. Though not more than 400 men, they
still desired to be led on, and to cut their way
through the enemy, But Baillie, despairing now of
being relieved by Munro, and wishing, no doubt, fo
spare the lives of the brave men who surrounded
him, deemed it better to hold up a flag of truce.
The enemy at first treated this with contempt.
After a few minutes, the men were ordered to lay
down their arms ; with intimation that quarter would
be given, Yet they had no sooner surrendered, than
the savages rushed upon them with unbridled fury;
and had it not been for the great exertions of Lally,
Pimorin, and other French officers, who implored for
mercy, not a man of them probably would have been
spared. The gallant Fletcher was among those who
lay on the field of battle. About 200 Europeans
were taken prisoners, reserved to the horrors of a
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captivity more terrible than death. The inhuman
treatment which they received was deplored and
mitigated by the French officers in the service of
Hyder, with a generosity which did honour to
European education. * No pen,” says an eye-
witness, and a participator of their kindness,' * can
do justice to the humanity of those gentlemen,
without whose assistance, many of our officers must
have perished: but their merit will live for ever
embalmed in the hearts of all who felt or witnessed
their beneficence.”

Hyder withdrew to Damul, a place about six

' Bee “A Narnative of the Captivity sad Sufferings of the Officers,
Soldiers, and Bepoys, who fell into the Hands of Hyder Ali, after Lhe
Battle of Conjeveram, September [0, 1750; by an officer of Colonel
Baillie's Detachment,” It forms the second volume of the work entitled,
“ Memoirs of the lsle War in Asis,” published by Murmay, in 1758.
N. B. Before reading the proof of this sheet, I have had the adventage of
perusing the account of the same action in the second volume {(pot yet
pablished) of  Historical Sketches, &c. by Colonel Wilks.” The sccount
in the text is taken from the journal of one eye-witness. Coloned Witke
gives au sccount from that of snothey, much less favoursble to the de-
tachment and its commander. According & the suthority of Colonel
Wilks 8 series of military blunders, sod ot much of mental collectedness,
marked the conduct of the leader; snd mo litle confosion and penic
‘appeared among the men. Which aceount are we (o beliecve? Wy this;
that when proof is balanced, if is always more probuble that men have
acted like ordinary men, than that they have acted like heroes.—M. The
sccounts are less iscompatible thap the sothor thinks them. Colonel
‘Wilks speaks of no panic ssongst the men, 3or of cosfusion, til} after the
explosion of the tumbrils: his deseription is equally favourable to theis
courage snd condnct as that of the text. Both sccomnmts agree as to one
principal cante of (he catastrophe, the wunecesmry halty made by Baillis,
his neglecting to advanee after the first repuise of the enemy, and remaining
in position until day-break.. Had the time thus wasted been employed in
parsuing the march, he mmst, by the morming, have been 80 close to the
mam body that their co-operstion could 5o longer have been prevemted,
and Hyder would have either suflered n defeat, or been compelied preci-
pilstely o setre. There was 20 want of conrage, but 8 sad deciency of
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miles from the sceme of action, and the next day BOOE ¥.
returned to his camp, where he had left the tents
standing, and baggage unmoved, when he marched 1780
to the attack of the unfortunate Baillie. He had
acted, during the whole of these operations, under
the greatest apprehension of the march of Munro
upon his rear. And had not that General been
deterred, throngh his total want of intelligence, and
his deficiency in the means:of subsistence, from
marching to the support of Baillie; had he fallen
upon the rear of the enemy while the detachment
was maintaining its heroic resistance in front, it is
probable that the army of Hyder would have
sustained a total defeat. On returning to- Conje-
veram, after intelligence of the fate of the detach-
ment, the General found that the provisions, which
be had been so unwilling to expose, amounted to
barely one day’s rice for the troops. Concluding
that he should be immediately surrounded by Hyder’s
cavalry, and cut off from all means of providing any
further supply, he began at three o'clock the next
morning to retreat to Chingliput, after throwing
into a tank the heavy guns and stores which he
could not remove. Hyder, informed of all the
motions of the English army, sent a body“of not less
than 6000 horse, who harassed continually their
flanks and rear, wounded some of the men, and cut
off several vehicles of baggage. Through several
difficulties, they reached, about eleven at night, a
river, withic & mile and a half of Chingliput, so
deep, that the rear of the army passed only at nine
o'clock on the following morning. At this place the
General expected to find a stock of provisions; but,
VOL, IV. ]
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with all his endeavours, could bardly procure paddy
for aday. Fortunately for Colonel Cosby, as he was
about to make a forced march to Conjeveram, he
met with one of the fugitive sepoys from Colonel
Baillie's camp, upon-whose intelligence he proceeded
to Chingliput, and though considerably harassed by
the enemy on his march, joined the army in safety
on the morning of the 12th, Leaving the sick, and
part of the baggage, at Chingliput, the whole army,
at six o'clock on the morning of the 13th, began
their march for the Mount, at which they arrived in
the afternoon of the following day. Nothing could
exceed the consternation and alarm of the Presidency,
which now trembled even for Madras ; and destitute
as it was not only of provisions, but supplies of every
kind, if Hyder had followed the English with his
usual impetuosity, and with his whole army assailed
the place, it is hard to tell how nearly, if not com-
pletely, he might have involved the Carnatic interests
of the nation in ruin.!

On the 4th of September the Supreme Council in
Bengal had deliberated upon the situation of the Pre-
sidency of Madras, and the propriety of adding to
their pecuniary resources ; but as the Supreme Coun-
¢il were still uncertain as to the reality of Hyder's
invasion, or the success of the Presidency in raising
money, it was agreed, that proceedings should be
delayed till forther intelligence.

' For the originu! documents relative to this irruption, see First Re-
pott, wi supme, with its Appendix. In “ Memoirs of the late War in
Asia,” i 134—168, besides the comeomitsnt tramsactions, is & arrstive of
the trapsactions of Baillie’s detachment, from the information of an officer
vbbda:gedtait. The Anmual Register for 1752 contains a tolerable
mﬁ,MyhnﬁmﬁePldmm
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The Supreme Council were highly dissatisfied with BOOK 9.
the Governor and Council of Fort St. George, who
had not only passed the severest strictures on their 1%
.policy, but, in the business with Nizam Al, the
Subahdar, had acted contrary to their declared incli-
nations, and even commands. The Madras Presi-
dency, offended with the interference of the Supreme
Council in their negotiation with the Subahdar, and
with their own envoy, Mr. Hollond, as an instru-
ment in that interference, resolved that he should be
recalled. The Supreme Council, being made ac-
quainted with that resolution by Mr. Hollond, and
apprehending a greater estrangement of the mind of
the Nizam by so abrupt a conclusion of the corre-
spondence with the Company, came to an opinion,
on the 14th of February, 1780, that advantage would
arise from appointing a person ,to represent them-
selves at the Nizam’s court; and to obviate the
appegrance of disunion between the Presidencies,
they made applicatien to the Governor and Council
of Madras, whose servant Mr. Hollond more im-
mediately was, for their permission to west that
gentleman with the office; and in the mean time
directed him to remain with the Nizam till the
answer of the Presidency was obtained. The of
fended minds of the Presidency, not satisfied with
the recall of Mr. Hollond, which had not produced
an immediate effect, suspended him from their sex-
vice. The Supreme Council, now freed from their
delicacy in employing the servant of another Pre-
sidency, appointed Mr. Hollond immediately to
represent them at the court of the Subahdar. They
transmitted also their commands to the Governor

o2
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BOOK V. and Council of Madras, under date the 12th of June,
1780, to make restitution of the Circar of Guntoor.
1780 No step however had as yet been taken in the exe-
cution of that measure by the government of Madras:
and this the Governor-General represeunted, as a
conduct which demanded the most serious considera-
tion, and the decided interposition of the Sovereign

Board.! )

On. the 25th, however, of the same month of Sep-
tember, when intelligence had arrived not only of
the actual invasion of Hyder, but of the discomfiture
of Baillie, and the retreat of the army to the vicinity
of Madras, with the poverty and helplessness of the
Presidency, and the general havoc of the province
by a barbarous foe, the Governor-General, regarding
only the means of recovering the blow, and meeting
the exigency with a clear judgment and a resolute
mind, proposed, that all the faculties of their govern-
ment should be exerted, to re-establish the power of
the Company on the coast. He moved that the sum
of fifteen lacs of rupees, and a large detachment of
European infantry and artillery, should immediately
be sent to the relief of Madras: he also moved that
Sir Eyre Coote should be requested to take upon
himself, as alone sufficient, the task of recovering
the honour and authority of the British arms: and
recommended that an offer of peace should be made
without delay to the Mahratta state. Upon the
joint consideration, first, of the indigence and dangers
of the Bengal government; gecondly, of the proba-
bility of mismanagement on the part of the govern-

! Becond Report of the Committee of Becrery.
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ment of Madras; and, lastly, of the résources which BOOK ¥-
that government still possessed, Mr. Francis objected
to the magnitude of the supply, and would have sent 175
only one-half of the money and none of the troops,
while peace, he said, should.be concluded with the
‘Mahrattas on any terms which they would accept.
It was agreed that Sir Eyre Coote, and not the
government of Madras, in whom confidence could
not be wisely reposed, should have the sole power
over the money which was supplied; it was resolved,
that the strong measure should be taken of suspend-
ing the Governor of Fort St. George, for his neglect
of their commands in not vestoring the Circar of
‘Guntoor; and on the 13th of October, Sir Eyre
Coote sailed from Calcutta, with a battalion of Euro-
pean infantry consisting of 330 men; two companies
of artillery consisting of 200 men, with their comple-
ment of 630 Lascars, and between forty and fifty gen-
tlemen volunteers. The prejudices of the Sepoys
rendered it hazardous to attempt to send them by
'sea; and till the waters abated, which in the rainy
geason covered the low lands on the coast, it was
not practicable for them to proceed by land. The
intention, indeed, was entertained of sending by land
four or five battalions in the course of the next or the
‘ensuing month, but to that proceeding another diffi-
culty was opposed. Moodajee Bonslah, the regent
of Berar, after showing a great readiness to meet
the proposal of an alliance with the English, had
afterwards temporized ; and, though he afforded Colo-
nel Goddard a safe passage through his dominions;
declined all co-operation by means of his troops, and
even evaded a renewal of the negotiation. When the
disaflection of Nizam Ali towards the English was
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BOOK V. increased, that chieftain united his councils with the
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1780,

Poonah rulers, and with Hyder Al for the means
of gratifying his resentments; and they joined in
threatening the Regent of Berar, if he afforded assist-
ance to the English. The Regent distrusted his
means of resistance, and dared not to form the inter-
dicted conjunction: The Nizam and the Poonah chiefis
even insistéd that he should send an army to invade
and ravage Bengal, and he was afraid to resist the
command : as he had no intention however to bring
upon himself the resentment of the English, he

.communicated to the Governor-General intelligence
of the constraint under which he acted ; _and, though

he sent into Cuttack an army of 30,000 horse, under
his son Chimnajee Bonsla, he promised fo contrive,
by means of delay, that it should not reach the bor-
ders of Bengal, till the season of action was over,
and the rains begun. When it did arrive, which

. was early."in June, 1780, it was in such distress for

want of provisions, as to find a necessity of applying
to the Bengal government for aid. The policy of
preserving, if possible, the relations of amity with
the state of Berar, as well as the motive of making
a suifable return for the accommodations afforded to
Colonel Goddard on his march, disposed the govern-
ment to comply with its request. The army of
Chimnajee Bonslah was in want of money no less
than provisions; and on the21st of September, an
wgent request was tenderegd for a pecuniary accom-
modation, which the Goverdor-General privately,
and without communication with his Council, in part
supplied; at the same time intimating, that it de-
pended uporn the recall of that army from Cuttack,
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or its junction with the troops of the Company, to BOOK 5V
enable him to propose a public gratmty better pro-
portioned to its wants. It might in these circum- J780.
stances be presumed, that Chimnajee Bonslah would

not hinder an English detachment to pass through -
Cuttack for Madras; but evil intentions on his part

were still possible; on that of Nizam Ali something

more than possible; the hazard of a march by the
countries which they occupied was therefore propor-
tionally great.!

Sir Eyre Coote, with a passage fortunately ex-
peditious, landed at Madras on the 5th November,
and took his seat in Council on the 7th. He had
been eppointed bearer of the decree by which the
Supreme Council suspended the Governor of Fort
St. George, and this document he now produced.
The Governor not only denied the competence of the
Supreme Board to exercise the authority which they
now assumed; but declared their decision precipitate
and unjust, no contumacy appearing in his conduct
to merit the punishment, which they arrogated to
themselves unwarrantably the power to inflict. The
majority of the Council however recognised the sus-
pension; and the senior member of the Council sue-
ceeded to the chair.

During the interval between the retreat of Sir
Hector Munro to the Mount, and the arrival of the
Commander-in-Chief with the Bengal supplies, the
Presidency at Madras had in vain importuned the
Nabob for means which he had not to bestow. They
appointed Colonel Brathwaite to the command in

! First Report, ut supra, and Appendix, No. 17; Sixth Beport, dilto,
p- 99, and Appendix, No. 294 to 306.
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Tanjore; and recommending that a body of cavalry:
should be raised in that country, demanded the as-
sistance of the Raja for that purpose, as well as for
provisions to the troops. They made restitution at
last of the Guntoor Circar; and at the same time
sent a letter to the Nizam, in which they advertised
him of the compliance they had yielded to his desires;
made apology for delay in paying the peshcush, and
promised regularity, when the removal of the present
troubles should place it more in their power. Partly
the poverty and weakness of this Prince, partly his
jealousy of Hyder, and partly the assurances which
he had received from the Superior Government in
Bengal had as yet retained him inactive during the
war which he had been eager to excite. The situa.
tion of the Northern Circars was calculated to tempt
‘his ambition. The troops, with the exception of
garrisons for the three principal places, were all
recalled; but the Sepoys in the Guntoor Circar re-
fused to proceed by sea, and were obliged to be left at
Ongole, while a mutiny was the effect of an attempt
to embark those at Masulipatam and Vizagapatam.
At the first of these places, order was restored by
the address of the commanding officer. At Vizaga-
patam, however, they killed several of their officers,
plundered the place, and went off, accompanied by
five companies of the first Circar battalion. Ap-
prehensions were entertained, that the Sepoys in the
neighbouring Circar would follow their example;
and that the Zemindars would deem the opportunity
favourable to draw their necks out of the yoke. Sit-
taram Raz, who had been vested with so great a
power by the favour of Governor Rumbold, stood
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aloof in a8 manner which had the appearance of BOOK ¥.
design. But Vizeram Raz, his brother, who had — —
just grounds of complaint, zealously exerted himself 78
to suppress and intercept the mutineers, who at last
laid down their arms, with part of their plunder, and
dispersed.

Immediately after the battle of Conjeveram, Hyder
- marched to renew the siege of Arcot, defended by
about 150 Europeans, and a garrison of the Nabob’s
troops. In the service of the Nabob, there was
hardly found a man that was faithful to his trust.
Discord prevailed between the officers of the Nabob,
and those of the Company, during the whole of the
siege. The approaches of Hyder were carried on
with a skill resembling that of the best engineers, and
his artillery was so well served as to dismount repeat-
edly the English guns upon the batteries. Afier a
siege of six weeks, the town which surrounded the
fort was taken on the 31lst of October, by assault;
but the fort was strong, and still might, have defended
itself for a considerable time. The favour with
which Hyder found his cause regarded by the people,
he took care to improve, by the protection which he
afforded to the inhabitants of Arcot, and the treat.
ment of his prisoners: the applause of his generosity
easily passed from the people without the fort to the
people within: with the Nabob’s officers he probably
corresponded: the native troops slmost all deserted
and the fort capitulated on the 3d of November,
The officer who commanded #he fort, on the part
of the Nabob, be took immediately into his service
and confidence. Many other of the Nabob’s gam-
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sons had-surrendered, with little or no resistance,
generally upon the summons of Hyder's horse; and
though an excuse was furnished, by the condition in
which they found themselves with respect to the
means of defence, notbing less than general treachery
and disaffection seemed sufficient to account for the
facility with which every place was given up.
Hyder immediately supplied the forts with garn-
sons, repaired the works, and laid in provisions and
stores. He proceeded with great expedition to put
Arcot into the best possible state of defence. Every
avenue which led to it from Madras, and from Madras
to the forts which the, Nabob or English still re-
tained, were occupied by large detachments of his
horse, and when need was, even by infantry, and for-
tified posts. By this means, the channel of commu-
nication, not only for supply, but even for intelligence,
was almost wholly cut off.

Not deficient, either in the virtues which inspire
affection, or in those which command respect, Sir
Eyre Coote, as he was somewhat disposed to enlarge
in praise of himself, 80 was somewhat apt to indulge
in complaint of others. In the letters, which after
his arrival in the Camnatic he addressed to the Direc-
tors and the ministers of the King, he drew a picture
in the darkest colours, not only of the weak and
disastrous condition into which the country was
brought, but of the negligence and incapacity, if not
the corruption and guilt, of those servants of the
Company, under whose management such misfortunes
had arrived. 1t was, however, much more easy to
point out what it was desirable should have been
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performed, than, with the defective revenue of the Bc‘;gf AG
Presidency, to have performed it.' That Presidency -
had repeatedly represented both to the supreme 8
Council, and to the Directors, their utter incapacity,
through want of money, to make any military exer-

tion: and by both had been left to struggle with

their necessities. It was the poverty of the Carnatie,

and the unwillingness of all parties to act as if they
believed in that poverty, much more, it is probable,

that the negligence or corruption of the government,
which produced the danger by which all were now
alarmed.® ‘

According to the statement of the General, the
whole army with which he had to take the field
against the numerous host of Hyder, did not exceed
7000 men, of whom 1700 alone were Europeans.?

' Bee the Fourth Report of the Committee of Becrecy, p. 6, where it
sppeers to have been distinctly announced, by the Governor and Council,
on the 19th January, 1779, that thdir resources were unequal, even to their
peace-establishment, much more to make any preparations for war.

* If the poverty of the Madras Presidency was the consequence of misma-
nagement and corruption, it only aggravated their culpability. The resources
of the Carnatis were sufficient, if protected sgainst the prodigality of the
Nabob, the rapacity of his European adherents, and the ignorance or
venality of the Company’s servants, to have maintained the Presidency in
s posture respactable, if not forividable to its neighbours. At any rate the
knowledge of such inadequate reaources evinced in the complaints allyded
to, should have deterred the government from provoking hostilities, from a
breach of their sngagements with Hyder Ali, from disregarding his dis-
pleasurs, wnd violating his territory, and from injuring and offending the
Nizam. The timely interposition of the Bengal Government alone pre-
ventod the active enmity of this latter power, whose co-operation with
Hydor once befors axporienced, would have bsen decisive of the fate of
Madras. In no patt of the.administretion of Warren Hastings does he
appesr to more advantage than in the wisdom and vigour with which he
rescusd the Presidency of Fort 8t. George from ths disastrous oonse.
quemces of its misgovernment.—W.

_¥ Hig force, therefore, did not excoed that of Munro and Baillie, had their
Junction been offocted. According to Sir T, Munro, whoe was then #
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BOOK V. Having put down in writing the view which he took
of the situation of affairs, and the plan of hostilities
178 which it appeared to him most advisable to pursue,
he called a Council of War, consisting of the three
general officers at the Presidency, Sir Hector Munro,
Lord Macleod, and Brigadier-General Stuart ; laid
the paper before them, and desired that, after the
most mature consideration, they would give their
opinions upon it separately in writing. As four of
the principal strong-holds of the Carnatic, Velore,
Wandewash, Permacoil, and Chingliput, represented
by the Nabob as containing considerable stores, were .
invested by the enemy, the General proposed to begin
with the operations necessary for their relief! Not
contented with the sanction of the general officers,
he deemed it meet, with a condescension to which

' the pride of military knowledge can seldom submit,
to communicate the proceedings of the Council of
War to the Select Committee, and to desire their
opinion. All agreed in approving the plans of the
General, and reposing unbounded confidence in his
direction. As Wandewash was the place in most
imminent danger, the first effort was directed in its
favour. The probability that Hyder would not per-

mibaltern with the army, it was Dot so strong; conwisting of but 1400
Eurcpeans, with 5000 sepoys, and 800 mative cavalry. Life of Munro,
i 32—wW.

' In bis representation, the General stated it as 8 known fact, that they
kad not only Hyder, but the whole Carnatic, for enemies ; and, thevefive,
pot amsistamee, but obetruction, to expect in every part of the march: one
of the Nabob’s renteys baving endeavoured to betray Vellore to the ezemy,
he bad ardered him, he mid, into irons ; hoping, *that be wight be in-
strumenial to the discovery of those dark designs, which bo had long
suspecied to exist in the court of & sative power, living smder the very
walls of our garsison st Fort 8¢ George.”
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mit them, unopposed, to pass the river Palar, it wag BOOK V.
gallantly and generously observed by Munro, was a
motive rather to.stimulate than repel, as the zoops 178t
under their present leader he was confident would
prevail, and nothing was, therefore, more desirable
than to bring Hyder to.a general action. On the
17th of January, 1781, the army, under the command
of General Coote, marched from the gncampment at
the Mount. Hyder was struck with. awe by the
arrival of the new commander and the reinforce:
ments  from Bengal. So far from opposing the
passage of the Palar, he abandoned Wandewash with
precipitation, as soon as th@®rmy approached.! - But
this success was counterbalanced by the fall of the
important fortress of Amboor, which commanded
one of the passes into the Carnatic. From Wande-
wash the army was on jts march toward Permacoil,
when intelligence was received by express, that a
French fleet had arrived.” This was an event by
which attention was roused. The direction of the
march was immediately changed; and the army,
after a few days, encamped on 'the red hills of
‘Pondicherry, with its front toward Arcot. ‘

After the reduction of Pondicherry, the inhabitants

. ¥ Wandewash was aot besieged by Hyder at this time in person. The
commander of the ensmy was one of his generaln, Mir Saheh; the fort
was defended by Lieut. Flint, and a garrison of 300 Sepoys only. The
extraordinary cournge, presence of mind, and military talents of Lieut.
Flint, are described with the most interesting minuteness, and with enthu-
siastic, but dessrved commendastion, by Col. Wilks, ii. 201. See also
Life of Munro, i. 33, Hyder at this period was engaged in the siege of
Vellore, which was defended with successful gallantry by Col. Lang; and
the failuze of an aitempt to carry it by storm on the 10th of January, aa
‘wall an the movementa of the English General, induced Hyder to raise the
siege. [bid. 35.—W.
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BOOK V. had been treated with uncommon forbearance and

CHAF. 5,

1781,

generosity. The fortifications elone were destroyed.
The people were allowed to trade under the protec-
tion of the English; and the officers to remain on
their parole. Even upon the invasion of Hyder,
when it was entirely evacuated by the English
troops, the officers alone were sent to Madras. The
flattering prospect of being speedily reinforced by
their countrymen, of seeing themselves change places
with the English, and of contributing something to
the recovery in India of the glory and power of their
country, tempted the Frenchmen of Pondicherry to
forget the favours which they had received. They
applied coercion to the English resident; enlisted
sepoys ; and laid in provisions at Carangoly. Sir
Eyre Coote made baste to disarm the inhabitants, to
remove the provisions from Carangoly, and to destroy
the boats. The French fleet, consisting of seven
large ships, and four frigates, lay at anchor off Pon-
dicherry. The English army was closely followed
by large bodies of the enemy’s horse; and on the
8th of February Hyder passed at the head of his
army, within cannon-shot of the English camp:
marching, as was supposed, directly to Cuddalore.
The English drums beat to arms; and while the
enemy proceeded on ome of the two roads which

-lead towards Cuddalore, the English marched

parallel with them on the other, and encamped on
the 9th with their right towards the ruins of Fort
St. David, and their left towards Cuddalore. Seo
feeble were the resources of the English General,
that he was already reduced to a few days’ provi-
sions; and eager for a battle, as the most probable
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means of obtaining relief " He moved the army on BOOK V.
“the 10th from the cover of the guns of Cuddalore, —
leaving the tents standing, and placed himself in 1781
order of battlee He informed the men, as he rede
along the line, that the very day he wished for was
arrived ; and that they would be able in a few hours

to reap the fruit of their labours. The English re-
mained for three successive days offering battle to

the enemy, which he was 100 cunning to accept;

and on the fourth returned to their camp, with a

great increase of their sick, their provisions almost
exhausted, the cattle on which their movements de-
pended dying for want of forage, Hyder in possession

of the surrcunding country, and an enemy’s fleet

upon the coast. The deepness of the gloom was a

little dispelled by the sudden departure of that fleet,
which, being greatly in want of water and other ne-
cessaries, and afraid of the English squadron which

was shortly expected back from the opposite coast,

set sail on the 15th of February, and proceeded to

the Isle of France.

The inability, in ‘the English army, to move, for
want of provisions and equipments, and the policy of
Hyder to avoid the hazards of a battle, prevented all
operations of importance during several months, In
the mean time Hyder reduced the fortress of
Thiagar; his cavalry overran and ‘ plundered the
open country of Tanjore; and Tippoo Saib,
with a large division of his army, laid siege to Wan~
dewash. |

On the 14th of June the fleet returned witha
reinforcement of troops from Bombay. While absent
on the western coast, Sir Edward Hughes had
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attacked the ships of Hyder, in his own ports of
Calicut and Mangalore; and destroyed the rudi--
ments of that maritime power which it was one of

* the favourite objects of his ambition to erect.

The want of bullocks, which were the draught
cattle of the army, rendered the movement even of
the English artillery heavy and slow. In hopes of
being now supplied with provisions by sea while
they remained upon the coast, the English proceeded
to Porto Novo on the 19th of June, not only to put
a stop to the ravages of the enemy in Tanjore and
the neighbouring districts, but to yield protection to
Trichinopoly, against which, it was evident, that

- Hyder was preparing to march. On the 18th,

General Coote in person conducted a large detach-
ment to the assault of, the fortified Pagoda of Chil-
lambram ; where he was repulsed with very con-
siderable loss. This event, which the English
regarded as a heavy misfortune, produced the most
favourable results. At a time when they could by
no means venture to carry their operations from the
vicinity of the sea; when their imbecility was
becoming dangerously visible ; and when they might
have been socn cooped up within the walls of
Madras, this disaster sufficiently elevated Hyder,
whose army had increased with the progress of his
arms, to hazard a battle for the sake of preventing
the advance of the English towards Trichinopoly ;
which, ag holding in check the southern countries,
was regarded by him as an object of great import-
ance; and against which he was proportionally
desirous that his operations should not be disturbed.
He was dissuaded, it is said, but in vain, from this
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'rash design, by the prudence of his eldest son; and BOOK 5"
advancing on the only road by which the English-
could proceed to Cuddalore, he took up an advan- 1781
tageous position, which he fortified with redoubts,
while the English were obtaining a few days’ pro-
visions landed laboriously through the surf. Early
in the morning of the 1st of July, the English army
broke up the camp at Porto Novo, and commenced
their march with the sea at a little distance on their
right. To the other difficulties under which the
English General laboured, was added a want of
intelligence, partly from deficient arrangements, but
chiefly, it is probable, from the disaffection of the
people of the country, and the diffusion of Hyder's
horse, who seldom allowed a spy to return.  After a
march of about an hour, the opening of an extensive
prospect discovered a large body of cavalry drawn
up on the plain. It was necessary to detach from
the English army, small as it was, a considerable
body of troops for the protection, from the enemy’s
irregular horse, of the baggage and the multitudinous
followers of an Indian camp. The General formed
the army in two lines, and advanced in order of
battle. A heavy cannonade was opened on the
cavalry which occupied the road before them. This
dispersed the cavalry, and exposed to view a line of
redoubts, commanding the road, and the enemy
behind that line, extending on the right and left to
a greater distance on the plain than the eye could
command. The troops were ordered to halt; and
the principal officers were summoned to council.
The difficulties were almost insurmountable: the
sea enclosed them on the right: impracticable
VOL. 1V, P
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BOOK V. gand-banks on the left : to advance directly upon the
fire of 50 many batteries exposed the army to a

78 greadful slaughter, if not extermination: and four
days’ provisions, which the men carried upon their
backs, constituted the whole of their means of sub-
sistence. While the Council deliberated, an officer,
walking to a litile distance, discovered a road cut
through the sand-hills. It was afterwards found to
have been made by Hyder the preceding night, with
a view to enable him, when the English should be
storming the batteries in front, to throw them into
confusion by falling on their flank; when his horse
would rush from behind the batteries and complete
their destruction. The army filed off into the newly-
discovered road, the sepoys unharnessing the wretched
oxen, and drawing the artillery more quickly them-
selves. Hyder perceived the failure of his stratagem,
evacuated his works, and moved exactly parallel with
the English army: which, after passing the sand-
banks, turned and faced the ememy. A pause
ensued, during which the General seemed irresolute,
and some officers counselled a retreat.’ Several of
the men fell under the fire of the enemy’s guns,
which had been removed with great expedition from
the batteries, and placed in the line. The second

' Both Wilks and Munro aacribe this pawse to Bo irresolution in the
General, but to the necessity of waiting until his second line was in posi-
tion. Munro's account is particularly valuabls, s he was present. “ Tha
General rode along the front (of the first line) encouraging every ome to
patience, and to reserve their fire till they were ordesed to past with it ;
be only waited for acconnts from the second fine. An aid-de-camp from
Geouernl Staart (old him that he bad taken possassion of the sand-hille; he
immediataly gave orders {0 advance, snd to open all the guns. The fire
was 3¢ heavy that mothing could stand before it.” Life of Munro, 43.
Bee aloo & detailed accound of the artion, in Witks, il 209.—W.
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line of the English army was ¢commanded to occupy BOOK .
some’heights in the rear. Hyder, soon aware of the :
" importance of this position, sent a division of his 1781,
army to dislodge them. The first ling of the English,
led by Sir Hector Munro, now went forward ta the -
attack ; and at the same time another division of
the enemy endeavoured fo penetrate between the
two lines, and attack the General in the rear. For
six hours, during which the contest lasted, every
part of the English army was engaged to the utmost
limit of exertion, The second line upon the heights,
skilfully and bravely commanded by General Stuart,
not only repelled the several attacks which were
made to force them from their advantageous ground,
but successfully resisted the attempt which was made
to penetrate between the lines, and rendered it im-
possible for the enemy to aim a stroke at the baggage
towards the sea. The first line was thus left with
undivided attention to maintain their arduous conflict
. with the main body of Hyder's army; where their
admirable perseverance at last prevailed, and driving
before them promiscuously, infantry, cavalry, artillery,
they finally precipitated the enemy into a disorderly
retreat. Had the English possessed cavalry, and
other mesns of active pursuit, they might have
deprived Hyder of his artillery and stores; and pos-
sibly reduced him to the necessity of evacuating the
province. Their loss did not exceed 400 men;
and not one officer of rank was either killed or
wounded. The enemy’s principal loss was sustained
in the first attack upon the line on the beights, the -
_ strength of which they mistook, and sdvanced with
too much confidence of success. In the rest of the
P2
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BOOK V. battle, they fought chiefly at a distance, and with

— their artillery, which was sgkilfully served. The

1781, consequences of this victory were highly important.

Hyder abandoned his designs upon the southern

provinces. Tippoo raised the siege of Wandewash ;

and both retired with the whole of their army to the
neighbourhood of Arcot.

The body of native troops, which it bad been re-
solved by the government of Bengal to send by land
to the assistance of Madras, was long detained by
the negotiations, carried on, as well with the Berar
government, as with Chimnajee, the Commander of
the army in Cuttack. The distress of that Com-
mander for money to pay his troops, and the pro-
posal of a gratuity of thirteen, with a loan of tem,
Iacs of rupees; though distrust of the KEnglish

' power, now violently shaken, made his father shy ;
induced Chimnajee to engage for a safe passage to
the troops. The detachment was placed under the
command of Colonel Pearce; and about the end of
March arrived at Ganjam, where it was long detained
by the violence of an infectious disease. This,
together with a great desertion among the sepoys,
materially weakened the battalions ; and their junc-
tion was not effected with Coote, who had returned
to Madras, before the beginning of August.

The object which more immediately engrossed the
desires of the English was the recovery of Arcot.
As the want of provisions was the grand impediment
to that enterprise, and as the enemy were reported
to have laid in great stores at Tripassore, the siege of
that place was undertaken, in bopes to supply the
army for the siege of Arcot. But Tripassore, though
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it surréndered after a few days’ resistance, was found Bc(;‘:f A
to contain a small supply of provisions; and the ads ———
vanced parties of Hyder's army, who was in full -178L
march to its relief, appeared in slght before the
English troops had taken full possession of thie works.
Hyder fell back a few miles to what he reckoned a
lucky spot, a strong position .on the very ground
where he had defeated Baillie. And the English
Geeneral, eager for another battle, which might relieve
him from his difficulties, came in sight of the enemy
about eight o'clock on the morning of the 27th,
The position of Hyder gave him great advantages,
while his guns bore upon the approaching army, and
the advance was rendered peculiarly difficult by a
number of water-courses cutting the ground. The
second line of the English army, consisting of two
brigades, were directed to occupy a situation of some
strength on the left, while the first line, consisting of
three brigades, formed in face of six or eight cannon,
which they were commanded to storm. No sooner
had they pushed through some intervening under-
wood, than they found the guns removed from the
front, and beginning to fire upon both their flanks;
while at the same instant a fremendous cannonade
opened on the second line. Sir Hector Munro, wha
commanded the first line, was ordered to join the
second, which could hardly maintain its ground.
The two lines having closed, and presenting the same
front, were commanded to advance on the enemy’s
artillery. The intervening ground was not only
difficult but impracticable ; where the army stood,
some protection was derived from a long avenue of
trees. This was ohserved by the whole line; and
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Sir Hector Munro pointed it out to the General.

= “ You talk to me, Sir, when you should be doing

your duty.” The army accordingly advanced ; the
men began to drop very fast; and grew impatient. A
tambril blew up, the second in the course of the day.
At an impassable difficulty, the army came toa stand,
and impatiently waited for orders. None arrived.
Sir Hector Munro, seated sullenly by the only tree
that was in the plain, refused to issue a single com-
mand. The battalions, opening for the purpose of
giving way to the enemy’s shot, had fallen into clus-
ters, and become noisy. The second line broke into
great confusion. Two hours did the army remain in
this perilous situation, in which, had they been
vigorously charged by the enemy’s cavalry, they
could scarcely have avoided a total defeat. It is
probable that Hyder's experience had rendered it
difficult for him to conceive that the English were
in a state of confusion. Night advancing, he ordered
his guns to be drawn off; and the English returned
to the strong ground which the second line originally
occupied. A conference was held among the prin-
cipal officers, when the impossibility of remaining,
and the danger of advancing, being apparent to all,
one gentleman, in expressing his sentiments, made
use of the word retreat. The General immediately
swore, he had never refreated in his life. He added,
that he would permit the army to fall back. Bples
came in with intelligence that Hyder was preparing
to attack the English army between midnight and
break of day. The troops in consequence were or-
dered to pass the night under arms in front of the
camp. The report was false, artfully given out by
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Hyder, to cover his intention of removing in the BOOK V.
night, to » place more secure from swrprise. The
next day the English buried their dead fand collected 178!-
the wounded ; when, being masters of the field of
battle, they fired the guns in token of victory. They
now marched back to Tripassore; when Hyder, call-
ing the march a refreat, proclaimed a victory, with
all the pomp of war, to the nations of India.'
The English suffered considerably more in this
than in the previous action ; and the enemy less. Of
the privates not less than 600 were lost to the ser-
vice.” Several officers of distinction were wounded,
and some were killed,
Affairs were now in great extremity. The mo-
ment seemed approaching when the army would be

' The description of this sction in the text, is taken evidently from
suthorities unfavoursble to Sir Eyre Coote, and is st least wnprecisa.
The account given by Colonel Wilks is moch more distinct, and for the
military details mors worthy of credit, Mumnro’s description is brief, but
authentic. * The position of Hyder was such, that s stronger could not
bave been imagined. Besides three villages which the enemy had occupied,
the ground along their front, and on their flanks, was intersected in every
dirertion by deep ditches and water-coumses; their artillery fired from em-
brasures cut in mounds of earth, which had been formed from the hollowing
of the ditches, and the main body of their army lay behind them. The
cauncnade bocame general abont 10 o'clock, and contipued with little
intermission 1ill sunset, for we found it almost imposaible to advance upon
the enemy, as the cannon could not be brought without much time and
labour over the brokea ground in front. The enemy retired as we ad-
wancod, sud alwaya foynd coverin the ditches and behind the banks. They
were forced from them all before sunset, and after standing a short time &
oannonade on open ground, they fled in great hurry and confusion towards
Conjeveram.’” Life, i, 45, That his army was saved from a total rout by
the difficulty of getting at it, was politicly converted by Hydor intc the
crodit of having fought s drawn battle. Such, according to Wilks, it ix
tarmed in the Mysorean acoounts, not & viciory, as in our text. Wilks,
il 326.—W.

* The English army lost no more than 421 killed, wounded, and missing,
officers included. Wilks. Our loss was above 500. Munro.~W.
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BOOK V. congtrained to quit the field for want of provisioﬁs:

CHAP. 3.

1781,

Madras itself was threatened with famine: The fort
of Velore was so exhausted of provisions, that it
could not hold out beyond a short time longer; and
the fate of the Carnatic in a great measure depended
on the fort of Velore. The greatest exertions were
made to enable the army to march to its relief:
Madras was for that purpose actually exhausted of
the means of subsistence. The enemy were encamped
at the pass of Sholingur on the road to Velore; to
which the English came up on the 27th of September.
Astrongbody was detached,in order to occupy a rising
ground to the left of the enemy’s encampment, while
the main army advanced in a single line upon their
front. Hyder, from his former experience, had con-

. cluded that Sir Eyre Coote would keep the whole of

his troops together ; and had only provided against a
direct movement on his line. His good sense made
him resolve not to change the disposition of his rude
and unwieldy mass in the face of an enemy ; and his
only effort was to draw it out of the field. He en-
deavoured to alarm the detached portion of the Eng-
lish army with a feint ; while, after a short firing, his
guns were hurried off. His horse during these ope-
rations stood the fire of the English cannon, and
suffered severely. Before he could extricate himself, -
and before night came to his aid, he had sustained a
considerable loss, with the power of inflicting only a
trifling injury in return.!

! The accoants of Wilks and Mnnro aye much more particular and cleas
thao that of the text Hyder was taken unprepared, and had not struck
his tents when the bead of the British hne sppeared before his encamp-
ment ; snd bis enly object in the sction that followed was o effcet his
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. The English were in no condition fo press upon
the foe. In the minor operations which succeeded,
as in the whole course of the war, one of the most
remarkable ecircumstances was, the .extraordinary
promptitude and correctness of Hyder's intelligence,
wbo had notice of almost every attempt, even fo
surprise the smallest eonvoy, and in this important
respect, the no less remarkable deficiency of the
English. On the 26th of October, the General
removed his camp to the neighbourhood of Palipett,
where be obtained a quantity of rice. With this he
afforded Velore a temporary supply ; and was even
encouraged to undertake the siege of Chittore.
That place, not being provided for defence, capi-
tulated in two days; while Hyder, - obliged .fo
humour his army, was unable to obstruct these
operations. The month of November was now
arrived, and every thing announced the falling of the
monsoon floods, when the rising of the rivers, and
the softening of the roads, would make the return of
the English army extremely difficult; so far, too,
from being supplied with subsistence, the army con-
tinued in a state of want; yet the General lingered
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escape without the loss of his guns. To accomplish this he sacrificed his

cavalry. ¢ He divided his best horse into three bodies, and sent them

under three ckosen leaders to attack as many parts of omr army at the

same time, They cams dowa at full gallop till they arrived within reach
of grape, when being thrown into confusion, the greater part either halted
or fled, and thoss that persevered in advancing, wese dispersed by & dis-
charge of musquetry, except a few who thought it sefer to push through
the intervals between the battalions and their guns, than to ride back
through the crosa fire of the artillery; bat most of these were killed by
parties in the rear. . This atiack ensbled Hyder to save his guns. Except
the escort with the axtillery, every man in the Mysorean army shifted for
himself. The loss of the enemy was estimated mt 5000, that of the
Ecglish foll short of = hundrod.”—W.
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chagrin. He was summoned from his reveries
about the middle of the month,. by intelligence of
an attack upon Palipett and Tripasore! The rains
fell upon him during his march: in the epace of &
few days the roads became so deep, that one elephant,
three camels, a great number of bullocks, carriages,
and horses, were left inextricably entangled in the
mud: and the Polar was just fordable when he
passed it on the 21st. On his approach, however,
the enemy abandoned both Palipett and Tripasore:
and after encamping a few days on the Cocealore
plain, above Tripasore, he placed the troops in can-
tonments ; having lost one-third of the ‘force with
which, after his junction with Colonel Pearce, he

. marched in August from the Mount.”

V Thers was no great delay in the movemsnts of the British force, Chit-
toor was taken only on the 11th November, and on the 16th the army
marched to raise the siege of Tripassore.—W.

* Por the materials of this war with Hyder, ap to the present date, the
most important sonrces are the First, S8econd, Third, and Sixth Beports of
the Commitiee of Becrecy, in 1781. Of the military transactions, narrs-
tives of considerable value are to be found in the Annual Register; Rob-
son’s Life of Hyder Ali; and the poblication entitled, Memoiw of the late
war in Agia. Por part of this campaign, see also Barrow's Life of Lord
Macartney. To the pages of Colonel Wilks, I ean mow only refer, not
having had the epportugity of availing myself of his lights, till what I had
written could sot be couveviently sltered. Where my facs stand vpom
the authority of public records, I conceive, in the few instances in which
we differ, that I approximate to the truth wore neary than he. To my
other authorities I should have preferred bim; though it is s grievous
defoct, that ke 50 rarcly tells ua the source from which be derives his in-
formation; and though I repese ne great confidence in the vagae consures,
and still more vague ealogies, in which he bas indulged —M.

Colcael Wilks explaing in his preface the sathorities he employs, sad
the ressons why mwre precise reference is not given. He writes from
mative documents, aad from the oficial records of the Madras government.
To these a purticular reference would have beent of 00 use, as they are not
genenally accessible.  Of the care sad Rdetity with which they are cited,
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At the Presidency, changes of more than ordinary
importance had taken place during this campaign.
The state of affairs in the Carnatic having greatly
alarmed the Company in England, misfortune pointed
resentment against the men under whose superine
tendence it had arrived ; and, according to the usual
process of shallow thought, a change of rulers, it
was concluded, would produce a change of results.
So much of misconduct having been imputed to the
servants of the Company, & party appeared to be
forming itself, even among the Directors and Pro-
prietors, who called for an extension of the field of
choice: and represented it as rather an advantage,
that the chief governors in India should not be
selected from the servants of the Company. It
necessarily followed that a party arose who con-
tended with equal zeal that by the Company’s
servants the stations of greatest power and trust in
India ought exclusively to be filled. At a Court of
Proprietors, held on the 30th of November, 1780,
Mr. Lushington moved, ¢ That it be recommended
to the Court of Directors to' appoint forthwith a
~ Governor of Madras, and that it be earnestly recom-
mended to them to appoint one of their own servants
to fill that vacancy.” -It was on the other hand
contended, that the fittest man, not a man of any
particular class or order, ought always to be sought
for the places on which the interests of the commu-
nity principally depended; wnd that integrity, un-
we have every reason to entertain a favonrable belief, and the censures and
eulogies which offend our author, wre apparently in all cases judiciously,
although thoy may be warmly, beslowed. As & wilitary history of  very

important period of our transacliona in Indis, Col, Wilks's South of India
is & work of the highest possible authority.—W.
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shaken by the example of plunder and corruption,
a character to lose, and consequently one to save, by
shunning the offences of former governors: were to
be considered as the fittest qualifications in their new
Governor of Madras. The Court adjourned without
proceeding to a ballot; but on the 23rd of the same
month the question was renewed. Lord Macartney,
who had recently gained reputation by negotiating a
commercial treaty with Russia, was pointed out to the
choice of the Company; the advantages of a liberal
education, of political experience, acknowledged
talents and honour, were placed in the strongest
point of view by the one party; the benefits of local
knowledge, and of the motives to zeal, to industry,
fidelity, and the acquisition of knowledge afforded to
the whole line of the Company’s servants, by the
bigh prizes of the principal stations in the govern-
ment of India, were amply displayed by the opposite
party: and, on a division, it was decided by a
majority of seventy-nine to sixty, that new men
should be eligible to the office of Governors in
India. The Court of Directors were guided by
similar views; and on the 14th of December Lord
Macartney was nominated Governor and President
of Fort St. George. After a passage of four months,
he landed at Madras on the 22nd of June, 1781,
and then first obtained intelligence that the country
was invaded.

He came to his office, when it, undoubtedly, was
filled with difficulties of an extraordinary kind. The
presence of a new Governor, and of a Governor of a
new description, as change itself, under pain, is
counted a good, raised in some degree the spirits of
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the people. By advantage of the hopes which were BOOK V.
thus inspired, he was enabled to borrow considerable —
sums of money. Haying ecarried out intelligence of 1781
the war with the Dutch, and particular instructions

to make acquisition of such. of their settlements as

were placed within his reach, he was eager to
signalize his arrival by the performance of conquests,

which acquired an air of importance, from the use,

a8 sea-ports, of which they might prove to Hyder, or

the French. Within a week of his arrival, Sadras

was summoned and yielded without resistance.
Pulicat was a place of greater strength, with a corps

in its neighbourhood of Hyder'sarmy. The garrison

of Fort St. George was so extremely reduced, as to be

ill prepared to afford a detachment. But Lord.
Macartney placed himself at the head of the militia

and Pulicat, on condition of security to. privaie pros
perty, was induced to surrender.

Of the annunciation, which was usually made to
the Princes of India, of the arrival of a new Grovernor,
Lord Macartney conceived that advantage might be
faken, aided by the recent battle of Porto Novo, and
the expectation of troops from:Europe, to obtain the
attention of Hyder to an offer of peace. With the
concurrence of the General and Admiral, an overture
was transmitted, to which the following answer was
returned, characteristic at once of the eountry and the
man: ‘ The Governors and Sirdars who enter into
treaties, after one or two years return to Europe, and
their acts and deeds become of no effect; and fresh
Governors and Sirdars introduce new conversations.
Prior to your coming, when the Governor and Council
of Madras had departed from their treaty of alliance
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and friendship, I sent my vakeel to confer with them,
and to ask the reason for such a breach of faith ; the
answer given was, that they who made these con-
ditions were gone to Europe. You write that you
heve come with the sanction of the King and Com.
pany to settle all matters; which gives me great
happiness. You, Sir, are a man of wisdom, and
comprehend all things. Whatever you may judge
proper and best, that you will do. You mention that
troops have arrived and are daily arriving from
Europe ; of this I have not a doubt: I depend upon
the favour of God for my succours.” Nor was it with
Hyder alone, that the new Governor interposed his
good offices for the atfainment of peace. A letter
signed by him, by Sir Edward Hughes, and Sir
Eyre Coote, the commanders of the sea and land
forces, and by Mr. Macpherson, a Member of the
Supreme Council, was addressed to the Mahrattas,
in which they offered themselves as guarantees of
any treaty of peace which might be contracted
between them and the Governor-General and
Council of Bengal; and declared their willingness
to accede to the restoration of Guzerat, Salsette, and
Bassein.

The principal settlement of the Dutch on the
Coromandel coast was Negapatam, near the southern
boundary of Tanjore. This, Lord Macartney was
desirous of adding to the rest of the conquests from
the Dutch immediately after his arrival, but was
over-ruled by the opinion of the Commander-in-
Chief, who represented the importance of recovering
Arcot, in the first instance, and of marching after-
wards to the attack of Negapatam. The President
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was eager to avail himself of the assistance of the BOOK V.
fleet and marines, in his design against Negapatam;
assistance without which the object conld hardly be 178
accomplished, and which could only be obtained
while the season permitted shipping to remain upon
the coast. Though the General had been disap-
pointed in his hopes of being able to attempt the
recovery of Arcot, he continued in the north-western
part of the province, apparently digposed neither to
march fo the attack of Negapatam, nor to spare for
that enterprise any portion of his troops, To Lord
Macartney the attainment of the object did not
eppear fo be hopeless withouthim. The intimation,
however, of 8 design to make the attempt, brought
back from the General an eager renunciation of all
responsibility in the exploit, 8 pretty confident pre-
diction of disappointment, and from disappointment,
of consequences deplorable and ruinous, The Pre-
sident declared that, convinced s be was of the pro-
priety, and hence obligation of the enterprise, be
would not shrink from the responsibility. To avoid
interference with the General not 8 man was taken
from his army. Colonel Brathwaite, who com-
manded in Tanjore, and in whom the President com-
plained that he found not all the alacrity which could
have been desired, was directed with his troops to
aid in the attack. The choice of a leader, too, was
involved in difficulties. After the affront received
by Sir Hector Munro, in the battle of the 27th of
August, he retired as soon as possible from the army
commanded by General Coote, under whom he served
not again, and remained at the Presidency recruiting
his health. It was to him that, in etiquette, the
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BOOK V. command of the expedition belonged; but Mr.
Sadlier, with whom he had the violent dispute, was
1782. now a member of the Select Committee; and he
refused to gerve under orders or directions in whick
that gentleman should have any concern. The
scruples of the General met acontrast in the liberality
of the Committee ; who readily consented, that he
should receive his instructions from the President
alone; and the President, with the Admiral of the
Fleet, was empowered to form whatever arrange-
ments the enterprise should require. On the 21st of
October the seamen and marines were landed from
the ships; on the 30th the lines and redoubis were
attacked and carried ; on the 3rd of November ground
was opened against the north face of the fort, and
the approaches were pushed on with greaf rapidity ;
the Governor was summoned on the 6th, after a
battery of ten eighteen-pounders was ready to open
within three hundred paces of the walls; he refused
to surrender; but on the 12th, after making two
desperate sallies, and after one of the bastions had
suffered from a formidable breaching-battery, he
offered to accept, and received, terms of honourable
capitulation. The amount of troops who swrrendered
was 6551, considerably greater than that of the
besieging army. A large quantity of warlike stores,
together with a double investment of goods, no ships
having arrived from Holland for the investment of that
or the preceding year, was found in the place. With
Negapatam the whole of the Dutch settlements on
that coast fell into the hands of the English; and
the troops of Hyder began immediately to evacuate.
the forta which they had occupied in the kingdom of
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Tanjore. A body of 500 men were put on board ngfs"
the fleet, which sailed from Negapatam on the 2nd of
January, and proceeded to the attack of Trincomalee; 1782,
6 celebrated Dutch settlement on' the island of
Ceylon. It arrived before the place on the 4th, and
on the 11th the best of the two forts which defended
Trincomalee was taken by storm.!

The deplorable indigence of the Presidency ; the
feebleness of military operations unsupported by
funds; the power of the enemy, and the diminished
prospect of supplies from Bengal, presented to the
eyes of Lord Macartney a scene of difficulties, from
which it was hardly possible to discover any source
of relief. Participating in the general aversion to
believe that the Nabob was no less exhausted than
the Company, and representing to that chief how
great the interest which he, no less than the Com-
pany, had, in the expulsion of so dangerous a
common foe, the President, at an early period of his
administration, renewed the importunities of the .
government on the subject of a pecuniary supply.
The Bengal government, by their letters, had already
given a sanction to strong measures of coercion;
declaring that, while every part of the Nabob’s
dominions, except the part retained by the English
troops, wasin the hands of a foreign power, and could
only be wrested from it by their exertions, the Nabob
could no longer be locked upon as the proprietor of

- 1 Bome Account of the Public Lifs of the Earl of Macartney, by John
* Barrow, F. B. 8.1 67—109; Annual Register for 1762.—M. Some in-
teresting partioculsrs of the capture of Fort Ostonburg, are given in the
Momoirs of & Field Officer {Colonel Price) on the Retired List of the East
Indin Servigs, who was present as » subaltern.—W.
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BOOK V.the country; and that such a combination of cir-
cumstances not only justified, but required, the
W82 immediate assignment of all his revenues, to defray
the expenses of the war.! The President, express.
ing his desire to avoid this extremity, offered to
accept a few lacs of pagodas as a temporary supply.
This pressure upon the inability of the Nabob drew
from him language of asperity and recrimination ;
and when importunately urged, he at last declared,
that his future contributions were defined; by a
treaty, which he bhad just concluded with the
government of Bengal. The declaration, though it
justly. surprised the President and Council of
Madras, was not at variance with the fact. The
Nabob, who had tried the effect of an agency in Eng-
land, both on the legislative and executive branches
of the government, was advised to make trial of the
same expedient on the controlling Board .in India ;
and in March, 1781, he sent. on a commission to
Calcutta, his dewan or treasurer, fogether, with Mr.
Joseph Sullivan, a servant of the Company, whom,
without the consent of the Presidency, he had ap-
pointed his agent. The objeet of thé Nabob was to
obtain a clear recognition of his being the hereditary
sovereign of the Carnatic, not subject o any interfe-
rence on the part of the Company in tlie affairs of
his government; a promise of exemption from all
pecuniary demands, beyond the expense of ten bat-
talions of troops, to be employed in his service ; an
admission of his nght to name his successor, in
pursuance of his wish to disinherit his eldest, in

* Letter of Gov.-Gen. and Couseil, Feb. %5, 1741,
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favour of his second son; a promise to. add, by ”;’,3}5_;?-
«conquest, certain. districts possessed. by Hyder to ———
‘his dominions, and to restore to him the kingdom of -178%
Tanjore; and, finally, the assistance of the Com-

.pany, in forming a settlement with his Eyropean |
creditors.

To this embassy the rulers of Bengal afforded a
-cardial reception. For the independence of the
‘government of the Carnatic Prince, they undertook,
-in general terms: His requisition, respecting thée
iten hattalions and the limit of his pecuniary contri-
‘butions, was approved: His right to. appoint. his
successor they recognised as already admitted : The
conquest of certain districts possessed by. Hyder, they
declared to be as desirable on account of the Com-
pany’s ag the Nabob's interest: The restoration of
Tanjore. they informed him was not placed within
the limits of their authority ;. With regard to his
European creditors, they propesed, that after the
-addition to the principal sum of all interest due to
the 21st of November, 1781, and after a deduction
of one-fourth from all the debts which might have
‘been transferred from the original ereditors by pur-
«chase or otherwise, Company’s bonds with the usual
interest should be granted, and paid, according to a
proportion which might be fixed, out of the assigned
revenues:- And upon these conditions it was pro-
posed, but not without his own consent, that the
‘Nabob should make over all the revenues of his
country, during the war, to- the. Company; that his
agents, in conjunctionwith persons appointed by the
‘Presidency of Fort St. George, should perform the
collections; and that as much only should be retaiped

Q2
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BOOK V.by the Nabob as was necessary for the disburse-
ments of his family and government. Not only was
1782 this agreement transmitted to Madras, with instruc-
tions to consider it as possessing the validity of 8
treaty ; but Mr. Sullivan returned with credentials,
as minister from the Governor-General and Council

‘'of Bengal at the Court of the Nabob.

Nothing is more pregnant with mischief than ill-
worded and indefinite laws ; ‘and the best legislatures
have as yet displayed but little of the art of render-
ing the language of their enactments unambiguous
and certain. We have already contemplated the
disputes with the Presidency of Bombay, occasioned
by the loose and imperfect phraseology of the law
which conferred the power of centrol upon the Pre-
sidency of Bengal. In that instance, the Supreme
Council were even rebuked by their masters for
carrying their pretensions beyond the intent of the
Company, and that of the law; but on the present
occasion they pushed their interference into the most
immediate and important concerns of the Madras
government ; inveigled from their service and obedi-
ence the servants of that Presidency; and set up an
agency of their own at Madras, which implied the
suppression of the chief powers of the Governor and
Council. Though the character of Lord Macartney
‘was tinged with vanity as well as ambition, he pos-
sessed great temper and urbanity ; and the Governor
and Council, of Madras, instead of treating this new
assumption of power on the part of the Bengal
government as an injury, expressed only their appre-
hensions that they were not free to divest themselves
of powers, with which their employers had intrusted




CONDUCT OF THE MADRAS PRESIDENCY. 229

them; and for the exercise of which they would hold BOOK ¥
them responsible. They remarked, that they were
therefore at liberty to consider the scheme of arrange- 78%
ments, which had been transmitted to them by the
Supreme Board, as only materials to aid, not as com-
mands to supersede their judgment. ~The words,
they observed, in which the Supreme Council had
appeared to sanction the independence of the Nabob,
an independence which they had received the ex-
press and repeated commands of their employers to
prevent, ‘were so adroitly ambiguous, as in fact to
evade the question, and were inconvenient only in se
far as they tended to inflame the pretensions of that
troublesome associate ; but as, in' the government of
the country, there were certain departments in which
it was assumed as necessary that the Company’s
government should take a share, and yet those
departments and that share remained totally unde-
fined, the vagueness and - ambiguity of the words of
the Supreme Board left the Madras Presidency, if
bound to obey, without any rule to guide their pro-.
ceedings. The srticle which regarded the ten bat-
talions of troops appeared, they said, to them, to
convey 8 power over their marches and operations,
‘which the Court of Directors had ever been most
anxious to withhold. The Nabob had requested the
power of employing these troops in settling his
country. The answer of the Presidency is worthy,
of record: “ We wish to know what is meant by this
article, before we form any judgment of its propriety :
We know not how troops can be properly said to
contribute to the settlement of a country: If it be
meant that he should have the Company’s forces to.
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enable him to ‘punish or extirpate any of his tribus
taries, and if it be proper to lend our forces for such
a purpose, should we not plainly say so, without
reserve or ambiguity 2” If the Nabob was to have
the troops, in all cases, upon his simple requisition,
“ he might soon,” they add, * require, what he has
hitherto in vam solicited from the Court of Directors,
the means of attacking, contrary to their express
commands, the principal tributary Rajas who claim
and depend upon the protection both of the Crown
and the Company.” If he was only to be assisted in
those cases which the President and Council should
approve, the clause, though void of meaning, was not
exempt from mischief, as it tended to raise “ a claim,
which, being undefined, would be measured only by
the wishes of the claimant.” The right of the Naboh
to nominate his successor, or to ‘infringe the rule of
primogeniture, they declined to disctise ; but affirmed
their total ignorance of any such admission of that
right as the Governor-General and Council appeared
to assume. That the mode which was proposed for
eollecting fthe revenues, by the agents of the Nabob
and of the Company in conjunction, was ealculated to
produce altercations between the different parties,
and to afford the agents of the Nabob a pretence for
defalcations, alleging obstructions from' the Com-
pany’s servants, experience, they said, most fully
evinced. Whether the defect proceeded from the
want of intention on the part of the Nabob, or from
his inability to ensure the obedience of his collectors,
it had, through them, been found impossible to obtain
the revenues. With regard to the arrangements in
behalf of the ereditors of the Nahob, they were un-
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willing to wear the appearance of opposing either BOOK W.
the will of the superior Board, or the interest of the
creditors; :but. they professed themselves ignorant, 1782
whether the ‘creditors would regard the arrangement
as advantageous, or the Directors would be pleased
to find the Company pledged for bonds to so great
an amount.

On the point, however, of the assignment, the
situation of affairs, and the sanction of the Bengal
government, appeared to the President and Council
sufficient authority for urging the Nabob forcibly te
concur with their views. 'With much negotiation it
was at last arranged; that the revenues of all the
dominions of the Nabob should be transferred ito the
Company for a period of five years at least ; that of
the progeeds ome-sixth part should be reserved for
the private expenses of himself and his family, the
remainder being placed to hig account; that the col-
lectors should all be appointed by the President: and
that the Nabob should not interfere. By this deed,
which bore .date the 2nd of December, 1781, the
inconveniences of a double government, which by its
vory nature engendered -discordance, negligence,
rapacity, and prefusion, were so far got rid of ; though
yet the misery and weakness to which they had con-
tributed could not immediately be removed %

' This is evidently the main objact of the lgmemnt prqocted. not exeé
euted, with the Nabob, by the goversment of Bengal. - In the reply of
Hastings to the chjections of the government of Madras, ke first apologizes
for the interference by the characier of Lord Macartney's predecessors.
# ¥ our Lordship,” he says, * will not ask why we thought onr intervention
on thia oopasion necessary, and why we did not rather zefer the arcom-
modation to the Presidency of Port BL Goorge, ‘which was the regular
instrument of the Company's participation in the government of the
Carnatie, but I will suppose the question. 1 might propeely answer it by
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It was not one spring alone of dissension which

— distracted the government of Madras. The species

of independent authority which bad been conferred
upon the General produced many of the evils of a
double government in the Presidency itself. The
General had a susceptibility of temper, which,
heightened by the infirmities of old age, by flattery,
by the difficulties of his situation, and his want of
success, made him take offence with the levity and
hastiness of 8 child. The eivil authority, deprived,
in' & period of war, of all share in the military
arrangements, found the business of government
withdrawn from their hands, and themselves degraded
into a capacity little superior to that of agents for
supplying- the wants of the army. The visible loss
of authority, by weakening their influence, dimi-
nished their resources; and persons were even dis-
couraged from relieving them by loans. A situation
like thig was ill caleulated to please a man of Lord
Macartney's rank and pretensions, Aware of the
uneasiness which it was probable he would feel, it
was natural for the General to view him with
suspicion from the moment when he arrived. The

mutual desire to save appearances preserved an

another. Why did the Company withdraw their confidence from the
same ministry, to bestow it on your Lovrdship?”* He aleo declares, that
had he known of Lord Macartney's nomination, ke should have referred
the Nabab to kis governmeni. He unges the enforcement of the sgreement
as being the art of the governmesti of Bengal, snd having been done by
them ; bat he lays stress caly on the 6ih, 10th, 11th, and 12th articles ; tha
twe first insisting wpos the assiginment of the revesruon of the Carnatic sad
Tanjore, snd theiv xpplication Lo the parposes of the war; and the twe
1asst proposing the eongolidation of the Nabob's debin, ssd armangesmient
with the creditons. Thewhdommw..uﬁ-nyhﬁt
decision of the Madras Presidency.—W.
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uninterrupted intercourse “:of - civilities, i till - Lord BOOK ¥:
Macartuey :discovered his design of attempting -the a—
eonquest of Negapatam against the advice and with+ 1782
out the co-operation’ of the General. '+From ‘that
moment the General gave way to his spirit of dissatis2
faction and complaint ; refused to attend the consul
tations of the Select Committee; ‘quarrelled with
every measure: that was proposed ; and even wrote

to the Governor-General and Council that he suffered

from interference with his authority, and, unless he

were vested with power totally independent,: that he
would resign the command. Beside the loss of their
authority, and the diminution of their power over

even the sources of supply; the civil -authorities
lamented, that they possessed nocontrol.-over the
expengiture of the army, and that, from the totad
disregard of economy, in ‘which, notwithstanding the
ruinous -poverty of - the government,: the ‘General
indulged, that expenditure was enormously great.

It nevertheless appears, that Lord Macartney, aware

of the importance not only of united efforts, but of

the name and influence of Coote, entertained not an

idea of withdrawing from him any portion of that
authority with which he had been intrusted; and
strove to preserve his good humour by studied for--
bearance and courtesy.! '

* In a letter to a private friend, at the time, his Lordship says; “I
never retort any sharp expression which may cocur in his letters. In fact,
1 court him like & mistress, and humour him like a child; but with all this
I have a most sincere regard for him, and honour him highly. But I am-
truly griaved st heart to see & man of his military yepatation, at his time
of life, made miserable by those who ‘cught to make him happy, and from
» grext public character worked into the little instrument of private malig-
nity and disappointed avarice. All, however, has been,-and shall be, good-
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BOOK V. The army had not been many days in canton
ments, where they expected to repose during the
1782 remainder of the monsoon, when the fall of Chitore
‘was announced at Madras, and intelligence was
received, that for want of provisions Velore would
not be able to hold out beyond the 11th of January.
No exertion was to be spared for the preservation of
this important place. The treasury was drained to
the last pagoda, to afford some pay to the army,
which was deeply in arrear. But the exorbitant
demands for equipment and conmveyance were the
principal source of difficulty and alarm. To carry
the necessaries of thirty-five days for twelve or
fourteen thousand fighting-men, the estimate of the
Quarter-Master was 35,000 bullocks. Not to speak
of the money wanted for the purchase, so great a
" number eould not be procured; nor was it easy to
¢onceive how protection could be afforded from
Hyder's horse to a line of so many miles as the
march of 35,000 bullocks would of necessity form,
The npumber of.bullocks now in store was 8000,
With these and 3000 coolies, or porters, whom he
could press, it appeared to the President that the
army might convey what was absolutely necessary ;
and the mrgency of the case made the General dis-
posed to wave his usual objections. Though with
broken health, he joined the army on the Znd of
January; but on the 5th he suffered a violent
apoplectic attack, and the army halted at Tripasore
On the following day, he was so far revived as to
insist npon aoeompanying the army, which he ordered

hamonr, and good-breeding, oa my port” Extiact of s Lelter to Mr.
Macpheryon, dated Port 5t George.
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to'march. - They were within sight of Velore on the 500% _.,v‘
10th, and dragging their .guns through a-morass, -
which Hyder had suddenly formed by letting out the ve
watersof 4 fank, when his army was seen advanqing

on the year. 'Before the enemy arrived, the English

had crossed the morass; when Hyder contented him-

self with 'a :distant ‘¢annonade, and next day the
supply was - conducted safely to Velore. ‘As the

army was returning, Hyder, on the 13th, again ipre«
sented -himself on the :opposite side of the imorassy

but withdrew 'sfter :a distant cannonade. . On- the
evening of the 15th, the enemy’s camp was seen at &
distance; and a variety of moveménts took place on

both ‘sides .on the following day : after foutual
challenges however, and a.discharge of artillery, the
contenders separated, and the English pursued. their
march to' the Mount, ' The General.: expressed &
desire of making a voyage to Bengal for the benefit

of his ‘health, but allowed hlmself to-be persuaded

to alter his design.!

‘After the capture of Mahé, the Madras detachq
ment remained . at Tellickerry, besieged by Hyder's
tributary Nairs.  Early in May,.1781, being urgently
demanded for the defence of the Carnatic, the detachs
ment was 'relieved by Major Abingdon, who arrived
with a force from Bombay. Oneof Hyder's prins
cipal generals, with a detachment from . his rarmy
which greatly outnumbered the garrison, now varried
on @ vigorous httack. The utmost efforts of the
besieged were incessantly demanded to counteract the
operations of the enemy; and the cemmaﬂder-was

) ! Barrow’s Life of Lord kutney, i 109-—117 Wilks's Hutonu}
Sketches, ch. xxziii; Memoire of the late War in Asis, §. 231+—234. t
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BOOK 5" -under the necessity of applying to Bombay both for
provisions and ‘troops. 'The answer declared the
ez inability of the Presidency to make any further pro-
vigion for the defence of Tellicherry, and the reso-
lution to which they had been reluctantly brought of
giving it up. His military notions of disgrace, and
the still more important considerations of the cruel
sacrifice which would thus be made of the lives and
fortunes of the people in.the place, as well as the
doubtful possibility of withdrawing the troops, in.
duced Major Abingdon fo conceal the contents of
the letter, and $o remit a strong remonstrance against
the orders which he had received. It produced the
desired effect, and a packet was immediately des-
patched from Bombay to assure him of speedy
support. The arrival of his reinforcements deter-
mined this enterprising officer no longer to confine
himself to operations of defence. Every thing being
prepared for a sally, upon the signal of the clock
striking twelve, the troops got under arms, on the
night of the 7th of January, and at one, in profound
silence, began to march. After passing a deep
morass, and escaping the notice of the enemy's
picquets, they stormed an advanced battery at break
of day, and forming the line moved rapidly towards
the camp, when the enemy fled in the utmost con-
fusion, and their leader was wounded and taken.
Master now of the surrounding country. Major
Abingdon turned his thoughts to the re-establish-
ment, in their respective districts, of the various
chiefs whom Hyder had either rendered tributary or
compelled to fly. Having, after this, demolished
the enemy’s works, and improved the defences of the
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settlement be marched towards Calicut. -On ‘the BOOK:‘
12th of February he took post within twe hundred “™*"
yards of the walls, and the next day, a shell hav'ing 1783,
fortunately blown up a part of the gra.nd ane,
the garrison, exposed to'an assaulﬁ At tely
-surrendered.

- The hostilities of the French a.nd Enghsh Govern-
ments, not contented with- Europe and America as a
field, at last invaded the two remaining quarters of
the globe.: A squadron of five ships of the line and
some -frigates, under the conduct of M. de Suffrein,
together with a body of land forces, was prepared at
Brest in the beginning of 1781 ; and sailed in coms
pauy with the grand fleet bound to the: West Indies
“under Count de Grasse at the latter end of March,
About the same period ‘a “secret expedition, with
which for' some time rumowr had been busy, was
prepared in England.. The state of the Spanish
eolonies in South America, and the rich prizes which
they appeared to contain, had: pointed them out as
the destined object to the publie eye. - But the war
with Holland, and the importance of the conflict now
raging in India, communicated a different direction
to the views of ministers: and the acquisition of the
Cape of Good Hope, with the effectual support of
the war in India, became the -ends, for: the aceom-
plishment of which the enterprise was planned. - One
ship of seventy-four guns, one of sixty-four, three of
fifty, several frigates, a bomb-vessel, a fire-ship and
some sloops of war composed the squadron; of which
Commodore Johnstone, with a reputation for decision
-and boldness, received the command, A land force,
consisting of three new regiments of 1000 men each
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-BOOK V.'wag placed under the econduct of General Meadows,

CHAP. §.

1782

who had purchased fame in the action at St. Lucia
with d'Estaing. On the 13th of March, in company
with thegrand fleet destined for the reliefof Gibraltar,
‘the armament sailed from St. Helen's, and, including
several outward-bound East Indiamen, with store~
vessels and transports, amounted to upwards of forty
sail. The secret however of this expedition had not

‘been so vigilantly guarded as to escape the sagacity

of the Dutch and the French. The armament under
Suffrein was ultimately destined to reinforce the
8quadron now at the Isle of France; and to oppose
the English fleet in the Indian seas. But the par-
ticular instructions of that officer were, in the first
instance, to follow, and counteract the expedition of
‘Johnstone, and abeve all, his design upon the Cape of
‘Good Hope. For the sake of water and fresh provi-
sions, the English squadron put into Praya Bay in St.
‘Jago, one of the Cape de Verd Islands ; and having
1o expectation of an enemy, cast their anchors as
‘chance or convenience directed. A considerable pro-
portion both of men and of officers, partly for busi-
‘ness, partly for pleasure, were permitted to go on
‘shore ; and the decks were speedily crowded with

"water-casks, live stock, and other incumbrances. On

the 16th of April, after nine o'clock in the morning,

‘a strange fleet, suspected to be French, was seen

coming round the eastern point of the harbour; and
Suffrein, separating from the convoy with his five
‘sail of the line, soon penetrated to the centre of the
‘English fleet. The utmost despatch was employed
in gefting the men and officers on board, and pre-
paring the ships for action. The French ship, the
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Hannibal, of seventy-four guns, led the van, and 3001:57
coming as close to the English ships as she was able,
dropped her anchors with a resolution which excited 1782
a burst of applause from the British tars. She was
followed by the ship of Suffrein, of equal force.
Another of sixty-four guns anchored: at her, sterm
And the two other ships, of sixty-four guns ¢ach,
ranged through the fleet, firing on either side, as
they proceeded along.! The ships being extremely
near, and the guns being played with unusual fusp,
much destruction was effected in a little time. After
the abatement of the first surprise, several ‘of the
Indiamen brought their guns to bear upon the enemy
with good effect. Within an hour, the French ships
at anchor had suffered so terribly, that the last of
the three having lost her eaptain, cut her cables and
began to withdraw. Thus deserted a-sterm, and
despairing of success, Sufirein followed her example,
and gave the signal to retreat; the Hannibal alone
remained, a mark to every ship the guns -of which
could be made to bear upon her; and displayed a
gesolution, which may be compared with the noblest
gxamples-of naval heroism. -She had lost her fore-
mast and bowsprit; her cable was either cut or shot
‘away ; in the effort of hoisting more sail to get out
of the fire, her main and mizen masts went over-
board, and she remained as it were a hulk upon the
water.  Sustaining the weight of a dreadful fire, to
which, enfeebled as she was, her returns were slow
and meﬁ'ectual, she yet joined the rest of the shxps

! That Port Pnys, belonging to the Portuguess, was & neutral harbour,
but little affected the delicacy of the French, though the English obseryed
the panctikio of reserving their fire till attacked,
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at the mouth of the bay; and, being towed ofl,
erected jury-masts, and proceeded with the fleet.
An attempt on the part of the English to pursue was
totally ineffectual. They sustained mot any consi-
derable loss, notwithstanding the closeness of the
action, and the crowded situation of the ships.
Their own steady and determined bravery counter-
acted the effects of surprise, and baffled the well-
concerted scheme of the enemy. They remained to
refit and provide till the 2nd of May, and on ap-
proaching the Cape ascertained that Suffrein had
arrived before them. Though previous to the arrival
of Suffrein that settlement, then supposed of great
importance, was not in a8 condition to have offered
any considerable resistance to the land and naval
force under Meadows and Johnstone, it was now
accounted vain to make on it any attempt. While
the French fleet lay at anchor in False Bay, it ap-
peared not to the Commodore impossible to make
prize of a fleet of Dutch East Indiamen, in Saldanha
Bay. Success depended on being able, by surprise
and celerity, to prevent them from being run ashore
and burnt. The end was pretty completely attained;
as, out of five ships, four were secured. The Com-
modore in his own ship, with the prizes and most of
the frigates, returned to Europe; the rest, together
with the troops, proceeded to India. Sufirein,
leaving a sufficient garrison for the protection of the
Cape, sailed for the island of Mauritius; where he
aungmented the French fleet to ten sail of the line,
one fifty gun ship, and several frigates. The Eng-
lish on the 2nd of September stopped at the island
of Joanna, to land and recover the sick, who now
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amounted to a third part both of the seamen and BOOK ¥.
soldiers. They left the island on the 24th of the
same month; were becalmed f{rom . the 1lth eof e
October to the 5th of November; at. 260 leagues
distant from Bombay, they were carried, by. the
shifting of the monsoon;, to the coast of Arabia
Felix; on the 26th of .November anchored in
Morabat Bay; on the 6th of December, the prin-
cipal ships of war, having on board General Meadows

and. Colonel Fullarton with the chief part. of the
troops, proceeded in quest of Admiral Hughes;

the remaining sbips, and -transperts with part

of two regiments, under the command of Colonel
Humberston Mackenzie, left Morabat on the 9th:

and arrived at Bombay on .the 22nd -of Ja.nua.ry,
1782,

The Colonel rema.med on]y BiX da.ys at Bomba.y,
when he re-embarked the men; and set sail for
Madras. On the 9th.of February, at. Anjengo, in
the dominions of the King of Travancore, alarming
intelligence reached him from the Coromandel coast;
that Hyder Ali had overrun the whale of the Car-
natic with an immense army; that he threatened
Tanjore, Marawar, Madura, and Tinivelly - with de-
struction; that be eircumvented and. cut off two
British armies; that dissension, improvidence, and
pusillanimity reigned at Madras ; and that Fort St.
George itself was insulted and endangered. To these
statements was added intelligence that the French
fleet were at this time to assemble off Point de Galle ;
and that magazines for them had for some time been
forming at Columbo and other ports in Ceylon. He
ealled a Council of War; when he came to the deters

voL. 1v. R '
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BOOK V. mination, in consequence chiefly of the intelligence

respectmg the French fleet, rather to attempt a diver-

1782 gion on the Malabar side of Hyder's dominions, than

to incur the chances of delay and danger attached to
the voyage round to Madras. He landed his troops,
amounting to scarcely a thousand men, at Calicut,
on the 18th of February, where he joined Major
Abingdon, and as senior officer assumed the command.
He immediately took the field; proceeded into
Hyder's territories ; drove before him the army which
was left for the protection of those parts; and took
several forts; when, the monsoon approaching, he
returned to Calicut, and placed his little army in can-
tonments in the month of May.

The French fleet, with a body of land forces, form-
ing. part of the armament which under Bussy was
destined to restore the influence of the IFrench in
India, left the islands a considerable time after the
English sailed for Joanna; and, the Admiral dying
on his passage, the command devolved upon M.
Suffrein, a man of great resource, of unwearied enter-
prise, and, in every respect, one of the best naval
commanders whom France had ever produced. The
English fleet, delayed and dispersed by the weather,
incurred considerable danger of a very unseasonable
rencounter ; and the Hannibal, a fifty-gun ship, being
separated from the rest in a haze, unexpectedly found
herself surrounded by the enemy, where, after a fruit-
less though gallant resistance, she was taken. The
French fleet arrived on the Coromandel coast in the
month of January, and intercepted several vessels
bound to Madras with grain. Sir Edward Hughes,
after taking Trincomalee, was obliged on the last
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day of January to set sail for Madras, being in great B2OX ¥
want of stores and provisions, his ships much decayed, ———
and his crew diminished and sick. On his errival V&
at Madras, on the 11th of February, he learned that
he had fortunately escaped the French fleet already
upon the coast; but still found himself exposed to
theif attack in an open road with only six ships of
the line, out of condition from long service, and
almost destitute of supplies. By enother fortunate
chance (for had either squadron fallen in with the
French, the most fatal consequences might have
ensued), the ships which carried General Meadows
and hig army, consisting of one seventy-four, one
sixty-four, and one fifty-gun ship, errived the next
day in the road; and within twenty.four hours,
Suffrein, with ten ships ofthe line, two ships, includ-
ing the captured Hannibal, of fifty guns, six frigates,
eight transports, and six prizes, hove in sight, recon~
noitred Madras, and anchored a few miles to wind.
~ ward of the English fleet, which, with the utmost
diligence, was making the necessary preparations for
sction. Deceived in his probable expectation of
finding Sir Edward Hughes with only six sail of
the line, not re-inforced, and of signalizing his arrival
by so decisive a blow as the destruetion of the
English fleet, he, on the 14th, passed Madras inline
of battle to the southward. The English weighed
anchor, and followed. On the 15th, in the evening,
the fleets passed each other, so near, as o exchange
some ghots. On’ the 16th, the English Admiral
found an opportunity of making a push at the French
convoy separated from the fleet, when he retook five
of the vessels which had been captured on the coast,
R 2
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and & large transport laden with provisions, ammuni-
tion, and froops. Oun the 17th, after a variety of
movements, in which Suffrein still kept the weather-
gage, the two fleets came to action late in the day ;
and separated after a short conflict, on the approach
of night, when the French steered to windward, and
the English to Trincomalee. :
The French Adxmral proceeded to Porto Novo,
and landed 2000 men.! They were soon joined by
a large detachment of Hyder's army, under the com-
mand of Tippoo his son, who had just been employed
in inflicting upon the English one of the deepest
wounds which they had sustained during the war,
Colonel Brathwaite, with 100 Europeans, 1500 native
troops, and 300 cavalry, stationed for the purpose of
protecting Tanjore, lay encamped on the banks of
the Coleroon, at a distance of forty miles from the
capital of that name, exposed indeed on an open
plain, but apparently secured by the intervention of
several large and deep rivers, and the distance of the
enemy. His position gave encouragement to Hyder.
Tippoo, with 10,000 horse, an equal number of
infantry, twenty pieces of cannon, and M. Lally, with

* his European troops 400 strong, surrounded Colonel

Brathwaite before he had received even a suspicion
of their march. His first endeavour was to reach
Tanjore, or some other place of safety; but the
superior force of the enemy rendered this impracti-
cable. The next resolution was to make a brave
defence; and seldom can the annals of war exhibit a
parallel to the firmness and perseverance which he

! The anthor of Histoire de la Dernidre Guerre (p. 297) seys about
2000 ; but, thet was, including & regiment of Caffres.
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and his- little army displayed. From the 16th to BOOX
the 18th of February, surrounded on all sides by an
enemy, who outnumbered them, twenty to ome, did 1782
they withstand incessant attacks. They formed
themselves into a hollow square, with the artillery -
interspersed in the faces, and the cavalry in the centre.

* Tippoo laboured, by the fire of his cannon, to produeg
a breach in some of the lines, and as often as he
fancied that he had made an impression, urged on his
cavalry,by his presence, by promises, by threats, by
stripes, and the slaughter of fugitives with his own
hand. Repeatedly they advanced to the charge; as
often were they repelled by showers of grape-shot
and musketry; when the English cavalry, issuing
from the centre, at intervals suddenly made by dis-
ciplined troops, pursued their retreat with great
execution. After twenty-six hours of incessant con- *
flict, when great numbers of the English army had
fallen, and the rest were worn out with wounds and
fatigue, Lally, at the head of his 400 Europeans,
supported by a large body of infantry, covered on
his flanks by cavalry, advanced with fixed bayonets
to the attack. At this tremendous appearance, the
resolution of the sepoys failed, and they were thrown
into confusion. The rage of barbarians was with
difficulty restrained by the utmost efforts of a
civilized commander. Lally is reported ta have
dyed his sword in the blood of several of the
murderers, before he could draw them off from the
earnage. It is remarkable, notwithstanding the
dreadful circumstances of this engagement, that out
of twenty officers, only one was killed, and eleven
wounded. And it is but justice to add, that Tippoo

1=5
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treated his prisoners, especially the officers and

. wounded men, with real attention and humanity.

1783,

The arrival of so important an aid as that of 2000
Frenchmen, augmented to an alarming degree the
army of Tippoo. Cuddalore yielded to their united
force on the 3rd of April, and afforded a convenient
station both naval and military for the Freoch, In -
the mean time Sir Edward Hughes left Trincomalee,
having effected the most necessary repairs, and
arrived at Madras on the 12th of March. Towards
the end of that month, the French Admiral slipped
from Porto Novo, hearing that a fleet of English
Indiamen had arrived upon the coast. As soon as
his departure was known at Madras, Sir Edward
Hughes got under weigh; but had not lost sight of
the flag-staff of the fort, when he fell in with the

' fleet, of which the French were in quest, consisting

of seven Indiamen and two line-of-battle-ships, having
a king’s regiment on board. He ordered the men of
war to join him, and proceeded to land a reinforce.
ment and stores for the garrison at Trincomalee.
His policy was to avoid an engagement till this
service was performed. Suffrein, on the other hand
whose crews were sickly, and his provisions wearing
low, was eager to fight. The two fleets came in
sight on the 8th of April; but the English Admiral
held on his course, and the French followed, during
that and the three succeeding days, when, having
made the coast of Ceylon, about fifteen leagues
to windward of Trincomalee, the English bore away
for it during the night. This appears to have been
the opportunity for which Suffrein was in wait ; for
having gained the wind of the English squadron, he
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was seen on the morning of the 12th crowding all BOOK ¥.
the sail which he could carry in pursuit, while the
English were so alarmingly close upon a lee-shore 178%
that one of the ships actually touched the ground.
A severe conflict ensued, in which the intrepid reso-
lution of the English again counterbalanced the dis-
advantages of their situation; and the fleets, after
suffering in nearly an equal degree, were parted by
the night. So much were both disabled, that they
lay for seven days within random-shot, only te
prepare themselves to sail; and retired, the English
to Trincomalee, the French to the Duteh harbour of
Battacalo, without on either side attempting to renew
the engagement. :

‘The English army, who had now been some
. months in cantonments, took the field on the 17th of
April.  The object first in contemplation was to re-
lieve Parmacoil ; but on arriving at Carangoly, the
General found it already surrendered.. On the 24th
the army encamped near Wandewash, on the very
spot on which Sir Eyre Coote defeated the French
General Lally in 1760. The general orders boasted
of the victory, and a double batta was issned to the
troops; but on the next day, on account of water,
the position was shifted to the other side of the fort.
Hyder and his French auvxiliaries lay encamped ona
strong post, on_the red hills near Parmacoil, from
which, on the approach of the English, they removed
to another in the neighbourhood of Kellinoor. As
the magazines of Hyder were deposited in the strong
fort of Arnee, Sir Eyre concluded that a march tpan
that place would draw the enemy to its assistance,
and afford the opportunity of a battle. He encamped
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on the 1st of June within three miles of the place ;
and Hyder, passing over a space of forty-three miles
in two days, took up his head-quarters at Chittapet,
on the evening of the same day. Before the dawn
of the following morning, the English army were in
motion toward Arnee; but with the first of the light,
a heavy cannonade was opened on their rear. The
troops came twice to the right about, and the baggage
was brought twice through the files, before it was
possible to discover whence the firing proceeded. A
Council, which was called, and deliberated in great
uncertainty, agreed in opinion, that an attack was
to be expected on the rear, and the army was imme-
diately drawn up to receive it. The enemy’s horse,
in the mean time, occupied the circumjacent grounds,

more elevated than the low spot which was occupied

by the English, and considerably galled them; while
Hyder, dexterously detaching a division of his army
under Tippoo, carried off the treasure from Arnee,
gave instructions to the commandant, and reinforeed
the garrison. Having accomplished his object, he
retired as the English advanced; and one of his guns,
and a tumbril which stuck in the bed of the river,
were the only trophies of the day. Deeming it vain
to attempt the reduction of Arnee, the English on
the 7th were considerably advanced on their march
back to Madras, when a regiment of European ca~
valry, which Sir Eyre Coote called his grand guard,
were drawn inte an ambuscade, and either killed or
taken prisoners. After attempting without success
to lead the enemy into‘a similar snare near Wande-
wash, on the Oth, the General proceeded on his
march, and on the 20th arrived at Madras.
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. On the 29th of that month, by a letter from the 209K ¥.
Governor-General to Lord Macariney, the conclusion
of peace with the Mahrattas was announced at Ma- 175
dras. Sir Eyre Coote, as solely invested with the
power of war and peace, of his own authority, and
without econsulting’ the Governor and Council of
Madras, proposed to Hyder, or rather summoned him,
to accede to the treaty concluded between the Eng-
lish and the Mahrattas, to restore all the forts which
he had taken, and within six months o evacuate
the Carnatic ; otherwise, the arms of the Mahrattas
would be joined to those of the English, in order to
chastise him. Lord Macartuney, alarmed at so daring
an assumption of the whole power of the Presidency,
is accused of baving diverted the mind of Hyder
from peace, by teaching him to doubt the validity of
any agreement with the General, in which the Go-
vernor and Council had not a part.’ But Hyder too
well knew the politics of India to receive great addi-
tion to his apprehensions from the threats of the
Geueral ; and was too well acquainted with the
intrigues of Madras to receive new lights from the
commubication, even if it had been made, which was
thus imputed to Lord Macartney, To retain the
negotiation more completely independent of the civil
authority, the General moved from Madras, on the
1st of July, and leseened his distance from Hyder,
Sir Eyre was a most unequal match for the Mysorean
in the arts of diplomacy, and allowed himself to be
duped. Hyder amused him in the neighbourhood of
Wandewash, till the army had wholly consumed not

1 Memoirs of Lhe late War in Asis, i. 403, which, being an undistin.
mmmﬂmmmmﬂmW.
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BOOK V. only their own rice, but also that of the garrison;
and till he had completely arranged with the French
1782.  Admiral a plan of combined operations for the redue-
tion of Negapatam. He then demanded a little
time for deliberation, and, suddenly withdrawing his
vakeel, left the General in total darkness with re-
gard to his designs.?

Sir Eyre Coote was obliged to return to Madras;
and good fortune alone defeated the train which was
laid for the reduction of Negapatam. Suffrein, in
sailing to Negapatam, was descried by the English
fleet, and in spite of every attempt to gain the road
without fighting, was by the skilful movements of
the Admiral constrained to venture a battle. After
refitting at Ceylon, both fleets had returned to the

+ coast about the end of June ; the French to the port
of Cuddalore, the English to that of Negapatam.
Weighing anchor about three in the afiernoon on the
3rd of July, the English Admiral steered in a south-
erly direction in order to gain the wind of the ememy,
and about I1 o’clock on the following day the action
commenced. It was clogse, warm, and general. After
an hour and a half, during which the fire had been
equally well maintained on both sides, the French

' Colonel Wilks's account of this negotistion, is somewhat different.
According te hiam, ¥ originsted with Hyder. Bowe advances to nego-
tiation being made by him through Colonel Brathwaite, s prisoner in
Hyder’s camp ; these advances were followed by the mission of an exvoy
te the English eamp, charged with pe defixite proposals, sad iostrocted
merely to feel tbe dispositions and the probable demands of the English i
the event of & peace being made. Bir Eyre Coote declined to satiefy the
efficial mquiries of Lord Macsrtoey with regand to the nabture of theme
communications, condoct certainly uncordial and imdecorous, but less
glaringly so, than if the General had taken wpon himsolf Lo propose terms
of peace without the knowledge of the govermmenl.—W,
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line appeared tobe getting intodisorder ; and the Eng. BOOK ¥
lish began to cheer themselves with the hopes of a
speedy and glorious victory, when a sudden altera. 1782
tion of the wind disturbed their order of battle,
afforded  an opportunity to Suffrein, of which he
dexterously availed himself, to form a line with those

ships which had suffered the least, for covering the
disabled part of his fleet, and induced the English
Admiral te collect. the scattered ships. At the
approach of evening he cest anchor between Nega~
patam and Nagore! The French, having passed

the night about three leagues to leeward, proceeded

the next morning to Cuddalore; and the KEnglish

fleet, though it saw them, was too much disabled to
pursue. The Eunglish Admiral, after remaining a
fortnight at Negapatam, arrived at Madras on the

20th, in order to refit. In the mean time Suffrein

had proceeded with characteristic activity, a quality

in which he was never surpassed, in preparing his

fleet, for sea at Cuddalore. He was a man, that,

when the exigency required, would work for days,

like & ship’s carpenter, in his shirt. He visited the
houses and buildings at Cuddalore, and, for want of

other timber, had the beams which suited his purpose

. taken out. To some of his officers, who represented

to him the shattered condition of his ships, the
alarming deficiency of his stores, the impossibility of
supplying his wants in a desolated part of India, aud

the necessity of repairing to the islands to refit; the
whole value, he replied, of the ships was trivial, in

! It is said that two of the Frem‘:.h line-nf-butﬂa-ahipl strmek during the
action, but that Suffrein fired into them, till they hoisted colours again;
and in cousequence were saved. :
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sioned to attain ; and the ocean should be his har-
bour, till he found a place in India to repair them. On
the 5th of August, the Governor of Fort St. George
was informed, that the French fleet was already not
only prepared for sea, but had actually sailed to the
southward on the lst of the month; that the first
division of the French reinforcements expected from
Europe was actually arrived at Point de Galle; and
that the second, with Bussy himself, was daily ex-
pected. Greatly alarmed for the fate of Trincomalee,
and even of Negapatam, the President and Com-
mittee deemed it requisite to quicken the preparations
of the Admiral, whose activity equalled not his
courage and seamanship, by a letter, in which they
drew his attention to this intelligence, and to the
danger which every day was incurred, while an
enemy’s fleet kept the sea, without a British to
oppose it. 'The jealousy of the Admiral was acute;
of the time for sailing, he replied, that he was the
judge ; that he was not responsible for his conduct
to the government of Madras; and that he should
proceed to sea with his Majesty’s squadron under his
command, as soon a8 it was fit for service.! He did
not proceed to sea before the 20th of August; when .
he sailed to Trincomalee, and found it already in the
hands of the enemy. Suflrein, after proceeding to
Point de Galle, where he was joined by the rein-
forcements from Europe and two ships of the line,
anchored in Trincomalee Bay on the 25th; landed
the troops before day the next morning; opened the

' Barrow’s Life of Loxd Macartney, i. 122,
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batteries on the 29th; silenced those of the garrison BOOK ¥.-
before night ; and summoned the place before morn-
ing. Eager to anticipate the arrival of the English 178%
fleet, Suffrein offered the most honourable terms.
The forts were surrendered on the last of the month,
and Hughes arrived on the 2nd of September.

Early on the following morning the ¥rench fleet
proceeded to sea; when the English were eager to
redeem by a victory the loss of Trincomalee. The
French had twelve, the English eleven sail of the
line; the French had four ships of fifty guns, the
English only one. The battle began between two
and three in the afternoon, and soon bhecame general.
After raging for three hours with great fury in every
part of the line; the darkness of the night at last
terminated one of the best-fought actions then re-
corded in the annals of naval warfare. The exertions
of Suffrein himself were remarkable, for he was ill
. seconded by his captains, of whom he broke no fewer
» than six, immediately after the engagement. For-
tunately for the French fleet, they had the island of
Trincomalee at hand, to receive them ; but in crowd-
ing into it in the dark, one ship struck upon the
rocks, and was lost; and two others were so much
disabled, that ten days elapsed before they were able
to enter the harbour. Suffrein then described them
as presents which he bad received from the British
Admiral; who, regarding the proximity of Trinco-
malee as a bar to all attempts, and finding his am-
munition short, immediately after the battle pro-
ceeded to Madras.

Hyder, upon the disappointment of his plan against
Negapatam by the rencounter between the Krerch




254 HISTORY OF BRITISH INDIA.

BOOK ¥. and English fleets, returned upon his steps ; and pro-
ceeded toward his magazine at Amee. Upon the

178t return of the English army to Madras, a plan had
been concerted for the recovery of Cuddalore. The
return, indeed, of Hyder, by alarming the General

for the safety of Wandewash, made him wish to
lessen rather than increase his distance from that

fort; but after a day’s march, having learned that
Hyder had passed the river Arnee, he proceeded in

the direction of Cuddalore, and on the 6th of Sep-
tember encamped on the red hills of Pondicherry.
Intelligence, here received, of the fall of Trincomalee,

of another action between the fleets, and of the in-
tention of the British Admiral to return to Madras,
mduced the General, who had sustained a second
paralytic attack, to return to the same place with

« the army.

The Presidency were thrown into the utmoet agi-
tation and alarm by an unexpected event; the re-
fusal of the Admiral fo co-operate in the enterprise
against Cuddalore; and the declaration of his in-
tention to proceed to Bombay, and leave the coast
during the ensuing monsoon. If the coast were left
unprotected by a British fleet, while the barbour of
Trincomalee enabled the enemy to remain, and while
Hyder was nearly undisputed master of the Camatic,
nothing less was threatened than the extirpation of
the English from that quarter of India. Beside these
important considerations, the Council pressed upon
the mind of the Admiral the gituation of the Presi
dency in regard to food; that their entire depend-
ence rested upon the supplies which might arrive by
sea; that the stock in the warehouses did not ex-
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ceed 30,000 bags; that the quanhty afloat jn the BOOK V.
roads amounted but to as much more, which the .
number of boats demanded for the daily service of 1783
his squadron had deprived them of the means of
landing : that the monthly econsumption was 50,000
bags at the least; and that, if the vessels on which
they depended for their supply were intercepted,
(such would be the certain consequence of a French
fleet without an English upon the coast,) nothing
less than famine was placed before their eyes. The
Admiral was reminded that he had remained in
safety upon the coast during the easterly monsoon of
the former year, and might still undoubtedly find
some harbour to afford him shelter. A letter too
was received express from Bengal, stating that Mr.
Ritchie, the marine surveyor, would undertake to
conduct his Majesty’s ships to a safe anchorage in
the mouth of the Bengal river. And it was known
that Sir Richard Bickerton, with a reinforcement
of five sail of the line from England, had already
touched at Bombay, and was on his way round for
Madras. ‘ ,
The Admiral remained deaf to all expostulations,
In the mean time intelligence was received that the
' enemy was preparing to attack Negapatasm. The
President had already prevailed upon Sir Eyre Coote
to send a detachment of 300 men under Colonel
Fullarton, into the southern provinces, which, since
the defeat of Colonel Brathwaite, had lain exposed
to the ravages of Hyder, and were now visited with
scarcity, and the prospect of famine. Within two
days of the former intelligence, accounts were re-
ceived that seventeen sail of the enemy’s fleet had
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arrived at Negapatam, and that the place was already
attacked. The most earnest expostulations were
still addressed to the Admiral in vain; and the morn-
ing of the 15th of October exhibiting the appear-
ance of a storm, the fleet set sail and disappeared.
The following momning presented a tremendous spec-
tacle to the wretched inhabitanta of Madras; several
large vessels driven ashore ; others foundered at their
anchors; all the small craft, amounting to nearly
100 in number, either sunk or stranded; and the
whole of the 30,000 bags of rice irretrievably gone.
The ravages of Hyder had driven crowds of the inha-
bitants from all parts of the country to seek refuge
at Madras, where multitudes were daily perishing of
want. Kamine now raged in all his horrors; and
the multitude of the dead and the dying threatened
to superadd the evils of pestilence. The bodies of
those who expired in the streets or the houses with-
out any one to inter them, were daily collected, and
piled in carts, to be buried in large trenches made
for the purpose out of the town, to the number, for
several weeks, of not less, it is saild, than twelve or
fificen hundred a-week. What was done to remove
the suffering inhabitants to the less exhausted parts
of the eountry, and to prevent unnecessary consump-
tion, the Governor sending away his horses, and
even his servants, could only mitigate, and that to a
small degree, the evils which were endured.! On

! The violence of the tendency there was to calumniste Lord Macart-
m-wwmm&mﬂunummq
imte publications in England ; that he kept the grain on Board the ships to
wmake his profit out of its engrossment, Bee Memwirs of the late War in
Asis, i. 413 —M. This is mot asserted, nor insinusied, by the sathor of
the work ciled : he merely states that such sspicions were entertsined,
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the fourth day after the departure of Sir Edward BOOK V.
Hughes and his fleet, Sir Richard Bickerton arrived,
with three regiments of 1000 each, ‘Sir John Bur. 1782
goyne’s regiment of light horse, amounting to 340,

and about 1000 recruits raised by the Company,
chiefly in Treland; but as soon as Sir Richard was
apprized of the motions of Sir E. Hughes, he imme-
diately put to sea, and proceeded after him to Bom-

bay. Sir Eyre Coote also, no longer equal to the

toils of command, set sail for Bengal; and General
Btuart remained at the head of the army, now en-
camped at Madras, with prowsmns for not many

days, and its pay six months in arrear.

.The exclusive power over the military operations,
which had been intrusted to Coote, and which,
though it greatly impeded the exertions of the Presi-
dent, motives of delicacy and prudence forbade him
to withdraw, belonged, under no pretext, to Geeneral -
Stuart; and the Governor and Council proceeded to
carry their own plans into execution, for checking
the profuse expenditure of the army, and making the
most advantageous disposition of the troops. A re-
inforcement of 400 Europeans was despatched to
co-operate with the Bombay army in effecting a
diversion on the western side of Hyder’s dominions ;

300 of the same troops were sent to the northern .
Circars against an apprehended invasion of the
French; and 500 to strengthen the garrison at Ne-
gapatam. Fortunately for the English, the French

sccording to the mauner of the peopls, originating in some restrictions laid
npon the disposal of the cargoes, thought advisable by the government of
Madras, on public principles, such as were common in those days, befors
political economy was understood.—W,

VOL. IV, 8
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BOOK V- bad no information or conception of the unprotected

and starving condition in which Madras had been

1782 Jeft. It remained upvisited, even by a few frigates

to intercept the com-ghips: and from Bengal and

the Circars considerable supplies were received. An

event also arrived, of such magnitude, as to affect

the views of almost every state in India, and sud-

denly to cheer the gloom which darkened the pros-

pects of the English. Their great enemy Hyder

Ali, who began his career in one of the lowest

situations of life; who, totally destitute of the bene-

fits of education, raised himself to be the sovereign

of a great empire, and displayed a talent for govern-

ment and for war, of which they had met with no

example in India, died at Chittore in the beginning

of December, at an age not exactly ascertained, but

certainly exceeding eighty ; when his destined suc-

cessor Tippoo was at a great distance; having been

detached to the western coast, to oppose Colonel
Bumberstone’s invasion.

That officer, after remaining at Calicut from the
end of May till the beginning of September, pro-
ceeded to Palacotah, a strong fort, situated about a
mile from Palacatcherry, and commanding the great
southern pass between the coasts, with an army con-
sisting of more than 900 British troops, and 2000
Bombay sepoys ; beside 1200 sepoys with European
officers and serjeants, furnished by the King of Tan-
jore; and a proportional train of artillery, of which
however they were obliged, for want of draught
bullocks, to leave the whole of the heavy part, and
one balf of the remainder by the way. They re-
mained before Ramgurree from the 20th of Septem-
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ber to the 6th of October, Being deserted in the BUOK kY.
night, it was garrisoned with convalescents, and -
made the centre of a chain of eommunications. 1782
After taking another fort on_ the 14th, they ap-
proached Palacatcherry; and on the 18th, without
much difficulty, dispersed the enemy, who met them
at about three miles’ distance from the fort. To take
Palacatcherry, without heavy artillery, was, after
three days' inspection, considered impossible; and
the army were ordered to march at four o'clock on
the morning of the 22nd, in order to occupy a camp
at several miles’ distance, till the battering cannon
should arrive. Unfortunately, the officer whe con-
ducted the retreat, instead of putting the line to the
right about, ordered them to countermarch, which
threw the baggage and stores to the rear. Apprized
of all their motions, the enemy dexterously watched
them in a narrow defile, till all except the rear guard
and the baggage had passed, when the enemy sud-
denly made an attack, and the whole of the provi-
sions, and almost all the ammunition, fell into their
hands. It now only remained for the English to
make their retreat to the coast with the greatest ex-
pedition. They. were attacked from every thicket;
exceedingly harassed both on flanks and rear:
during the two first days they hardly tasted food;
and on the 18th of November, when they reached
Ramgurree, the fortifications of which, as well as
those of Mangaracotah, they blew up, they received
intelligence that Tippoo Saheb, with 20,000 men,
whom the weakness of the English in the Carnatic had
enabled Hyder to detach for the protection of his
western provinces, was advancing upon them with
82
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BOOK V.rapid marches, and already at hand. They had
marched but & few miles on the following morning,
1781 when Tippoo’s advanced parties opened a cannonade
on their rear. Fighting every step of the march,
they arrived towards dark at the river Paniani, which
appeared impassable. After a painful search of two
hours a ford was found, which though it reached up
to the chin of an ordinary man, they resolved to at-
terpt, and happily passed with the loss of but two
black women, among the followers of the camp. The
enemy, expecting to find them an easy prey in the
morning, had totally neglected to watch them during
the night. Next day they reached the town of Pa-
niani, against which the operations of Tippoo were
immediately commenced.! Before dawn on the 28th
of November, the enemy, divided into four eolumns,
including a portion of Lally’s corps, with that officer
himself at their head, made a strong assault upon the
English lines, as yet incomplete. They had dis-
lodged a body of sepoys, and were in possession of
the guns, before the English troops got under arms ;
when the forty-second regiment, advancing with
fixed bayonets, threw them into confusion. They
made various attempts to rally, but with considerable
slaughter were compelled to retreat® Tippoo con-
tinued the blockade, and was understood to be me-
ditating another attack, when he received the news
of his father's decease. He departed immediately

t The command had been assumed by Colonel Macleod, sent by Sir
Eyre Coote for the purpose, and who srrived at Panisni on the 19th.~W.

* According to Wilks, the assault took place on the 29th; on the Axh
Sizr E. Hughes with his squadron touched at Paniani, and reinforced the
detachment with 450 Egropeans.—W,
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with a few horse, leaving orders for the army fo
follow. ‘

No sooner was intelligence received of the death
of Hyder, than Lord Macartney, aware of the feeble
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cement of an Indian army, and justly estimating the -

chances of its dispersion, if, at the moment of con-
sternation, it were vigorously attacked, expressed his
eagerness for action. General Stuart, instead of se-
conding this ardour, either by having the troops in
readiness, or putting them in motion, was employing
his time and his talents in squabbles with the civil
authority. Slight symptoms of military impatience,
under the command of the Company’s servants, had,
at different times, already appeared. But it was
under Coote, that it first assumed a formidable as-
pect. The independent authority which was yielded
to that commander corrupted the views of the mil-
tary officers; and General Stuart was well calcu-
lated to uphold a controversy on the subject of his
own pretensions, From the moment of his elevation
to the command of the troops, and fo a voice in the
deliberations which regulated their actions, he is ac-
cused of having diligently objected to almost every
proposal; and of having filled the records of the
Company with teasing discussions on his own dig-
nity, privileges, and emoluments. The King's offi-
cers, indeed, from an early period of their services in
India, assumed an air, proportionate, as they imagined
to the dignity of the master whom they served ; and
they now, under General Stuart, distinctly asserted
the doctrine of being at liberty to obey, or mnot to
obey the Company, as they themselves held fit. A
doctrine which implied the extinction of the civil au-
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B0OK ; thority, and went to subvert the government of the

Company, appeared to Lord Macartney to demand an

1783 explicit and decisive resistance. The Committee

agreed with him in recording a declaration; That
when the King lent his troops for the service of the
Company, and when they passed from the pay of the
King into the pay of the Company, their obedience
to the Company, ill the period of their recall, was a
condition necessary and understood : that the King
reserved to himself the regulation of their interior
economy ; but with regard to their operations, gave
them not 8o much as instructions; which were left
exclusively to the Authority, for the service of which
they were employed. The General, baving thought
fit to deliver to the Committee what he called an an-
swer to this declaration, and therein to assert a right
of judging when he should obey, and when not, re-
ecived by the unanimous resolution of the Com-
mittee, a positive order to send no commands or
instructions, except on business of discipline or detail,
to any of the King’s or Company’s officers without
the approbation of the Committee. To these deci-
sive measures General Stuart abstained from any
direct or declared resistance; and rather chose to

_thwart the views of the President and Council by

placing obstacles in their way. Upon their earnest
appheation, when the news arrived of the death
of Hyder, that the army should march, the General

* affected to disbelieve the intelligence; and, if it

was true, replied, that the army would be ready
for action in the proper time. When the fact
was ascertained, and the remonstrances were re-
doubled; when letters were daily received, describing
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the importance of the moment for striking a decisive 00K V.
blow; when the commanding officer at Tripasore
sent express intelligence, that the whole of the 1783
enemy’s camp was in consternation, that numbers
bad deserted, and that, in the opinion of the de-
serters, the whole army, if attacked before the arrival
of Tippoo, would immediately disband and fly into
their own country, the General declared the army
deficient in equipments for marching at that season
of the year; though for upwards of a month he
had been receiving the strongest representations
on the necessity of keeping it in readiness for
action, with offers of the utmost exertions of the
government to provide for that purpose whatever
was required.

- Tippoo, in the mean time, had admitted no delay.
Having reached Colar, where, he performed the ac-
customed ceremonies at the"tomb of his father, he
pursued his course to the main army, which he joined
between Amee and Velore, about the end of Decem-
ber. The address and fidelity of the leading officers,’
who concealed the fatal event, had been able to
preserve some order and obedience among the troops
till he arrived; when the immediate payment of
their arrears, and a few popular regulations, firmly
established Tippoo on his father's throne. Shortly
after his arrival he was joined by a French force from
Cuddalore, consisting of 900 Europeans, 250 Caffrees
and -Topasses, 2000 sepoys, and twenty-two pieces of
artillery ; while at this time the whole of the l}ritish
force in the Carnatic, capable of taking the field,

' The two principal ministers of H;du- were Hindus, both Brahmuns.
Poornea and Kishon Rac. Wilks, ii. 413.—W, . .
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BOOK 5?- amounted to no more than 2945 Europeans, and

1783.

11,545 natives.

On the 4th of January the army at last took the
field. On the 5th of February they marched. On
the eighth they arrived at Wandewash, where the
enemy appeared. On the 13th the General advanced
and offered battle; when the enemy retired in haste
and disorder towards the nver. He withdrew the
garrisons from Wandewash and Carangoly, which jt
was held impracticable to maintain; and blew up the
fortifications of both.! He then marched towards
Velore, and at that place received intelligence that
Tippoo Saib was retreating from the Camnatic, that
he had ordered Arcot to be evacuated, and two sides
of the fort to be destroyed.

Tippoo was recalled, not only by the care of esta-
blishing his government, but of meeting a formidable
invasion on the western coast, which had already
approached the vitals of his kingdom. The English
army, which had been left unobstructed on his de-
parture from Paniani, about the beginning of De-.
cember, proceeded about the end of that month, the
sepoys by land to Tellicherry, the European part, by
sea, to Merjee, about three hundred miles north of
Paniani. In January, General Mathews, with an
army under his command, from Bombay, arrived at
Merjee, and summoned to his standard the rest of
the troops on that part of the coast. He took by
storm the fort of Onore, and reduced some other

* Thif was dome in compliance, and in comcarrence with the views of
the Madras government, but General Stuart sfierwards expressed his
regret ai having precipitately adopjed s measure of which the army soca

felt the inconveuicnce. It alwo rectived the omdemmation of the Supreme
Govermment. Wilks, i, 424, 426.—W.
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places of smaller consequence; and about the middle
of the month, with a force consisting of about 1200
Europeans, eight battalions of Sepoys, and a propor-
tionate quantity of artillery and Lascars, moved
toward the great pass which is known by the appel-
lation of the Hussain Gurry Ghaut! The ascent
consisted of a winding road of about five miles in
length, defended by batteries or redoubts at every
turning, The army entered the pass on the morning
of the 25th, and chiefly with the bayonet carried
every thing before them, till they reached a strong
redoubt at the top of the Ghaut; this appeared im-
pregnable; but a party clambering up the rocks
came round upon it behind, and the whole of the
pass was placed in their power. The next day they
advanced to Hyder-nagur, or Bednore, the rich
capital of one of the most important of all the depen-
dencies of Mysore. They were on their march with
no more than six rounds of ammunition for each man,
when an English prisoner arrived, with terms from

the Governor, and a proposal to surrender not only’

the  city of Bednore, but the country and all its
dependencies. With the capital, most of the minor
forts made a ready submisson ; but Ananpore, Man-
galore, and some others, held out. Ananpore, after
violating two flags of truce, stood the storm, and was
carried on the 14th of February. In Mangalore, a
breach being effected, the commander, unable to
prevail upon his people to maintain the defence, was
obliged to surrender. In these transactions, particu-

T ‘This movement, intended soadvanceupon Bednore, was in consequence
of positive orders from the Bombay Government, and in opposition to the
opinion of General Matthews, Wilks, ii. 448,
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English army have been accused of a barbarity
unusual at the hands of a civilized foe. It appears
not, however, that quarter, when asked, was refused;
but orders were given to shed the blood of every man
who was taken under arms, and some of the officers
were reprimanded for not seeing those orders rigidly
executed.! After the acquisition of Mangalore the
General, with a portion of the army, returned to
Bednore, where the flames of discord were kindled
by pretensions to the spoil. A vast treasure amount.
ing to eighty-one lacs of pagodas, 801,000L besides
a quantity of jewels, was understood to have been
found in Bednore. Of this, though the army was in
the greatest distress for want of money, having re-
ceived no pay for twelve months, some of the troops
for a longer time, the General positively refused to
divide any part. The most vehement complaints and
remonstrances ensued. Refractory proceedings were
severely, if not abitrarily punished ; and three of the
leading officers, Colonel Macleod, Colonel Humber-
stone, and Major Shaw, left the anmy, and, proceeding
to Bombay, laid their representations before the Go-
vernor and Council. So flagrant to the Governor and
Council did the conduct of the General appear, that
they superseded him; and appointed Colonel Maec-

* See Anoua) Register for 1783; xud * A Vindication of the English
Forces employed in the late War, wnder the command of Brigadier.
General Matthews, agiinst the Nabob Tippoo Sultsan,™ by sumdry
Officers of the Bombsy Estsblishment Parliamentary Papers, ordered
to be printed, 11th March, 1791 —M. Wilks etates that the gamisom of
Anaztpore was put to the sword in retalistion for what the English consi-
dered an act of treachery, their firing upon & party sdvancing under & pro-
mine of the peacrable sarvender of the fort; which promise had, withoot
any communication wilh the semilants, bees revoked by 3 differest
authority, v. ii, 453.—W.
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leod, the next in rank, to take the command in his Bc?gf. -
stead. Suspicions of his rapacity blazed with violence;

but it ought to be remembered, that he lived not to 1783
vindicate his own reputution; and that in circum-
stances such as those in which he was placed, sus-
picions of rapacity are easily raised. !

Colonel Macleod, now Brigadier-General, and

Commander-in-Chief, returning to the army with the

two other officers, in the Ranger snow, fell in with a
Mahratta fleet of five vessels off Geriah, on the 7th

of April. This fleet was not, it appears, apprized of
-the peace ; and Macleod full of impatience, temerity,

' As far 48 they originated with the disappointment of the army, they
were unfounded. No such amount of treasure could have been collested
in Bednore, The circumstances of the surrender of that place to the
English, which General Matthews thought little less than providential,
considering the defective state of his equipments, have been fully explained
by Coloncl Wilks, from original documents. Bednore was yielded with-
out resistance, from the treason of the governor, Ayaz (Hyat) Khan, one
of Hyder'smilitary pupils or slaves, who had always been in disfavour witkh
Tippoo, who apprehended disgrace or death upon that prince’s accession ;
and who had intercepted orders for his destruction. e therefore at once
ceded the province and capital to the English, and upon its investment by
Tippoo, made his escape to Bombay. He probably stipulated for the pre-
servation of what treasure there was in the fort, and he claimed compen-
sation for what was lost, when the place was re-captured. His claig was
but 1,40,000 pagodas, and the accounts.of the Eimfifice minister of Mysore
state the embezzlement to have heen uf one lack, not eighty-one,
as particularized in the text. As usual, therefore, the English were
deceived by their own unreasonable expectations, and as the negotiation
between Ayaz and the General, was kept a profound secret ;—indeed Col.
Wilks supposes it possible that General Matthews himself was not aware
of the motives of the Governor, which is by no means probable ;—they were
at a loss to understand whyk they were deprived of even 50 much of their
booty as was to be divided. The conduct of the General after the occu-
pation of Bednore, when the withdrawal of the positive orders of the Bom-
bay Government left him free to fall back npon the coast, exhibits as grear
a want of military judgment, as his disputes with his officers manifested
irritability of temper. Col, Wilks has given a very copious and interest-
ing account of the whole of this calamitous transaction, vol. ii. 448, et
seq.—W.
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BOOK ¥. and presumption, instead of attempting an explana-
__. tion, or submitting to be detained at Geriah for afew
1783.  days, gave orders to resist. The Ranger was taken,
after almost every man in the ship was either killed
or wounded. Major Shaw was killed, and Macleod
and Humberstone wounded ; the latter mortally. He
died in a few days at Geriah, in the twenty-eighth
year of his age, and was lamented as an officer of the
most exalted promise; a man, who nourished his
spirit with the contemplation of ancient heroes, and
devoted bis hours to the study of the most abstruse
sciences connected with his profession.

During this interval, the forty-second regiment
was sent from Bednore to seize some forts below the
Ghauts ; the army was dispersed in detachments, o
occupy almost every town and mud-fort in the coun-
try; nothing, it is said, was dreamt of but riches;
intelligence, fortifications, and subsistence, were all
equally neglected. In this state of supine insensi-
bility, Tippoo suddenly appeared on the 9th of April,
drove in a detachment stationed four miles distant at
Fattiput, seized the town of Bednore, with a consi-
derable quanfity of ammunition neglectfully remain-
ing without the magazine; laid siege to the fort;
and sent detachments to occupy the Ghauts, and
surrounding country. The English in Bednore were
then eut off from retreat; the fortifications ruinous,
their ammunition expended, their provisions low, and
their numbers diminishing by disease and fatigue as
well as the sword. Honourable terms being pro-
mised, they surrendered by capitulation on the
30th of April; but instead of being sent according
to agreement to the coast, they were put in irons and
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marched like felons to a dreadful imprisonment in BOOK V.
the strong fortresses of Mysore. To apologize for
this outrage upon the law of even barbarous nations, 1782.
Tippoo charged the English with a violation of the
articles of capitulation in robbing the public treasure ;
and the suspicions which were attached to the cha-
racter of the General have given currency fo a story
that he ordered the bamboo of his palanquin to be
pierced and filled with pagodas.!

After this important success, Tippoo proceeded to
Mangalore, in which the remains of the English
army collected themselves, with such provisions. as
the suddenness of the emergency allowed them to
procure. On the possession of Mangalore, the chief
fortress and the best harbour of Canara, Tippoo, as
well as his father, set an extraordinary value. On
the 16th of May, a reconnoitring party of his horsé
appeared on & height near the town. On the 20th
the picquets, on the 23rd the outposts of the gar-
rison were driven in, and the investment of the placé
was rendered complete. '

' That the public treasure was divided amongst the English, is uniformly
admitted. Anncal Register, 1783. Wilks, ii. 462, Coionel Price who
was then serving with a detachment of General Matthews's army
nearer the coast, observes, *The secount of the captured trensure was
at the time enormously exaggersted, bul the imprudent and unwarrant-
able manner in which at the last extremity it was distributed, and that
after it had been determined to . capitnlate, furnished too plausible aa
apology for that breach of the capitulation of whick the Sultan became
immediately guilty,” The seme officer gives an account of an operation,
the suocess of which might have had soms effect upon & more favourabld
result. A eortie from the citadel look the French detachment so com-
plotely by surprise, that it might easily have been destroyed. One of the
French officers, however, adroitly stepped forward, and requested a parley;
as if preparatory to & surrendor. The commandant of the detachmént
nnwisely halted to receive his overtures, and during the pause the enemy
wmed and repulsed theirassailants. Memvoirs of & Field Officer; 101, '
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BOOK V.  During the march of Tippoo from the Carnatic to
the western side of his kingdom, and the operations
1783. which preceded his arrival at Mangalore, the follow-
ing occurrences took place at Madras. As soon as
the General ascertained the departure of the enemy,
he returned with the army, and on the 20th of
February encamped near the Mount. The policy of
supporting the English army in Bednore against
the army of Tippoo, by strong incursions on the
southern and eastern parts of his dominions, pre-
sented itself, in the strongest point of view, to the
Governor and Council. The army stationed in Tan-
jore and the southern provinces received orders to
march towards the west; and to General Stuart it
was recommended, to march upon Tippoo’s frontier
in the direction of Vellore. Any such movement
he declared to be impossible; and while the army
remained inactive, Suffrein, whom the British fleet
had not yet returned to oppose, found no difficulty in
landing Bussy, with a reinforcement of French
troops, at Cuddalore. It was an object of great im-
portance to recover possession of that place, before
the werks should be strengthened, and the army of
Tippoo, with the French troops which were with
him, should be able to return. To all the expos-
tulations of the Governor and Counecil, the General
is accused of having replied, only by the statement
of wants and difficulties, operating as grounds of
delay. About fourteen days after the time fized
upon by himself, that is, on the 2lst of April, in
consequence of peremptory commands, he marched
with the army towards Cuddalore. Contrary to his
pledge, that he would not recall to his assistance the
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southern army, without the strongest necessity, of BOOK V.
which he engaged to: apprize the Committee, he
secretly wrote to the Commanding Officer three days 1783
before his departure, to join him with the greatest
part of the force under his command. - By this abuse
of their confidence, the Committee were induced to
withdraw the discretionary power aver the southern
army, which they had granted at his request, ‘The
march from Madras to Cuddalore, about 100 miles,
is usually performed in twelve days:. General Stuart
had no obstruction either to meét or to fear ; he was,
to a degree unusually perfect, supplied with all the
requisites for his march; yet he spent forty days
upon the road, that is, marched at the rate of less
than three miles a-day, though the chance of success
mainly depended upon despatch, and the Admiral,
who was to co-operate with the expedition, declared
that he could not, for want of water and provisions,
remain before Cuddalore till the ‘end of June. The
fleet had returned to Madras on the 12th of April,
sugmented to seventeen gail of the line, four frigates,
and some smaller vessels; and soon after, a fleet of
ten Indiamen, and three store-ships, with 1000 re-
cruits te the army, arrived under convoy of the
Bristol man-of-war, after a narrow escape from the
squadron of Suffrein, :

The army arrived at Cuddalore on the 7th: of
June, where the enemy had already. thrown up, and
almost completed, considerable works. An attack was
to be made on these works on the 13th, in three several
places at once; and it was planned to give the signal
by firing three guns from a hill. Amid the noise of
firing, a signal of this description could not be heard ;
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BOOK V. and the attacks were made at three several times.

cHar. 5.

1783.

The English wererepulsed; but the enemy quitting,
in the pursuit, a part of their works, which were dex-
terously occupied by a division of the English army,
were thrown into consternation, and withdrew. This
attack bad nearly incurred the ruin of the English
sgrmy, and left sixty-two officers, and 920 men,
almost all Europeans, either dead or mortally wounded
on the field. The English lay upon their arms dur-
ing the night in expectation of an attack. which the
troops, fatigued and unprotected, would have found
it difficult to sustain. But the spirit of Bussy was
chilled by age and infirmities ; and he restrained the
impetuosity of his officers, who confidently predicted
the destruction of the British army.!

On the following day Sir Edward Hughes, and
Sufirein, who had followed him from Trincomalee,
arrived with their respective fleets. The English
remained at anchor till the 16th; on the 17th, and
two succeeding days, the fleets performed a variety
of movements for the purpose of gaining or keeping

the wind; and about four o'clock on the 20th they

engaged. The English consisted of eighteen sail,
the French only of sixteen, and so leaky, that most

! No such canse of confnsion as that indicated by the text, is noticed by
Wilks, mor does it sppesr that three simultaneous movements wese
intended ; the object was to gain possession of what was considered the
key of the enemy’s position. The first operation, which was merely preli-
minary, sncceeded. The second failed, and rendered s third necessary,
which succeeded bat partialiy. Thirteen gups, and the key of the eon-
tested position vemained in possession of the English army. The vetire-
ment of the French on the same pight, within the walls of Cuddalore,
evinced their seose of the operations of the day, but their being permitted

‘during the night to draw off withoul molestation all their heary puns, fur-

mished equal evidence of the imnpression made upon the English by & vie-
tory so dearty purchased. —W.
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of them it was necessary to pump during the battle : BOOK 5V
yet. Suffrein, by dexterous management, contrived -
in several instances to place two of his vessels upon 1783
one of the English, of which five were but Ilittle
engaged. The combatants were parted by night, and
the next day the French were out of sight, but ap-
peared at anchor in the road of Porto Novo on the
morning of the 22nd. The British Admiral, deeming
it inexpedient to attack them, only offered battle,and
then made sail for Madras.! It has been both
asserfed and denied that Suffrein weighed, and
stood after him; but it is ecertain that he arrived at
Cuddslore on the following day. He immediately
proceeded to land as many men as he could spare
from the fleet : and measures were concerted between
him and Bussy for the most vigorous operations.
They made a sally on the 25th, which was repulsed ;*
but & grand effort was preparing for the 4th of July;
and so much were the English reduced by the sword,
by sickness, and fatigue, that the most fatal conse-
quences were probable and feared. Sir Edward
Hughes at Madras, and the British army exposed to

' The English fleet was much mppled by the aickly state of the Crews.
Eleven hundred sick of the scurvy had been landed at Madras ; and in the
short epace of & fortnight, seventsen hundred more had from the zame
csose become unfit for duty. On the other hand Suffrein had been rein-
forced by Bussy on the night of the 17th, with 1200 men, giving him the
advantage at the lowest estimate of 3000 hands more than the strength of
Bir Edward Huoghes. After the action, not only were the men re-landed,
but 2400 men were furnished from lheﬂswt. Asint. Reg. 1783. Wilks,
il 440.—W.

* In this affair, Marshal Barnadotte afterwards Crown Prince of Sweden,
served as & Serjeant in the French srmy, and was wounded and taken
prisoner, as he acknowledged at a subeequent period to General Langen-
heim, who st Cuddalore was Commandant of the Hanoverian troops in
tha British service, and who had trested him with pal'llmlht klndneu.
Bee the Anecdote in Wilks, il 443.—W,

YOL. IV. T
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Suffrein and Bussy at Cuddalore, presented a dismal
prospect to the imaginations of the Governor and
Council; when intelligence was received of the
signature in Europe of a treaty of peace between the
English and French. It was immediately resolved,
though official intelligence had not yet arrived, to
send a flag of truce to Bussy, recommending an im-
mediate cessation of arms. To this proposal the
French commander acceded, with less difficulty than
might have been expected. Bussy even consented to
invite Tippoo to a participation in the peace, and to
send positive orders to the French troops to retire
immediately from his service.

Upon the evacuation of the Camatic by Tippoo,
the occasion was not omitted of making to him an
overture of peace by means of a Brabmenyin the
confidence of the King of Tanjore. A favourable
answer was remitted ; but a point of etiquette, for
which the Governor was a great stickler, leading
to another on the part of Tippoo, broke off the
negotiation. 'To the application from Bussy, how-
ever, an answer was returned in little more thana
month, offering peace upon certain conditions, and
expressing a desire fo send two ambassadors to
Madras. Upon the arrival of the vakeels it appeared
that a peace, upon the basis of a mutual restitution
of conquests, might easily be made; and for the
acceleration of so desirable an event, especially on
account of the prisoners, to whose feelings, and even
lives, a few weeks were of importanee, it was deemed
expedient to send three commissioners along with
Tippoo’s vakeels, to expedite on the spot the business
of negotiation.
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Measures, in the mean time, were pursned for 11001‘ V.

HAER 3.

creating a diversion in favour of the detachment

besieged in Mangalore. The two divisions of the
army which were stationed for the protection, the
one of the northern, the other of the southern pro-
vinces, were reinforced ; and instructed to threaten
or attack the enemy in that part of his dominions to
which they approached. Thedivision in the south was;
in the opinion of Colonel Fullarton, by whom it was
commanded, augmented sufficiently to penetrate into
the very heart of Mysore, and possibly to attack the
capital itself.

Amid these proceedings,,the contentions which
prevailed between the heads of the civil and military
departments were hastening to a decision. Along
with the flag of truce which was forwarded to the
French, it was resolved in the Committee to send
orders for the recall of General Stuart to the Presi-
dency, as well because they could not depend upon
his obedience, as because they deemed it necessary
to hear the account which he .might render of his
conduct, After a temporary neglect of the com-
mands of the Commitiee, the General thought
proper to leave the army and proceed to Madras;
where, superseding mutual explanations, the cus-
tomary disputes were renewed and inflamed. The
Governor at last submitted to the Committee a
motion, that General Stuart should be dismissed from
the Company’s service. In the minute by which this
motion was introduced, the misconduct of the General
in the expedition to Guddalore, and the acts of dis-
obedience, which ‘were sufficient in number and
magnitude to imply the transfer of all power into his

T 2

1783
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BOOK V. hands, were stated as the principal grounds of the
proposed proceeding ; to which the votes of the Com-
1783.  mitteeimmediatelyimparted their unanimoussanction.
Stuart, however, announced his determination to
retain the command of the. King’s troops; and Sir
John Burgoyne, on whom, as second in rank, the
command would devolve, intimated bis intention to
obey the orders of General Stuart. Decisive acts
were now inevitable. The Town Adjutant, accom-
panied by the Governor’s Private Secretary, and a
party of sepoys, proceeded to the villa of the General,
and broughthim quietly a prisoner to the fort; where
he remained a few days, and was then embarked for
England.
The original plan, to the execution of which the
army in the south was destined, was, that it should
*  penetrate on the one side, and the army under Colonel
Humberstone at Paniani on the other, into the coun-
try of Coimbetore, forming a line of communication
from the one coast to the other, through the middle
of Tippoo's dominions. In this scheme, which was
framed and suggested by Mr. Sullivan, the gentleman
at the head of the civil department in the Trichi-
nopoly district, was included a negotiation for raising
disturbance against Tippoo in his own dominions, by
setting up the pretensions of the deposed Raja of
Mysore. In the months of April and May, 1783,
the forts of Caroor, Aravarcouchy, and Dindigul,
were reduced ; but the exhausted state of the coun-
try, not more from the ravages of the enemy, than
the disorganization of the government, cramped the
operations of the army by scarcity of supplies. The
first object of Colonel Fullarton, who took the com-
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mand of the southern army, was to augment the field BOOK 7.

force by battalions from Tanjore, Trichinopoly, and
Tinivelly ; and, vigorously aided as he was by the
‘chief civil servants of the Company, not only to pro-
cure supplies, but soothe the minds, and conciliate
the favour, of the different classes of the people. It
was not before the 25th of May, 1783, that he began
to march from Dindigul towards Daraporam. The
reduction of this place, which fell on the 2nd of June,
afforded one incident, which, being a characteristic
circumstance, deserves to be stated. It was impossi-
ble to approach so near the fort as to determine with
precision the most advantageous point of attack. One
spy explained the circumstances of the place to the
Commanding Officer, and another to the Adjutant.
General. Each of thtse officers drew a plan from
the description which he himself had received ; and
they coincided so exactly both with one another, and
with the facts, that a body of troops marched in a
dark mnight, crossed a river, and .occupied a strong
position within 400 yards of the fort, where the bat-
teries were constructed which effected the breach.
The accuracy with which the Indian spies convey the
idea of a fort, 8ven by verbal communication, and
still more by models made of clay, is represented as
not surprising only, but almost incredible. The
orders which General Stuart, unknown to the Com-
mittee, dispatched to the southern army, stopped them

at this point in their career of conquesi: and they

were within three miles of the enemy’s camp when
they received intelligence that hostilities with the
French had ceased, and that an armistice was con-

CHAP, O

1783.
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cluded with Tippoo.! In the interval Colonel Ful-
larton had proceeded with great activity in restoring
obedience and order in Madura and Tinivelly, in
which, during the distress of the Madras govern-
ment, almost all the Polygars had revolted. Accord-
ing to Fullarton, the management of the province by
the Company’s and the Nabob's servants had been
corrupt and oppressive, and hence pregnant with
disorder, in the extreme. One single exception he
produces, Mahomed Issoof Khan. <« While be ruled
these provinces, his whole administration denoted
vigour and effect: his justice was unquestioned, his
word unalterable, his measures were happily com-
bined and firmly executed, the guilty had no refuge
from punishment. On comparing,” says the Eng-
Yish commander, “ the state of that country with his
eonduct and remarks, I found that wisdam, vigour,
and integrity, were never more conspicuous in any
person of whatever climate or complexion.”* In the
month of August, when the reinforcements had
joined him from the army at Cuddalore, and the
Polygars were sufficiently reduced and humbled to
be disposed to a general submission, this Commander
moved towards the frontier of Mysore, under instruc-
tions to remain inactive, while the result was uncer-
tain of the negotiation with Tippoo. Ia the interval
thus afforded, among other arrangements, Colonel

! Colonel Fullarion received, st the same time, orders from the General
%0 advance ; from the government to tetura to the Bowth ; of the relative
Jodiciousness of these orders, he demonstcated his opinion by disobeying
the lattey.  The strengthening of General Stuart’s srmy was of moch more
importance tham an ineflective attempt at diverting Tippoo from the siege
of Bednore. Fuollarton’s View, p. 115.—W.

* Fallaston’s View of the English Interests in Ind:a, p. 139,
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Fullarton established a system of intelligence, under Bo?{‘:f 5V-
a defect of which the English had laboured during ——
the whole of the war: and established it in such 178
perfection, even into the heart of the enemy’s coun-
try, that, “during many months,” to use his own .
expressions, *“of continued marching, through a
country almost unexplored, he never once failed in
his supplies, nor did any material incident escape
his knowledge.” On the 18th of October, when
the supplies of the army were almost exhausted,
intelligence arrived, that Tippoo had recommenced
hostilities against Mangalore. Colonel Fullarton
bad long meditated an enterprise against Seringa-
patam, but none of the forts, directly in the route,
were sufficiently strong to be confided in as an inter-
mediate magazine, or, in the event of failure, as a
place of retreat. It was therefore determined to
march upon Palacatcherry, which was one of the
strongest places in India, commanded the pass ber
tween the coasts, and secured a communication with
a great extent of fertile country. After a march of
great difficulty, much impeded by woods and inces-
sant rain, the army reached Palacatcherry on the
4th of November, They immediately commenced
and earried on their operations with great vigour;
but the strength of the place, and the active resist-
ance of the garrison, threatened them with a tedious
siege. On the 13th, two batteries were opened, and
before sun-set the defences of the enemy were so
much impaired, that their fire was considerably
abated. At night Captain Maitland took advantage
of a heavy rain to drive the enemy from the covert
way, and to pursue ‘them within the first gateway,
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to the second: here he was stopped, but gallantly
defended himself, till additional troops arrived ; when
the enemy, alarmed by the idea of a general assault,
called for quarter, and put the English in possession
of the fort. The army then marched to Coimbetore,
which they reached on the 26th of November, and
which surrendered before they effected a breach.
They had now the conquest of Seringapatam, and
the entire subversion of the power of Tippoo, full in
their view. The brave garrison of Mangalore had
long baffled his whole army, which had suffered
severely by a perseverance in the siege during the
whole of the rains. A chain of connected operations
could now be carried on by the army of Colonel
Macleod on the western coast, and that of Fullarton
in the south. The army of thernorth was acting in
Cudapah, in which and the neighbouring provinces
the power of Tippoo was ill established. All the
petty princes on the western coast were supposed
ready to shake off their dependance. The co-opera.
tion was confidently expected of the Hindu inhabi-
tants of Mysore, of whom the Brahmens were in
correspondence with the English. Fullarton had
provided his army with ten days’ grain, repaired the
carriages, and made every arrangement for pushing
forward to Seringapatam, with nothing but victory
sparkling in his eye; when he received, on the 28th
of November, commands from the Commissioners,
appointed to treat with Tippoo, to restore immedi-
ately all posts, forts, and countries, lately reduced,
and to retire within the limits occupied on the 26th
of July. He had made some progress in the execu-
tion of these commands, when he received on the
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26th of January, directions to re-assemble the army, BOOK ¥.
and prepare for a renewal of the war.

The negotiators, whom the President and Council 7%
had dispatched to the presence of Tippoo, for the
purpose of accelerating the conclusion of peace, had
not attained their object without many difficulties
and considerable delay. Scarcely had they entered
‘the territory of the enemy, when they were required,
and almost commanded, to surrender Mangalore,
which they regarded as the chief security for the
lives and restoration of the English prisoners in the
hands of Tippoo. On their approach to Seringapatam
they were made acquainted with the intention to
conduct them to Mangalore. No communication
was allowed between them and their unfortunate
countrymen, when they passed Bangalore, and other
places in which they were confined. Their letters,
both to and fro, were intercepted. Upon complain-
ing they were informed, that Colonel Fullarton not.
withstanding the commencement of their mission for
peace, bad taken and plundered the forts of Pala-
catcherry and Coimbetore. Not aware that the pro-
ceedings of Fullarton were justified by the intelli-
gence which he had received of Tippoo’s breach of
faith to the garrison at Mangalore, they sent their
commands to that officer to restore the places, which,
since the date of their commission, had fallen into
his hands. After a tedious and harrassing journey,
through a country almost impassable, in which some
of their attendants and cattle actually perished, they
joined Tippoo at Mangalore, where he had wasted
almost a year, and a considerable portion of his
- army, .
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BOOK .- 'The force with which, in the month of May, in
the preceeding year, he invested Mangalore, s
1782 stated at 60,000 horse, 30,000 disciplined sepoys,
600 French infantry, under the command of Colonel
Cossigny, Lally’s corps of Europeans and natives, a
French troop of dismounted cavalry, commanded by
an officer of the King of France, irregular troops to
the amount of many thousands, and nearly one hun--
dreds pieces of artillery. The British garrison con-
sisted of 696 Europeans, including officers, and 2850
black troops, besides pioneers, and camp followers.
The operations of the enemy proceeded with so much
activity, that on the 27th of May they bad completed
eleven embrasures, which the English made an effort
to destroy, but were repuised. On the 29th, large
stones, some of them weighing 150 pounds, began
to be thrown by mortars into the town. As often as
they lighted upon soft earth, they buried themselves
without mischief: When they fell upon houses, they
laid them open, where no materials could be had to
repair them, to all the inclemency of the monsoon:
When they fell upon a substance harder than them-
selves they were dashed into a thousand pieces ; and
even the wounds and lacerations which were pro-
duced by the splinters proved peculiarly destructive,
bardly any person surviving who received them.
From batteries erected on the north, the east, and
the south, a heavy fire was constantly maintained ;
the feeble fortifications on the northern gide were
entirely dismantled on the 4th of June; on the 7th
a practicable breach was effected in the wall; and
the English, especially as a flag of truce had been re-
jected, loocked for an immediate assault. In the
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mean time they repulsed with the bayonet repeated BOOX V-
attacks on the batterles which they had erected with ——
out the fortress ; repeatedly silenced the batteries of 7%
the enemy, and spiked their guns, which were as
often expeditiously repaired. Masked batteries were -
opened and the approaches of the enemy brought so
near, that they threw fascines on the covered way,
and edge of the glacis. On the 4th of July, the
assault was undertaken. A body of troops, armed
with knives, of the shape of pruning hooks, two feet
long, and with spears mounted on light bamboos of
a prodigious length, rushed into a tower on the left
of the eastern gate, while the line marched forward
to support them. The enterprise did not succeed.
The assaulting party were so warmly received, that
they were soon disposed to retreat. On the 6th a-
general attack was made on the morthern covered
way, which, though very fierce and obstinate, was
also repulsed. The garrison were now obliged to
defend themselves from almost daily attempts to
penetrate into the fort, while they severely suffered
both from scarcity end disease. At last intelligence
arrived of the peace between France and England,
with the orders of Bussy to the French to co-operate
no longer in the hostilities of Tippoo. The French
envoy made some efforts to effect a pacification ;
but even during the suspensions of hostilities, which
were frequently terminated, and frequently renewed,
Tippoo continued his operations. A trait of Indian
humanity ought mot to be forgottem. During the
progress of hostilities, and especially after the pros-
pect of peace, the enemy’s centinels in many instances
beckoned to the men to get under cover, and avoid
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BOOK V. their fire: a generosity which the English were
well disposed to return. At last, after a long and
1783. intricate correspondence, a cessation of hostilities,
including the garrisons of Onore' and Carwar, was
concluded on the 2d of August. Of this agreement
one important condition was, that the English garri-
son should three times a week be furnished with a
plentiful market of provisions, at the rates of Tippoo's
camp. This was evaded, and prices were daily, in
such a manner, increased, that a fowl was sold at
eight, and even twelve rupees; and other things in a
like proportion. At last the market was wholly cut
off; and horse flesh, frogs, snakes, ravenous birds,
kites, rats, and mice, were greedily consumed. Even
jackals, devouring the bodies of the dead, were
 eagerly shot at for food. The garrison had suffered
'these evils with uncommon perseverance, when a
squadron appeared on the 22d of November, with a
eonsiderable army under General Macleod. Instead
of landing, the General, by means of his secretary,
carried on a tedious negotiation with Tippoo; and
baving stipulated that provisions for one month
should be admitted into the fortress. set sail with the
reinforcement on the 1st of December.® Even this

‘Farsvaymta’sungdd-dalthedefenudOm which was
maintained with consommate ability and hetoism, by Captain Torrisno,
tili the conclusion of the treaty, see Forbes’s Oniental Memoins, iv. 1f1
to 175. :

* The excuse was, that it wonld have been a violation of the armistice,
which did not expire till the 2nd December, and the ships could not wait
ancther day for want of water. The armistice kad been repeatedly
brokem by Tippoo, Colonel Wilks staics the reasons sssigned for this
meglect of the gurison, but they are aoything bul sausfactory. i
476.—W.
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supply was drawn from damaged stores bought of a BOOK V.
navy agent,and of the beef and pork, not one in twenty
pieces could be eaten, even by the dogs. Another 178
visit, with a similar result, was made by General
Macleod, on the 31st of December. The desertion”
of the sepoys, and the mutiny of the Europeans, were
now daily apprehended; two-thirds of the garrison
were sick, and the rest had scarcely strength to sus-
tain their arms: the deaths amounted to twelve or
fifteen every day; and at last, having endured these
calamities till the 23d of January, the gallant Camp-
bell, by whom the garrison had been so nobly com-
manded, offered, on honourable terms, to withdraw
the troops. 'The Sultan was too eager to put an end
to a siege which by desertion and death had cost him
nearly half his army, to brave the constancy of so
firm a foe; and they marched to Tellicherry, with
arms, accoutrements, and the honours of war,

The negotiating commissioners, whose journey
had been purposely retarded, were now allowed to
approach. The injuries which the English had sus-
tained, since Tippoo had joined in the business of
negotiation, were such, as in a prouder state of the
English mind, would have appeared to call for signal
retribution. Butthe debility and dejection to which,
their countrymen were now reduced, and their despair
of resources to continue the war, impressed the nego-
tiators with a very unusual admiration of the advan-
tages of peace; and meeting the crafty and deceitful
practices of Tippoo with temper and perseverance,
they succeeded, on the 11th of March, 1784, in gain-
ing his signature toa treaty, by which, on the general
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condition of 8 mutual restifution of conquests, peace
was obtained.!

It is only necessary, further, to relate the manner
in which the treaty was ratified by the Governor-
General and Conncil; and to explain the mode in
which, during these momentous transactions, the
relations hetween the Supreme and Subordinate Pre-
sidency were maintained. Lord Macartney was not
only of superior rank to the highest of the Company’s
servanis in India, but in him was set one of the first
examples of elevating a servant of the king to a high
station in that country ; and .of intercepting the great
prizes which animated the ambition of the individuals
rising though the several stages of the Company’s
service. To these causes of jealousy were added,
recommendations and injunctions, which had been
pressed upon so many governors, and which had not
failed to involve in odium and difficulties as many as
had attempted to obey them ; recommendations and
injunctions, of peculiar urgency, to correct abuses and
effect retrenchments. Though the accomplishments
and talents of Lord Macartney, which were not of an
ordinary kind, and a considerable propensity to vain

! For the narrative of the preceding events, have beem explored, and
confronted, Papers presented to the House of Commons, pursaant o their
orders of the 9th of February, 1803, regurdiog the affains of the Carnatic,
vol. ii. ; Barrow’s Macartney, i. 108—232; Memoirs of the late Warin
Asia, i 231236, 252—256, and 403—512; A View of the English In-
terests in Indis, by William Fullarion, M. P, p. 65—195; Annsal
Register for 1752 and 17683 ; the Collection of Treaties and Engagements
with the pative princes of India; and the Sixth Report of the Commiltee
of Beerecy of 1743. The recest narrative of Colonel Witks, drawn mp
woder the advantages of peculiar knowledge, affords we the setisfaction of
perceiving, thai there is no material fact which my former anthorities bad
Bot enabled me to state and to comprehend.
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glory might have added to the flames of discord, the
calmness of his temper, his moderation, and urbanity,
were well caleulated to allay them. He was aware
of the sentiments to which, among the members of
the superior government, his appearance in India was’
likely to give origin ; and lost no time in endeavour-
ing to avert the jealousy which might naturally anse.
He not only assured the Governor-General of the
sentiments of esteem, and even of admiration, with

287

BOOKX V,
OHAP. D.

1784,

which all that he knew of his administration inspired

bim, but openly disclaimed all designs -upon the
government of Bengal ; and declared that the objects

were not Indian to which his ambition was directed. -

Mr. Hastings met his professions with .similar pro-
testations, both of personal regard, and of desire for
co-operation. He also expressed his regret that the
suddenness of the arrival of Lord Macartney had not
aliowed him the opportunity to furnish to that noble-
man the explanation of certain acts, by which the
Supreme Government might appear to him to have
passed beyond the limits of its own province, and to
have taken upon itself an authority which belonged
to the Presidency of which he was now at the head..

Of the acts to which Mr. Hastings made allusion,
one was, the treaty, into which, in the beginning of
the year 1781, he had entered with the Dutch. The
object of that measure was to obtain, through the
Governors of Colombo and Cochin, a military force
to assist in the expulsion of Hyder from the Carnatic;
but as these Governors seted under the authority of
the government of Batavia, for whose sanction there
was no leisure to wait, a tempting advantage was
represented as necessary to prevail upon them to
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« incur so unusual a responsibility. The negotiation
was carried on through the medium of the Director of
the Dutch settlements in Bengal; and it was stipu-
lated that for 1000 European infantry, 200 European
artillery, and 1000 Malays, who should be paid and
maintained by the Company, during the period of
their service, the province of Tinivelly should be
ceded to the Dutch, together with the liberty of
making conquests in the neighbourhood of Cochin,
and the exclusive right to the pearl fishery on the
whole of the coast south from Ramiscram. In name
and ostent, the sovereignty of the Nabob Mahomed
Ali was not to be infringed ; and the treaty, framed
and concluded for him, was not to be ratified by his
signature. ‘The small value of the cession, and the
extreme danger of the Carnatic, were urged as the
motives to induce compliance on the part both of the
Nabob, and of the Presidency of Madras. The ideas,
however, of the Nabob, and of the Presidency ot
Madras, differed very widely from those of the
Governor-General, respecting the value both of what
was to be given and what was to be received. They
not only set a high estimate on Tinivelly, but treated
the offer of a body of troops, when they were much
less in want of troops than of money to pay and’
maintain those which they had, as a matter of doubt-.
ful utility. Ia consequence, they declined to for-
ward the treaty, transmitting their reasons to the
Counrt of Directors. And the accession of the Dutch
to the enemies of England, of which Macartney
carried out the intelligence, superseded, on that

ground, all further proceedings.!

* Supplement to the Pirst Report of the Commmittee of Secrecy, 1792,
P-8,9; snd the Sixth ditto. » 1IR
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"Of the transactions, which Mr. Hastings might Book v.
expect to impress unfavourably the mind of the noble “™*>-
President, another was, that of which the history has 178«
already occurred ; the engagement into which he and,
his Council had entered, for setting aside the inter-
vention of the Government of Madras, and transact-
ing directly with the Nabob of Arcot.. Under the
same predicament was placed the mnegotiation into
which the Governor-General and Council of Bengal
had entered with Nizam Ali, the Subabdar of the
‘Deccan, for obtaining from that Prince the aid of &
body of his horse, and for ceding to him in return
the Northern Circars. Though a treaty to this effect
had been fully arranged, yet as the orders for carry-
ing it into execution had not been despatched when
Lord Macartney arrived, Mr. Hastings paid him the
compliment of submitting it for his opinion. On this
occasion also, the Governor-Geeneral represented, as
of vast importance, the aid which the Company was
thus to receive; and ascribed but little value to the
territory which they were about to surrender, both
as it yielded a trifling revenue, and, being a narrow
strip along the coast, was, by its ‘extent of frontier,
difficult to defend. Here again the opinions of the
Governor-Greneral found themselves widely at- vari-
ance with those of the Governor of Fort St. George.
Lord Macartney stated the net revenue for that year
of the four Northern Circars, not including Guntoor,
at 612,000 pagodas; he affirmed that to the English
the defence of territory was easy, not in proportion to
its remoteness from the sea, but the contrary, as a
communication with their ships enabled the troops to
move in every direction ; that as manufacturing dis-

VOL. IV. U
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BOOK V. tricts, the Circars were of great importance to the

Company’s investment; that they would be impor-

174 tant in a still higher point of view, as forming a line

of communication between Bengal and the Carnatic,

and giving to the English the whole of the eastern

eoast, when they should be augmented by Guntoor

and Cuttack; and that the friendship of Nizam AR

was of no value, both as no dependence could be

placed on his faith, and as the expense of his undis-

ciplined and ungovernable horse would far outgo the

utility of their service. On all these accounts Lord

Macartney declared, that, without the special com-

mand of his employers, he could not reconcile it to his

sense of duty to consent to the treaty which was pro-

posed. Mr. Hastings gave way; but a diffidence so

marked of his judgment, or his virtue, did not lessen

the alienation fowards the government of Madras,

with temptations to which the situation of the
Governor-General s0 largely supplied him.

The first occasion on which his measures gave un-
easiness to the government of Madras, was furnished
by the complaints of Coote, whom that government
found it imposgible to satisfy with power. Instead
of interposing with their authority to allay the un-
reasonable dissatisfactions of the querulous General,
and to strengthen the hands, at so perilous a moment,
of the government of Madras, the supreme Conncil
encouraged his discontent, and laid their exhortations
upon the Presidency of Madras, to place themselves
in hardly any other capacity than that of Commis-
saries to supply his army, and while they continued
responsible for the acts of the government, to retain
with them hardly any other connexion, in no degree to
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possess over them any substantial control. As the BOOK ¥.
coolness on the part of the Governor-General seemed o
to Macartney to increase,and tothreaten unfavourable 178+
consequenees, which it was of the utmost importance
to avert, he sent to Bengal, in the begioning of thée
year 1782, bis confidential seeretary Mr. Staunton,
in whose judgment and fidelity he placed the
greatest reliance, to effect a complete mutual expla~
pation, and, if possible, to secure harmony and co-
operation. With this proceeding Mr. Hastings ex-
pressed the highest satisfaction, and declared his
“ anxious desire to co-operste with Lord Macartney
firroly and liberally for the security of the Carnatic,
for the support of his authority, and for the honour
of his administration.” But, even at the time when
he was making these cordial professions, and enter-
taining Mr. Staunton with the highest civilities in
his house, he signed, as President of the Supreme
Council, whose voice was his own, a letter to the
President and Council of Madras, in which, with an
intimation of a right to command, they say they “do
most earnestly recommend, that Sir Eyre Coote’s
wishes in regard to power may be gratified to their
fullest possible extent; and that he may be allowed
‘an unparticipated command over ll the forces acting
under British authority in the Carnatic.” Though
Macartney announced his determination to act under
this recommendation, as if it were a legal command,
he yet displeyed, first in a private letter to the
Governor-General, to which no answer was ever
returned, and also in a public communication, in the
name of the Select Committee of the Council of
Madras, his opinion, that the measure, as it regarded
U2
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BOOK V. either the antecedent conduct of the governor and
— Council of Madras, or the nature of the case, was
1784 destitute of all reasomable ground; calculated to
involve the Madras government in difficulties; and
liable to -produce the most dangerous consequences.
Of the rooted enmity of the Governor-General he
regarded this proceeding as a decisive proof, And
from this time but little between the Presidencies

was preserved even of the appearance of concert.!

Of the incouvenience to themselves of the transfer
which the Supreme Council bad ordered of the
powers of the Presidency, one instance speedily oc-
curred.  Upon a requisition to send a detachment
from Madras to Bombay, the President and Council
were obliged to return for answer, that compliance
no longer remained in their power, since all autho-
rity over the troops resided in the General. It is
remarkable enough that this incident, which, with
others of the like description, might have been so
easily foreseen, determined the Supreme Council to
revoke the orders which they had formerly given,
and by explaining away the meaning of their former

! The importance of the services of Coote, and the advantage of leaving
to hix experience and skill the control of all miitary operstions, was fully
evinced by the events that followed his retirement aad desth, Mismanaged
as the war had been by General Stuart and the Government of Madras, it
seems probable that but for the opportune occurrence of pesce with France,
the South of India wonld have beer lost to the English. The annihi-
lation of the srmy st Cuddalore wonld have been followed by the sicge of
Madras, aud theve was little chance of defending it snecessfully against
Tippoe and the Prench. Without dewying that there was much to reprebend
im the condoct of the military snthorities, yet it is evident that there was
o constant disposition in the civil anthorities of Madras to appropriste the
direction of military affaire, snd to interfere beyond the strict mecessity
of interference, whick exposed thom, not withowt reason, o the dissppro-
bation of the 